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Letter to shareholders

Wolfgang Kirsch (Chief Executive Officer)

Dear Shareholders,

In 2017, the DZ BANK Group generated profit before taxes of €1.81 billion. This profit was attributable to
strong customer business and the sound operating performance delivered by most of the group companies.

In addition, we successfully completed the post-merger integration activities at the end of the year, and therefore
eatlier than planned.

At the same time, the results for the year were affected by a negative contribution to earnings from DVB Bank,
which increased allowances for losses on loans and advances for its maritime portfolio. Nonetheless, the group’s
profit before taxes was comfortably within our long-term target range of €1.5 billion to €2 billion, underlining
the stability and earnings power of our broadly positioned financial services group.

This Annual Report describes the performance of the merged bank over a full year for the first time. The figures
therefore only have limited comparability with the prior-year values.

The results in detail: The net interest income of the DZ BANK Group was €2.94 billion, reflecting the good
level of growth in the retail and corporate banking business of our financial services group. Allowances for losses
on loans and advances stood at €786 million and were primarily affected by the allocations to this line item at
DVB Bank. We have already implemented comprehensive stabilization measures and are currently reviewing all
strategic options for DVB. In all other operating segments, there were no notable changes in the level of
allowances for losses on loans and advances. Net fee and commission income totaled €1.86 billion, with the
performance of Union Investment remaining particularly encouraging. Gains and losses on trading activities
came to a net gain of €506 million. The strong operating performance in DZ BANK AG’s capital markets
business was offset by negative effects arising from the valuation of own issues. Other gains and losses on
valuation of financial instruments amounted to a net gain of €289 million and were influenced by positive
valuation effects in the bond portfolio at DG HYP. Net income from insurance business was €907 million,
primarily reflecting a rise in premiums earned in all segments of R+V with gains and losses on investments held
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by insurance companies remaining at a high level. Administrative expenses in the DZ BANK Group amounted
to €3.87 billion. Significant components included investment in growth and expenses necessatry to meet the
requirements of digitization and regulation. Net income from the business combination with WGZ BANK
amounted to a net expense of €91 million and included budgeted integration and migration expenses.

The positive business performance reflects the high level of commitment by the employees in the DZ BANK
Group. My colleagues on the Board of Managing Directors and I would like to take this opportunity to express
our sincere gratitude to them.

The DZ BANK Group’s capital situation remains sound. As at December 31, 2017, the common equity Tier 1
capital ratio (applying the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR) in full) was 13.9 percent (June 30, 2017:

13.0 percent). The decrease compared with the end of the previous year (December 31, 2016: 14.5 percent) was
primarily due to changes to the regulatory treatment of investments in insurance companies as regards the
calculation of capital.

Against this backdrop, we will propose a dividend unchanged on the previous year of 18 cents per share to the
Annual General Meeting. This takes into account both the importance of capital management and the interests
of our owners.

We anticipate that the tailwind from economic growth in our domestic market will continue in 2018. Our
economists forecast that the German economy will expand by 2.2 percent. The DZ BANK Group has also
enjoyed a satisfactory start to the year. Given the persistently challenging market and interest-rate environment,
we believe a profit before taxes at the lower end of the long-term target range of €1.5 billion to €2 billion is
realistic for 2018 as a whole.

We have a clear growth strategy in our core business aimed at consolidating our successful performance.

We are therefore strengthening corporate banking by continuing to invest in the direct business and in joint
credit business. We ate also adding digital products and services to our portfolio and tapping into new sources
of income. At the same time, we are sharpening our focus on enhancing cost efficiency. In this regard, we are
exploiting the opportunities presented by digitization to create leaner internal processes. Following the
completion of the integration, we can now further sharpen our focus on leveraging synergies.

In addition, we are continuing to press ahead with the work on our structural changes. These changes include
the merger of DG HYP and WL BANK to become DZ HYP, which is progressing well. We are also carrying
out the necessary preliminary work for the further development of our organizational structure which aims to
make the management of our financial services group even more effective.

Over the past year, our organization has once again demonstrated both its significant resilience and its
commitment to constant advancement. Building on these foundations, our aim in 2018 — the 200th anniversary
of the birth of Friedrich Wilhelm Raiffeisen — is to strive for the continued commercial success of the
cooperative financial network.

Kind regards,

Wolfgang Kirsch
Chief Executive Officer
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Note

DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschafts-
bank, Frankfurt am Main, (DZ BANK), as the
parent company in the DZ BANK Group, imple-
ments the transparency requirements as specified
in section 37v of the German Securities Trading
Act (WpHG) and section 315 of the German
Commercial Code (HGB) and complies with
equivalent requirements in the relevant German
accounting standard (GAS 20 Group Manage-
ment Report) with the publication of this group
management report.

Al figures are rounded to the nearest whole num-
ber. This may result in very small discrepancies in
the calculation of totals and percentages.
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| DZ BANK Group
fundamentals

1 Business model

DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossen-
schaftsbank, Frankfurt am Main, (DZ BANK) focuses
closely on the local cooperative banks, which are its
customers and owners. The DZ BANK Group makes
a significant contribution to helping the cooperative
banks strengthen their market position by providing
them with competitive products and services on a
decentralized basis for incorporation into their end-
customer business.

The focus on network-based business is always given
priority, especially in times when resources are in short
supply. In its role as a corporate bank, DZ BANK
offers complementary services using existing products,
platforms, and support activities. These services are
constantly reviewed both from a strategic perspective
(for example, so that there is no direct competition
with the cooperative banks) and from an economic
perspective (for example, so that the returns are
appropriate and the risk acceptable).
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Strengthening the market position of the cooperative
banks is a key factor for the success of the
Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken cooperative financial
network. The DZ BANK Group supports the pursuit
of this objective within the framework of its network-
focused corporate strategy based on the principles of
subsidiarity, decentralization, and regional market
responsibility. It is guided by its overarching mission
as a network-oriented central institution and financial
services group, within which its activities are shaped
by a three-pronged strategy with a systematic focus
on growth in accordance with the needs of the
cooperative financial network, a continuation of the
focusing of business activities, and integration within
the network and with the cooperative banks.

Against a backdrop of advancing digitalization, the
DZ BANK Group is working in collaboration with
all the other players in the cooperative financial
network to help reinforce the competitiveness of the
cooperative banks as part of the major KundenFokus
Privatkunden (retail customer focus) project led by
the Bundesverband der Deutschen Volksbanken

und Raiffeisenbanken e.V., Berlin, (BVR) [National
Association of German Cooperative Banks]|. In this
project, the various partners are jointly designing and
implementing a target omnichannel structure. Product
development closely involves the central I'T service
provider Fiducia & GAD IT AG, Karlsruhe and
Minster, (Fiducia & GAD), which is making the
necessary technical infrastructure available. However,
the DZ BANK Group is also providing individual
solutions such as VR-AltersvorsorgeCockpit, a
pensions-related app that is currently unique in the
market. Retail customers can use this app to calculate
gaps in their individual pension provision quickly and
easily. The implementation of the omnichannel
strategy will be extended in 2018 to include the
KundenFokus Firmenkunden (corporate customer
focus) project.

2.1 DZ BANK

The technical aspects of the merger of DZ BANK and
WGZ BANK into one cooperative central institution
were completed in the year under review, accompanied
by the successful conclusion of the migration to a
uniform IT environment. Data relating to corporate

customers, payment transactions, capital markets, and
other internal systems was gradually integrated into the
systems at DZ BANK over a period of twelve months.
The implementation of the target organizational
structure also made great progress, to the extent that
all 28 departments of DZ BANK had been
reorganized into the target structure by the end of the
final stage of the implementation on January 1, 2018.

In the next step, DZ BANK aims to refine the
governance structure along the lines of a holding
company model. During the course of 2018, it will
firstly set up a central advisory council — as specified in
the merger agreement — to ensure that the primary
banks’ involvement in, and influence over, strategic
decisions is safeguarded and expanded over the long
term. Over the next two years, the responsibilities for
the holding company activities and those for the
corporate bank activities within DZ BANK will be
separated from each other as far as possible. The
configuration from a legal perspective requires further
extensive preparations and checks to be carried out,
particularly with regard to separating DZ BANK’s
individual functions into two legal entities. Decisions
on this will need to be made from 2020 onward once
the aforementioned measures have been implemented.

DZ BANK has also maintained its network-oriented
corporate strategy in its business lines, as described
below.

2.1.1 Cooperative Banks/Verbund

Support for the local cooperative banks provided

by Regionaldirektoren [regional directors| and the
consultancy and other services delivered in connection
with strategic bank management are the responsibility
of the Cooperative Banks/Verbund division. The
Regionaldirektoren serve as a central strategic point
of contact for the cooperative banks’ business
relationship with the DZ BANK Group to strengthen
the financial products and services they provide.

DZ BANK also offers the local cooperative banks
consulting services on regulatory issues and at every
stage of the strategic bank management process,
from defining the strategy to managing risk and
implementing the strategy. These services, together
with the tools that DZ BANK offers the local
cooperative banks to help them with their own-
account investing, reporting and accounting, are
continuously refined.
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A new offering from DZ BANK in the year under
review was the own-account-investing advisory
mandate. This amounts to a comprehensive treasury
management service for cooperative banks, facilitating
integration between cooperative banks’ own-account
investing strategy and strategic bank management,
coupled with the simultaneous implementation of
regulatory requirements.

2.1.2 Corporate Banking

In the corporate banking market, DZ BANK operates
both directly and on a decentralized basis through the
local cooperative banks. It rigorously pursues a policy
of regional focus, guaranteeing proximity to the local
cooperative banks and the shared customers. In
collaboration with its subsidiaries and international
branches, DZ BANK offers its customers the entire
range of corporate banking services. This relationship
management approach has enabled the cooperative
financial network to expand its share of the corporate
lending market to 21 percent despite the fierce
competition in a persistently challenging market
environment. The aim is to increase this figure to

25 percent over the medium term.

DZ BANK, in partnership with the local cooperative
banks, is increasingly turning to new technologies to
help support this growth in its corporate banking
business. For example, a target structure for the
expansion of the omnichannel strategy was developed
during the reporting year as part of the BVR-led
KundenFokus Firmenkunden project. This project is
addressing the challenges in the Corporate Banking
business line and involves setting out and launching
initiatives for the next few years.

DZ BANK is already offering some digital services
for its corporate banking customers. For instance,
it continued to develop the VR BusinessOnline
channel during the year under review. This service
enables online financing or investment inquiries
from businesses to be passed to companies in the
cooperative financial network, allowing the requests
to be dealt with quickly and efficiently with a seamless
transition between media. In the joint corporate
banking business with the local cooperative banks,
DZ BANK offers other digital solutions for the
banks’ relationship managers and their customers.
One example is VR-GeschiftsNavigator, which has
been designed by DZ BANK’s Innovation LAB.

Through an equity investment in fintech company
TrustBills GmbH, DZ BANK has, since the end
of 2017, also offered corporate customers of the
cooperative financial network access to an online
auction platform that enables registered participants
to buy or sell trade receivables.

The internationalization of the German economy and
the rise in the associated demand for international
business services is presenting further opportunities
for growth in corporate banking. With this in mind,
DZ BANK opened a representative office in Jakarta in
February 2017, facilitating an even more comprehensive
range of support for corporate customers in the
Indonesian market, particularly in terms of trade and
export finance. In the year under review, DZ BANK
entered into a strategic partnership with China
Development Bank, the largest state-owned
development bank in the People’s Republic of China.
The agreement encompasses the financing of
businesses in each other’s market, trade and project
finance business, and collaboration in capital markets
business.

2.1.3 Retail Banking

DZ BANK offers the cooperative banks and carefully
selected partner ot third-party banks end-to-end
services (generally platform- and process-driven) in the
securities business, focusing on personal investments.
These include a comprehensive range of investment
services, intelligent liability products to strengthen and
support the cooperative banks’ market presence and
balance sheets, as well as consulting services, market
data, research, and trading/advisory/e-business
platforms.

To leverage income synergies following the merger
of the cooperative central institutions, DZ BANK
stepped up marketing in the West sales region in the
reporting year by extending the range of products and
services in the local cooperative banks’ securities
business for customer account. It also focused on
tapping into further potential income from business
for customer account through a greater level of
collaboration with DZ PRIVATBANK S.A., Strassen,
(DZ PRIVATBANK S.A.; subgroup abbreviated to
DZ PRIVATBANK).

DZ BANK is steadily expanding its digital options for
providing information and generating sales in order to
support the omnichannel approach of the cooperative
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financial network. It is enabling customers to benefit
not only from conventional banking but also from
digital access to their bank via mobile login, online
tools (such as VR-ProfiBroker and VR-ProfiTrader),
and the DZ BANK derivatives portal.

2.1.4 Capital Markets

DZ BANKs expertise in capital markets business
encompasses sales and advisory services in relation to
investment and risk management products covering
the interest rate, credit, equities, and currency asset
classes. These services are provided for cooperative
banks, institutional clients in Germany and abroad,
and corporate customers in both primary and
secondary matkets. Reseatch setvices round off the
comprehensive offering.

On behalf of the cooperative financial network, Group
Treasury also carries out the cash-pooling function and
ensures access to global liquidity markets as well as to
liquidity provided by central banks. In addition,
Treasury acts as the product portfolio manager for
secured and unsecured money market business,
currency swaps and forwards, and the issue of short-
term commercial paper.

DZ BANK is steadily expanding its capital markets
products and services to respond to changing
customer demand and to make better use of both

the existing customer base and the broader range of
customers resulting from the merger of the central
institutions. The implementation of regulatory
requirements is also becoming increasingly important,
for example in view of the provisions introduced
under Directive 2014/65/EU on markets in financial
instruments (MiFID II).

2.1.5 Transaction Banking

In the Transaction Banking business line, DZ BANK
provides efficient, high-performance platforms that
boost the competitiveness of the cooperative financial
network. As the center of excellence for transaction
banking, DZ BANK has the objective of helping the
cooperative banks and the entities in the DZ BANK
Group to exploit the potential offered by the market.
To this end, it offers products and services covering
payments, payments services, and acquiring, together
with securities processing, depositary, and settlement
services in connection with capital market products.

The present market circumstances — shaped by shifts
in customer needs, innovative technologies, changes
in legal requirements, and new market players — are
increasingly transforming transaction banking and the
role of banks. DZ BANK constantly analyzes the
trends, assessing how it can benefit from the changes
and position itself in the new market environment.

In this context, a key requirement is to continuously
expand the range of products and services.

Besides refining the functions of the paydirekt
payments system, the inhouse Innovation LAB

has recently developed and brought to market

two payments-related value-added products: VR-
FinanzGuide and VR-ExtraPlus, aimed at corporate
customers and retail customers respectively. Further
initiatives are concerned with the development of
mobile payments using smartphones and with the
expansion of the acquirer business. DZ BANK is
also preparing to sign up to the pan-European instant
payment system.

The focus in the securities, capital markets, and
depositary services business in the year under review
was on implementing regulatory requirements.

DZ BANK supported the local cooperative banks in
this regard, mainly by extending the range of services
in relation to transaction-based reporting. It also
continued to expand the depositary business, with
assets under depositary reaching a record level.

Economies of scale and ongoing efficiency
optimization also continued to be of great significance
in the other segments. In this context, DZ BANK is
undertaking further expansion of its network of
strategic partnerships.

2.2 BSH

Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall AG, Schwibisch Hall,
(Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall; subgroup abbreviated
to BSH) is the competence center for consumer home
finance in the DZ BANK Group and focuses on the
core businesses of home savings and home finance.
The strategic objective of BSH is to safeguard its
position as profitable market leader in building society
operations in Germany, working in close collaboration
with the cooperative banks on a decentralized basis.
With this objective in mind, BSH strives constantly to
develop innovative, customer-oriented home savings
products and solutions. The persistently low interest
rates mean that home finance has continued to gain
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importance as a second pillar of the business alongside
home savings, allowing BSH to further diversify its
sources of income. The home finance business
includes building loans granted directly by BSH and its
activities as an intermediary on behalf of cooperative
banks in connection with real estate loans.

BSH has successfully implemented a cost-cutting
program over the last two years and is using the
savings to finance action plans aimed at enhancing
productivity and profitability. These plans include the
targeted upgrading of the I'T environment and the
digitalization of the BSH business.

2.3 DG HYP/WL BANK

Commercial real estate finance is a cornerstone of

the banking industry and represents a core business

of the cooperative financial network.

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank AG,
Hamburg, (DG HYP) and WL BANK AG
Westfilische Landschaft Bodenkreditbank, Minster,
(WL BANK) provide support for the local cooperative
banks as specialists in this area of business in the

DZ BANK Group.

In March 2017, the DZ BANK Group announced that
it was planning to reorganize its real estate activities
following the merger of the central institutions. In

this context, DG HYP and WL BANK entered into
merger discussions and signed a joint memorandum
of understanding on June 22, 2017. The strategic
objectives of this move are to pool existing expertise
and eliminate the duplication of work, to ensure
customers are served by a single organization and,

above all, to create greater benefits for the cooperative
banks.

It is planned to operate the joint real estate bank
under the brand name DZ HYP within the DZ BANK
family of brands and ensure it continues to serve all
four of the current customer segments — small
business and self-employed customers, the housing
industty, local authorities, and retail customers. The
new entity is to have registered offices in both
Hamburg and Minster, and be headed up by the
current Chief Executive Officers of the two banks,
who will be appointed as Co-Chief Executive Officers.
The aim is to complete the merger by the middle of
2018 following resolutions by the necessary Annual
General Meetings.

The purpose of merging the two entities into a joint
real estate bank under the DZ HYP brand is to bolster
the existing position of the cooperative financial
network in the real estate market.

2.4 DVB

DVB Bank SE, Frankfurt am Main, (DVB Bank;
subgroup abbreviated to DVB) is a specialist niche
provider in the area of transport finance, focusing on
the international transport market, which can be
broken down into shipping, aviation, offshore, and
land transport segments.

In view of the challenges currently presented by the
shipping and offshore markets, DVB is continuing to
devote a great deal of time and energy to managing
risk in these segments. Its diversified credit portfolio is
a key component of the risk policy.

In the year under review, the tough market conditions
were reflected in a requirement for significantly higher
allowances for losses on loans and advances. Against
this backdrop, DZ BANK and DVB also entered into
a control and profit transfer agreement in the second
half of 2017; the agreement applied retroactively from
January 1, 2017. In addition, DZ BANK completed its
previously advised squeeze-out at DVB with the entry
of the transaction in the commercial register on
August 17, 2017, thereby increasing its flexibility when
implementing strategic options.

2.5 DZ PRIVATBANK

DZ PRIVATBANK S.A. headquartered in
Luxembourg, together with its wholly owned
subsidiaries DZ PRIVATBANK (Schweiz) AG,
Zurich, (DZ PRIVATBANK Schweiz), IPConcept
(Luxemburg) S.A., (IPC LU), and IPConcept (Schweiz)
AG, (IPC CH), is the center of excellence and
solutions provider for the private banking, lending
and fund services, and treasury/brokerage businesses.
The services that it provides complement those of the
other entities in the cooperative financial network.

With sales employees based at ten locations,

DZ PRIVATBANK has a presence across the whole
of the German market so that it can provide sales
support locally for the cooperative banks.

It is addressing the changing requirements of
customers and partner banks arising from the low
interest rates, regulation, and digitalization by
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implementing a comprehensive package of measures
focused on enhancing efficiency and productivity,
further advancing advisor specialization, expanding
attractive investment and credit solutions, and
introducing even greater integration between the range
of services and sales activities at cooperative banks.

Based on its complementary, high-quality expertise
in asset management, funds, and financing,

DZ PRIVATBANK aims to steadily increase the
market share of the cooperative financial network
in the high-net-worth segment, covering both retail
and corporate customers.

2.6 R+V

R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden, (R+V
Versicherung; subgroup abbreviated to R+V) offers its
customers a comprehensive range of insurance and
pension products, and is one of the leading providers
in the German market. It operates in the life, non-life,
health, and reinsurance sectots.

In the year under review, R+V launched an ambitious
modernization and growth program referred to as
‘Wachstum durch Wandel’ (growth through change)
with the goal of lifting premium income in Germany
(including reinsurance) from the most recent figure of
€15 billion per year to €20 billion per year by the firm’s
centenary in 2022. To this end, R+V is focusing
increasingly on leveraging business potential in the
cooperative financial network, expanding cross-selling,

and accelerating the development of multichannel sales.

It is also carrying out detailed work on forward-
looking projects and on transposing its successful
business model to a digital environment. In this
context, R+V participated in a driverless-cars research
project at Frankfurt Airport in the reporting year. It
aimed to use this project to gather initial information
on future transportation and assemble data to be used
as a sound basis for developing new approaches to
vehicle insurance.

2.7 TeamBank

TeamBank AG Nirnberg, Nuremberg, (TeamBank)
is a consumer finance provider working in close
collaboration with around 85 percent of cooperative
banks. TeamBank is firmly focused on the customer
with its easyCredit product, positioning itself over the
long term as a fair consumer finance expert in the
German market. Its overarching strategic aim is to

secure new customers for the cooperative financial
network. In addition, TeamBank operates in
collaboration with the cooperative banks in the
Austrian market, where it also offers consumer finance.

By providing and networking innovative products and
services in a digital ecosystem, TeamBank is helping to
develop the presence of the cooperative financial
network in a dynamic market environment. A key
component is the seamless cross-media payment
process ‘Ratenkauf by easyCredit’, which offers
customers a simple and uniformly designed installment
purchase function, both in e-commerce and at the
point of sale. TeamBank has also developed the
finance app fymio, a service for retail customers that
uses a projection to warn of a potential financial
squeeze at an early stage and automatically offer
intelligent solutions.

2.8 UMH

Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am
Main, (Union Asset Management Holding; subgroup
abbreviated to UMH) is the central asset manager in
the cooperative financial network and offers
investment solutions for retail customers and
institutional clients. In both areas of business, it is
aiming for further, sustainable expansion in the
volume of assets under management.

In terms of business with retail clients, UMH is one of
the two largest and most successful asset managers in
Germany. It is targeting further growth in this business,
for example by maintaining its focus area strategy in
relevant segments of demand.

As far as institutional clients are concerned, UMH is
the central asset manager for the entities in the
cooperative financial network and at the same time
one of the leading providers in the non-cooperative
sector. It is also aiming to generate further growth in
this area of business by improving its positioning as an
active risks/returns manager, consolidating its
positioning as a sustainability manager, and developing
new product solutions tailored to the changing
regulatory environment.

2.9 VR LEASING

VR-LEASING Aktiengesellschaft, Eschborn,
(VR-LEASING AG; subgroup abbreviated to

VR LEASING) launched a program in mid-2017 to
transform itself into a digital provider of finance for

13



14

Group management report
DZ BANK Group fundamentals

the self-employed and small businesses. As a result of
this change, VR LEASING will focus its business
activities in the future entirely on the cooperative
banks and on the provision of finance for the self-
employed and small business customer segment.

It offers its customers leasing, hire purchase, and
credit solutions, together with digital services and
intelligent data analysis, thereby supporting the
omnichannel sales of the local cooperative banks.
Current examples of such solutions and services are
the online ordering channel, in which business
customers of the cooperative banks can take out a loan
of up to €60,000 in a process that is entirely online,
and SmartBuchhalter, a web-based accounting
application that enables self-employed individuals,
freelancers, and small businesses to obtain a simple
overview of their financial position. Further projects,
such as the launch of a new facility running in real time
for the financing of assets with a value of up to

€200,000, are already being planned.

Changes in the other areas of business also form

part of this transformation process. For example,
henceforward, VR LEASING will aim to work in
collaboration with a partner in any business involving
the financing of individual assets with a value of more
than €750,000. Where VR LEASING is involved in
business activities other than sales via banks —
centralized settlement and the subsidiary BFL Leasing
GmbH — it will start negotiations to sell off these
activities because they have no connection with the
cooperative financial network.

The change in VR LEASING’s corporate strategy,
especially the decision to dispose of certain areas of
business, will be accompanied by a reduction in the
number of employees.



DZ BANK

2017 Annual Report

Group management report
DZ BANK Group fundamentals

15

3 Management of the DZ BANK Group

3.1 Management units

The DZ BANK Group comprises DZ BANK as the
parent company, the DZ BANK Group’s fully
consolidated subsidiaties in which DZ BANK directly
or indirectly exercises control, and other long-term
equity investments that are not fully consolidated.

All entities in the DZ BANK Group are integrated
into groupwide management. In the case of subgroups,
the disclosures in the group management report on
management units relate to the entire subgroup
comprising the parent company of the subgroup plus
its subsidiaries and second-tier subsidiaries. The
management units are managed by the parent company
in the subgroup, which is responsible for compliance
with management directions in the subsidiaries and
second-tier subsidiaries. The following management
units are each managed as a separate operating segment:

—DZ BANK

— BSH

— DG HYP

—-DVB

— DZ PRIVATBANK
—R+V

— TeamBank

— UMH

— VR LEASING

— WL BANK.

These fully consolidated entities are management
units and form the core of the financial services group.
DZ BANK forms a separate management unit from

a higher-level perspective.

The terms DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK
financial conglomerate are synonymous and refer to all
the management units together. The context dictates
the choice of term. For example, in the case of
disclosures relating to economic management, the
focus is on the DZ BANK Group, whereas in the case
of regulatory issues relating to all the management
units in the DZ BANK Group, the term DZ BANK

financial conglomerate is used.

The DZ BANK financial conglomerate largely
comprises the DZ BANK banking group and R+V.
DZ BANK acts as the financial conglomerate’s parent
company.

3.2 Governance

Governance in the DZ BANK Group is characterized
by the general management approach of the

DZ BANK Group, appointments to key posts in the

subsidiaries, and the committee structure.

3.2.1 General management approach

The general management approach consists of a
combination of centralized and decentralized
management tools. It is aligned with the business
model and risks of the DZ BANK Group as a
diversified financial services group that is integrated
into the Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken cooperative
financial network and that provides this network with
a comprehensive range of financial products.

The DZ BANK Group is a financial services group
comprising entities whose task as product specialists
is to supply the Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken
cooperative financial network with an entire range of
financial services. Given the particular nature of the
group, the Board of Managing Directors of

DZ BANK consciously manages the group with a
balanced centralized and decentralized approach with
clearly defined interfaces and taking into account
business policy requirements.

3.2.2 Appointments to key posts in the
subsidiaries

For the purposes of managing the subsidiaries through
appointments to key posts, a representative of

DZ BANK is appointed in each case as the chairman
of the supervisory body and generally also as the
chairman of any associated committees (risk and
investment committee, audit committee, human
resources committee).

3.2.3 Corporate management committees
Figure 1 provides an overview of the committees of
particular importance in the management of the

DZ BANK Group.

The Group Coordination Committee is the highest-
level management and coordination committee in the
DZ BANK Group. The objectives of this committee
are to strengthen the competitiveness of the

DZ BANK Group and to coordinate fundamental
product and sales issues.



16

Group management report
DZ BANK Group fundamentals

FIG. 1 - MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES IN THE DZ BANK GROUP

The committee ensures coordination between the
key entities in the DZ BANK Group to achieve
consistent management of opportunities and risks,
allocate capital, deal with strategic issues, and leverage
synergies. The members of this committee comprise
the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK, the
General Executive Manager of DZ BANK, and

the chief executive officers of BSH, DG HYP,

DZ PRIVATBANK, R+V, TeamBank, UMH,

VR LEASING, and WL BANK.

Various committees consisting of representatives from
all strategic business lines and group functions assist
the Group Coordination Committee’s decision-making
by preparing proposals. . These are the following
committees:: the Group Risk and Finance Committee,
the Group I'T Committee, the Group HR Committee,
the product and sales committees for retail customers,
corporate customers, and institutional customers, the
Heads of Internal Audit working group, the Heads of
Compliance working group, the Economic Roundtable,
and the Innovation Roundtable.

The Group Risk and Finance Committee is the
central committee in the DZ BANK Group
responsible for proper operational organization and, in
particular, risk management in accordance with section
25 (1) of the German Supervision of Financial
Conglomerates Act (FKAG) and section 25a (1) in
conjunction with section 25a (3) of the German
Banking Act (KWG). It assists DZ BANK with
groupwide financial and liquidity management and
provides support for risk capital management
throughout the group. The Group Risk and Finance
Committee also assists the Group Coordination
Committee in matters of principle. The members of
this committee include the relevant executives at

DZ BANK responsible for Group Finance, Group
Strategy and Controlling, Group Risk Controlling,

Credit, Credit Special, and Group Treasury. The
committee members also include representatives of the
executives of various group companies. The Group
Risk and Finance Committee has set up the following
working groups to prepate proposals for decision-
making and to implement management action plans
relating to financial and risk management at group level:

— The Group Risk Management working group
supports the Group Risk and Finance Committee
in all matters concerning risk and the management
of risk capital and market risk in the DZ BANK
Group, and in matters relating to external risk
reporting. At DZ BANK level, the monitoring
and control of the aggregate risks to the bank is
coordinated by the Risk Committee. The Risk
Committee makes recommendations to the entire
Board of Managing Directors in matters relating to
risk management, risk methodology, risk policies, risk
processes, and the management of operational risk.

— The Architecture and Processes Finance/Risk
working group assists the Group Risk and
Finance Committee with the further development
of the integrated finance and risk architecture in
the DZ BANK Group. In terms of the corporate
management of the DZ BANK Group, this
committee works on refining the blueprint for the
business, process, and data architecture, ensuring
a coordinated roadmap and a transparent project
portfolio, and establishing overarching data
governance.

— The management of credit risk throughout the
group is the responsibility of the Group Credit
Management working group of the Group Risk
and Finance Committee. The limitation and
monitoring of credit risk is based on agreed and
binding group standards and procedures, taking
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into account the business policy concerns of the
entities involved. The Group Credit Management
working group is responsible for the further
development of the group credit risk strategy and
the group credit guidelines and assists the Group
Risk and Finance Committee with the groupwide
harmonization of credit-related processes with due
regard to their economic necessity. The monitoring
and control of DZ BANK’s overall credit portfolio
is coordinated by the Credit Committee. This
committee normally meets every two weeks and
makes decisions on material lending exposures at
DZ BANK, taking into account the credit risk
strategy of both the bank and the group. The Credit
Committee is also responsible for managing credit
risk at DZ BANK and country risk throughout the
DZ BANK Group.

— The Group Risk and Finance Committee’s Market
working group is responsible for providing
implementation support throughout the group in
the following areas: liquidity management, funding
activities, balance sheet structure management, and
capital management. This body also focuses on
coordinating and dovetailing funding strategies and
liquidity reserve policies, as well as on planning the
funding within the DZ BANK Group. In addition,
the Market working group is responsible for
refining the management of centrally measured
market risk. At DZ BANK level, the Asset
Liability Committee/Treasury and Capital
Committee is the central body responsible for
the operational implementation of the strategic
requirements in the following areas to ensure
integrated resource management: capital
management, balance sheet and balance sheet
structure management, liquidity and liquidity risk
management, and income statement and
profitability management. This committee also
discusses overarching issues and current regulatory
matters with the aim of identifying those requiring
management action.

— The Finance working group advises the
Group Risk and Finance Committee on matters
concerning the consolidated financial statements,
tax law, and regulatory law. It discusses new
statutory requirements and works out possible
implementation options.

The Group IT Committee, comprising the members
of the boards of managing directors of the main group
entities with responsibility for I'T, supports the Group
Coordination Committee in matters relating to IT
strategy. This committee manages all overarching I'T
activities in the DZ BANK Group. In particular,

the Group I'T Committee makes decisions on
collaboration issues, identifies and realizes synergies,
and initiates joint projects.

The members of the Group HR Committee comprise
the members of the boards of managing directors with
responsibility for HR and the HR directors from the
main entities in the DZ BANK Group. This committee
helps the Group Coordination Committee address
HR issues of strategic relevance. The Group HR
Committee initiates and coordinates activities relating
to overarching HR issues while at the same time
exploiting potential synergies. It also coordinates the
groupwide implementation of regulatory requirements
concerning HR systems and facilitates the sharing of
HR policy information within the DZ BANK Group.

The product and sales committees have insight,
coordination, and bundling functions relating to the
range of products and setrvices provided by the

DZ BANK Group.

The retail customers product and sales committee
coordinates products and services, and the marketing
activities of its members where there are overarching
interests affecting the whole of the group. The
common objective is to generate profitable growth
in market share for the cooperative banks and the
entities in the DZ BANK Group with a focus on
customer loyalty and customer acquisition by
providing needs-based solutions (products and
processes) as patt of a holistic advisory approach
across all sales channels (omnichannel approach).

The corporate customers product and sales
committee is responsible for coordinating the
strategies, planning, projects, and sales activities in
the DZ BANK Group’s corporate banking business
if overarching interests are involved. The objective

is closer integration in both the joint lending business
with the cooperative banks and the direct corporate
customer business of the entities in the

DZ BANK Group.

17
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The institutional clients product and sales
committee helps to strengthen the position of the
DZ BANK Group in the institutional clients market.

The DZ BANK Group Heads of Internal Audit
working group, which is led by DZ BANK,
coordinates group-relevant audit issues and the
planning of cross-company audits and activities based
on a jointly developed framework approved by the

relevant members of the Board of Managing Directors.

This working group also serves as a platform for
sharing specialist information across the group —
especially information on current trends in internal
audits — and for developing best practice in internal
audit activities. The working group reports to the
Chief Executive Officer of DZ BANK and, where
appropriate, to the Group Coordination Committee.

The Heads of Compliance working group, whose
members comprise the heads of compliance in the
management units and at ReiseBank and GENO
Broker GmbH, assists DZ BANK with compliance
management across the group if this is legally required.
It also advises the DZ BANK Group’s Group
Coordination Committee on fundamental compliance-
related issues. The Heads of Compliance working
group is also responsible, in particular, for drawing up
certain compliance standards in the DZ BANK Group
that are discretionary under a comply-or-explain
approach; in addition, it serves as a platform enabling
specialists to share information across the group.
When fulfilling its responsibilities, the Heads of
Compliance working group must respect the individual
responsibility of the heads of compliance in the group
entities and ensure specific regulatory requirements are
observed. The working group reports to the member
of the DZ BANK Board of Managing Directors
responsible for compliance and, where appropriate,

to the Group Coordination Committee.

The Economic Roundtable, the members of which
comprise the economists from the main group
companies, helps the Group Coordination Committee
to assess economic and capital market trends, providing
a uniform basis for consistent planning scenarios
throughout the group, and to prepare risk scenarios
required by regulators.

The members of the Innovation Roundtable
comprise specialists, executive managers, and
innovation managers from the various divisions of

DZ BANK and the group companies. The Innovation
Roundtable is therefore the Group Coordination
Committee’s key point of contact for information on
innovations and trends relevant to the group. The
objectives of the Innovation Roundtable are to
systematically examine innovative topics with group
relevance on an ongoing basis, to bring together the
divisions involved in innovation projects and to ensure
that innovation activities in the DZ BANK Group are
transparent. Innovation topics are broadly based
throughout the DZ BANK Group and ate promoted
in the relevant DZ BANK departments and
subsidiaries via the product and sales committees.

3.3 Key performance indicators

The DZ BANK Group’s KPIs for profitability,
volume, productivity, liquidity adequacy, and capital
adequacy, as well as the regulatory return on risk-
adjusted capital (RORAC), are presented below.

— Profitability figures in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS):

The profitability figures (primarily allowances for
losses on loans and advances, profit/loss before
taxes, net profit/loss) are presented in chapter 11,
sections 3.1 and 3.2 of this group management
report as well as in note 33 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

— IFRS volume figures:

The main volume-related KPIs include equity

and total assets. These are set out in chapter 11,
section 3.2 (figure 3) and section 4 of the group
management teport, in the consolidated financial
statements (balance sheet as at December 31, 2017),
and in note 33 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

— Productivity:
One of the most significant productivity KPIs is
the cost/income ratio. This KPI is described in
chapter 11, sections 3.1 and 3.2 of this group
management report and in note 33 of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements.

— Liquidity adequacy:
Appropriate levels of liquidity reserves in relation
to the risks associated with future payment
obligations are demonstrated using the ratios for
economic and regulatory liquidity adequacy
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presented in chapter VI, section 6.2 and section 6.3
of this group management report. The minimum

liquidity surplus reflects economic liquidity adequacy.

Regulatory liquidity adequacy is expressed in terms
of the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR).

— Capital adequacy:
The KPIs and the calculation method for
economic capital adequacy are described in chapter
VI, section 7.2 of this group management report.
The KPIs for regulatory capital adequacy (coverage
ratio for the financial conglomerate, total capital
ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio, common equity Tier 1
capital ratio, and leverage ratio) are included in
chapter VI, section 7.3.

— Regulatory RORAC:
Regulatory RORAC is a risk-adjusted performance
measure. In the year under review, it reflected the
relationship between adjusted profit (profit before
taxes largely taking into account performance-
related income and capital structure effects) and
the average own funds/solvency capital
requirement for the year (determined quarterly). It
therefore shows the return on the regulatory risk
capital employed. This is described in chapter 11,
section 3.2 of this group management report and in
note 33 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Forecasts for the core KPIs in the DZ BANK Group
are set out in the Outlook section of the group
management repott.

3.4 Management process

In the annual strategic planning process, the entities
in the DZ BANK Group produce a business strategy
(objectives, strategic direction, and initiatives), a finance
and capital requirements plan, and risk strategies
derived from the business strategy.

The planning by the management units is then
validated and the plans are also discussed in strategy
meetings. When the individual entity planning

has been completed, the process then moves on

to consolidated group planning, allowing active
management of the DZ BANK Group’s economic
and regulatory capital adequacy.

The action plans to attain the targets are discussed in a
number of ways, notably in quartetly meetings with the

subsidiaries and in review meetings with DZ BANK’s
divisions.

Groupwide initiatives are implemented in order to
unlock identified marketing potential. These include
the development of new, innovative products and sales
methods for the business lines — Corporate Banking,
Retail Banking, Transaction Banking, and Capital
Markets — in order to further strengthen sales by the
DZ BANK Group and the local cooperative banks.
Regular reports on the individual initiatives are
submitted to the relevant product and sales committee.
On a case-by-case basis, certain aspects of the
initiatives may be handled by the Group Coordination
Committee. This results in more efficient cooperation
in the cooperative financial network.

At DZ BANK level, the main divisions involved in
the strategic planning process are Group Strategy and
Controlling, Group Risk Controlling, Group Finance,
and Research and Economics. The planning
coordinators in the front-office divisions of

DZ BANK and the subsidiaties are also incorporated
into the process. The Group Strategy and Controlling
division is responsible for overall coordination,
including strategic financial planning as part of the
strategic planning process.
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Over the reporting year, average inflation-adjusted
gross domestic product (GDP) in Germany rose by
2.2 percent year on year. The uptrend in economic
growth of the previous few years was sustained in
2017, with expansion gathering pace.

Domestic economic output in the first quarter of 2017
was up by 0.9 percent compared with the preceding
quarter. This was followed by a slight fall in the GDP
gain to 0.6 percent in the second quarter. The third
quarter saw growth of 0.7 percent, followed by
expansion in the fourth quarter of 0.6 percent.

An increase in consumer spending once again
provided a major boost to the German economy in
the reporting year, although growth in government
spending weakened. Consumer demand rose by

1.9 percent year on year, aided by robust trends in the
labor market and no improvement in the extremely
low returns available on consumer investments. In the
year under review, businesses stepped up spending on
capital equipment at a faster rate as demand picked up
in international markets.

The increase in tax receipts generated by the robust
economic growth meant that public finances in
Germany ended 2017 once again with a budget surplus
of 1.1 percent of GDP.

In the year under review, economic output in the
eurozone grew by 2.5 percent year on year, the pace of
growth being maintained with a first-quarter growth
rate of 0.6 percent (compared with the previous
quarter) and a rate of 0.7 percent in both the second
and third quarters of 2017. Growth in the final quarter
returned to the rate of 0.6 percent.

Consumer spending continued to be the main driver

behind the economic tecovery in the eurozone in 2017.

So far, the geopolitical crises, various conflicts, and the
uncertainty arising from the Brexit negotiations and
the new US presidency have failed to dent consumer
confidence. As in 2016, relatively low energy prices
also continued to boost household consumption in the
reporting year. Over the course of the year, it became

clear that businesses were increasing their spending on
capital equipment. In view of the stronger global
economy, it is anticipated that the trade balance will
have made a positive contribution to economic growth
because export growth in the eurozone is likely to have
gone up significantly.

In the United States, economic growth in the reporting
year was 2.3 percent. The economy has therefore
gained significant traction compared with 2016, when
the year-on-year rate of expansion was 1.5 percent.
Opverall, the principal economic driver in the US
remained the recovery in consumer spending, which
was bolstered by further improvements in the labor
market, notably a further fall in the unemployment
rate and a sharp rise in recruitment. Investment by
businesses in plant and machinery once again rose at
a stronger rate in the year under review. The recovery
in house-building was also sustained.

The majority of the emerging economies benefited
from a trend toward economic recovery in the year
under review. The economic crisis abated in Brazil and
Russia, with both countries returning to growth in
2017. China managed to hold its economic growth
steady at the fairly high level achieved in the previous
year. By and large, 2017 saw a return of the stronger
stimulus for German exports derived from the
demand from emerging markets.

Over the course of 2017, economic growth in the
eurozone gathered pace on the back of the stronger
global economy, the rate of expansion at the end of
2017 reaching its highest level for ten years.

Once again, however, only limited progress was made
in reducing new and total borrowing in the eurozone
as a whole. At the end of the third quarter of 2017, the
total borrowing of the 19 eurozone countries equated
to 88.1 percent of their GDP, a year-on-year decrease
of just 1.6 percentage points compared with the figure
of 89.7 percent as at September 30, 2016.

Even though France and Italy, countries that are
important in generating overall economic growth in
Europe, along with Portugal and Spain, which had
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been reliant on EU aid during the sovereign debt
crisis, all made further gains in economic efficiency
in the first three quarters of 2017 compared with the
corresponding quarters in 2016, they continued to
suffer from a high level of indebtedness in the same

way as some other eurozone countries, notably Greece.

In the first three quarters of 2017, Greece itself
achieved positive growth rates compared with both the
previous quarter and the equivalent periods in 2016.
Nevertheless, its public debt as a percentage of GDP
remained virtually unchanged year on year at the high
level of 177.4 percent in the third quarter of 2017
(third quarter of 2016: 177.9 percent). So far, the
country has received around €47 billion of the total
assistance of €86 billion available under the third
economic adjustment program approved in 2015.
European rating agency Scope Ratings AG based

in Berlin believes that Greece is still likely to need
financial support from other countries after the current
financial assistance program expires in August 2018.

Economic growth in Italy in each of the first three
quarters of 2017 was muted compared with the figure
in the respective preceding quarters. Italian government
debt as a percentage of GDP in the third quarter of
2017 was the highest in the eurozone after Greece at
134.1 percent (third quarter of 2016: 132.0 percent).
This reflects a setious structural crisis, requiring
sweeping reforms. To add to the problems, no other
European country has as many non-performing loans
on bank balance sheets as Italy, where they totaled
€277 billion as at September 30, 2017. Furthermore,
the current strength of Euroskeptic political forces
means that the parliamentary elections due in the
spring of 2018 are likely to represent the greatest risk
factor at the moment in relation to any renewed
widening of spreads on Italian bank loans.

Portugal’s public debt as a percentage of GDP stood
at 130.8 percent in the third quarter of 2017 (third
quarter of 2016: 132.8 percent). The country made
further progress on stabilizing its economy during
the first nine months of the year, posting reasonable
growth rates in each quarter compared with the
respective preceding quarters. In view of this progress,
Standard & Poot’s also issued an investment-grade
rating of BBB- for Portugal from the beginning of
September 2017, whereas previously DBRS had been
the only agency quoting an investment-grade rating
for the country. Fitch Ratings upgraded its rating for

Portugal in mid-December 2017 from BB+ to BBB.
However, the country continues to face significant
legacy issues in the form of non-performing loans.

Spain, where government debt stood at 98.7 percent
of GDP in the third quarter of 2017 (third quarter of
2016: 99.9 percent), recorded strong economic growth
for the first three quarters of 2017 compared with the
respective preceding quarters. However, the minority
government under current Prime Minister Mariano
Rajoy, which has been in office since the end of
October 2016, is likely to find it difficult to significantly
reduce the substantial level of public debt.

As is the case in Italy, economic growth in France is
hampered by structural deficiencies. The country’s
public debt as a percentage of GDP stood at

98.4 percent in the third quarter of 2017 (third quarter
of 2016: 97.4 percent). Economic growth in the first
three quarters of 2017 compared with the respective
previous quarters was encouraging. The new President
Emmanuel Macron, who also obtained a stable
political majority in the French National Assembly,
managed to push through the labor law reforms he
had promised in the election campaign in record time.
He has subsequently been preparing reforms covering
vocational training and development and
unemployment insurance.

The economic performance of the eurozone described
above shows that the European Central Bank (ECB)
with its policy of quantitative easing has ‘bought’ the
necessaty time for the EU countries burdened with
significant debt to reduce their fundamental budget
deficits. Nonetheless, these countries have made
only limited efforts to reduce their high levels of
indebtedness and bring in the necessary structural
reforms. This is therefore worrying, mainly because it
is questionable whether the EU countries concerned
will be in any position at all (because of the size of
their debt burden) to cope with substantially higher
interest rates arising from a normalization of the
ECB’s monetary policy.

One of the main reasons why politicians are generally
reluctant to introduce the necessary structural
improvement measures to reduce public debt is that
various EU counttries are still seeing strong political
movements that oppose the jointly agreed stabilization
efforts. Even if, especially in France, Euroskepticism
has given way to a pro-European political majority,
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other countries in the eurozone, such as Italy and
Spain, have recently faced some difficulty forming
long-term stable government majorities.

A key reason for the European Commission’s
reluctance to implement the stability criteria under
the Fiscal Compact agreed by the EU member states
at the beginning of 2012 is most probably also the
widespread return to a more nationalistic focus
apparent within the eurozone. In the Fiscal Compact,
the signatory countries committed to reducing their
debt (as a proportion of GDP) each year by one
twentieth of the difference between the debt level
and the Maastricht limit of 60 percent of GDP.

In addition, the affected EU countries’ efforts to
implement austerity measures will also diminish
because the availability of low interest rates is
noticeably reducing the debt burden.

On the other hand, the serious and far-reaching
intervention in economic activity represented by the
ECB’s policy of zero and negative interest rates is
making it harder for savers to build up sufficient
capital and, in particular, to ensure they have adequate
provision for old age. According to calculations by
DZ BANK, German households suffered a loss of
€340 billion on the interest or returns from deposits,
bonds, and life insurance over the years 2014 to 2016.
After deduction of the savings derived from low-
interest loans, the net loss comes to €200 billion. Even
if these calculations are only treated as rough estimates,
they still clearly illustrate the amount of money
involved.

Although the weakness of the euro resulting from low
interest rates is boosting companies’ exports, it is also
diminishing their efforts to lower costs and improve
productivity. Furthermore, the ECB’s policy of
maintaining extremely low interest rates is prompting
investors to take on more risk and encouraging the
formation of bubbles in real estate and equities
markets, which could jeopardize the stability of the
financial system. However, a return to rising interest
rates could lead to payment problems for a large
number of borrowers in Germany, a potential
consequence then being a marked adverse impact

on the profitability of individual banks.

Another consideration is that, if the ECB delays
scaling back its expansionary monetary policy, it will

find itself with insufficient leeway in the event of an
economic downturn because key interest rates will

still be close to zero. Without the option of reducing
interest rates, the ECB also loses one of its conventional
control mechanisms, namely that of stimulating net
exports by lowering the value of the euro.

The ECB continued to follow a coutse of
expansionary monetary policy in the year under review
and maintained the bond-buying program it launched
in March 2015. Having decided at the beginning of
December 2016 to reduce the monthly purchasing
volume from €80 billion to €60 billion from April
2017, it then made a further decision at the end of
October 2017 to lower the purchasing volume again
from €60 billion to €30 billion from January 2018
without specifying a date for the end of the program.

Throughout the reporting period, the main refinancing
rate remained unchanged at 0.00 percent and the
deposit facility for banks stayed at minus 0.40 percent.

By contrast, the Federal Reserve (Fed) raised its target
range for the federal funds rate by 25 basis points on
March 15, 2017 and then again on June 14, 2017,
taking the target range to 1.00 percent to 1.25 percent.
On December 13, 2017, it hiked the key rate once
again by 25 basis points to the current target range of
1.25 percent to 1.50 percent. These interest-rate hikes
were carried out in view of the prediction for 2017

of significantly higher US economic growth year on
year combined with a continuation of the robust
employment situation and the most recent inflation
forecast of almost 2 percent. The Fed had begun to
return its monetary policy to normal in December
2015 when it put up interest rates for the first time in
around ten years.

The Fed announced on September 20, 2017 that from
October it was planning to reduce the size of its
balance sheet, which had swollen to almost

US$ 4.5 trillion, in a gradual process starting with a
decrease of US$ 10 billion per month. In this process,
maturing US Treasuries and mortgage-backed bonds
would no longer be replaced in full. It is intended to
increase the amount of the reduction every three
months by a further US$ 10 billion up to an upper
monthly limit of US$ 50 billion.

The ECB cited the persistently low level of inflation as
one of the critical reasons why it needed to continue
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its expansionary monetary policy measures. The ECB’s
stated aim is to guide inflation back to a level close to,
but below, 2 percent. Inflation in the eurozone stood
at 1.4 percent for December 2017 (December 2016:
1.1 percent), whereas the rate in June 2017 had been
1.3 percent.

Following the recent high demand for oil, particularly
as a consequence of the agreement by the members

of the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting
Countries (OPEC) on November 30, 2016 to cut
output, the price of a barrel of North Sea Brent Crude
continued to stabilize in the second half of 2017. At a
meeting at the end of November 2017, OPEC decided
to extend its agreement until the end of 2018.
However, this is likely to lead to a further expansion in
US shale oil production with a countervailing impact
on prices.

The core rate of inflation, which excludes energy and
food prices, published by the EU’s statistical office
Eurostat for December 2017 was 0.9 percent
(December 2016: 0.9 percent).

The ECB is maintaining its policy of strengthening
economic growth by transferring liquidity to the
eurozone banks, the aim of which is to encourage the
banks to commiit to a greater level of lending.

However, another factor that needs to be taken into
account is that the eurozone banks are themselves
under an obligation to improve their capital adequacy
and liquidity position as a consequence of tighter
regulatory requirements following the introduction of
Basel I11.

The volume of lending to businesses in the eurozone
rose slightly during the reporting period. Lending to
corporate customers across the EU rose by an average
of 2.4 percent between the end of September 2016 and
the end of September 2017. In Germany, the volume
of lending to businesses increased markedly, driven
primarily by the buoyant uptrend in capital investment.
This trend was largely fueled by the high degree of
capacity utilization and the return of rising export
demand resulting from the favorable economic
conditions. However, in contrast, lending by the banks
in some southern European countries was more
cautious, which in turn stemmed mainly from their
high level of non-performing loans.

Stronger demand for lending from businesses in the
eurozone is also held back by geopolitical factors,
above all uncertainty about the impact of the ongoing
Brexit negotiations.

Given the limited impact on the real economy from
the ECB’s monetaty policy measures, which also entail
significant risks, an improvement in structural
conditions remains the best possible route by which a
range of eurozone countries could escape their high
level of indebtedness.

Against a backdrop of challenging market conditions,
nearly all the major German banks had to accept a fall
in operating income in 2017. The allowances for losses
on loans and advances recognized by the major banks
were mostly lower than in 2016. Administrative
expenses decreased year on year in the majority of
cases.

In the following information on the financial
performance of the DZ BANK Group, the figures
for 2017 for the individual line items in the income
statement include the relevant figures for the joint
central institution over the whole of the year. In
contrast, the relevant prior-year income statement
figures for the joint central institution were only
included for the second half of that year because the
business combination of the two cooperative central
institutions in accordance with IFRS 3 was only
completed in the middle of 2016. Further explanations
are provided in the note on business combinations in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

3.1 Financial performance at a glance

The DZ BANK Group successfully consolidated its
position in the year under review in challenging market
conditions influenced primatily by the extremely low
level of interest rates and demanding regulatory
requirements.

The year-on-year changes in the key figures that made
up the net profit generated by the DZ BANK Group
in 2017 were as described below.

Operating income in the DZ BANK Group
amounted to €6,555 million (2016: €6,110 million).

This figure comprises net interest income, net fee and
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commission income, gains and losses on trading
activities, gains and losses on investments, other gains
and losses on valuation of financial instruments, net
income from insurance business, and other net
operating income.

Net interest income (including net income from
long-term equity investments) in the DZ BANK
Group increased by 10.6 percent year on year to
€2,941 million (2016: €2,660 million).

Net interest income at DZ BANK (excluding net
income from long-term equity investments) went up
by €88 million. At BSH, net interest income rose by
€178 million, at DG HYP by €37 million, and at
TeamBank by €12 million. In addition, net interest
income at WL BANK increased by €135 million
compared with the figure reported for the second half
of the year in 2016. In the reporting year, the figures
for this item declined year on year at VR LEASING
(down by €4 million), DZ PRIVATBANK (down by
€23 million), and DVB (down by €52 million).

Net income from long-term equity investments in the
DZ BANK Group fell by 40.7 percent to €73 million
(2016: €123 million). The year-on-year change was
mainly attributable to a dividend from EURO
Kartensysteme GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, (EKS)

in 2016, EKS having benefited from income of

€62 million generated from the disposal of shares

in MasterCard.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances in the
reporting year amounted to €786 million (2016:
€569 million).

The specific loan loss allowances recognized for the
DZ BANK Group came to a net addition of

€841 million (2016: net addition of €424 million). The
porttfolio loan loss allowances for the DZ BANK
Group amounted to a net reversal of €37 million (2016:
net addition of €79 million).

Further detailed disclosures regarding the level of
credit risk in the DZ BANK Group can be found in
this group management report in section 8.9 of
chapter VI (Combined opportunity and risk report).

Net fee and commission income in the DZ BANK
Group increased by 9.8 percent to €1,864 million
(2016: €1,698 million).

FIG. 2 - INCOME STATEMENT

Change
€ million 2017 2016 (%)
Net interest income 2,941 2,660 10.6
of which: net income from long-
term equity investments' 73 123 -40.7
Allowances for losses on loans
and advances -786 -569 38.1
Net fee and commission income 1,864 1,698 9.8
Gains and losses on trading
activities 506 780 -35.1
Gains and losses on investments 10 127 -92.1
Other gains and losses on
valuation of financial instruments 289 51 >100.0
Net income from insurance
business 907 760 19.3
Administrative expenses -3,868 -3,600 7.4
Staff expenses -1,808 -1,760 2.7
Other administrative expenses? -2,060 -1,840 12.0
Other net operating income 38 34 11.8
Net income from the business
combination with WGZ BANK -91 256 >100.0
Profit before taxes 1,810 2,197 -17.6
Income taxes -712 -591 20.5
Net profit 1,098 1,606 -31.6

1 Total of current income and expense from income from other shareholdings, current income
and expense from investments in subsidiaries, current income and expense from investments
in associates, income/loss from using the equity method, and income from profit-pooling,
profit-transfer, and partial profit-transfer agreements; see consolidated financial statements,
notes to the consolidated financial statements, note 34.

2 General and administrative expenses plus depreciation/amortization expense on property,
plant and equipment, and investment property, and on other assets.

DZ BANK’s net fee and commission income
advanced slightly by €4 million, with the equivalent
tigure at UMH rising by €208 million. At BSH and
DZ PRIVATBANK, net fee and commission income
went up by €37 million and €10 million respectively,
whereas the equivalent figure declined at VR
LEASING (down by €9 million), DVB (down by
€26 million), and DG HYP (down by €32 million).

The DZ BANK Group’s gains and losses on trading
activities in 2017 came to a net gain of €506 million
compared with a net gain of €780 million for 2016.
This was largely attributable to the gains and losses on
trading activities at DZ BANK amounting to a net
gain of €485 million (2016: net gain of €746 million).

The net gains under gains and losses on investments
declined by €117 million to €10 million (2016:
€127 million).

The main reasons for the year-on-year change in gains
and losses on investments were the factors described
in the details for the operating segments DZ BANK,
DG HYP, and DVB.
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Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments in the DZ BANK Group amounted to a
net gain of €289 million in 2017 (2016: net gain of
€51 million).

Of the figure reported for the DZ BANK Group for
2017, a gain of €246 million (2016: loss of €73 million)
was accounted for by DG HYP, a gain of €45 million
(2016: gain of €100 million) by WL BANK, and a loss
of €23 million (2016: loss of €25 million) by DVB.

The DZ BANK Group’s net income from insurance
business comprises premiums earned, gains and
losses on investments held by insurance companies
and other insurance company gains and losses,
insurance benefit payments, and insurance business
operating expenses. In 2017, this figure increased by
19.3 percent to €907 million (2016: €760 million).

This year-on-year change in net income arose from

the combination of an increase in premium income
and a slight decline in insurance benefit payments,
which more than offset a fall in the gains and losses on
investments held by insurance companies and other
insurance company gains and losses, and a rise in the
insurance business operating expenses.

Administrative expenses in the DZ BANK Group
rose by €268 million or 7.4 percent year on year to
€3,868 million (2016: €3,600 million), including an
increase in staff expenses of €48 million (2.7 percent)
to €1,808 million (2016: €1,760 million) and an
increase in other administrative expenses of

€220 million (12.0 percent) to €2,060 million (2016:
€1,840 million).

The DZ BANK Group’s other net operating
income amounted to €38 million (2016: €34 million).

The main reasons for the year-on-year change in other
net operating income were the factors described in the
details for the operating segments DZ BANK,

DZ PRIVATBANK, VR LEASING, and UMH.

Net income from the business combination with
WGZ BANK, which amounted to a net expense in the
year under review totaling €91 million (2016: net
income of €256 million), related to expenses of the
same amount that were incurred in connection with
integration and data migration.

Profit before taxes in the reporting year amounted to
€1,810 million compared with a figure of €2,197 million
in 2016.

The DZ BANK Group’s cost/income ratio (i.c. the
ratio of administrative expenses to total operating
income) for 2017 was 59.0 percent (2016: 58.9 percent).

The regulatory return on risk-adjusted capital
(RORAC) was 11.3 percent compared with
16.5 percent in 2016.

The DZ BANK Group’s income taxes amounted to
€712 million in the reporting year (2016: €591 million).

This figure included a deferred tax expense of
€267 million (2016: €243 million) and a current tax
expense of €445 million (2016: €348 million).

The DZ BANK Group generated a net profit of
€1,098 million in 2017 compared with a net profit of
€1,606 million in 2016.

The following provides an explanation of the above
information and the details below (section 3.2)
concerning the financial performance of the

DZ BANK Group with reference to the
corresponding presentation in the outlook for 2017
(chapter V of the 2016 group management report).

In 2017, the DZ BANK Group generated profit
before taxes that was well in excess of the budget.
A significant proportion of this was accounted for
by net income from insurance business at R+V, all
the components of which represented a significant
improvement on budget figures. Other gains and
losses on valuation of financial instruments also
exceeded budget, primarily as a consequence of
reversals of impairment losses in respect of
government bonds held by DG HYP. On the other
hand, allowances for losses on loans and advances
were higher than anticipated, largely as a result of
the need for greater additions to allowances in the
maritime segments at DVB.

3.2 Financial performance in detail

Figure 3 shows the details of the financial performance
of the DZ BANK Group’s operating segments in
2017 compared with 2016.
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FIG. 3 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

2017

DZ BANK BSH DG HYP
€ million
Net interest income 1,276 833 340
Allowances for losses on loans and advances 22 -20 23
Net fee and commission income 350 -48 9
Gains and losses on trading activities 485 - 1
Gains and losses on investments 49 18 2
Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 21 1 246
Premiums earned - - -
Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance
company gains and losses - - -
Insurance benefit payments - - -
Insurance business operating expenses - - -
Administrative expenses -1,472 -470 -132
Other net operating income 112 20 5
Net income from the business combination with WGZ BANK -91 - -
Profit/loss before taxes 752 334 504
Cost/income ratio (%) 64.2 57.0 21.5
Regulatory RORAC (%) 9.7 3255 47.2
Average own funds/solvency requirement 4,583 1,027 1,083
Total assets/total equity and liabilities as at Dec. 31, 2017 265,843 68,337 42,970
2016

DZ BANK BSH DG HYP
€ million
Net interest income 1,199 655 303
Allowances for losses on loans and advances -132 -8 60
Net fee and commission income 346 -85 41
Gains and losses on trading activities 746 - -
Gains and losses on investments 104 19 18
Other gains and losses on valuation of financial instruments 23 - -73
Premiums earned - - -
Gains and losses on investments held by insurance companies and other insurance
company gains and losses - - -
Insurance benefit payments - - -
Insurance business operating expenses - - -
Administrative expenses -1,346 -453 -127
Other net operating income 9 30 15
Net income from the business combination with WGZ BANK -247 - -
Profit/loss before taxes 702 158 237
Cost/income ratio (%) 55.5 73.2 41.8
Regulatory RORAC (%) 10.7 16.6 21.2
Average own funds/solvency requirement 4,490 951 1,127
Total assets/total equity and liabilities as at Dec. 31, 2016 275,054 65,852 43,629
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DVB  DZPRIVAT- RV TeamBank UMH VRLEASING  WLBANK Other/ Total
BANK Consolidation

) 168 17 - 426 29 143 205 596 2,941
) 728 - - 70 - -10 5 2 786
) 93 126 - 1 1,415 15 -9 -88 1,864
) 26 10 - - - - - 26 506
. 64 - - - 10 1 14 10
. 23 7 - - 13 - 45 21 289
. - - 15,181 - . - - - 15,181
- - 3,531 - - - - 57 3,474

) - - -15,312 - - - - - -15,312
) - - 2,595 - - - - 159 -2,436
) -175 217 - 214 -858 136 -101 93 -3,868
) -19 23 -10 5 3 39 3 13 38
) - - - - - - - - -91
i -774 20 795 148 610 17 133 -695 1,810
) >100.0 91.6 - 49.5 58.4 >100.0 42.3 - 59.0
) >100.0 6.8 1.4 346 >100.0 76 335 - 113
) 506 301 6,970 430 350 330 404 - 15,984
) 23,414 16,802 103,419 8,009 2,445 4,749 42,885 73,279 505,594
DVB  DZ PRIVAT- RV TeamBank UMH VRLEASING  WLBANK Other/ Total

BANK Consolidation

) 220 140 - 414 12 147 70 -500 2,660
) 381 ) - -80 - 14 9 5 -569
) 119 116 - 7 1,207 24 10 67 1,698
) 5 9 - - - - - 20 780
) 12 1 - - -1 1 1 -4 127
) -25 4 - - -14 - 100 36 51
) - - 14,658 - - - - - 14,658
- - 3,885 - - - - -70 3,815

) - - 15,400 - - - - - -15,400
) - - 2,454 - - - - 141 2,313
) 190 228 . -207 764 -157 35 03 -3,600
) 14 39 -8 9 28 6 1 3 34
) - - . - . . - 503 256
i -278 3 681 143 468 7 118 -42 2,197
) 64.8 98.7 - 48.1 62.0 88.2 216 - 58.9
) -46.6 0.9 15.3 36.2 >100.0 22 75.1 - 165
) 609 312 4,462 405 311 320 320 - 13,307
) 27,658 17,669 97,286 7,284 2,038 4,463 43,761 75,247 509,447
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3.2.1 DZ BANK

The figures in the reporting year for the individual
items of the income statement explained below for this
operating segment relate to the joint central institution.
Because of the merger of the cooperative central
institutions completed in mid-2016 in accordance with
IFRS 3, the figures for the individual items of the
income statement in 2016 comprise the relevant
figures for DZ BANK (pre-merger) for the first half
of the year and the corresponding figures for the joint
central institution in the second half of the year.

In the detailed descriptions, the financial performance
of the business lines is presented on the basis of the
net income values used by financial planning and
control for business management purposes.

Net interest income (excluding net income from
long-term equity investments) at DZ BANK increased
by 15.8 percent to €646 million (2016: €558 million).
This increase was largely the result of the
aforementioned merger effect and a greater net
interest margin contribution in corporate banking,

but partially offset by a lower net interest margin
contribution from group finance.

At DZ BANK, the Corporate Banking business line
comprises the five regional corporate customer
divisions that focus on corporate banking in Germany
(Northern and Eastern Germany, Western Germany,
Central Germany, Baden-Wirttemberg, and Bavaria),
the Investment Promotion division, and the Structured
Finance division covering business with German
corporate customers and foreign customers with links
to Germany.

A portion of the portfolio of real estate finance
business hitherto managed by Region West was
transferred to DG HYP at the beginning of September
2017 based on a value for the portion in question of
€823 million. It is planned to transfer the remainder of
the portfolio, which has a value of €2.6 billion, to

DG HYP over the coming years. The total portfolio
value of €3.4 billion was separated off in the year
under review and no longer forms part of the
Corporate Banking business line. As a consequence,
the net interest margin contribution and the service
contribution attributable to this €3.4 billion portfolio
stopped being recognized under the Corporate
Banking business line in 2017.

In accordance with the cooperative principle of
decentralization — the tried-and-tested distribution of
responsibilities in the Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken
cooperative financial network — and focusing on the
needs of the business concerned, customer
relationship management for corporate customers is
provided by the local cooperative bank in conjunction
with DZ BANK, or directly by DZ BANK.

Germany’s large and medium-sized companies
continued to show a high level of willingness to
commit to capital investment in the year under review.
By some distance, bank loans remained these
companies’ preferred means of covering their
financing requirements, which arose principally from
the need for expansion investment and funding to
cover a rising volume of business. Nevertheless, a
sound capital and liquidity position enabled the vast
majority of large and medium-sized companies to meet
their capital investment requirements from their own
cash flows or reserves.

However, even these companies cannot escape the
geopolitical influences, above all uncertainty about
the impact of the ongoing Brexit negotiations. The
shortage of skilled employees is also a source of ever-
increasing concern for these businesses.

Partly as a result of the stable German economy and
companies’ robust financial health, large and medium-
sized companies are increasingly venturing into
international business again — despite the current
geopolitical uncertainties. DZ BANK has recognized
this trend with the opening of a new representative
office in Jakarta, Indonesia, at the beginning of 2017
and by entering into a cooperation agreement with one
of the biggest banks in China in the middle of the year.
China Development Bank (CDB), the largest state
development bank in the People’s Republic of China,
and DZ BANK entered into an agreement on June 1,
2017 to form a strategic alliance. In the year under
review, DZ BANK also succeeded in setting up the
first financing arrangement in Germany for a Chinese
paper manufacturer, involving the provision of an
export credit guarantee from the Federal Republic

of Germany.

In the Corporate Banking business line, the net
interest margin contribution rose by 13.2 percent to
€396.1 million (2016: €349.9 million), in particular due
to the aforementioned merger effects in 2016 and
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2017 although it should be noted that the net interest
margin contribution from corporate banking in 2016
still included an amount of €17.4 million relating to the
real estate lending portfolio segregated in 2017 as
described above. The net interest margin contribution
in the five regional corporate banking divisions
increased substantially overall, despite greater pressute
on margins.

The net interest margin contribution from the
development lending business in the Investment
Promotion division went up year on year even though
the significant downward pressure on margins
continued.

The main areas of development activity within
traditional investment finance were business start-ups
and the implementation of energy efficiency measures
in both the residential real estate and agriculture
sectors. In spite of a fiercely competitive environment,
DZ BANK was able to expand the aforementioned
development lending portfolios.

The main year-on-year changes in the net interest
margin contribution from each of the product fields in
the Structured Finance division are described below.

The net interest margin contribution advanced in the
syndicated business/renewable energies product field.
Despite growing competition, there was a substantial
increase in renewable energies business during the
reporting year, particularly the funding of wind
turbines. Factors contributing to the year-on-year
growth also included spending brought forward in
anticipation of consequences from the amendment of
the German Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG
2017) in the middle of the year under review.

In the acquisition finance product field, the division
arranges and structures debt finance to support the
acquisition of large and medium-sized companies,
primarily in the German-speaking countries. Large
numbers of customers made use of the high degree of
liquidity in lending and bond markets to redeem their
loans. However, a selective approach to the granting of
new loans helped to generate a year-on-year rise in the
net interest margin contribution.

There was a slight decrease in the project finance

product field’s net interest margin contribution in 2017.

In the advice and sales (west) product field, which is
responsible across all products for renewable energies,
syndicated loans, acquisition finance, and international
trade and export finance business, a significant rise in
the net interest margin contribution was generated in
the reporting year.

In the international trade and export finance product
field, in which the emphasis is very much on providing
support for German large and medium-sized corporate
customers involved in international business, the net
interest margin contribution rose sharply in 2017.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances
amounted to a net reversal of €22 million (2016: net
addition of €132 million) and included a net addition
to specific loan loss allowances of €27 million (2016: net
addition of €5 million) and a net reversal of portfolio
loan loss allowances of €14 million (2016: net addition
of €60 million).

Net fee and commission income rose slightly, by
1.2 percent, to €350 million (2016: €346 million).

In the year under review, the service contribution
totaled €558 million, some of which was offset by
costs in a total amount of €167 million relating to
services obtained from third parties.

In the Corporate Banking business line, the service
contribution fell by 10.6 percent year on year to

€143.0 million (2016: €159.9 million) as a consequence
of a lower level of new business arising because of the
merger effects in the two comparative petiods described
above. The service contribution from corporate banking
in 2016 still included an amount of €2.6 million relating
to the real estate lending portfolio segregated in 2017,
as described above.

The service contribution in the five regional corporate
banking divisions decreased overall.

A new pricing structute for development lending was
introduced in the Investment Promotion division on
January 1, 2017, under which the cooperative banks
receive an annual margin reimbursement. This led to a
significant year-on-year fall in the service contribution.

The main year-on-year changes in the service
contribution from each of the product fields in the
Structured Finance division are described below.
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Much fiercer competition characterized the acquisition
finance product field during 2017, causing a shatp
drop in the service contribution compared with 2016.

The service contribution in the project finance product
field also decreased substantially year on year.

In the international trade and export finance product
field, the service contribution also declined markedly
during the reporting year owing to fiercer competition.

By contrast, the service contribution in the international
documentary business product field (letters of credit,
guarantees, collections) was far higher than in 2016.

In the asset securitization product field, the service
contribution in the year under review was well below
the figure in the prior year.

In the Capital Markets Institutional Clients and Capital
Markets Retail Clients divisions, the comprehensive
range of advisory, structuring, and placement services
available in relation to investment, capital, and
mezzanine products again proved popular with
customers of the cooperative banks and direct
customers of DZ BANK in 2017.

Based on various ranges of products, DZ BANK
managed to prevail against German and international
competitors, despite the market remaining fiercely
contested. The successfully implemented transactions
and the satisfaction of customers are testimony to a
high level of product expertise and effectiveness in

a constantly changing market environment. The
cooperative banks and direct customers value the
transaction security offered by DZ BANK in
connection with the execution of capital and
mezzanine transactions.

The service contribution generated by the
Operations/Setvices division in 2017 was also
higher than the equivalent figure reported for 2016
as a result of a rise in the income from securities
custody business.

Gains and losses on trading activities amounted
to a gain of €485 million in 2017 (2016: gain of
€746 million). The markedly larger gain in 2016 was

attributable to the reasons set out below.

The liabilities recognized at fair value gave rise to a
positive effect on earnings of €104 million in 2016
(2017: expense of €45 million).

In addition, the gains and losses on trading activities in
2016 included interest-rate-related changes in the fair
value of cross-currency basis swaps used to hedge
other transactions amounting to a gain of €4 million
(2017: loss of €49 million).

Also in 2016, the successful completion of the
mediation proceedings in the legal dispute with
Lehman Brothers International Europe resulted in
income of approximately €50 million from the reversal
of provisions to cover the cost of legal proceedings
and attorneys.

In the year under review, DZ BANK’s balance of
unrealized and realized gains and losses relating to

asset-backed securities (ABSs) amounted to a gain of
€21 million (2016: gain of €13 million).

Key influences on capital markets during the year
under review were the aforementioned continuation of
the ECB’s program of quantitative easing and the
three interest-rate hikes by the Fed described eatlier.

The lack of clarity about the direction of the US
administration’s economic policy going forward —
tax reforms have been initiated but an infrastructure
program and protectionist measures have only been
announced at the moment — and about the impact of
the ongoing Brexit negotiations also had a short-term
adverse impact on capital markets, as did the
uncertainty in the run-up to the elections in both the
Netherlands and France in the first few months of
2017. To add to this, further negative geopolitical
concerns emerged during the year, primarily as a result
of the conflicts in the Middle East and the tensions
with North Korea, although the effect of these
concerns on capital markets remained limited.

The global economic recovery, which gathered
momentum during the year under review, and the
continued uptrend in the eurozone economy caused
average share prices on European stock markets to
soar above the level seen in 2016. At the same time,
prices were a lot less volatile in the year under review
than in 2016.
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However, the regulatory environment in 2017
remained challenging for both markets and market
players, which again had to cope with the demanding
requirements imposed by banking regulators in the
year under review.

The products and services of DZ BANK’s customer-
oriented capital markets business are geared to the
needs of cooperative banks, specialized service
providers within the cooperative sector, and their retail
and corporate customers. In addition, DZ BANK has
business relationships with direct corporate customers
and institutional customers in Germany and abroad.
The portfolio comprises competitively priced
investment and risk management products involving
the asset classes of interest rates, equities, loans, and
foreign exchange. These products are complemented
by a broad range of advisory and research services,
structuring expertise, and platforms. In respect of all
customer groups and products, the proportion of
business conducted through electronic systems is
rising significantly and increasingly replacing
traditional telephone trading.

Against the current backdrop of low interest rates,
German retail investors’ top priorities are safety and
intelligent investment solutions. Catering to this
customer need, DZ BANK works closely with the
local cooperative banks and in 2017 achieved record
sales of investment certificates, doubling the previous
year’s figure to more than €4.4 billion. DZ BANK’s
performance — as measured by data from the
Deutscher Detivate Verband (DDV) [German
Derivatives Association] — has been impressive,
demonstrating its capabilities as market leader with a
market share of 16.6 percent as at the end of
December 2017, based on the market volume invested
in structured securities. The comprehensive range of
high-quality services also earned DZ BANK the Best
Issuer of 2017/2018 award from an independent panel
of experts in this year’s Investment Certificates
Awards, the first time that DZ BANK has received
this accolade.

Furthermore, DZ BANK’s focus on continuously
and effectively digitalizing and optimizing securities
processes in retail banking was recognized by
renowned experts when it received the Best Process
Award 2016. DZ BANK also has an advanced quality
management system for customer service and product
development in the Capital Markets Retail Clients

division based on the new ISO 9001:2015 standard.
The system was comprehensively audited and certified
in 2017 by DQS GmbH Deutsche Gesellschaft zur

Zertifizierung von Managementsystemen.

In order to stabilize their financial performance over
the long term, the cooperative banks acquired
investments with residual maturities of more than 5
years as part of their own-account investing activities.
They stepped up their investments in corporate bonds
and simply structured credit-rating-linked products.
Demand for structured bullet maturity bonds and
share bonds was also brisk. Business involving bonds
from financial institutions remained steady at the high
prior-year level. The cooperative banks also aimed for
broad diversification in their securities portfolios,
particularly with regard to investments in equities and
real estate. To this end, they increasingly invested in
fund products from the Union Investment Group.

Capital market business with institutional customers
was once again expanded in the year under review.
The principal contributing factor was a brisk level of
business in interest-rate derivatives used for hedging
purposes, but interest-rate structures for occupational
retitement pensions and group funding via secured
and unsecured issues also played a major role.

The investment behavior of institutional customers
was influenced to a large degree by the distortion of
market prices, and thus risk premiums, caused by the
ECB’s monetary policy of negative interest rates.
Income sources were widely spread, ranging across the
entire fixed-income product segment but primarily
bond trading in the secondary market. Sales of bank
bonds, bonds from agencies, covered bonds, and
corporate bonds were particulatly strong. In the case
of interest-rate structures and credit-linked notes, a
range of diverse products has been available to

DZ BANKs institutional customers for many years,
with some of these products being very highly placed

in the relevant rankings.

In the capital markets business with corporate
customers, demand from large and medium-sized
companies and major corporations extended over
DZ BANK’s broad spectrum of products, with
particular focus on currency and interest-rate hedging
in order to manage currency and interest-rate risk. In
the year under review, approximately 1,700 corporate
customers enteted into interest-rate ot currency
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hedging transactions and/or made short-term
investments.

The pattern of growth differed between the interest-
rate products business and the currency products
business. Currency products business saw encouraging
growth, whereas income growth in the interest-rate
products business fell slightly as a result of customer
caution in response to market conditions.

In the new bond issuance business, the volume of new
issuance mandates generated by DZ BANK was
maintained at the prior-year level. While new issuance
business with the federal states in Germany declined,
there was encouraging growth in new issuance
business from northern Europe, France, and Austtia,
and in connection with promissory notes for
corporates in Germany. The bank was able to
consolidate its new issuance business and its excellent
reputation, as well as that of the cooperative financial
network overall, in the segment covering sustainability
bonds for issuers in both Germany and abroad. In the
year under review, the ECB’s bond-buying program
continued to have a long-term impact on the level of
returns and on the composition of order books.

The net gains under gains and losses on investments
declined by €55 million to €49 million (2016:
€104 million). The figure also included income of

€42 million from the disposal of liquidity-pool securities.

The priot-year figure included a gain of €98 million on
the disposal of the long-term equity investment held
by DZ BANK (pre-merger) in VISA Europe Ltd.,
London. There was also an ABS-related gain of

€11 million in 2016, largely from disposals of ABSs
that had been impaired in previous periods.

Administrative expenses at DZ BANK amounted
to €1,472 million, an increase of €126 million or

9.4 percent on the comparable figure in 2016
(€1,346 million).

The rise in staff expenses (of €20 million to

€671 million) and in other administrative expenses (of
€106 million to €801 million) was mainly attributable
to the fact that in 2017 the former WGZ BANK was
included for the whole of the year under review, but
had only been included in the second half of the year
in 2016. Project-related consulting and I'T expenses
also increased.

The other net operating income of €112 million
(2016: €9 million) mainly arose from income of
€126 million generated from the disposal of

DZ BANK’s long-term equity investment in
Concardis GmbH, Eschborn.

In 2016, a significant item within other net operating
income had been an addition of €14 million to the
provision for fire safety measures relating to

DZ BANK’s Cityhaus I building (to the extent not
used for banking operations).

Net income from the business combination with
WGZ BANK amounting to a net expense totaling

€91 million consisted in the year under review of
merger-related expenses of the same amount that were
incurred in connection with data migration.

Profit before taxes for the year under review
amounted to €752 million. The increase of €50 million
compared with the figure of €702 million reported for
2016 was mainly a consequence of the changes
described above.

The cost/income ratio for DZ BANK in 2017 was
64.2 percent (2016: 55.5 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was 9.7 percent (2016:
10.7 percent).

3.2.2 BSH
In the BSH subgroup, net interest income rose by
27.2 percent to €833 million (2016: €655 million).

It should be noted in this regard that net interest
income in 2016 included an additional expense of
€175 million resulting from the increase in home
savings provisions.

Gains and losses on investments in joint ventures and
associates accounted for using the equity method went
up by €21 million in the year under review to a net
gain of €25 million (2016: net gain of €4 million). The
main reason was an impairment loss of €23 million
recognized in 2016 on the carrying amount, calculated
in accordance with the IFRS equity method, of
Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall’s Chinese long-term
equity investment.

In 2017, net interest income was affected by the
persistently low interest rates on capital markets.
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This led to a decline in interest income from investing
available funds in registered securities and bearer
bonds.

In the case of interest income from loans issued under
advance or interim financing arrangements, BSH
managed to strengthen its non-collective income base
in terms of volume on the back of a marked expansion
in business over the last few years and despite a fall in
average returns. This growth largely offset the decline
in income from home savings loans and other building
loans.

Accompanied by a higher interest cost, the volume of
home savings deposits continued to grow in the year
under review and reached €58.3 billion, up by

€2.9 billion compared with December 31, 2016. The
increased customer demand for home savings reflects
the extent to which customers value ownership of
their own home as a secure investment. Furthermore,
when customers sign a home savings contract at the
moment, they are guaranteed that the future loan
finance will also be at the low interest rates currently
prevailing.

Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall also built on the
sustained market success of the innovative Schwibisch
Hall rates and charges by continuing to expand the
online availability of its sales activities and services in
line with advances in digitalization. This once again
confirmed Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall as the
market leader in building society operations.

As part of a validation process, allowances for losses
on loans and advances were increased from

€8 million in 2016 to €20 million in the year under
review.

The BSH subgroup’s net fee and commission
income improved by €37 million to a net expense of
€48 million (2016: net expense of €85 million).

Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall pays fees and
commissions to the cooperative banks and to the
integrated, bank-supported field sales force on the
basis of Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall contracts
signed with customers. These payments decreased
yeat on year.

In the home savings business, Bausparkasse
Schwibisch Hall signed approximately 558 thousand

new home savings contracts, generating an impressive
level of new home savings business with a volume of

€28.0 billion (down by 4.4 petcent year on year).

In the home finance business, Bausparkasse
Schwibisch Hall achieved a new business volume of
€14.6 billion, surpassing the challenging prior-year
figure of €13.9 billion by 5.1 percent. This figure
includes home savings loan contracts and bridging
loans from Bausparkasse Schwibisch Hall and other
referrals totaling €1.86 billion (2016: €1.89 billion).

The significant growth in the home savings and home
finance businesses reflects the strong demand for
housing, driven by positive macroeconomic trends, a
stable labor market, and rising incomes. Demand for
additional homes increased, especially in urban areas,
and this trend was reinforced by inward migration and
the increasing number of people in all age groups who
are living as singles. However, despite the very high
level of capacity utilization in the construction industry
and the substantial increase in construction activity
over the last few years, production is still failing to
keep up with demand, particulatly in conurbations.

The home savings and home finance business is
receiving an additional boost from the considerable
need to modernize existing real estate, especially as 7
out of 10 homes are 37 years old or older and only

22 percent of the entire housing stock has been
updated. It is also worth noting that this modernization
deficit is not only affecting the quality of living
accommodation, but is also damaging the environment:
residential buildings account for two thirds of energy
consumption in Germany. An increase in the
modernization rate alone from the current level of

1 percent to 2 percent would mean an energy-efficient
upgrade for 70 percent of the housing stock.

Age-appropriate housing is another key area for future
growth, and there is likely to be a substantial increase
in the renovation of current housing stock because
currently only around 5 percent of the approximately
11 million households made up of older people are in
a property with barrier-free access.

The extension of the Riester subsidy in Germany to
cover the conversion of residential properties to make
them barrier-free — a change implemented under
legislation introduced in 2014 — continued to stimulate
a greater level of customer interest in 2017 in the
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Schwibisch Hall Fuchs Wohn-Riester product,
which has a number of variants according to specific
customer needs. Overall, more than 65,000 new
contracts were signed with Bausparkasse Schwibisch
Hall for its Fuchs Wohn-Riester product in the year
under review.

By cross-selling supplementary products, Bausparkasse
Schwibisch Hall field sales staff also sold cooperative
bank pension products, Union Investment Group
investment funds, and R+V insurance policies.

The net gain under gains and losses on investments
amounting to €18 million (2016: net gain of €19 million)
was mainly attributable to income from the sale of
securities.

Administrative expenses went up by €17 million to
€470 million (2016: €453 million). Staff expenses fell
by €7 million to €221 million (2016: €228 million).
Other administrative expenses rose by €24 million to
€249 million (2016: €225 million), primarily as a
consequence of strategic projects and measutes to
further develop the home savings and home finance
core businesses.

The €10 million decrease in other net operating
income to €20 million (2016: €30 million) was
primarily attributable to an increase of €38 million in
the provision for pretrial risk.

Profit before taxes in the year under review climbed
by €176 million to €334 million (2016: €158 million),
mainly as a result of the changes described above.

The cost/income ratio in 2017 was 57.0 percent
(2016: 73.2 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was 32.5 percent (2016:
16.6 percent).

3.2.3 DG HYP
Net interest income at DG HYP rose by
12.2 percent to €340 million (2016: €303 million).

This increase is largely explained by the fact that the
reporting year was boosted by significantly higher early
redemption payments (2017: €50.4 million; 2016:
€31.2 million).

The German investment market for commercial real
estate (excluding commercial investment in housing)
expanded in the year under review by 7.4 percent to a
value of €56.8 billion (2016: €52.9 billion). The
volume of transactions in the market for commercial
investments in housing swelled by around 14.6 percent
in the year under review to €15.7 billion (2016:

€13.7 billion).

Against the backdrop of the stable economic trend
in Germany and the expansionary monetary policy
of the ECB, which left its main refinancing rate at
0.00 percent while maintaining its bond buying
program (albeit at a reduced monthly rate from the
beginning of the year), the differential in yields
between real estate investments and government
bonds remained appealing, especially as there were
only a limited number of investment alternatives with
prospects of adequate returns.

The increase in the level of competition in previous
years combined with higher demand caused by
pressure from investors led to a further rise in the
prices of commercial real estate in the year under
review. Other factors contributing to the uptrend in
prices included a greater level of activity in the market,
especially by insurance companies and pension funds,
and a further shortage of commercial real estate. The
upshot was noticeably marked downward pressure on
commercial real estate yields in the year under review,
particularly in relation to real estate in prime locations.

In view of the higher yields achievable in markets
outside the major cities, large numbers of German

and international investors expanded their portfolios
in these locations. The transaction volume for
commercial real estate (excluding housing) outside the
prime locations therefore reached an amount of
approximately €26 billion in the year under review
(2016: approximately €23 billion). This means that
around 46 percent (2016: around 43 percent) of the
total investment was made outside the prime locations.

Against the backdrop of these trends, DG HYP enjoys
significant value added from its long-established close
collaboration with some 400 local cooperative banks
throughout Germany. This collaboration ensures not
only that DG HYP has access to the regional market
and the necessary proximity to customers, but also that
it can benefit from detailed local market knowledge.

At the same time, the real estate finance know-how
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of DG HYP is also the ideal complement to the local
cooperative banks’ extensive knowledge. Supported by
its 6 real estate centers in major cities and a further 6
regional offices, DG HYP is a reliable partner to the
cooperative banks in the regions.

In addition, DG HYP’s decentralized matket presence
creates an advantage in terms of the allocation of

risk because greater differentiation between credit
portfolios based on region, sector, and customer group
is possible.

Continuing to pursue this strategy in 2017, and while
maintaining its conservative, selective approach to the
granting of commercial real estate loans — especially
in view of the persistently challenging market and
competitive conditions — DG HYP generated a
volume of new business amounting to €6,431 million,
which was below the exceptionally high prior-year
figure of €7,418 million. Of this total, €6,131 million
(2016: €7,140 million) was accounted for by the
German market.

Based on effective mutual support and greater
information-sharing with the local cooperative banks,
jointly generated new lending business was further
expanded, the volume in 2017 amounting to

€3,559 million (2016: €3,159 million).

On behalf of the cooperative financial network,

DG HYP also assists the local cooperative banks with
public-sector funding inquiries. Taking account of
borrowers’ credit ratings, DG HYP prepares finance
offers that the cooperative banks then present to
local authorities. In the year under review, DG HYP
generated a financing volume of €198 million (2016:
€257 million).

Allowances for losses on loans and advances
amounted to a net reversal of €23 million (2016: net
reversal of €60 million), including a net reversal of
specific loan loss allowances of €20 million (2016: net
reversal of €45 million) and a net reversal of portfolio
loan loss allowances of €3 million (2016: net reversal

of €15 million).

Net fee and commission income declined by
€32 million to €9 million (2016: €41 million).

Gains and losses on trading activities improved by
€11 million year on year to a net gain of €11 million

(2016: net gain of €0 million) as a result of market
conditions. The change was mainly attributable to the
change in the euro/US dollar exchange rate.

The decline in the net gain under gains and losses on
investments of €16 million to €2 million (2016:

€18 million) was primarily attributable to the fact that
the prior-year figure included the reversal of an
impairment loss on a bond issued by HETA ASSET
RESOLUTION AG, Klagenfurt, in an amount of

€20 million.

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments included for the most part a net gain of
€246 million arising from the narrowing of credit
spreads in the reporting year on bonds issued by
countries on the periphery of the eurozone,
contrasting with a net loss of €73 million in 2016
resulting from the widening of these credit spreads.

The administrative expenses of €132 million were
€5 million higher than the prior-year level of

€127 million. In the year under review, staff expenses
rose by €2 million to €55 million (2016: €53 million).
Other administrative expenses went up by €3 million
to €77 million (2016: €74 million) and included a

fall of €5 million in the annual charge for 2017 under
the banking levy to €10 million (2016: €15 million),

a decrease of €6 million in other general and
administrative expenses to €5 million, and an increase
of €11 million in expenses for consulting services to
€27 million. The last item included an amount of
€11.0 million relating to the following two projects:
firstly, the ‘Commercial real estate finance portfolio
integration’ project, which involved expenses in
connection with the transfer of the commercial real
estate portfolio from the former WGZ BANK to
DG HYP; and secondly, the ‘Real estate business
reorganization’ project, which included the necessary
consulting and other services in connection with the
planned merger between DG HYP and WL BANK.

Profit before taxes improved substantially in 2017,
by €267 million, to €504 million (2016: €237 million).
The primaty reason behind this increase was the
positive change in other gains and losses on valuation
of financial instruments as a consequence of the
factors described above.

The cost/income ratio in 2017 was 21.5 percent
(2016: 41.8 percent).
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Regulatory RORAC was 47.2 percent (2016:
21.2 percent).

3.24DVB
Net interest income in the DVB subgroup declined
by 23.6 percent to €168 million (2016: €220 million).

The decrease in net interest income was largely
attributable to higher special accelerated depreciation
allowances on assets subject to operating leases and to
substantially narrower margins as a result of fierce
competition around the globe to provide financing,
especially in the aviation and land transport markets.
A smaller volume of new business and contraction of
the portfolio following further early repayments of
loans also had an adverse impact.

The deterioration of €22 million in net income

from long-term equity investments to a net loss of
€12 million (2016: net income of €10 million) was
largely attributable to individual equity-accounted
entities whose overall profit was adversely impacted,
mainly by loan loss allowances in respect of shipping
and container portfolios.

The international transport industry experienced
overcapacity within some segments of the
international maritime shipping market, resulting in
sharply falling freight rates and considerable pressure
on shipping prices. The crisis also affected offshore
business, which suffered from the uncertainty about
likely movements in the price of Brent crude.
Although this oil price was considerably more stable
in the year under review compared with 2016 (average
for 2017: US$ 55; average for 2016: US$ 45), the price
was still well below the level in the period 2011 to
2014 (average for 2011-2014: US$ 108).

In 2017, the DVB subgroup generated new transport
finance lending business of €3.1 billion (2016:

€06.5 billion) based on a total of 113 deals (2016: 157
deals). DVB Bank maintains representative offices in
Amsterdam, London, Oslo, and Singapore.

The increase in allowances for losses on loans and
advances of €347 million to €728 million (2016:
€381 million) was largely attributable to the rise in
allowances for losses on loans and advances in the
shipping finance business, which were up by

€73 million to €381 million (2016: €245 million), and

in the allowances in the offshore finance business,

which were up by €331 million to €395 million (2016:
€04 million). The reasons for the increase were firstly
that the crisis in some sections of the shipping industry
spiraled during 2017 as described eatlier, above all due
to significant overcapacity, and secondly that the
situation in offshore finance remained very difficult
owing to the uncertainty concerning likely movements
in the price of Brent crude going forward.

At €93 million, net fee and commission income was
down by €26 million year on year (2016: €119 million).

Fee and commission income generated from new
transport finance business amounted to €36 million,
down by €32 million year on year. In ongoing lending,
fee and commission income advanced by €4 million to
€20 million. Fee and commission income from asset
management increased by €3 million to €15 million,
whereas the equivalent figure from consulting declined
by €1 million to €22 million.

The deterioration in gains and losses on trading
activities of €31 million to a net loss of €26 million
(2016: net gain of €5 million) was largely due to the
change in the US dollar/euro exchange rate.

In the year under review, the gains and losses on
investments amounting to a net loss of €64 million
(2016: net loss of €12 million) mainly consisted of
impairment losses recognized in respect of the carrying
amount of 5 equity-accounted entities.

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments improved by €2 million to a net loss of
€23 million (2016: net loss of €25 million) as a result of
market conditions.

Administrative expenses amounted to €175 million
(2016: €190 million). In view of the challenging
business conditions, statf expenses were reduced by
€12 million to €91 million (2016: €103 million) by not
recognizing a provision for bonus payments; other
administrative expenses amounted to €84 million, a
year-on-year decrease of €3 million compared with the
2016 figure of €87 million.

Other net operating income in the year under review
amounted to a net expense of €19 million (2016: net
expense of €14 million) and mainly comprised
expenses of €21 million incurred in connection with
the refinement of the DVB business model.
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The loss before taxes for the year under review
amounted to €774 million. The increase of

€496 million compated with the loss of €278 million
reported for 2016 was mainly a consequence of the
changes described above.

The cost/income ratio in 2017 was greater than
100.0 percent (2016: 64.8 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was greater than 100.0 percent
(2016: minus 406.6 percent).

3.2.5 DZ PRIVATBANK
Net interest income at DZ PRIVATBANK
contracted by 16.4 percent year on year to

€117 million (2016: €140 million).

The main reasons behind this decline in net interest
income were the persistently low level of interest rates,
the ongoing implementation of a risk-conscious
investment strategy, and the expiry of securities
exposures bearing higher rates of return combined
with a slightly lower contribution to income from the
LuxCredit foreign-currency lending business.

DZ PRIVATBANK acts as the competence center for
foreign-currency lending and investing in the interest-
earning business. The average volume of guaranteed
LuxCredit loans was €4.7 billion in the year under
review, which was marginally lower than in 2016

(€5.0 billion).

The decentralized collaboration with the cooperative
banks in Germany is coordinated through the 8
branches of DZ PRIVATBANK in Betlin, Dusseldorf,
Frankfurt, Hamburg, Hannover, Munich, Nuremberg,
and Stuttgart.

Net fee and commission income rose by
8.6 percent to €126 million (2016: €116 million).

The increase in net fee and commission income was
mainly attributable to the larger contribution to
income from the fund services business, with the
contribution to income from private banking virtually
unchanged. The slight year-on-year decrease in the
average volume of guaranteed LuxCredit loans led to a
lower expense from sales commission in this business
compared with 2016.

As at December 31, 2017, the value of funds under
management had grown by €8.8 billion to

€108.8 billion (December 31, 2016: €100.0 billion).
The number of fund-related mandates as at December
31, 2017 was 579 (December 31, 2016: 590).

At the end of 2017, the funds managed on behalf of
high-net-worth individuals amounted to €17.3 billion,
€0.4 billion higher than the figure of €16.9 billion as at
December 31, 2016. The funds under management
comprise the volume of securities, derivatives, and
deposits of customers in the private banking business.

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments improved by €3 million to a net gain of
€7 million (2016: net gain of €4 million) as a result of
market conditions.

The decline in administrative expenses by

€11 million to €217 million in 2017 (2016:

€228 million) was for the most part attributable to
savings and therefore to the reduction of €10 million
in staff expenses to €126 million (2016: €136 million).
Other administrative expenses amounted to

€91 million and were thus almost at the same level as
in the previous year (2016: €92 million) overall.

Other net operating income amounted to a net
expense of €23 million (2016: net expense of

€39 million) and included an amortization expense
of €16 million in respect of acquired customer
relationships (2016: €16 million) and restructuring
expenses of €9 million (2016: €9 million). The
equivalent figure in 2016 also included additions to
provisions of €16 million in connection with risks
from the retail banking business.

In view of the effects from the factors described above,
profit before taxes improved by €17 million to
€20 million (2016: €3 million).

The cost/income ratio for DZ PRIVATBANK in
2017 was 91.6 percent (2016: 98.7 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was 6.8 percent (2016:
0.9 percent).

3.2.6 R+V

Premiums earned (net) climbed by €523 million to
€15,181 million (2016: €14,658 million), reflecting the
tight integration of the R+V subgroup into the
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cooperative financial network. This exceeded the
level of premiums earned in 2016 by 3.6 percent.
Gross premiums written increased by 3.9 percent
to €15,338 million in the year under review (2016:
€14,767 million), also surpassing the excellent level
of premiums generated in 2016.

Premium income in the life insurance and health
insurance business grew year on year by a total of
0.6 percent to €7,626 million.

In the life insurance business, premium income
remained virtually unchanged year on year with just a
marginal decline of €1 million to €7,066 million,
although there was an increase in premiums outside
Germany, contrasting with a fall in premiums within
Germany. Premium income went up in both the bAV
and pV Fonds businesses, but premium income from
pV Klassisch went down. Premium income from
health insurance rose by 8.9 percent to €560 million,
largely due to an encouraging uptrend, primarily in
regular premiums.

In the non-life insurance business, premium income
grew by 4.2 percent to €5,521 million, with most of
this growth being generated from vehicle insurance

business and corporate customers.

Premium income from the inward reinsurance
business rose by 14.3 percent to €2,034 million. The
reasons for this increase were mainly the upward
trends in the vehicle insurance business, especially in
the UK and Israel, and in the fire and non-life
insurance sectors, primarily in South Africa and the
United States.

Gains and losses on investments held by
insurance companies and other insurance
company gains and losses declined by 9.1 percent
to a net gain of €3,531 million (2016: net gain of
€3,885 million).

Long-term interest rates went up from the beginning
of the year under review, whereas they had fallen
sharply in the prior year. Over the course of the
reporting year, equity markets relevant to R+V
petrformed better than in 2016. In 2017, movements
in exchange rates between the euro and various
currencies were more unfavorable overall than in the
previous year. However, there was a positive impact
on operating profit in the life/health insurance

segment arising from the reform of the German
Investment Tax Act (InvStG).

Overall, these developments led, in particular, to lower
net foreign exchange gains and a deterioration in
unrealized gains and losses. These negative effects
were offset mainly by an improvement in realized
gains and losses and a fall in impairment losses.

Owing to the inclusion of provisions for premium
refunds (particularly in the life insurance and health
insurance business) and claims by policyholders in the
fund-linked life insurance business, the change in the
level of gains on investments held by insurance
companies also affected the ‘insurance benefit
payments’ line item presented below.

Net insurance benefit payments decreased by
0.6 percent from €15,400 million in 2016 to
€15,312 million in 2017.

In line with the change in premium income and in
gains and losses on investments held by insurance
companies and other insurance company gains and
losses, additions were made to insurance liabilities at
companies offering personal insurance. Furthermore, an
amount of €827 million was added to the supplementary
change-in-discount-rate reserve (2016: €626 million).

In inward reinsurance, the discount rate used by courts
in the United Kingdom to determine the lump-sum
payments for insured personal injury claims was
lowered significantly during the reporting year. This
led to a negative impact of €111 million. The inward
reinsurance business also had to absorb additional
expenses totaling €205 million arising from natural
disasters (Hurticanes Hatrvey, Irma, and Maria) and the
earthquake in Mexico.

On the other hand, the non-life insurance business
experienced a modest change in the claims rate in the
year under review.

Insurance business operating expenses went up
by a total of 5.7 percent to €2,595 million (2016:
€2,454 million) in the course of ordinary business
activities in all 3 divisions.

Given the factors described above, profit before
taxes for the reporting year improved by €114 million
to €795 million (2016: €681 million).
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Regulatory RORAC was 11.4 percent compated with
15.3 percent in 2016.

3.2.7 TeamBank

Net interest income at TeamBank amounted to
€426 million, a rise of 2.9 percent compared with the
figure of €414 million in 2016. This increase was the
consequence of a higher level of new business and a
greater portfolio of existing contracts in the easyCredit
business.

TeamBank is the consumer finance specialist and
liquidity management expert in the cooperative
financial network. With buoyant consumer demand
in the year under review, it delivered a strong
performance despite continued fierce competition
and a challenging environment of low interest rates.

In 2017, TeamBank continued to align its business
model with market requirements in respect of
digitalization, systematically ensuring that all changes
are conceived from the customer perspective.
TeamBank’s operating policy, which has been based
on cooperative values for many years now, provides an
excellent basis for the technological transformation
now ensuing at a rapid pace.

The fair and flexible consumer finance product
enjoyed a further increase in customer interest. Loans
and advances to customers increased by 9.4 percent to
€7,966 million (December 31, 2016: €7,284 million).
Furthermore, the number of customers had risen by a
further 49,000 as at December 31, 2017 to reach
833,000.

In the year under review, this impressive market
presence was underpinned by the continued drive to
connect all customer access channels — mobile, online,
and offline — into one digital ecosystem for liquidity
management. The provision of innovative products on
this basis gives customers easy access to liquidity and
services wherever they are and whenever they want.

The intelligent combination of traditional branch-
based advice with digital services is enabling
TeamBank to plan future growth so that the bank
will remain profitable over the long term. The digital
ecosystem is helping to strengthen the customer
relationships already in place, utilize the potential
offered by existing customers, and win new customers
for the cooperative financial network.

An important element of the ecosystem, a seamlessly
integrated process for entering into an easyCredit
agreement online, had been launched on the market in
2016. Already available for use on a computer, this
option has also been offered to customers as a mobile
solution for their smartphone since the start of 2017.
Having introduced the seamless cross-media payment
process ‘ratenkauf by easyCredit’, TeamBank is so far
the only provider, both in e-commerce and at the
point of sale, to offer a simple and uniformly designed
installment purchase function. Moreover, a new app
called ‘fymio’, an innovative, proactive personal
finance management facility, gives customers a
projection of their future liquidity based on intelligent
analysis of the transactions across all of their accounts.

In 2017, TeamBank continued to strengthen the
market presence of its product variants, which have
been successfully established as part of its customer
business. In addition to Finanzreserve with a credit
card, customers have also been able to benefit from
easyCredit-Finanzreserve without a card since October
2016, providing them free of charge with a cash
reserve incorporating a simple drawdown function.
As at December 31, 2017, around 179,000 customers
had either signed up for the easyCredit-Finanzreserve
or were already using this fair and flexible means of
borrowing. As a result, some 9.5 percent of new
business was already being generated through
easyCredit-Finanzreserve.

The proven advisory concept known as ‘easyCredit-
Liquiditdtsberater’ — a financial compass created
individually for each customer that provides both the
customer and the advisor with the transparency
necessary for the credit decision — is also helping the
cooperative idea of attracting and retaining members
to gain more prominence, in that it enables customers
to make use of an attractive member benefit.
Approximately 130,000 members benefited from
advice in 2017, of whom around 22,000 were new

to the cooperative financial network.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances were
positively impacted in the year under review by the
porttfolio’s improving credit quality and, compared
with 2016, lower impairment losses and higher
recoveries (cash receipts) on loans and advances
previously impaired. Overall, allowances for losses on
loans and advances in 2017 came to a net addition of

€70 million (2016: net addition of €80 million).
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Administrative expenses rose by €7 million to
€214 million (2016: €207 million), including an
increase in staff expenses of €3 million to €84 million
(2016: €81 million) and an increase in other
administrative expenses of €4 million to €130 million
(2016: €126 million). The rise in other administrative
expenses was predominantly due to higher IT
expenses in connection with the leasing and
maintenance of software and to projects.

Profit before taxes for the year under review
amounted to €148 million. The increase of €5 million
compared with the figure of €143 million reported for
2016 was a consequence of the factors described
above.

At TeamBank, the cost/income ratio in 2017 was
49.5 percent (2016: 48.1 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was 34.6 percent (2016:
36.2 percent).

3.2.8 UMH

Net fee and commission income in the UMH
subgroup climbed by 17.2 percent to €1,415 million
(2016: €1,207 million).

The change in net fee and commission income was
predominantly due to the factors described below.
The volume-related contribution to this net income
generated in the year under review from the average
assets under management of the Union Investment
Group rose significantly year on year. It accounted for
82.2 percent of the net fee and commission income.

The assets under management of the

Union Investment Group comprise the assets and
securities portfolios measured at their current market
value, also referred to as free assets or asset
management, for which Union Investment offers
investment recommendations (advisory) or bears
responsibility for portfolio management (insourcing).
The assets are managed both for third parties and in
the name of the group. Changes in the managed assets
occur as a result of factors such as net inflows,
changes in securities prices, and exchange-rate effects.

In 2017, performance-related management fees were
also significantly higher than in the prior year. Income
from real estate fund transaction fees saw a year-on-
yeat dectease.

International capital markets reflected the economic
trend as global growth gained traction during the
course of the year. The trend was equally apparent

in Germany and in the eurozone as a whole. The
continuation of the considerable injection of liquidity
provided by the ECB’s extensive bond-buying
program (despite the reduction in the monthly
purchasing volume from €80 billion to €60 billion
from the beginning of April) contributed to the sharp
rise in prices on equity markets during 2017, especially
in the second half of the year.

The net inflows generated in the retail business
amounted to €9.9 billion (up by 39.4 percent
compared with the 2016 figure of €7.1 billion). The
sales partnership with the local cooperative banks has
played an exceptionally important role in this regard,
the success of which is due to the close working
relationship between the local cooperative banks

and their customers on the basis of trust established
over many years.

In the persistently challenging conditions in the year
under review caused by low interest rates, Union
Investment — working together with its partners —
once again succeeded in gradually adding well-
balanced, broadly diversified investment solutions to
its existing core interest-bearing investment offerings,
thereby opening up opportunities for clients to
generate adequate returns over the long term based
on a structured portfolio investment approach.

Customer interest in 2017 centered on the 6 different
product vatiants offered in total in the innovative
PrivatFonds series of products. From an opportunity
and risk management perspective, these products are
tailored to the risk profile classification for each
individual customer. Following net inflows of

€4.3 billion in the year under review, the PrivatFonds
portfolio had grown by 29.8 percent as at December
31, 2017 to €20.9 billion (December 31, 2016:

€16.1 billion).

Open-ended real estate funds, which invest in tangible
assets and offer a further significant investment
alternative, generated net new business of €2.3 billion
in the retail business in the reporting year.

Union Investment’s various solutions involving fund-
based saving in regular installments were a significant
factor in helping customers achieve a balanced
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investment portfolio. For example, the number of
traditional fund-linked savings plans had risen to

1.9 million contracts by the end of 2017 with an
increase in the 12-month savings volume to

€3.5 billion (December 31, 2016: €2.8 billion). One
of the reasons for this substantial growth was Union
Investment’s reduction of the minimum savings rate
for a savings plan to €25.

Long-term saving based on fund-based Riester
pension products (UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente
Select) from the Union Investment Group, the market
leader in this field, attracted strong demand. The total
assets in the portfolio of Riester pension solutions
swelled by €1.5 billion in 2017 to €16.5 billion
(December 31, 2016: €15.0 billion).

In its institutional business, the Union Investment
Group generated net inflows amounting to

€15.2 billion. A total of 78 new institutional clients
were gained in the reporting yeat.

In an entrenched environment of low returns, long-
term institutional business was focused on risk-
controlled and broadly diversified investment solutions.
The most popular products were those offering better
potential returns, such as corporate bonds, bonds
issued by emerging markets, multi-asset and absolute
return products, and investments in real estate.

The Union Investment Group’s outstanding
reputation as a professional risk and portfolio manager
was particulatly reflected in the popularity of capital
preservation strategies, the invested volume of which
amounted to €25.4 billion at the end of 2017.

Socially responsible investment concepts also
continued to be heavily in demand. As at December 31,
2017, the value of the sustainably managed funds
amounted to €33.5 billion (December 31, 2016:

€25.3 billion), making the Union Investment Group
Germany’s leading provider in this segment.

In the short-term investments business, demand
amonyg institutional investors was concentrated on
money-market-linked funds, patticularly as many
corporate customers found themselves having to
pay negative interest on their liquid investments.

In response to this demand, Union Investment is
offering a number of options including the
UnilnstitutionalReserve Plus fund, which invests in

short-maturity corporate bonds or floaters. The value
of this fund rose to €7.2 billion in the year under
review.

The improvement in other gains and losses on
valuation of financial instruments of €27 million to
a net gain of €13 million (2016: net loss of €14 million)
was mainly attributable to the drop of €24 million in
expenses for the valuation of guarantee commitments.

Administrative expenses rose by €94 million to
€858 million (2016: €764 million). This included an
increase in staff expenses of €41 million to

€395 million, which mainly resulted from average
salary increases and appointments to new and vacant
posts. The rise in other administrative expenses of
€53 million to €463 million was mostly accounted for
by increased office expenses and higher costs for
consulting, I'T, and procurement of information.

Other net operating income decreased by

€25 million to €3 million in the year under review
(2016: €28 million), largely due to the recognition of
expenses in connection with the Next Generation
Sourcing reconciliation of interests and lower income
from tax refunds.

Profit before taxes went up by €142 million to
€610 million overall (2016: €468 million), primarily
because of the changes described above.

The cost/income ratio in 2017 was 58.4 percent
(2016: 62.0 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was greater than 100.0 percent
(2016: greater than 100.0 percent).

3.2.9 VR LEASING
Net interest income in the VR LEASING subgroup
amounted to €143 million, which was a decrease

of 2.7 percent on the equivalent figure in 2016 of
€147 million.

The decline in net interest income was caused by a fall
of €3 million in the net income from long-term equity
investments to €4 million (2016: €7 million) and a
decrease of €8 million to €2 million (2016: €10 million)
in the non-core business, which continued to be scaled
back in accordance with the corporate strategy. This
non-core business includes the real estate leasing,
automotive trade, and vehicle fleet businesses, plus
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international business at VR LEASING. Conversely,
net interest income in the core business rose by

€7 million to €137 million (2016: €130 million) and
thus largely made up for the contraction in the non-
core business.

Operating activities at VR LEASING are focused on
providing innovative solutions on a decentralized basis
in supportt of the cooperative banking sector. The
products cater to market requirements in a digital age
and are aimed at both small-scale and large-volume
business, offering simple, rapid, and flexible financing
solutions for Germany’s small and medium-sized
enterprises, which have strong regional ties. These
products include leasing, factoring, rental, hire
purchase, loans, and centralized settlement.

The various digitalized solutions are designed to help
the banks in the cooperative financial network make
even better use of the income potential offered by

their small-business and self-employed customers. For
example, the digital platform VR Leasy-Online
incorporates integrated, automated decision-making,
enabling cooperative banks to make decisions on
financing up to an amount of €200,000 within minutes,
particulatly for small-business customers and the self-
employed.

Through VR Leasy-Online, customers can also access
the “VR Leasing express’ hire purchase solution and
the “VR Leasing flexibel’ business lending product,
providing particularly flexible and rapid instant
financing up to a sum of €60,000. In Germany, small-
business customers have for the first time also been
able to take out a business loan up to €60,000 in a
process that is entirely online using the online ordering
channel, which has been piloted since the autumn of
2017.

If an individual transaction involves motre than
€200,000, a simplified financing check and semi-
automated processing of the customer inquiry ensutes
a lending decision can be made within 2 to 3 days.

The growing importance of internet financing
solutions was underlined by the year-on-year rise of
41.5 percent (2016: 10.8 percent) in the volume of
online business (leasing and lending) transacted with
the cooperative banks in the year under review. The
proportion of total new business (leasing and lending)
accounted for by contracts concluded online increased

from 78.9 percent in 2016 to 83.1 percent in the
reporting year. Digitalization does not prevent a
personal customer relationship, however. Rather,
the new digital channels complement the regional
cooperative banks’ close relationship with their
customers.

Nevertheless, rapid market changes in the era of
digitalization require solutions and processes to be
refined on an ongoing basis. For this reason, VR
LEASING launched a new application known as
SmartBuchhalter (smart bookkeeper) on the market in
August 2017 following an extensive pilot phase in the
first half of the year. The application is designed to
give self-employed people and small businesses a
simple overview of their financial situation. This target
group will therefore be able to maintain their accounts
easily in the future, even when not in the office.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances
amounted to a net addition of €10 million overall
(2016: net addition of €14 million), including a net
addition to specific loan loss allowances of €11 million
(2016: net addition of €14 million) and a net reversal
of portfolio loan loss allowances of €3 million (2016:
net reversal of €1 million).

Net fee and commission income declined by

€9 million to €15 million (2016: €24 million). The main
reason for this change was the level of trailer fees to
be paid to the cooperative banks, which climbed by

€8 million to €15 million in line with the volume of
business.

Gains and losses on investments amounted to a
net gain of €10 million (2016: net gain of €1 million).
As in the prior year, this figure included the reversal
of an impairment loss on VR-LEASING AG’s

50 percent long-term equity investment in VB-Leasing
International Holding GmbH, Vienna, (VBLI), which
is accounted for using the equity method.

Administrative expenses fell by €21 million to

€136 million (2016: €157 million), which included a
decline in staff expenses of €7 million to €87 million
(2016: €94 million). Of this decline in staff expenses,
€5 million was attributable to the fall in the number of
employees in Germany and €2 million to the disposal
of Lombard Lizing at the end of April 2016. Other
administrative expenses went down by €14 million to

€49 million (2016: €63 million), predominantly because



Group management report
Business report

43

of the continued implementation of cost-cutting
measures.

Other net operating income amounted to a net
expense of €39 million in the year under review

(2016: net income of €6 million), primarily because
VR LEASING introduced efficiency enhancement
measures to ensure that the business was equipped for
the future, focusing on sustainable growth and further
cost savings. This involved restructuring expenses of
€54 million, although this figure was offset slightly by

a corresponding reversal amount of €2 million.

VR LEASING generated a loss before taxes of
€17 million in the year under review (2016: profit
before taxes of €7 million), largely as a consequence
of the factors described above.

The cost/income ratio in 2017 was greater than
100.0 percent (2016: 88.2 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was minus 7.6 percent (2016:
2.2 percent).

3.2.10 WL BANK

WL BANK was included for the first time in the
interim consolidated financial statements of

DZ BANK for the period ended June 30, 2016, the
consolidation being applied in accordance with IFRS 3
on the basis of a remeasurement of all WL BANK’s
assets and liabilities as part of the purchase price
allocation (PPA). It was reported in the income
statement of the DZ BANK Group for 2016 as a
separate operating segment entity with its earnings for
the period July 1 to December 31, 2016, whereas in
the year under review it was reported with its earnings
for the entire year (see figure 3 of this group
management report).

Against a backdrop of favorable matket conditions,
further intense competition, and also the maintenance
of a conservative risk policy, WL BANK’s real estate
lending business again performed well in 2017, even
when measured against the high level achieved in 2016.
In the year under review, WL BANK generated new
business of €3.7 billion (2016: €4.2 billion).

Within the DZ BANK Group, WL BANK operates as
the center of excellence for business involving public-
sector customers. This area of business primarily
consists of customer relationships with federal,

regional, and local authorities in Germany, and with
their legally dependent municipal enterprises. These
relationships are managed nationwide with the close
involvement of the local cooperative banks. New
public-sector financing business in the year under
review benefited from the steady improvement in local
authority budgets but also continued to be subject to
fierce competition. In 2017, this business amounted to
€0.6 billion (2016: €1.0 billion).

WL BANK conducts its business from its
headquarters in Miinster, through its representative
offices in Berlin, Disseldorf, Hamburg, and Munich,
and through its sales offices in Frankfurt am Main,
Heidelberg, and Schwibisch Gmiind.

Net interest income amounted to €205 million in the
year under review (second half of 2016: €70 million).
This figure reflected the positive performance of real
estate lending and the local authority loans business.
Non-recurring income from early redemption fees and
effects from subsequent measurement in connection
with the PPA also had a positive overall impact on net
interest income in the reporting year.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances
remained at a low level. In the year under review, they
amounted to a net addition of €5 million (second half
of 2016: net addition of €9 million).

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments amounting to a net gain of €45 million
(second half of 2016: net gain of €100 million) largely
consisted of gains on third-party securities, local
authority loans, and own issuances (all measured at fair
value) and a loss arising on hedging transactions.

Administrative expenses in the year under review
came to €101 million (second half of 2016:

€35 million). The main cost components of other
administrative expenses were significantly higher
consulting and project expenses resulting from the
planned merger between DG HYP and WL BANK
and from the integration of WL BANK into the
DZ BANK Group, plus expenses arising as a
consequence of regulatory requirements. This item
also included expenses of €12.7 million in 2017
relating to the European bank levy. In 2016, the
equivalent figure of €12.5 million had already been
posted in the first half of the year.
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Profit before taxes at WL BANK amounted to
€133 million for 2017 (second half of 2016:
€118 million), largely as a result of the factors
described above.

The cost/income ratio in the year under review came

to 42.3 percent (second half of 2016: 21.6 percent).

Regulatory RORAC was 33.5 percent in 2017
(second half of 2016: 75.1 percent).

3.2.11 Other/Consolidation

The consolidation-related adjustments shown under
Other/Consolidation to reconcile operating segment
profit/loss before taxes to consolidated profit/loss
before taxes are attributable to the elimination of
intragroup transactions and to the fact that
investments in joint ventures and associates were
accounted for using the equity method.

The adjustments to net interest income wete primarily
the result of the elimination of intragroup dividend
payments and profit distributions in connection with
intragroup liabilities to dormant partners and were also
attributable to the eatly redemption of issued bonds
and commercial paper that had been acquired by
entities in the DZ BANK Group other than the issuer.

The figure under Other/Consolidation for net fee and
commission income largely relates to the fee and
commission business of TeamBank and BSH with
R+V.

The remaining adjustments are mostly also attributable
to the consolidation of income and expenses.

Also included for the prior year were the income from
the recognition of the negative goodwill arising on the
business combination with WGZ BANK and income
from the elimination of business relationships that
existed before the business combination.

As at December 31, 2017, the DZ BANK Group’s
total assets had decreased by €3.8 billion, or

0.8 percent, to €505.6 billion (December 31, 2016:
€509.4 billion). This reduction was largely attributable
to the decline in total assets at DZ BANK (down by
€9.2 billion), DVB (down by €4.2 billion), WL BANK

(down by €0.9 billion), and DZ PRIVATBANK
(down by €0.9 billion). However, total assets increased
at R+V (up by €6.1 billion), BSH (up by €2.5 billion),
and TeamBank (up by €0.7 billion).

The return on assets, which was calculated by
dividing the net profit by the total assets at December
31, 2017, was 0.2 percent.

The volume of business amounted to €871,114 million
(December 31, 2016: €843,130 million). This figure
comprised the total assets, the assets under
management at UMH as at December 31, 2017
amounting to €323,919 million (December 31, 2016:
€292,272 million), the financial guarantee contracts
and loan commitments amounting to €40,505 million
(December 31, 2016: €40,287 million), and the volume
of trust activities amounting to €1,096 million
(December 31, 2016: €1,124 million).

The DZ BANK Group’s loans and advances to
banks rose to €120.5 billion, an increase of

€13.2 billion or 12.3 percent. Loans and advances to
banks in Germany went up by €15.8 billion to

€114.3 billion, but loans and advances to foreign banks
decreased by €2.6 billion to €6.2 billion.

The DZ BANK Group’s loans and advances to
customers decreased by €2.1 billion, or 1.2 percent,

to €174.4 billion. Loans and advances to customers
went down in particular at DVB (down by €5.6 billion),
DZ BANK (down by €0.9 billion), and DZ
PRIVATBANK (down by €0.6 billion). In contrast,
loans and advances to customers increased at BSH (up
by €3.7 billion), WL BANK (up by €0.7 billion), and
TeamBank (up by €0.7 billion).

As at December 31, 2017, financial assets held for
trading amounted to €38.7 billion, a decline of
€10.6 billion or 21.4 percent on the figure as at
December 31, 2016. This year-on-year change was
largely attributable to a decrease of €6.5 billion in the
figure under derivatives (positive fair values) and a
decline in money market placements of €4.0 billion.
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FIG. 4 - TOTAL ASSETS

€ billion

Dec. 31, 2017 I 505.6 (-0.8 %)

Dec. 31,2016 N 5094

Investments were down by €12.7 billion, or

18.1 percent, to €57.5 billion. The principal reason was
a decline of €12.9 billion in the portfolio of bonds,
although there was also an increase in the portfolio of
shares and other variable-yield securities (up by

€0.2 billion).

Investments held by insurance companies rose by
€06.0 billion (6.7 percent) to €96.4 billion (December
31, 2016: €90.4 billion), above all due to a €4.0 billion
increase in fixed-income securities to €44.9 billion and
2 €0.9 billion increase in variable-yield securities to

€9.3 billion.

The DZ BANK Group’s deposits from banks as at
December 31, 2017 amounted to €136.1 billion, which
was €0.8 billion (5.3 percent) higher than the figure
reported as at December 31, 2016. Deposits from
domestic banks rose by €6.7 billion to €124.7 billion,
and deposits from foreign banks increased by

€0.1 billion to €11.4 billion.

Deposits from customers grew by €1.9 billion, or

1.5 percent, to €126.3 billion. As at December 31,
2017, the portion of the above figure for the

DZ BANK Group accounted for by deposits from
domestic customers was €112.0 billion (December 31,
2016: €109.7 billion). Deposits from foreign customers
amounted to €14.3 billion (December 31, 2016:

€14.7 billion).

At the end of the reporting year, the carrying amount
of debt certificates issued including bonds in the
DZ BANK Group was €67.3 billion (December 31,
2016: €78.2 billion). The contraction of €10.9 billion
was largely due to the decline of €11.9 billion in

DZ BANKs debt certificates issued including bonds
and the decline of €2.2 billion in the corresponding
figure at DVB. By contrast, there was a rise in debt
certificates issued including bonds at WL BANK (up

by €0.8 billion) and DZ PRIVATBANK (up by
€0.3 billion).

Financial liabilities held for trading declined by
€5.9 billion, or 11.8 percent, to €44.3 billion. The
figure under derivatives (negative fair values) decreased
by €8.3 billion. In contrast, bonds issued went up by

€1.3 billion, and money market deposits by €1.0 billion.

Insurance liabilities increased by €5.1 billion, or
6.1 percent, to €89.3 billion (December 31, 2016
(restated): €84.2 billion). This was largely attributable
to rises of €3.5 billion in the benefit reserve and
€1.0 billion in the provision for claims outstanding.

As at December 31, 2017, the equity reported by the
DZ BANK Group was €23.5 billion (December 31,
2016 (restated): €22.8 billion). The €0.3 billion increase
in subscribed capital and €0.6 billion increase in the
capital reserve reflect DZ BANK AG’s retirement of
treasury shares in the year under review and the
associated capital increase from company funds.

The disclosures on the Company’s holdings of treasury
shares pursuant to section 160 (1) no. 2 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (AktG) can be found in

note 71 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

The DZ BANK Group’s capital and solvency situation
is described in this group management report in
chapter VI (Combined opportunity and risk report),
section 7.3.2 (DZ BANK financial conglomerate).

5 Financial position

The following details on liquidity management
during the year under review relate to DZ BANK and
the DZ BANK Group. Liquidity management for the
entities in the DZ BANK Group is carried out by the
Group Treasury division at DZ BANK and on a
decentralized basis by the individual subsidiaries. The
individual entities are provided with funding by

DZ BANK (group funding) or the entities exchange
cash among themselves via DZ BANK (group
clearing). Liquidity is managed within DZ BANK
centrally by head office treasury in Frankfurt and by
the associated treasury units in its international
branches, although Frankfurt has primary
responsibility.
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In the context of liquidity management, the

DZ BANK Group distinguishes between operational
liquidity (liquidity in the maturity band of up to one
year) and structural liquidity (liquidity in the maturity
band of more than one year). Dedicated steering
committees have been established for both types

of liquidity.

The DZ BANK Group has a highly diversified
funding base for operational liquidity. A
considerable portion is accounted for by money
market activities resulting from the cash-pooling
function with the local cooperative banks. This enables
local cooperative banks with available liquidity to
invest it with DZ BANK, while local cooperative

banks requiring liquidity can obtain it from DZ BANK.

Traditionally, this results in a liquidity surplus, which
provides the main basis for short-term funding in the
unsecured money markets. Corporate customers and
institutional clients are another important source of
funding for operational liquidity requirements. The
DZ BANK Group therefore has a comfortable level
of liquidity at its disposal. Funding on the interbank
market is not strategically important to the DZ BANK
Group.

The DZ BANK Group issues money market products
based on debt certificates through its main branches in
Frankfurt, New York, Hong Kong, London, and
Luxembourg. DZ BANK has initiated a standardized
groupwide multi-issuer euro commercial paper
program, which DZ BANK and DZ PRIVATBANK
S.A. can draw on.

Money market funding also includes collateralized
money market activities, which form the basis for
broadly diversified funding on money markets. To this
end, key repo and securities lending activities, together
with the collateral management process, ate managed
centrally in DZ BANK’s Group Treasury division.
Group Treasury also has at its disposal a portfolio of
investment-grade liquid securities. These securities can
be used as collateral in monetary policy funding
transactions with central banks, in bilateral repos, or
in the tri-party repo market.

Structural liquidity activities are used to manage and
satisfy the long-term funding requirements (more than
1 year) of DZ BANK and, in coordination with the
group entities, those of the DZ BANK Group.

Both for the DZ BANK Group and each individual
group entity, structural liquidity is measured daily on
the basis of total cash flows.

DZ BANK secures its long-term funding for structural
liquidity by using structured and non-structured capital
market products that are mainly utilized for the local
coopetrative banks’ own-account and customer-
account securities business and marketed to
institutional clients. Long-term funding that is not
covered is secured through systematic integration
between the entities in the DZ BANK Group.
Options for obtaining covered liquidity through
Pfandbriefe or DZ BANK BRIEFE are used on a
decentralized basis, in other words based on the
different cover assets at DZ BANK, DG HYP,

WL BANK, and DVB.

Long-term funding requirements in foreign currencies
are covered through the basis swap market, ensuring
matching maturities.

The Group Treasury division at DZ BANK carries out
groupwide liquidity planning annually. This involves
determining the funding requirements of the

DZ BANK Group for the next financial year on the
basis of the coordinated business plans of the
individual companies. Liquidity planning is updated
throughout the year.

Monthly structural analyses of the various resources
available on the liabilities side of DZ BANK’s balance
sheet are also conducted. The purpose of these
analyses is to provide senior management with
information that can then be used as the basis for
actively managing the liability profile.

To complement the description of the funding
structure, further information on liquidity risk can be
found in this group management report in chapter VI
(Combined opportunity and risk report), section 6.2
(Economic liquidity adequacy). The year-on-year
changes in cash flows from operating activities,
investing activities, and financing activities are shown
in the statement of cash flows in the consolidated
financial statements. Contractual cash inflows and cash
outflows are set out in the maturity analysis in note
85 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Events after the balance sheet date

Il Events after the
balance sheet date

There were no events of particular importance after
the end of the financial year.
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In the group entities, attention focused on innovation,
digitalization, and other core issues, such as the regular
process of updating the remuneration strategy. The
standardization of reporting in line with regulatory
and supetvisory requirements also formed an integral
component of HR activities across the group.

1.1 HR activities across the group

During the reporting year, a total of 37 meetings were
held by the existing HR committees or their members.
The Group HR Committee, GHRC, (for information
on its function see section 3.2.3 in chapter 1

DZ BANK Group fundamentals) met twice, HR
managers five times (including one workshop). Within
the six working groups, members held discussions on
30 occasions ranging from working group meetings to
conference calls. In addition, all members remained in
close contact with each other during the course of the
year with the aim of progressing joint HR activities.

The members of the Remuneration working group
worked closely together on the regular update of the
joint remuneration strategy and also on implementing
the requirements arising from the German
Remuneration Transparency Act (EntgTranspG).

The HR Planning and Control working group has
made a major contribution to measuring and managing
HR activities within the DZ BANK Group by jointly
developing the HR Key Performance Indicator
Cockpit (HR KPI Cockpit). The empirical values
provided by the tool enhance transparency and
comparability within the individual entities, for
example for the purposes of strategic HR planning

in relation to demographic change. In 2017, a review
of the current position regarding innovation and
digitalization was carried out to facilitate further work
on the future structure of HR planning and control in
the entities and to drive forward the process of
digitalization.

Future work, HR activities in start-ups, and the
advancement of women wetre the focus of the

Professional Development working group. In 2016,
the professional development program for women at
DZ BANK had for the first time begun with a seminar
that was open to female employees from all entities in
the group. The training session ‘Success strategies for
women in business’ was offered on two dates, in each
case with capacity for ten participants, and was fully
subscribed. The sessions offered genuine added value
for the participants, together with the opportunity to
exchange information and extend personal networks.
The feedback was universally positive, with the result
that the series was continued in the year under review.
A separate activity, the cross-mentoring program for
heads of department, started again in the second
quarter of 2016 with 18 mentor/mentee pairings from
eight entities in the DZ BANK Group. Two of the
mentors had already experienced the program as
mentees. The program is due to run again for the
fourth time during 2018.

Each year, a workshop is held for all the trainees in
the group entities to encourage networking within
the DZ BANK Group. The workshop in 2017 was
attended by 80 trainees. Job shadowing in another
entity within the DZ BANK Group is a standard
component of each trainee program. The Trainee
working group coordinates the range of networking
options available. One of the key issues addressed by
HR experts during the year under review was the
future direction of the trainee programs, mainly
because of the significant rise in the demand for

IT professionals across all departments.

In addition to groupwide HR development activities,
such as training for managers, a project run by the
Careers working group, entitled ‘Information week:
Experiencing the sense of belonging in the DZ BANK
Group’, was successfully continued in the reporting
year. Three further information events, each over three
days, were held at DZ BANK, DZ PRIVATBANK,
and R+V Versicherung in 2017, having been
successfully piloted in the previous year at TeamBank
in Nuremberg and the Union Investment Group in
Frankfurt.

These information events actively help to nurture
group identity. Such events offer new perspectives,
promote an understanding of particular requirements
in other entities, encourage a greater depth of
professional dialog, and thereby produce employees
capable of spreading the message among others.
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The events also present new vocational areas, support
overarching succession and career planning, and

help the DZ BANK Group to position itself as an
employer of choice. Participation was open to any
employee who had registered beforehand. The events
were attended by a total of 83 employees, who came
from different entities in the DZ BANK Group, and
the feedback was very positive.

The third quarter of 2017 saw the launch of the
‘Employees attract employees’ initiative, which also
forms part of an overarching HR policy and
succession planning. The DZ BANK Group’s
own employees serve as active representatives of
the business and, alongside HR officers, help to
communicate the message that the entities in the
group are excellent employers.

1.2 DZ BANK Group’s employer branding
campaign

The objective of the campaign is to establish the

DZ BANK Group as an employer in the marketplace
and thereby attract suitable candidates and retain
existing employees over the long term with the aim
of safeguarding the future viability of the

DZ BANK Group.

The campaign was initiated back in 2014 with the
launch of an internal communications and information-
sharing platform. In 2016, the activities were expanded
to include a joint external careers website featuring
vacancies across the group. Further public relations
activities ensued, supporting the launch of the
employer brand in the external job market. In 2017,
these activities included a countrywide bike-sharing
campaign that was promoted on relevant social media.
Internal communications channels were also expanded
and enhanced, for example with features about
individual employees such as ‘A day in the life of...”.

In this particular case, the feature followed a typical
day in the life of a member of the Board of Managing
Directors or an employee responsible for a special
type of work and included the opportunity to make
contact via a chat facility.

1.3 DZ BANK Group Career Prize

In 2017, the DZ BANK Group Career Prize was
awarded jointly by the entities in the DZ BANK Group
for the ninth time, although it was the sixteenth time
that the prize had been awarded overall. The Career
Prize, which is worth €24,000, is awarded in

recognition of outstanding academic dissertations

in the area of banking and finance. In the reporting
year, 244 dissertations were submitted, comprising
119 in the category of university master’s degree
dissertations and 125 in the category of bachelor’s
degree dissertations. The dissertations addressed both
traditional financial issues and also new fintech trends.

1.4 Absolventenkongress

For a number of years now, the DZ BANK Group
has had a joint stand at the Absolventenkongress in
Cologne, showcasing the group’s huge variety of
opportunities at one of Germany’s biggest job fairs
for graduates just starting their careers and young
professionals. The event in 2017 was the seventh time
that the DZ BANK Group had shared its stand with
the BVR, presenting themselves together as the
cooperative financial network.

1.5 Advancement of women

In 2011, the entities in the DZ BANK Group had
issued a letter of intent declaring their intention to
provide active support for the advancement of women
in their careers, a measure necessary to safeguard

the competitiveness of the group over the long term.
The initiative is supported by joint events such as the
‘Success strategies for women in business’ training.
The potential offered by women is also one of the
specific factors the group aims to take into account
in its recruitment and development of management
trainees. The proportion of women patticipating in
the latest cross-mentoring program was 50 percent.
In 2017, the proportion of managerial positions held
by women was 20.8 percent. Other measures taken in
supportt of this objective include, for example, action
to ensure all entities in the DZ BANK Group regularly
obtain auditberufundfamilie® certification or sign the
diversity charter. The target ratios specified in the
statutory requirements were implemented in the
individual entities.

1.6 Corporate Campus for Management &
Strategy

The Corporate Campus for Management & Strategy
was set up in 2010 as a think tank and as an
information-sharing and strategy platform for senior
managers in the DZ BANK Group. It has become
successfully established and is now in its eighth year.
In 2017, 220 participants attended a total of 11 different
events. All the feedback from the participants was very
positive without exception. Participants included
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members of boards of managing directors, heads of
divisions, and, in some cases if relevant to the topic
under discussion, employees below head-of-division
level. The Corporate Campus Creative Lab was added
to the established range of activities, offering creative
events focusing on digitalization with the aim of
further bolstering the innovative capabilities of the
DZ BANK Group. The ‘Digital driver’s license — my
role as digital leader’ sessions have now become well
established and further sessions are scheduled going
forward. Further information can be found at
www.corporatecanmpus.dzbankgruppe.de

1.7 Taking responsibility for employees
The individual DZ BANK Group entities continued
to provide services aimed at promoting the health of
employees, such as attractive sporting opportunities
within the company and special courses on preventing
illness. Flexible working hours and part-time working
models, together with other services aimed at
improving work-life balance, are also included in

the range of options and form a permanent part

of HR policy in each entity.

FIG. 5 - EMPLOYEE DATA

Employees

(average for the year, excluding trainees) 2017 2016
Total 30,279 29,341

Employees

(as at December 31, including trainees)

Total 31,272 31,225

Employees 30,223 30,142

Trainees 1,049 1,083

Proportion of trainees (%) 3.4 3.5

Germany 28,164 28,097

ROW 3,108 3,128

Male 17,139 17,089

Female 14,133 14,136

Total proportion of women (%) 452 45.3

Total number of managers 3,179 3,178
Proportion of female managers (%) 20.8 20.0
Full-time 25,130 25,302
Part-time 6,142 5,923
Proportion of part-time (%) 19.6 19.0
Period of service (years) 13.0 12.7
Staff turnover (%) 6.3 5.5
Resignations (%) 3.1 2.7
Professional development days per

employee 3.1 3.3
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2 Sustainability
DZ BANK is required to prepare a non-financial
statement pursuant to section 289b (1) in conjunction

with section 315b (1) HGB.

The non-financial statement for the DZ BANK
Group is available in German at

www.berichte2017.dzbank.de
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1.1 Global economic trends

As 2018 began, a substantial recovery was under way
in the global economy. In particular, the United States
was continuing to advance along its growth trajectory,
sustaining the fairly high pace of expansion established
since the spring of 2016. The official growth figure

for the Chinese economy in 2017 was 6.9 percent.
Economic growth in the country has therefore picked
up again following a downward trend over a number
of years. The economic uptrend is also advancing in
key emerging markets, Russia and Brazil continuing

to benefit from the tecovety in commodities markets.
In Europe, neither the various elections nor the Brexit
negotiations between the EU and the UK have led to
any noticeable adverse economic impact to date. Quite
the contrary in fact, with growth in the eurozone
gaining even greater momentum.

Against this background, global economic growth in
2017 is likely to be confirmed at around 3.5 percent.
At the moment, there are no obvious signs that this
trend in global expansion is going to fall away. A further
uptick is probable in 2018, with growth forecast to be
approximately 3.8 percent for the year.

Expansionary monetary policies tending to be pursued
by key central banks are also continuing to boost the
current growth rates in the global economy. This very
much applies to the ECB, which has not yet initiated
any serious normalization of its monetary policy. By
contrast, the US Federal Reserve has implemented
modest interest rate hikes and has been taking action
since October 2017 to reduce its massively swollen
balance sheet. Nevertheless, money supply remains
abundant overall.

The inflation rate will probably rise slightly from
around 3.4 percent in 2017 to approximately
3.6 percent in 2018.

1.2 Trends in the USA

The economy in the United States is on a robust
path of growth. Consumer spending, in particular,
continues to be the key driver behind this growth.
Surveys conducted in industry and construction,

and among service providers and consumers, show
that sentiment remains very upbeat.

In 2018, a further economic boost could come from
the tax reform set in motion by Congress before

the end of 2017 and now approved. The reform will
lead to comprehensive tax cuts. Some of the strong
economic growth at the end of 2017 is likely to have
been caused by spending brought forward as a
consequence of the imminent tax reform. This is
suggested by the very hefty spending on capital
equipment, in particular. This trend is likely to
continue in 2018.

In these conditions, the US economic growth rate is
forecast to rise from approximately 2.3 percent in 2017
to around 2.5 percent in 2018.

Inflationary pressure remains rather subdued despite
both the upturn, which has already lasted for eight
years, and the slightly expansionary monetary policy,
which still remains in place. A significant, and also
protracted, rise in the oil price could push up inflation
markedly. Although the solid uptrend in employment
is predicted to continue, thete is only expected to be
a slight increase in momentum in terms of wage rises.
Opverall, conditions for higher inflation are projected
to remain moderate. Therefore, the Federal Reserve
has little reason to hurry in pursuing a tighter
monetary policy.

Currently, an average inflation rate in the region of
2.3 percent is projected for 2018.

1.3 Trends in the eurozone

The economic recovery in the eurozone is broadly
based and gathered further pace in the second half of
2017. Consumer spending and gross capital investment
are the most significant contributing factors. The
positive overall picture is also confirmed by a review
of the individual countries of the eurozone. The top
performers include the Spanish economy, which has
enjoyed very high growth rates now over a number of
quarters, and the economic heavyweight Germany.
The French economy is also picking up speed. Even
Italy — which admittedly still has comparatively weak
growth rates — is being increasingly pulled along by the
powerful economic cycle within the eurozone.

The extremely favorable economic position currently
prevailing in the eurozone is likely to continue through
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2018. However, some potential for a setback is looming
from the UK’s planned exit from the EU. The outcome
of the exit negotiations remains unresolved. Even
recent progress in these negotiations has done little to
reduce the current level of uncertainty. However,
results of surveys indicate that the potential negative
consequences for the eurozone economy from any
uncoordinated exit by the UK are likely to remain
relatively limited.

The robust growth figures are also reflected in the
labor market. The average unemployment rate in the
eurozone fell once again in November 2017, dropping
to 8.7 percent, which was the lowest level since
January 2009.

In view of the developments desctibed above, it is
reasonable to assume that a sound rate of economic
expansion will be sustained in the eurozone in 2018.
The rate of GDP growth is likely to be in the region of
2.0 percent in 2018 compared with around 2.3 percent
in 2017.

Opverall, inflation in the eurozone is lagging behind

the positive economic conditions. The upward trend
in consumer prices has been comparatively modest.
Even in the case of industrial goods (excluding energy)
or services, price inflation has been rather low. The
inflation rate in 2017 was an average of approximately
1.5 percent. Current forecasts for 2018 are predicting
an inflation rate in the vicinity of 1.5 percent.

1.4 Trends in Germany

At the end of 2017, the German economy was
experiencing a strong broadly based economic
recovery. According to the latest surveys, corporate
optimism is at its highest level since reunification.
In addition, the economy continues to be boosted
by exceptionally positive consumer sentiment and
the excellent position in the job market.

The expansion in the global economy is helping
German expotts to get back to the good years ptior to
the financial crisis and the problems in the eurozone.
Overall, the country’s industry is growing very rapidly,
driven by buoyant export demand. Furthermore, the
domestic economy in Germany has also been enjoying
a positive trend for several years. Household
consumption and capital investment in residential
construction have risen significantly with the benefit
of a strong tailwind from the very good employment

rate in the job market. Following years of caution,
businesses are now once again responding to the
strong upturn with noticeably rising spending on
capital equipment.

The economic recovery in Germany is likely to
become increasingly mature, as a result of which the
rate of expansion will probably ease off over the
medium term, coming closer to the trend growth
rate. In particular, a shortage of labor could restrict
further growth opportunities.

Against this backdrop, Germany’s unemployment
rate for 2018 is predicted to fall further to around
5.5 percent.

At the moment, all the indicators suggest that the
favorable economic conditions in Germany will
continue in 2018, with economic output projected
to rise by around 2.2 percent.

The inflation rate in 2017 crept up to 1.7 percent,
mainly as a result of a rise in prices for crude oil

and foodstuffs, and increases in housing rents. The
projected inflation rate for 2018 is also approximately
1.7 percent.

1.5 Trends in the financial sector

For some years, the financial sector has faced
considerable pressure in terms of both adjustment and
costs caused by the need to comply with regulatory
reforms and implement structural change to adapt to
competitive conditions.

The regulatory measures introduced since the financial
crisis have had a range of objectives, including the
restructuring of the financial sector to make it more
resilient in the event of a crisis, to be achieved by
reorganizing the supervisory architecture and
improving capital and liquidity adequacy. A further
objective is to ensure that the risks arising from the
business activities in the financial industry are not
borne by the public sector.

However, there is always a possibility that European
banks could be more heavily impacted as a result of
the variation in the way that the rules are applied at
international level.

Significant rules and regulations coming into force in
2018 include the application of the financial reporting
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standard IFRS 9, covering the accounting treatment
of financial instruments with implications for the
calculation of regulatory ratios, and the implementation
of the Markets in Financial Instruments Directive
(MiFID 1I), together with the accompanying Markets
in Financial Instruments Regulation (MiFIR), with
tighter requirements for the provision of investment
services in relation to a large number of financial
instruments as well as comprehensive transpatency
and disclosure requirements for transactions involving
these products.

Further information on the regulatory environment
can be found in section 5.1.2 of the opportunity and
risk repott.

In response to these regulatory requirements, banks
have reduced their leverage over the last few years and
substantially bolstered their risk-bearing capacity by
improving capital and liquidity adequacy.

However, in addition to the regulatory environment
described above, new competitors with approaches
based on the use of data and technology are presenting
the financial sector with the challenge of scrutinizing
its existing business models, adapting them as required,
and substantially improving its efficiency by digitalizing
business and IT processes. The corresponding capital
investment is initially likely to push up costs in the
industry before the anticipated profitability gains can
be realized.

Efforts to address the challenges desctibed above
will once again be made more difficult in 2018 by the
expected continuation of low nominal interest rates,
which are cutrently accompanied by a relatively flat
yield curve and are likely to prevent any significant
increase in margins in interest-related business.

This assessment is based on the continuation of the
expansionary monetary policy pursued by the ECB,
which decided in October 2017 to extend its asset-
buying program until at least September 2018.

By contrast, at a meeting in September 2017, the

US Federal Reserve decided to begin the process of
unwinding its crisis-era quantitative easing policy.

It is anticipated that, at the same time as the change in
balance sheet policy, the Federal Reserve will continue
to gradually hike interest rates with the objective of

keeping US economy on a growth trajectory while
ensuring price stability.

The expected growth in large swathes of the global
economy is also forecast to provide a boost for the
financial position and financial performance of the
European financial sector.

However, the potential implications from uncertain
political and economic trends for the economic
position of banks and insurance companies should not
be ignored. Further information on macroeconomic
risk factors can be found in section 5.1.3 of the
opportunity and risk repott.

Key features of the 2018 financial year alongside a
continuation of the tough market and competitive
conditions will include measures by the DZ BANK
Group to modify the strategic direction in certain
aspects of its business, such as the pooling of real
estate activities in DZ HYP and the realignment of the
VR LEASING operating segment.

According to the planning for 2018, total assets will
end the year somewhat higher compared with the
figure as at the end of 2017. This planning is based on
the forecast of a growth-driven increase in the volume
of business, especially in the BSH, DZ BANK,
TeamBank, VR LEASING, and WL BANK operating
segments, which will have a corresponding impact on
the balance sheet. However, the level of total assets
will also reflect the countervailing effect from the
planned contraction of the portfolios of loans and
advances in the DG HYP and DVB operating segments.

In these circumstances, it is estimated that it would be
ambitious to replicate the 2017 performance in terms
of profit, so profit before taxes in 2018 is predicted
to be at the lower end of the long-term target range of
€1.5 billion to €2 billion.

Financial performance will be impacted by the low
level of interest rates, which continue to be maintained
as a result of the expansionary monetary policies
pursued by central banks, and by the higher expenses
resulting from regulatory requirements. The future
financial performance of the DZ BANK Group could
be subject to risks arising from the political and
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economic climate outlined above. The management
of the potential implications for financial position
and financial performance atising from these risks
forms part of the DZ BANK Group’s strategic and

operational management of its business and resources.

In 2018, it is anticipated that net interest income
including income from long-term equity
investments will remain steady overall, although
there could be some income volatility in the interest-
rate-sensitive business models within the

DZ BANK Group.

The low interest rates are expected to persist in 2018
and this could have a negative effect on net interest
income.

Following the charges in 2017, mainly in the DVB
operating segment, expenses for allowances for
losses on loans and advances are likely to return to
normal levels overall in 2018 and change in line with
the lending portfolio, the targeted volume of new
business, and the long-term standard risk costs.

The potential effects of uncertain political and
macroeconomic developments on credit markets could
have a detrimental impact on allowances for losses on
loans and advances.

Once again, net fee and commission income is
projected to rise significantly in 2018 and make a
very hefty positive contribution to the earnings of
the DZ BANK Group.

Based on the predicted growth in the volume of assets
under management and the associated volume-related
income, the UMH operating segment will again be
responsible for a substantial portion of the net fee and
commission income.

Any lasting uncertainty in capital and financial markets
could have a negative impact on confidence and
sentiment among retail and institutional investors,
thereby depressing net fee and commission income.

Gains and losses on trading activities in 2018 are
predicted to be at a similar level to those in 2017.

Customer-driven capital markets business in the
DZ BANK operating segment may well continue
to provide some impetus in 2018.

The primaty prerequisite for a steady level of net
gains under gains and losses on trading activities is
considered to be a stable financial and capital markets
environment.

Net gains under gains and losses on investments are
predicted to make a modest contribution to profit
before taxes in 2018 because of the absence of non-
recurring items this year.

Other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments are once again projected to come to a
net gain in 2018 in view of the available potential for
reversals of impairment losses in the portfolios of
instruments from government issuers in the DG HYP
and WL BANK operating segments (DZ HYP
operating segment going forward).

Volatility in capital markets and especially the widening
of credit spreads on securities from government
issuers could have a negative impact on the forecast
gains and losses.

Net income from insurance business is expected
to contract in 2018. Given the expected growth in
the gross premiums from the different divisions, the
decline in net income is expected to be caused by a
deterioration in gains and losses on investments held
by insurance companies, reflecting the current
environment of low interest rates.

Exceptional events in financial and capital markets,
changes in underwriting practices, or potential changes
in the regulatory requirements faced by insurers may
adversely affect the level of net income expected to be
earned from insurance business.

Administrative expenses are predicted to rise slightly
in 2018. While administrative expenses in most
operating segments will contract or remain steady, it is
likely that this item will rise in the UMH operating
segment in view of the planned growth and capital
spending requirements.

Despite a slight increase in income forecasts, the
cost/income ratio for the DZ BANK Group is likely
to rise in 2018 as a consequence of higher expenses.
Against this backdrop, the DZ BANK Group will be
focusing energies on managing costs and generating
growth in the operating business.
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Regulatory RORAC, the risk-adjusted performance
measure based on regulatory risk capital, will decrease
marginally in 2018.

Based on the position in the year under review
and the funding measures planned for 2018, the
DZ BANK Group predicts that it will be able to
continue satisfying the economic and regulatory
liquidity adequacy requirements. Further
information on liquidity adequacy can be found in
sections 0.2.7 and 06.3.3 of the opportunity and risk
repott.

As matters currently stand, the DZ BANK Group’s
capital adequacy will continue to be assured for 2018
from both economic and regulatory perspectives; that
is to say, it will continue to have at its disposal the
available internal capital necessary to cover the risks
associated with the finance business and other risks
arising from the group’s business operations. Further
information on capital adequacy can be found in
sections 7.2.4 and 7.3.2 of the opportunity and risk
repott.

Opver the last few years, the DZ BANK Group has
strengthened its capital base from its own resources —
by retaining profits and reducing risk — and by
implementing a capital increase in 2015. In 2018, a
high priority will once again be given to capital
management activities.

4.1 DZ BANK

Despite potential for growth in the operating business,
profit before taxes at DZ BANK is under pressure
because of fiercer competition in both domestic and
international markets. Fintech companies are also
stepping up the competition by substituting new
approaches in place of traditional services in parts of
the value chain.

Morteover, the protracted period of low interest rates
combined with reduced potential for reversals of
impairment losses is hindering a motre positive level of
financial performance.

Excluding the income subsidy or absorption of losses
in connection with the DVB operating segment, profit
before taxes is forecast to fall sharply in 2018. This
contraction is attributable in part to non-recurting
items in the year under review.

The non-recurring items with a positive impact on
profit before taxes in 2017 were the disposal of the
shares in Concardis GmbH and the deconsolidation
of WGZ Finance ple.

Net interest income (excluding income from long-
term equity investments) in 2018 is predicted to be
significantly below the 2017 level. This forecast
reflects the challenges presented by the current market
and competitive environment coupled with the
downward pressure on margins.

Income from long-term equity investments will
probably go down significantly in 2018 because of

a rather conservative estimate of the financial
performance of the other management units and
because the 2017 figure included non-recurring items.

Expenses for allowances for losses on loans and
advances will probably rise in 2018. Reversals of
allowances in the year under review are not included
in the planning. This forecast is in line with the change
in the expected loss from the lending business,
particulatly in corporate banking.

Net fee and commission income is expected to rise
substantially in 2018, with particular stimulus being
provided by volume growth in transaction banking and
retail banking.

The net gain under gains and losses on trading
activities is projected to decline slightly despite the
exploitation of potential growth in the customer
business. Both the institutional customer business
and the retail customer business ate believed to offer
opportunities for growth in spite of the tough market
conditions. The consolidation of marketing activities
in line with the corporate strategy should in this case
lead to additional operating income in the capital
markets business.

Gains and losses on investments will probably
deteriorate significantly compatred with 2017 because
of the non-recurring items arising from the disposal
of securities in the banking book.
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In all probability, administrative expenses will sce a
considerable decline in 2018. The main reasons are the
absence of merger-related expenses, especially as a
result of the completion of the migration projects, and
the fall in costs as planned synergies materialize.

From the current perspective, it is anticipated that the
cost/income ratio will be up slightly in 2018 owing
to the absence of the non-recurring income items
described above.

Regulatory RORAC is likely to fall sharply in 2018
because of increasing capital requirements and the
absence in the 2018 figures of the positive non-
recurring items that boosted profit before taxes

in 2017.

4.2 BSH

According to forecasts, house-building will continue to
be a driver of economic growth in Germany in 2018.
The demand for additional homes is expected to
remain high in 2018 as a result of inward migration
and population movements within Germany; this
applies particulatly to urban centers offering good
economic and demographic prospects. The German
construction industry estimates that 350,000 homes
will be completed in Germany in 2018. For the first
time for many years, this volume matches at least the
lower end of the predicted annual demand of 350,000
to 400,000 homes. BSH, a specialist in home finance,
will also benefit from these conditions.

In its home finance core business, BSH once again
anticipates a slight rise in new business based on the
record level achieved in 2017. As regards home savings,
the second core business at BSH, new business is
predicted to be at the prior-year level because of the
continuing challenges presented by the low interest
rates and significant regulatory requirements; this
forecast is in line with the home savings market as

a whole.

BSH is anticipating a significant fall in profit before
taxes in 2018, largely because of a sharp decrease in
net interest income.

The low interest rates are likely to have a substantial
detrimental impact on income in 2018. Based on these
expectations, net interest income is forecast to

decline sharply this year.

With regard to allowances for losses on loans

and advances, BSH will continue to benefit from
Germany’s good economic performance and low
unemployment rate. As a consequence, allowances
for losses on loans and advances in 2018 will remain
at the relatively low level of 2017 despite the marked
expansion in non-collective lending business in
previous years.

Net fee and commission income is predicted to
improve slightly in 2018 assuming a steady level of
new home savings business.

Administrative expenses will be marginally higher in
2018, a consequence of strategic projects and action
plans in connection with the further development of
the home savings and home finance core businesses.
Strict cost discipline and savings will help to limit the
increase.

From the current petspective, the cost/income
ratio is likely to deteriorate significantly as a result
of the lower net interest income and slight tise in
administrative expenses.

Regulatory RORAC will probably also be well down
because of the slightly higher capital requirements and
the considerable fall in profit before taxes.

4.3 DG HYP

Since 2013, the German economy has remained
impressively robust in an environment exposed

to global political and economic risks. According

to forecasts prepared by DG HYP, the German
commercial real estate market is likely to remain
resilient and stable in 2018. From today’s vantage
point, the high volume of capital chasing real estate
investment opportunities coupled with Germany’s
economic strength and the ECB’s expansionary
monetary policy will once again result in high turnover
in the commercial real estate market. The strong labor
market is likely to ensure that demand for office space
is maintained at a good level. Rising wages are
expected to give a boost to retailers and help
consumers pay housing rents, which continue to
increase. This also means that the downward pressure
on yields is likely to remain significant and risk
premiums could continue to go down.

The portfolio of real-estate lending is anticipated to
remain steady in 2018, as a result of which net
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interest income will probably be slightly higher than
the 2017 level. The non-strategic real-estate lending
business for retail customers will continue to be
gradually replaced by higher-margin commercial real-
estate lending business.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances are

predicted to return to normal levels. Net reversals of
loan loss allowances at the level of the last few years

will no longer occur.

The spreads in government financing are only
expected to natrow by a tiny amount in 2018. The
significant net gain in 2017 under other gains and
losses on valuation of financial instruments is
therefore projected to decrease sharply, with the
result that profit before taxes is likely to decline
substantially despite the ongoing success of

DG HYP’s operating business.

Administrative expenses will see another slight rise
because of the further increase in merger activities in
this operating segment.

From the curtent petspective, the cost/income ratio
will show a significant year-on-year deterioration,
caused by the sharp fall in net gains under gains and
losses on valuation of financial instruments.

Regulatory RORAC is likely to see a hefty fall in
2018 as a result of the substantial decrease in profit
before taxes.

Once again it is clear that non-strategic public-sector
financing, which is accounted for at fair value, is
limiting the ability of DG HYP to present the positive
performance of its operating business transparently.

Information on the intended merger between
DG HYP and WL BANK to become DZ HYP as part
of the project to reorganize real estate activities within

the DZ BANK Group can be found in section 2.3.

4.4 DVB

In 2017, DVB reported significant losses in what was
the most challenging year in the history of the
company, which stretches back almost 95 years.

At the beginning of 2017, the Board of Managing
Directors of DVB developed a strategy to increase
productivity and efficiency and to lay the foundations

for a return to a reasonable level of profitability in the
business model. The strategy was to consist of
structural modifications, the refinement of existing
products and services, and the development of new
ones. Further work was carried out on the strategy
during the course of the yeat to turn it into an updated
business plan, which was then presented to, and
approved by, the relevant decision-making bodies. By
way of example, measures to be implemented as patt
of the plan included the following:

— Discontinue the offshore finance division from
January 1, 2018

— Reorganize the portfolio breakdown with a balanced
distribution between the remaining transport
finance areas, but with a greater focus on aviation
finance and land transport finance business

— Permanently bolster the team of experts responsible
for managing non-performing loans

— Develop a new non-core assets strategy

— Increase risk-free fee and commission income in the
various divisions, for example by focusing more on
an originate-to-distribute business model, in which
it is possible to add to and enhance the income
generated from using the bank balance sheet

— Review the cost structures in the business model.

One of the critical competitive advantages still offered
by the DVB business model is the cycle-neutral lending
policy, which focuses on the quality of the financed
asset in terms of the extent to which it can be
rematketed and its value recovered.

DVB plans to exploit the current macroeconomic
position to continue to offer its transport finance
products, consulting, and other services at an
international level in 2018. DVB will therefore remain
available to its transport customers in 2018 for new
business in the areas of shipping finance, aviation
finance, and land transport finance.

In these circumstances, DVB will make best efforts in
2018 to avoid reporting a loss before taxes, as was
necessary in 2016 and 2017. The bank thus plans, in
particular, to significantly reduce allowances for
losses on loans and advances. The continuing
dislocation in some shipping markets could cause an
adverse impact in legacy portions of portfolios, mainly
in shipping finance and offshore finance. Even in the
tenth year of the current crisis in shipping, DVB
estimates that there is still tonnage overcapacity in
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some international shipping segments — this structural
oversupply will create yet more pressure on charter
rates and ship asset values. It remains unclear when
this overcapacity will be eliminated to return transport
markets to a situation where supply and demand are
roughly in balance.

In 2018, the aviation and land transport finance
markets are also expected to continue to be affected
by the significant levels of available cash looking for
an investment and by the fierce competition between
banks and other finance providers, all of which is likely
to have a detrimental impact on new business volume
and new business margins.

Taking all the above into account, DVB is projecting
a significant improvement in the cost/income ratio
in 2018.

From an overarching perspective, DVB’s financial
performance is subject to uncertainty because of the
conditions in the maritime market and the review of
strategic options.

4.5 DZ PRIVATBANK

The eurozone economy is likely to continue to recover
moderately over the medium term. The inflation rate
will probably not exceed the ECB’s target of 2 percent
for any length of time in the next few years.

As things stand, any greater acceleration in business
growth in 2018 will be hindered, mainly by the
persistently low interest rates and the rise in costs
associated with regulatory requirements.

Earnings are projected to improve in virtually all
divisions in 2018. Administrative expenses atre only
expected to tise by a modest amount thanks to the
ongoing efforts to manage efficiency and effectiveness.

Net interest income is forecast to contract
significantly in 2018 because of the persistently low
interest rates and the inadequate options available for
replacing maturing interest-bearing assets.

In all probability, net fee and commission income
will go up in 2018 on the back of the uptrend in the
private banking and fund services businesses. The
main value driver is fund volume, which is likely to
continue to grow in the case of both third-party funds
and Union Investment funds, aided by continuation

of benign market conditions. The assets under
management in private banking will also increase, with
margins projected to improve as a result of efforts to
optimize the fee model. At the same time, a fiercely
competitive matket continues to prevail, reflected in
persistent downward pressure on margins.

The customer-driven foreign exchange business will
continue to have a positive impact on gains and
losses on trading activities. A significant
improvement in this figure is anticipated in 2018.

From today’s perspective, the encouraging trend in
income combined with only a moderate rise in costs
is likely to mean that profit before taxes will increase
significantly in 2018.

The cost/income ratio and regulatory RORAC are
both forecast to improve substantially.

4.6 R+V

In the opinion of R+V, the 2018 financial year will
continue to be shaped by the challenging conditions.
The market environment will remain very tough from
any number of perspectives, including political issues,
regulation, low interest rates, economic conditions,
and consumer behavior.

Customers hold DZ BANK, the Volksbanken
Raiffeisenbanken cooperative financial network, and
the latter’s insurance specialist, R+V, in very high
standing due to their financial strength, resilience, fair
advice, good setvice, and tailored solutions.

In the year under review, R+V launched its
“Wachstum durch Wandel’ (growth through change)
program with the overall objective of consolidating its
strong position in the market. The main aims within
the strategic program are to safeguard profitable
growth over the long term, bring about further growth
in sales, refine the strong R+V corporate culture, and
sharpen the focus on customer needs. This future-
oriented strategy is being driven forward with support
from the implementation of a digitalization strategy,
encompassing a broad range of activities from the
provision of products and services for customers and
sales partners to the processing of customer concerns.

In line with this strategy, R+V is planning to continue
on its trajectory of profitable growth in 2018. R+V,
the composite insurer in the Volksbanken
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Raiffeisenbanken cooperative financial network, is
aiming to use its highly effective product portfolio to
steadily increase its market penetration. Further
consolidation of R+V’s market leading positions in a
number of areas, including personal pension products,
occupational pension provision, vehicle fleets, and
credit insurance, will be based on developing the
potential available from both corporate and retail
customers. R+V intends to achieve a lasting increase
in market share by focusing on organic growth to be
achieved by leveraging the potential available in the
cooperative financial network, increasing cross-selling
activity, offering innovative products, and expanding
online and multichannel activities. This will also help
to steadily increase the value added for the cooperative
financial network.

Substantial growth is expected in gross premiums
written. It is anticipated this will be generated from
non-life insurance, personal insurance business, and
inward reinsurance.

In non-life insurance, gross premiums written are
forecast to grow significantly in 2018. The claims rate
will probably be higher than in 2017. Based on a
steady expense ratio, the combined ratio (total

of insurance business operating expenses and claims
expenses divided by premiums earned) is projected

to rise.

In the life insurance and health insurance business,
R+V aims to back up the successes achieved in
previous years with a long-term diversification strategy.
The gross premiums written predicted for 2018 will
be slightly above the level of 2017.

The public at large has recognized that the statutory
pension needs to be topped up by private and/or
occupational pension provision. These circumstances
alone already offer potential for growth. Particular
momentum in the occupational pensions business
could be provided by small and medium-sized
enterprises in Germany. In businesses with fewer

than a hundred employees, many of these employees
do not yet make use of the benefits available under
occupational pension schemes. The German Act to
Strengthen Occupational Pensions (BRSG), which
comes into force in 2018, addresses this situation in
particular. This will give rise to new sales opportunities
that will be actively exploited by R+V. Collectively
agreed pension schemes such as the dedicated schemes

available in Germany for the chemicals industry
(Chemie-Versorgungswerk), engineering industry
(MetallRente), and healthcare industry (KlinikRente)
are helping to popularize occupational pension
provision.

R+V expects the fierce competition in the reinsurance
sector to continue. Nevertheless, following the major
loss events that occurred in 2017 in North America
and in the Caribbean, it is anticipated that there will be
an increase in the price of reinsurance cover around
the globe in 2018. In both commercial and retail
business, the natural catastrophe segments adversely
impacted in 2017 are expected to benefit, in particular,
from this trend. R+V will continue to pursue its
strategy of profitable growth in its inward reinsurance
business. The retention of the stringent underwriting
guidelines will ensure rigorous compliance with the
income-otiented business policy. On the costs side,
R+V anticipates a stable administrative expenses
ratio (net insurance business operating expenses
divided by net premiums earned) and an improvement
in the combined ratio in 2018.

The long-term investment strategy based on asset
protection combined with a state-of-the-art approach
to risk management will also be decisive factors in
2018. The net gains under gains and losses on
investments held by insurance companies are
forecast to fall to a normal level in 2018 against the
backdrop of persistently low interest rates. This item
will thus continue to make a significant contribution
to overall profit before taxes at R+V in the future.

Overall, these developments are projected to cause
a decline in profit before taxes year-on-year, but
the figure will remain at a satisfactory level.

Regulatory RORAC is expected to fall in 2018 in
line with the forecast decline in profit before taxes
combined with a slight rise in capital requirements.

4.7 TeamBank

The German consumer finance market is forecast to
continue to expand significantly in 2018, boosted by
the positive economic growth, negative interest rates
in real terms, and continuation of the favorable labor
market.

Digital transformation is also putting traditional banks
under a noticeable degree of pressure. Furthermore,
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new market players with disruptive business models
are becoming increasingly popular, while the efforts of
technology giants from the US and China are gradually
bearing fruit in the German financial sector. Agile
operating structures, digital solutions, and alliances —
including collaboration with fintechs — are of critical
importance for banks if they are to keep up with the
rapid pace of innovation in the market.

In collaboration with the cooperative banks,
TeamBank is aiming in 2018 to generate profitable,
sustainable growth at a rate that is constantly higher
than the market average. TeamBank remains focused
on establishing connectivity between the various
methods of customer access, amalgamating online and
mobile activities with the branch business of the
cooperative banks, and attracting new customers and
members as well as retaining existing ones.

TeamBank is forecasting a significant gain in net
interest income for 2018 based on strong portfolio
growth.

The risk provision policy will be switched in January
2018 so that it is in line with IFRS 9. As part of this
change, allowances for losses on loans and advances
will be recognized at an earlier point in the lending
relationship and at a greater level. As TeamBank
continues to anticipate strong growth in its portfolio, it
is projected that there will be a corresponding tise in
allowances for losses on loans and advances.

Rigorous management of costs by focusing on the
core business and targeted capital investment to ensure
TeamBank’s future competitiveness will help ensure
that administrative expenses in 2018 are only slightly
higher than the 2017 level.

Taking into account the hefty rise in net interest
income, the slight increase in administrative expenses,
and the greater level of allowances for losses on loans
and advances, profit before taxes is once again
forecast at a high level in 2018, although it is unlikely
to reach the exceptional figure achieved in 2017.

As a consequence, the cost/income ratio will remain
at the encouraging level achieved in 2017 and is also
expected to stay below the industry average.

The rise in minimum capital requirements will lead to a
sharp drop in regulatory RORAC in 2018.

4.8 UMH

UMH has continued to set itself ambitious targets for
2018, even though it has just completed a financial
year in which it generated the highest net profit in its
history, attained significant net inflows, and achieved a
record level of assets under management.

Against the backdrop of persistently challenging
conditions — the change in the German political
landscape after the latest elections, the ongoing Brexit
negotiations between the UK and the EU, the
increasing centrifugal forces in Europe, such as those
in Poland, Hungary, and Catalonia, the developments
in Turkey, the behavior of Russia, the tensions with
North Korea, and not least the policies of the United
States under the Trump administration — UMH aims
to systematically exploit opportunities to deliver a
positive business performance in both the national and
international environments.

In 2018, UMH is also aiming to maintain new business
at a very high level and forecasts that the positive
trend in assets under management will continue with
the volume reaching a new all-time high, despite
modest expectations regarding overall performance.

A sharp contraction in net fee and commission
income is predicted for 2018. Volume-related income
is likely to increase substantially as a consequence of
the higher average level of assets under management.
However, this positive effect will probably be entirely
offset by a greater decrease resulting from a sharp fall
in the expected returns from performance-related
management fees and a significant drop in real estate
transaction fees.

Administrative expenses are projected to rise
significantly in 2018. This increase will be caused largely
by the transfer of research expenditure to UMH’s
own books, capital investment in infrastructure, and
subsequent operating costs. Staff expenses will rise in
2018 because of a projected increase in the number
of employees, the effect over a whole year from prior-
year appointments, and planned salaty increases. On
the other hand, from the current perspective, the
reduction in variable remuneration components will
also have a countervailing impact.

Based on the factors described above, UMH is again
forecasting a significant profit before taxes for 2018,
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even though the projected figure represents a
considerable decline compared with 2017.

In line with this forecast, there is also likely to be
an increase in the cost/income ratio and a fall in
regulatory RORAC.

4.9 VR LEASING

Advancing digitalization and the associated changes in
customer requirements will be the focus of activities
at VR LEASING in 2018. The ongoing policy of low
interest rates and the implementation of regulatory
requirements (including the EU General Data
Protection Regulation (GDPR), the Insurance
Distribution Directive (IDD), and the Principles for
Effective Risk Data Aggregation and Risk Reporting
(BCBS 239)) represent further challenges in the

business environment.

Transformation into a digital provider of finance
for the self-employed and small businesses

The priority for VR LEASING in 2018 will be to
transform the corporate group into a digital provider
of finance for the self-employed and small businesses,
as approved in December 2017. This will be
accompanied by a focus on the cooperative banks
and their decentralized support for the financing

of small and medium-sized enterprises in the BVR
corporate customer clusters 2-4 (self-employed and
small businesses).

As part of the transformation, it was decided that
negotiations should be initiated for the disposal of

the business activities other than sales via banks

(i.e. centralized settlement and BFL Leasing GmbH)
because they have no connection with the cooperative
financial network. In the case of leasing or hire purchase
business (single assets) with a value of more than
€750,000, this business is to be operated henceforward
with an associated partner. The factoring business

will be taken over by the DZ BANK segment and the
operating segment thereby reinforced, in particular in
terms of the range of products.

By sharpening the focus of the business model, it is
anticipated that VR LEASING will be able to exploit
new potential sources of income, which will also cause
a corresponding increase in the commission it pays to
the cooperative banks. However, as a consequence of
the costs incurred in connection with the transformation,
a small loss before taxes is forecast for 2018.

Further development of simple, automated
financing solutions

VR LEASING will forge ahead with the further
development of its simple, automated financing
solutions for leasing, hire purchase, and lending with
a value of up to €200,000 with the aim of establishing
further sources of income for the cooperative banks
and generating long-term growth for itself. In 2018, it
plans to take the market penetration enjoyed by its
VR Leasing flexibel’ business lending product to yet
another level and raise the financing limit for the VR
Leasing express’ hire purchase solution from €60,000
to €200,000. Looking ahead, the limit for automated
decisions on financing is to be increased in stages to
€750,000.

The online order channel, which for the first time
enables corporate customers to enter into a borrowing
agreement in a process that is entirely online, has been
in testing since September 2017. Once the pilot phase
is completed, it will be rolled out as quickly as possible.

Expansion of digital value-added services

In 2018, VR LEASING intends to continue the
systematic development of digital value-added services
that it has created as patt of an ecosystem of digital
solutions. One example is SmartBuchhalter, a simple
accounting and liquidity management application
launched in 2017 across the whole of the German
market. Another solution known as Bonititsmanager
(credit status managet) is also currently being tested.
There are plans for a rapid market launch after the
pilot phase has been successfully completed.

The stimulus generated from initiatives introduced as
part of the sales and product strategy and production
processes is once again expected to result in rising
income from the core business in 2018. It is
anticipated that the expansion of the core business will
be reflected in a sharp year-on-year rise in net interest
income in 2018.

The greater level of market penetration achieved by
the “VR Leasing flexibel’ business lending product
will probably be accompanied by an increase in
allowances for losses on loans and advances in
propottion to the planned growth in new business.

As a result of the significant investment involved in
the transformation to become a digital provider of
finance for the self-employed and small businesses,
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administrative expenses are likely to rise accordingly.

These increases are projected to be more than offset
by the budgeted rise in income and are expected to
lead to a vast improvement in the cost/income ratio.
The reduction in headcount in 2017 as part of a
voluntary severance program is forecast to result in a
substantial fall in staff expenses.

In 2018, earnings performance is expected to be
considerably bettet than in 2017. As a result of the
transformation investment costs, VR LEASING will
report a small loss before taxes in 2018, but this is
likely to be a significant improvement on the figure in
2017.

Taking into account the predicted improvement in
earnings and the stability in risk-weighted assets
compared with 2017, a sharp improvement in
regulatory RORAC is forecast for 2018.

4.10 WL BANK

The strategic shift in focus at WL BANK, which dates
back to 2010, toward a commercial bank servicing the
real estate and local authority loans business will be
systematically maintained in 2018. The requitements
that need to be satisfied to successfully achieve the
target structure continue be as follows: nationwide
customer access, a high degree of business referrals
by the cooperative banks, and consistently favorable
funding opportunities, especially using Pfandbriefe.
Direct access to capital market partners and significant
investor confidence ate also indispensable for
obtaining advantageous funding arrangements.

Following the successful merger of DZ BANK and
the former WGZ BANK to become a joint central
institution on August 1, 2016, WL BANK has been
gradually integrated into the organizational structutes
and committee activities of the DZ BANK Group.
This has also included the integration of WL BANK
into the DZ BANK Group’s functional,
methodological, and technical processes.

Sustained positive economic trends with an extremely
favorable job market and rising collective pay deals
combined with historically low interest rates will
continue to create good conditions in real estate markets
in 2018. The German building industry expects the
current construction boom to be sustained.

WL BANK is forecasting new business growth in 2018
compared with 2017 in both the real estate and the
local authority lending businesses. The resulting
portfolio expansion will be greater than the further
contraction of the portfolio of secutities and promissory
notes, as a result of which total assets will once again
increase slightly.

In 2018, net interest income will see a further hefty
increase year-on-year as a consequence of WL
BANK’s success in generating new business over the
last few years.

Allowances for losses on loans and advances in
2017 were affected by a non-recurring item and are
likely to be sharply reduced to a low level in 2018.

Net fee and commission income is forecast to grow
in line with the acquired new business.

From the current perspective, the net gain under
other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments is forecast to be significantly lower than
in 2017.

Both the allowances for losses on loans and advances
and other gains and losses on valuation of financial
instruments will be substantially impacted in 2018 by
the switch in accounting standard from IAS 39 to IFRS 9,
with the result that it will not be possible to present a
meaningful comparison with the previous year.

Administrative expenses will be affected by costs
related to regulatory requirements together with
consulting expenses in connection with the planned
merger of WL BANK and DG HYP to become
DZ HYP, as a result of which they are expected to
rise significantly.

Profit before taxes is forecast to be at a lower level
in 2018 as a result of the factors described above.

The cost/income ratio is projected to tise marginally.
Regulatory RORAC will probably fall slightly.

Information on the intended merger between

WL BANK and DG HYP to become DZ HYP as
part of the project for the reorganization of real
estate activities within the DZ BANK Group can be
found in section 2.3.
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In its capacity as the parent company in the

DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK is publishing this
opportunity and risk report in order to meet the
transparency requirements for opportunities and

risks applicable to the DZ BANK Group as specified
in sections 37v and 37y of the German Securities
Trading Act (WpHG) and section 315 of the
German Commercial Code (HGB) in conjunction
with German accounting standard GAS 20.
Furthermore, the opportunity and risk report meets
the transparency requirements regarding opportunities
and risks applicable to DZ BANK as a separate entity
that are specified in section 289 HGB in accordance
with GAS 20.

This report also implements the applicable
international risk reporting requirements, specifically
those set out in IAS 1.134-136 (capital), IFRS 7.31-42
(nature and extent of risks arising from financial
instruments), and IFRS 4.38-39A (nature and extent
of risks arising from insurance contracts). The maturity
analysis in respect of financial assets and financial
liabilities under IFRS 7.39(a) and (b) is disclosed

in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
(note 84).

The requirements set out in IFRS 7 are generally
limited to financial instruments, shifting the focus
of reporting to credit risk, equity investment risk,
market risk, and liquidity risk. In contrast, the

DZ BANK Group takes a holistic view of all these
risks when using risk management tools and when
assessing the risk position. As a consequence, the
groupwide risk management system not only covers
risks that arise specifically in connection with financial
instruments, but also all other relevant types of risk.
This integrated approach is reflected in this
opportunity and risk report.

The opportunity and risk report also satisfies those
regulatory transparency requirements in Part 8 of
the CRR that specify disclosures based directly on the

risk management system. The disclosures concerned
are as follows:

— Risk statement by the Board of Managing
Directors (section 2), including the declaration
by the Board of Managing Directors on the
appropriateness of the risk management system
in relation to the risk profile and business strategy
(section 2.1)

— Basic principles of risk management (section 3.1)

— Risk management objectives and strategies
(sections 3.2 and 3.3)

— Structure and organization of risk management
(section 3.4), including the nature and scope of
the risk reporting systems (section 3.4.5) and the
provision of risk information to the Supervisory
Board (section 3.4.5)

— Risk management procedures, including the
nature and scope of risk measurement systems
(section 3.5.2)

— Guidelines for mitigating and hedging risk as well
as strategies and procedures for monitoring the
ongoing effectiveness of the measures taken to
mitigate and hedge risk (sections 3.5.5, 6.2.4, 8.4.7,
10.4.4,14.4.4,16.4,17.2.2,18.2.2, and 19.2)

This opportunity and risk report also includes
information in compliance with those recommended
risk-related disclosures that have been issued by the
Financial Stability Board (FSB), the European
Banking Authority (EBA), and the European
Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) that
extend beyond the statutory requirements and that are
intended to improve the usefulness of the disclosures
in the decision-making process.

In accordance with the statutory requirements, the
quantitative disclosures in this opportunity and risk
report are based on information that is presented to
the Board of Managing Directors and used for internal
management purposes (known as the management
approach). This is designed to ensure the usefulness
of disclosures in the decision-making process, as
required by law.

The opportunity and risk report of the DZ BANK
Group includes disclosures relating to DZ BANK.

It is therefore a combined opportunity and risk
report in accordance with section 315 (5) HGB in
conjunction with GAS 20.22. A separate opportunity
and risk report is not prepared for DZ BANK. Unless
stated otherwise, the disclosures relating to the
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DZ BANK Group and the Bank sector also apply to
DZ BANK.

DZ BANK Group

2 Summary

2.1 Statements from the Board of Managing
Directors

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK
considers that the risk management system in
place is adequate with regard to the risk profile and
risk strategy of the DZ BANK Group. DZ BANK
continuously develops the risk management system
and ensures that any need for improvement identified
internally or by the supervisory authorities is addressed
systematically without delay with a view to
implementation.

The DZ BANK Group’s business model and the
associated business models used by the management
units (see section 1.1 and section 1.2 of the (group)
management report) shape the risk profile of the
group. The main risks associated with the business
models in the management units are presented in
Fig. 7 and Fig. 8 in section 2.3.2 of the opportunity
and risk report. The businesses operated by the

DZ BANK Group and the management units that
have a significant impact on the risk profile are
described under ‘Definition and business background’
and ‘Risk strategy’ within the sections of the
opportunity and risk report covering the different
risk types.

In the other ditection, the main risks and the risk
profile, together with a number of other factors,
influence the business models used in the DZ BANK
Group. This occurs firstly in strategic planning, where
the risk profile is taken into account by restricting —
in conjunction with the imposition of risk limits —

the risk assumed in connection with new business.
Secondly, in all activities, the DZ BANK Group

only takes on risk if it has an adequate understanding
of the risk involved and the expertise necessaty to
measure and manage it.

The extent to which the liquidity risks and the risks
backed by capital (risk profile) are reasonable in
relation to the risk limits is expressed in the values

for the DZ BANK Group’s risk-related KPIs shown
in Fig. 6. The values for these KPIs are compared
against the (internal) minimum targets specified by the
Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK with due
regard to the business and risk strategies— also referred
to below as risk appetite — and against the (external)
minimum targets laid down by the supervisory
authorities. The DZ BANK Group met the internal
and external minimum targets at all times in the year
under review. Further details on risk appetite can be
found in section 3.3.

The interaction between the risk profile and risk
appetite is explained in section 6 in connection with
liquidity adequacy, and in section 7 in connection with
capital adequacy.

2.2 Opportunity and risk management system

2.2.1 Fundamental features

DZ BANK and the DZ BANK Group define
opportunities as unexpected positive variances from
the forecast financial performance.

Risks result from adverse developments affecting
financial position or financial performance, and
essentially comprise the risk of an unexpected future
liquidity shortfall or unexpected future losses. A
distinction is made between liquidity and capital. Risks
that materialize can affect both of these resources.

The management of opportunities at DZ BANK
and in the DZ BANK Group is integrated into the
annual strategic planning process. Strategic planning
enables the group to identify and analyze market
discontinuities based on different macroeconomic
scenarios, trends, and changes in the markets, and
forms the basis for evaluating opportunities. Attractive
opportunities are taken into account in the business
strategies.

Reports on future business development
opportunities are based on the business strategies.

As part of the general communication of the business
strategies, employees are kept up to date about
potential opportunities that have been identified.

DZ BANK and the DZ BANK Group have a
comprehensive risk management system that

meets their own business management needs and the
statutory requirements. Furthermore, the management
of opportunities and risks forms an integral part of the
groupwide strategic planning process.
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FIG. 6 — RISK-RELATED KPIS

Measured figure

Internal minimum target! External minimum target

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
LIQUIDITY ADEQUACY
DZ BANK Group
Economic liquidity adequacy (€ billion)2 16.1 11.2 4.0 4.0 0.0 0.0
DZ BANK banking group
Liquidity coverage ratio (%) 161.7 151.0 90.0 80.0 80.0 70.0
CAPITAL ADEQUACY
DZ BANK Group
Economic capital adequacy (%)3 170.5 1701 1200 130.0 100.0 100.0
DZ BANK financial conglomerate
Coverage ratio for the financial conglomerate (%)45 189.3 180.3 100.0 100.0
DZ BANK banking group
Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (%)&7 14.0 14.5 11.0 10.6 79
Tier 1 capital ratio (%a)&7 153 16.0 125 121 9.4
Total capital ratio (%a)&7 17.4 18.6 145 14.1 1.4
Leverage ratio (%a)& 46 35 35

1 As specified by the Board of Managing Directors.

2 Economic liquidity adequacy is expressed through the minimum liquidity surplus KPI. The figure used relates to the stress scenario with the lowest minimum liquidity surplus. The internal

minimum target relates to the observation threshold.

3 The internal minimum target is the amber threshold in the traffic light system for managing and monitoring economic capital adequacy.
4 Figure measured as at December 31, 2017: Preliminary coverage ratio. Figure measured as at December 31, 2016: Final coverage ratio.

5 It is planned to set an internal minimum target in 2018.

6 Measured values and internal minimum targets in accordance with the CRR transitional guidance.

7 The external minimum targets are the binding regulatory minimum capital requirements. There are no comparative prior-year figures for the method that the ECB has applied since 2017 for
determining the minimum capital requirements. Details on the minimum capital requirements can be found in section 7.3.3.

Not available

The risk management system is based on risk
strategies that are consistent with the business
strategies and have been approved by the Board
of Managing Directors. In particular, risk policy
guidelines on risk appetite have been drawn up in
the form of the risk appetite statement, which
forms an integral part of the risk strategies.

Efficient management and control tools are used
in all areas of risk. These tools are subject to continual
further development and refinement. The methods
used for measuring risk are integrated into the risk
management system. Risk model calculations are used
to manage the DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK and the

other management units.

DZ BANK and its subsidiaries have organizational
arrangements, methods, and IT systems in place that
enable them to identify material opportunities and
risks at an early stage and initiate appropriate control
measures, both at group level and at the level of the
individual management units. This applies in particular
to the early detection and management of risks
that could affect the group’s survival as a going
concern.

The tools used for the purposes of risk management
also enable the DZ BANK Group to respond
appropriately to significant market movements.
Possible changes in risk factors, such as a deterioration
in credit ratings or the widening of credit spreads on
securities, are reflected in adjusted risk parameters in
the mark-to-model measurement of credit tisk and
market risk. Conservative crisis scenarios for short-
term and medium-term liquidity are intended to ensure
that liquidity risk management also takes adequate
account of market crises. A risk limit system based

on risk-bearing capacity, stress testing encompassing
all material risk types, and a flexible internal reporting
system ensure that management is in a position to
initiate targeted corrective action if required.

The risk management system is more detailed than
the system for the management of opportunities
because risk management is subject to comprehensive
statutory requirements and is also of critical
importance to the continued existence of DZ BANK
and the DZ BANK Group as going concerns. The
management of opportunities is based on a qualitative
approach and is tightly integrated into the strategic
planning process.
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2.2.2 KPIs

Risks affecting liquidity and capital resources are
managed on the basis of groupwide liquidity risk
management and groupwide risk capital management.
The purpose of liquidity risk management is to
ensure adequate levels of liquidity resetves are in
place in respect of risks arising from future payment
obligations (liquidity adequacy). The aim of risk
capital management is to ensure the availability
of capital resources that are commensurate with the
risks assumed (capital adequacy).

The minimum liquidity surplus, which reflects
economic liquidity adequacy, and economic capital
adequacy are the key figures in the DZ BANK
Group. Disclosures on the method used to calculate
these key figures can be found in sections 6.2.4 and
7.2.2. Disclosures on the relationship between these
figures and the balance sheet can be found in
sections 0.2.6 and 7.2.2. The changes made on January
1, 2017 to how economic capital adequacy is
determined are presented in section 2.2.5 of this
opportunity and risk report.

The minimum liquidity surplus and economic capital
adequacy cannot be reconciled directly to individual line
items in the consolidated financial statements because
they are forward-looking considerations. Although these
key figures are based on the consolidated financial
statements, 2 number of other factors are used in their
calculation. The use of these figures in the opportunity
and risk report complies with the financial reporting
standards to be applied in external risk reporting.

2.2.3 Management units

All DZ BANK Group entities are integrated into the
groupwide opportunity and risk management system.
DZ BANK and its main subsidiaries — also referred
to as management units — form the core of the
financial services group. Each management unit forms
a separate operating segment, and they are assigned to
the sectors as follows:

Bank sector:

— DZ BANK

— BSH

— DG HYP

— DVB

— DZ PRIVATBANK
— TeamBank

— UMH

— VR LEASING

— WL BANK

Insurance sector:
- R+V

DG HYP and WL BANK apply the waiver pursuant
to section 2a (1), (2), and (5) KWG in conjunction
with article 6 (1) and (5) and article 7 CRR. This
means that DG HYP and WL BANK as individual
institutions are no longer required to apply the
provisions of Parts 2 to 5 and Parts 7 and 8 CRR and
are instead covered at DZ BANK banking group level.

The management units represent the operating
segments of the DZ BANK Group. They are deemed
to be material in terms of their contribution to the

DZ BANK Group’s aggregate risk and are therefore
directly incorporated into the group’s risk management
system.

The other subsidiaries and investee entities are
included in the system indirectly as part of equity
investment risk.

The management units ensure that their respective
subsidiaties and investees are also included in the
DZ BANK Group’s risk management system —
indirectly via the majority-owned entities — and meet
the minimum standards applicable throughout the

group.

2.2.4 Effects of the merger between DZ BANK and
the former WGZ BANK

Following the completion of the legal aspects of

the merger between DZ BANK and the former

WGZ BANK in 2016, the migration of business
data from the IT systems operated by the former
WGZ BANK to the IT systems at DZ BANK, which
had been started in 2016, and the merging of risk
exposures were then also completed in the year
under review.

2.2.5 Material changes

The DZ BANK Group holds a capital buffer

(‘capital buffer requirement’) in readiness to allow
for a possible lack of precision in the measutrement

of the risks backed by capital. Up to 2010, the capital
buffer was deducted from the available internal capital
without further differentiation. Since January 1, 2017,
a distinction has been made between decentralized
and centralized capital buffer requirements in the
management of economic capital adequacy.
Decentralized capital buffer requirements are managed
within the upper loss limits for the individual risk types,
whereas the centralized capital buffer is managed on
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the basis of an upper loss limit covering all sectors and
risk types.

Freely available internal capital remains unchanged
by this adjustment. As of the year under review, this
figure has been calculated as the difference between
available internal capital and the risk capital
requirement including the capital buffer requirement
(aggregate risk). Up to the end of the prior year,
freely available internal capital was calculated as the
difference between available internal capital (after
deduction of the capital buffer requirement) and the
risk capital requirement. Consequently, economic
capital adequacy, which was previously calculated as
the ratio of available internal capital (after deduction
of the capital buffer) to the risk capital requirement,
is now calculated as the ratio of available internal
capital to aggregate risk. This change in methodology
would have led to a minor decrease in economic
capital adequacy compared with 2016 even if both
available internal capital and the risk capital
requirement had remained unchanged year on year.

Owing to the changed definition of the capital buffer,
the disclosures on the risk capital requirement and the
upper loss limits as at December 31, 2017 are not
directly comparable with the corresponding disclosures
as at December 31, 2016.

At present, the merger of DG HYP and WL BANK
planned for 2018 is not expected to result in material
changes to the opportunity and risk management
system or to the DZ BANK Group’s key risk
indicators.

2.3 Risk factors, risks, and opportunities

2.3.1 Risk factors

The DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK are exposed
to risk factors related to both the market and
sector. These risk factors may be reflected in liquidity
adequacy and capital adequacy.

The regulatory framework for the banking industry
remains characterized by ever tighter regulatory
capital and liquidity standards and increasingly
stringent process and reporting requirements. These
developments particularly have an impact on
business risk.

The macroeconomic risk factors that are significant
to the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK are the

European sovereign debt ctisis, the persistently tough
market conditions for the shipping and offshore
finance business, and the low interest rates. Potentially,
the macroeconomic risk factors could particularly have
a negative impact on credit risk, equity investment risk,
market risk, business risk, and reputational risk in the
Bank sector and on market risk and counterparty
default risk in the Insurance sector. The protracted
period of low interest rates will reduce profits. These
risk factors are described and analyzed in detail in
section 5.1.

Morteover, the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK

are exposed to business-specific risk factors of an
overarching nature that affect a number of risk types.
These factors may include potential shortcomings in
the risk management system, the possible downgrading
of the credit rating for DZ BANK or its subsidiaries,
or ineffective hedges. These risks are generally taken
into account in risk management. Section 5.2 contains
a detailed description and analysis of these risk factors.

Risk factors specific to each type of risk also
determine the extent of risk exposure in the

DZ BANK Group and at DZ BANK. Detailed
disclosures in this regard are provided in sections 8 to
19, in each case under the header ‘Specific risk factors’.

2.3.2 Risks and opportunities

The main features of the directly managed risks
and their significance for the operating segments in
the Bank and Insurance sectors are shown in Fig. 7

and Fig. 8.

To ensure that the presentation of the disclosures
remains clear, the risk management system disclosures
included in the opportunity and risk report are limited
to the more material entities in the group (indicated
in Fig. 7 by a dot on a datk gray background). This
selection is based on a materiality assessment,

which takes into account the contribution of each
management unit to the DZ BANK Group’s overall
risk for each type of risk. However, the figures
presented in the opportunity and risk report cover

all the management units included in the internal
reporting system (indicated additionally in Fig. 7 by

a dot on a light gray background).

The subcategories shown under credit risk and market
risk in Fig. 7 are those with material significance

for the Bank sector. The risk management system

also includes other subcategoties of credit risk and
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market risk but these additional subcategories are not
described in this opportunity and risk report because
they are of minor significance in the overall risk
management picture, although they are included in
the figures disclosed in the report.

The solvency of the DZ BANK Group was never

in jeopardy at any point during the reporting period.
By holding ample liquidity reserves, the group ensures
that it is able to protect its liquidity against any
potential crisis-related threats. It also complied with
regulatory requirements for liquidity adequacy at all
times. The DZ BANK Group remained within its
economic risk-bearing capacity in 2017 and also
complied with regulatory requirements for capital
adequacy at all times. There are no indications that
the continued existence of the DZ BANK Group
or individual management units, including DZ BANK,
as going concerns might be at risk.

The opportunities presented by the forecast
developments are reasonable in relation to the risks
that will be incurred.

3.1 Regulatory framework for risk management
The conglomerate-wide risk management system
complies with the statutory requirements specified in
section 25 (1) FKAG in conjunction with section 25a
KWG and the German Minimum Requirements for
Risk Management for Banks and Financial Services
Institutions (MaRisk BA). In respect of risk
management for the relevant management units, the
DZ BANK Group also obsetves the requirements
specified in sections 26 and 27 of the German Act
on the Supetrvision of Insurance Undertakings (VAG)
and section 28 of the German Capital Investment
Code (KAGB) in conjunction with the German
Minimum Requirements for Risk Management for
Investment Management Companies (KAMaRisk).

When DZ BANK designed the risk management
system of the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK,
it followed the guidance provided by the EBA and
the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions
Authority (EIOPA) and the pronouncements of
the BCBS and the FSB on risk management issues.

In the year under review, DZ BANK updated its
recovery plan in accordance with the requirements
specified by banking supervisors. The recovery plan
is based on the requirements specified in the German
Bank Recovery and Resolution Act (SAG) and in
other legal soutces, especially Commission Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2016/1075 and the Minimum
Requirements for the Design of Recovery Plans
(MaSan). A fully updated recovery plan was prepared
during the reporting year and submitted to the ECB.

In accordance with article 7 (2) of Regulation (EU)
No. 806/2014, the Single Resolution Board (SRB)

is the European authority responsible for the
preparation of resolution plans and for all decisions
in connection with the resolution of all institutions
under the direct supervision of the ECB. A group
resolution plan is drawn up for institutions that are
subject to supervision at consolidated level. The SRB
works closely with the national resolution authorities
(in 2017 in Germany, this was the Bundesanstalt fir
Finanzmarktstabilisierung (FMSA) [Federal Agency for
Financial Market Stabilization]). The resolution plan
is aimed at ensuring the resolvability of the banking
group. In accordance with section 42 (1) SAG, the
resolution authority (FMSA) can demand that the
institution provide it with comprehensive assistance
in connection with drawing up and updating the
resolution plan. For this reason, as in prior years,

DZ BANK again dedicated a great deal of time and
effort in 2017 to helping with the ongoing preparation
of the resolution plan for the DZ BANK Group.

It supplied the resolution authority with numerous
analyses and a range of written materials as well as
providing details using standardized document
templates.

3.2 Risk strategies

The exploitation of business opportunities and the
systematic, controlled assumption of risk in relation
to target returns form an integral part of corporate
control in the DZ BANK Group and at DZ BANK.
The activities resulting from the business model
require the ability to identify, measure, assess, manage,
monitor, and communicate opportunities and risks.
The need to hold appropriate reserves of cash and

to cover risks with adequate capital is also recognized
as an essential prerequisite for the operation of the
business and is of fundamental importance.
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FIG. 7 - RISKS AND OPERATING SEGMENTS IN THE BANK SECTOR'

Risks
Risk type Definition Specific risk factors
RISK NOT COVERED BY CAPITAL
Liquidity risk Risk that cash and cash equivalents will not be — Funding structure for lending business

available in sufficient amounts to ensure that
payment obligations can be met (insolvency

- Uncertainty surrounding tied-up liquidity
— Changes in the volume of deposits and loans

risk). — Funding potential in money markets and capital markets
- Fluctuations in fair value, marketability of securities, and the
eligibility of such securities for use in collateralized funding
arrangements
- Exercise of liquidity options
— An obligation on the DZ BANK Group to pledge its own collateral
RISK COVERED BY CAPITAL
Credit risk Risk of losses arising from the default of — Increase in the lending volume as a result of new business and
- Traditional credit risk counterparties (borrowers, issuers, other increase in the fair value of existing business
— Issuer risk counterparties) and from the migration of the - Increase in the concentration of volume by counterparty, industry,
- Replacement risk credit ratings of these counterparties. country, or maturity
— Deterioration in the lending portfolio’s credit rating structure
«»  Equity investment risk Risk of losses arising from negative changes in Increased requirement for the recognition of impairment losses on
™ the fair value of that portion of the long-term the carrying amounts of investments
s equity investments portfolio for which the risks - as a result of impaired carrying amounts
.g are not included in other types of risk. —as a result of a lack of information in the case of non-controlling
$ interests
-5 Market risk — Risk of losses on financial instruments or other - Widening of credit spreads on European government bonds
§ - Interest-rate risk assets arising from changes in market prices or - Shortages of market liquidity
£ - Spread risk and migration risk  in the parameters that influence prices
- Equity risk (market risk in the narrow sense of the term).
- Fund price risk — Risk of losses arising from adverse changes in
— Currency risk market liquidity (market liquidity risk)

— Asset management risk
- Market liquidity risk

Technical risk of a home - Risk of a negative impact from possible
savings and loan company?’ variances compared with the planned new
— New business risk business volume (new business risk)

- Collective risk - Risk of a negative impact that could arise

from variances between the actual and
forecast performance of the collective building
society operations caused by significant long-
term changes in customer behavior unrelated
to changes in interest rates (collective risk).

— Decline in new business
— Changed customer behavior (unrelated to changes in interest
rates)

Business risk Risk of losses arising from earnings volatility
which, for a given business strategy, is caused
by changes in external conditions or
parameters.

- Costs of regulation

— Competition based on pricing and terms

— Greater competition in capital markets business

- Digitalization and new competitors in transaction banking

Reputational risk? Risk of losses from events that damage
confidence, mainly among customers (including
the local cooperative banks), shareholders,
employees, the labor market, the general
public, and the supervisory authorities, in the
entities in the Bank sector or in the products
and services that they offer.

— Decrease in new and existing business
— Support of stakeholders such as shareholders and employees

Operational risk Risk of losses from human behavior,
technological failure, weaknesses in process or
project management, or external events.

Business-performance risk

HR risk:

— Strikes and other business interruption

- Insufficient availability of employees

IT risk:

— Malfunctions or breakdowns in data processing systems

Outsourcing risk:

— Disruptions to outsourced processes and services

Risks in connection with the (consolidated) financial reporting
process:

- Inaccurate external financial reporting

Legal risk:

- Changes in the legal framework

— Changes in the official interpretation of relevant regulations

- Government intervention

— Court or arbitration proceedings

— Changes in the business environment

Tax risk:

— Changes in the tax framework

— Changes in the interpretation by tax authorities of the existing tax
framework

— Changes in the business environment

Compliance risk:

— Failure to recognize violations of legal provisions

1 Apart from migration risk on traditional loans, which are covered by the capital buffer.
2 Including business risk and reputational risk of BSH.

3 The Bank sector’s reputational risk is contained in the risk capital requirement for business risk. BSH's reputational risk, which is covered by the technical risk of a home savings and loan company,

is not included here.
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Risks

Operating

1t units)

Risk mar KPIs disclosed

DZ BANK

DG HYP

BSH
DVB

DZ PRIVATBANK

TeamBank

UMH

VR LEASING

WL BANK

9

- Liquid securities

— Unsecured short-term and medium-term
funding

— Minimum liquidity surplus

-LCR

Section 6.2.6
Section 6.2.6

Section 6.2.7
Section 6.3.3

- Lending volume

Sections 8.6, 8.7,

and 8.8
— Allowances for losses on loans and advances  Section 8.9
- Risk capital requirement Section 8.10
— Investment volume Section 9.5
— Risk capital requirement
— Risk capital requirement Section 10.7.1
— Value-at-risk Section 10.7.2
Risk capital requirement Section 11.5
Risk capital requirement Section 12.4
— Loss events and losses Section 14.6
- Risk capital requirement Section 14.7

Consideration of
quantitative and qualitative disclosures

management units in
quantitative disclosures

[]

opportunity and risk report:
not relevant
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FIG. 8 — RISKS IN THE INSURANCE OPERATING SEGMENT AND SECTOR

Risk management KPls

Risk type Definition Specific risk factors N
disclosed
RISK COVERED BY CAPITAL PURSUANT TO SOLVENCY Il
Actuarial risk — Life actuarial risk: Risk arising from the - Life actuarial risk: In the case of products - Claims rate Section

- Life actuarial risk assumption of life insurance obligations with long-term guarantees, the long trend in non-  16.6
— Health actuarial risk in relation to the risks covered and the duration of the contracts means that life insurance
- Non-life actuarial risk processes used in the conduct of this what happens over the term of the — Overall Section
business. contracts may vary from the calculation solvency 16.7
- Health actuarial risk: Risk arising from assumptions made at the time the requirement
the assumption of health and casualty contracts were signed.
insurance obligations in relation to the - Health actuarial risk: The level of claims
risks covered and the processes used in resulting from policyholders’ and service
the conduct of this business. providers’ behavior may cause a larger
- Non-life actuarial risk: Risk arising from rise in claims expenses than the one in
% the assumption of non-life insurance the calculation assumptions.
= obligations in relation to the risks - Non-life actuarial risk: The actual impact
:9: covered and the processes used in the of losses, particularly from catastrophe
o conduct of this business. risk, may exceed the forecast impact.
T: Market risk Risk arising from fluctuation in the level - An increase in interest rates or widening - Lending Sections
'S - Interest-rate risk or volatility of market prices of financial of credit spreads on government bonds volume 17.4 and
5 — Spread risk instruments that have an impact on the or other bonds could lead to a fall in fair 17.5
£ - Equity risk value of the assets and liabilities of the values, resulting in a temporary or — Overall Section
@ - Currency risk entity. permanent adverse impact on operating solvency 17.6
S - Real-estate risk profit. requirement
— A possible worsening of the financial
circumstances of issuers and/or debtors
could result in partial or complete
default on receivables or write-downs as
a result of rating downgrades.
Counterparty default risk Risk of possible losses due to unexpected  Unexpected default or deterioration in the - Lending Sections
default or deterioration in the credit credit standing of mortgage loan volume 17.4 and
standing of counterparties or debtors of borrowers, counterparties of derivatives, 17.5
insurance or reinsurance companies over  reinsurance counterparties or — Overall Section
the subsequent 12 months. policyholders, or insurance brokers. solvency 18.4
requirement
Operational risk Risk of loss arising from inadequate or HR risk: Overall Section
failed internal processes, personnel, or - Insufficient availability of employees solvency 19.4
systems, or from external events IT risk: requirement
o (including legal risk). — Malfunctions or breakdowns in data
] processing systems
; - Business interruptions
2 Legal risk:
E - Changes in the legal framework
:g — Changes in the official interpretation of
tr relevant regulations
g- - Government intervention
& — Court or arbitration proceedings
£ — Changes in the business environment
a Tax risk:
— Changes in the tax framework
- Changes in the interpretation by tax
authorities of the existing tax framework
— Changes in the business environment
RISK COVERED BY CAPITAL PURSUANT TO SOLVENCY |
Risks of entities in other The entities in other financial sectors Generally corresponding to the risk factors ~ Overall Section 20
financial sectors mainly consist of pension funds and for risks backed by capital pursuant to solvency

occupational pension schemes.

Solvency Il

requirement

In all their activities, the DZ BANK Group and
DZ BANK therefore observe a risk culture in which
they only take on risk to the extent necessary to
achieve their business objectives — taking account of

the guiding principle of a ‘network-oriented central

institution and financial services group’ — and to the
extent that the management units have an adequate
understanding of, and expertise in, measuring and
managing the risk. At the same time, the entities in the
DZ BANK Group consider all material risks from the
petspectives of capital/income and liquidity and avoid

assuming risk in an aggressive manner.

consultation with other relevant divisions at
DZ BANK and the subsidiaries concerned.

the objectives of risk management (including the

requirements for accepting or preventing risk), and
the action to be taken to attain the objectives. The
planning horizon is one year.

The annual updating of the risk strategies is integrated
with the strategic planning process and is carried out

by the Group Risk Controlling, Credit, Credit Special,
and Group Strategy and Controlling divisions in close

The risk strategies are described in the following

In order to implement this principle, the Board of
Managing Directors of DZ BANK has drawn up

risk strategies for each of the material risks using the
business strategies as a basis. The risk strategies each
encompass the main risk-bearing business activities,

3.3 Risk appetite
The entities in the DZ BANK Group define risk
appetite as the nature and extent of the risks that

sections covering the individual risk types.
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will be accepted at group level or by the management
units when implementing their business models. Risk
appetite equates to the term ‘risk tolerance’ used by
banking supervisors in a disclosure context.

The risk appetite statement formulates risk policy
principles on risk tolerance in the DZ BANK Group.
The principles are overarching statements that are
consistent with the business model and the risk
strategies. The qualitative principles are supplemented
by quantitative key figures, for which minimum targets
are set internally. These key figures constitute the

DZ BANK Group’s risk-oriented key performance
indicators. The values for the KPIs and the internal
minimum targets are shown in Fig. 6.

Disclosures relating to the business model and
business strategies can be found in the (group)
management report in section 1.1 (Business model)
and section 1.2 (Strategic focus of the DZ BANK
Group as a network-oriented central institution and
financial services group).

3.4 Opportunity and risk-oriented corporate
governance

3.4.1 Governance structure

The DZ BANK Group’s risk management system
builds on the risk strategies adopted by the Board of
Managing Directors of DZ BANK. It is based on
three pillars that are interlinked and well established
in the monitoring and control environment. The

DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK thereby have a
governance structure complying with MaRisk
requirements that sets out the operational framework
for risk management. Fig. 9 shows the governance
structure for risk management.

The three pillars model clarifies the understanding
of risk management within the DZ BANK Group
and defines clearly formulated and distinct roles and
responsibilities.

The interaction between the three functional areas, or
‘pillars’, provides the basis for effective groupwide risk
management. The tasks of the individual pillars are as
follows:

— Pillar 1: Day-to-day assumption and management
of risk

— Pillar 2: Establishment and enhancement of a
framework for risk management; monitoring of
compliance with the framework by pillar 1 and
reporting on this to the Supervisory Board and
Board of Managing Directors

— Pillar 3: Process-independent examination and
assessment of risk management and control
processes in pillars 1 and 2; reporting to the Board
of Managing Directors, Supervisory Board, and
Audit Committee; communication with external
control functions.

The Supervisory Board monitors corporate
management and evaluates the adequacy of the risk
management system and internal control system on
an ongoing basis.

Independent auditors and the banking and insurance
supetvisory authorities form the external control
environment, whereby the supervisory authorities
may specify the focus of the audit to the auditors and
the auditors repott to the supervisory authorities on
the findings of their audits of financial statements and
special audits.

The role of the opportunity and risk management
committees in the corporate governance structure is
explained in section 1.3.2.3 (Corporate management
committees), which can be found in the ‘DZ BANK
Group fundamentals’ chapter of the (group)
management treport.

The business opportunities are discussed during

the course of the strategic planning process at the level
of the individual management units and within special
closed sessions held by the Board of Managing
Directors.

3.4.2 Risk management

Risk management refers to the operational
implementation of the risk strategies in the risk-
bearing business units based on standards applicable
throughout the group.

The management units make conscious decisions on
whether to assume or avoid risks. They must observe
guidelines and risk limits specified by the head office.
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FIG. 9 - GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE OF RISK MANAGEMENT IN THE DZ BANK GROUP (SCHEMATIC DIAGRAM)

Supervisory Board/Risk Committee/Audit Committee

A

A A

Board of Managing Directors/Committees

A A A
g
=
=
Risk control g
Compliance I
Risk management Internal audit v
Data protection A
Ll »| —
3 B
Information security 2 2
v &
Pillar 1 Pillar 2 Pillar 3 <
Internal control system
(including internal control system for the (consolidated) financial reporting process)

Management actions/instructions

Management inputs, audit procedures, and controls

The divisions responsible for risk management are
separated both in terms of organization and function

from downstream divisions.

3.4.3 Risk control

Central Risk Controlling at DZ BANK is responsible
for identifying, measuring, and assessing risk in the
DZ BANK Group. This is accompanied by the
planning of upper loss limits. It includes eatly detection,
full recording of data (to the extent that this is possible),
and internal monitoring for all material risks. Risk
Controlling also reports risks to the Supervisory
Board, the Board of Managing Directors, and the
management units.

Risk Controlling at DZ BANK lays down the
fundamental requirements for the risk measurement
methods to be used throughout the group and
coordinates implementation with the risk control
units in the other management units. The aim of this
structure is to ensure that the management of risk
capital is consistent throughout the group.

—» Reporting lines

————— » Reporting and information channels

In cooperation with the other management units, Risk
Controlling at DZ BANK establishes a groupwide risk
reporting system covering all material types of risk
based on specified minimum standards using methods
agreed between the management units.

Both at DZ BANK and in the other management
units, Risk Controlling is responsible for the
transparency of risks assumed and aims to ensure

that all risk measurement methods used are up to date.
The risk control units in the management units also
monitor compliance with the entity-related limits

that have been set based on the risk capital allocated
by DZ BANK. Risk Controlling at DZ BANK is

also responsible for risk reporting at group level. In
addition to this, the management units are responsible
for their own risk reporting.
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3.4.4 Compliance, data protection, and
information security

Compliance

The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK

and the Boards of Managing Directors of the other
management units are responsible for compliance
with legal provisions and requirements and for the
principles and measures implemented for this purpose.
To fulfill these duties, the Boards of Managing
Directors generally appoint an independent
compliance function.

The main tasks of the compliance function are to
identify, manage, and mitigate compliance risk in order
to protect customers, DZ BANK, the other entities

in the DZ BANK Group, and their employees against
breaches of legal provisions and requirements. The
compliance function is also responsible for monitoring
compliance with the legal provisions and requirements.
Other tasks of the compliance function are to keep
senior management up to date with new regulatory
requirements and to advise the departments on
implementing new provisions and requirements.

In accordance with the requirements of the
Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process for

Basel Pillar 2 (SREP), there is a single compliance
framework for the main entities in the DZ BANK
Group that lays down rules on cooperation between
the individual compliance functions and sets out their
authority and responsibilities.

The DZ BANK Group’s compliance framework
comprises the compliance policy. The policy includes
requirements for establishing and organizing the
compliance functions and details of their duties.

It is supplemented by compliance standards, which
specify how to implement these requirements at an
operational level.

If individual requirements in the compliance standards
cannot be fulfilled by a management unit, for example
because they conflict with local rules or special legal
requirements, the affected management unit must
provide an explanation.

The DZ BANK Group’s compliance framework is
reviewed annually to check that it is up to date.

Data protection
The entities in the DZ BANK Group have introduced
suitable precautions to ensure that they comply with

data protection provisions relating to customers,
business partners, and employees. This has involved,
in particular, creating the function of data protection
officer and issuing standard data protection principles.
In addition, employees regularly receive updates on the
currently applicable data protection provisions.

In the management units, independent data protection
officers report to the relevant Board of Managing
Directors. At the invitation of DZ BANK’s data
protection officer, the data protection officers in the
management units meet at least once a year to share
information on current data protection issues and
discuss potential joint data protection activities.

During the course of 2017, the entities in the

DZ BANK Group identified the areas for action
arising in connection with the introduction of the EU
GDPR on May 25, 2018 and initiated appropriate

implementation activities.

Information security

The DZ BANK Group understands information
secutity to be the operational security of processes,
IT applications, and IT infrastructures.

DZ BANK has implemented an information security
management system (ISMS). The rules that it contains,
along with the methodological framework that it
provides, are based on the ISO/TEC 27001:2013
standard. The ISMS is designed to ensure the
confidentiality, integrity, availability, and authenticity
of data and the media on which data is stored (IT
applications, IT systems, and infrastructure
components). The governance model implemented
defines the methods, processes, roles, responsibilities,
authority, and reporting channels that are necessary
to achieve the strategic objectives and carry out the
tasks of information security at operational level.

It also provides an operational framework for the
consistent quantitative and qualitative evaluation

and management of information security risk, which
forms part of operational risk.

3.4.5 Control functions

Internal audit

The internal audit departments of DZ BANK and all
the main subsidiaries are responsible for non-process-
specific control and monitoring tasks. They carry out
systematic, regular risk-based audits focusing on
compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements.
The internal audit departments also review and assess
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risk management and the internal control system to
ensure that they are fully operational and effective,

and that processing is properly carried out. In addition,
they monitor the action taken in response to audit
findings to ensure that identified problems have been
rectified.

The internal audit departments at DZ BANK and the
other management units report to the chief executive
officer or other senior managers of the unit concerned.
DZ BANK and all subsidiaries involved follow the
special requirements for the structure of the internal
audit function specified in MaRisk.

DZ BANK’s internal audit department is responsible
for internal audit tasks at group level. These tasks
include, in particular, the coordination of audits
involving multiple entities, the implementation of
which lies within the remit of the individual internal
audit departments in the management units concerned,
and the evaluation of individual management unit
audit reports of relevance to the group as a whole.
Cooperation between internal audit departments in

the DZ BANK Group is governed by a separate set

of rules and arrangements.

Supervisory Board

The Board of Managing Directors provides the
Supervisory Board of DZ BANK with regular and
timely reports about the risk situation, the risk
strategies, and the status and further development of
the risk management system of the DZ BANK Group
and DZ BANK. Furthermore, the Board of Managing
Directors provides the Supervisory Board with regular
reports about significant loan and investment exposures
and the associated risks. The Supervisory Board
discusses these issues with the Board of Managing
Directors, advises it, and monitors its management
activities. The Supervisory Board is always involved in
decisions of fundamental importance.

The Supetvisory Board has set up a Risk Committee
that pays close attention to risk-related corporate
management. The chairman of the Risk Committee
provides the full Supervisory Board with regular and
timely reports on the material findings of the
committee’s work. The Risk Committee held 5
meetings in the year under review.

Each quarter, the Board of Managing Directors
provides the members of the Risk Committee and
the other members of the Supervisory Board with an
overall risk report in writing, containing information

on the risk situation in the DZ BANK Group.

The Risk Committee is also informed about the
credit risk report, the report on the economic stress
tests, and the report on current indicator levels in
accordance with MaSan on a quarterly basis. The
chairman of the Risk Committee informs the full
Supetvisory Board about these matters no later than
at its next meeting. The minutes of Risk Committee
meetings are sent to all members of the Supervisory
Board on a regular basis.

External control functions

During the audit of the annual financial statements,
independent auditors carry out an assessment
pursuant to section 29 (1) sentence 2 no. 2a KWG
in conjunction with section 25a (1) sentence 3 KWG
to establish whether the risk management processes,
including the internal control functions, of the entities
in the Bank sector are appropriate and effective.

For the Insurance sector, vetification of the
Solvency II balance sheet is carried out pursuant

to section 35 (2) VAG and an assessment of the
suitability of the eatly-warning system for risk,
including the internal monitoring system of R+V, is
catried out during the audit of the annual financial
statements pursuant to section 35 (3) VAG in
conjunction with section 317 (4) HGB and

section 91 (2) AktG.

The banking and insurance supervisory authorities
also conduct audits focusing on risk.

3.4.6 General internal control system

DZ BANK uses the groupwide internal control system
to implement the relevant regulatory requirements
specified in MaRisk. The objective of the internal
control systems is to ensure the effectiveness and
efficiency of the risk management activities within

the DZ BANK Group and at DZ BANK by means

of suitable basic principles, action plans, and
procedures.

Organizational structures and controls built into
work processes serve to ensure that the monitoring
of risk management activity is integrated into
processes. I'T systems are systematically protected by
authority-dependent management of authorizations
and by technical secutity measures, the aim of which
is to prevent unauthorized access both within and
outside management units.
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3.4.7 Internal control system for the (consolidated)
financial reporting process

Objective and responsibilities

DZ BANK is subject to a requirement to prepate
consolidated financial statements and a group
management report as well as separate financial
statements and a management report. The primary
objective of external (consolidated) financial reporting
in the DZ BANK Group and at DZ BANK is to
provide decision-useful information for the users of
the reports. This includes all activities to ensure that
(consolidated) financial reporting is propetly prepared
and that material violations of accounting standards —
which could result in the provision of inaccurate
information to users or in mismanagement of the
group — are avoided with a sufficient degree of
certainty.

In order to limit operational risk in this area of
activity, DZ BANK and its subsidiaries have set up

an internal control system for the (consolidated)
financial reporting process as an integral component
of the control system put in place for the general risk
management process. In this context, the activities of
employees, the implemented controls, the technologies
used, and the design of work processes are structured
to ensure that the objectives associated with
(consolidated) financial reporting are achieved.

Overall responsibility for (consolidated) financial
reporting lies in the first instance with Group Finance
and Group Risk Controlling at DZ BANK, with all
the consolidated entities in the DZ BANK Group
responsible for preparing and monitoring the
quantitative and qualitative information required for
the consolidated financial statements.

Instructions and rules

The methods to be applied within the DZ BANK
Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are set out in writing in a group manual.
The methods to be applied within DZ BANK in the
preparation of the separate financial statements are
documented in a written set of procedural rules.

Both of these internal documents ate updated on an
ongoing basis. The basis for external risk reporting

is the disclosure policy approved by the Board of
Managing Directors. This policy sets out the principles
and fundamental decisions for the methods,
organizational structure, and IT systems to be used

in risk disclosure in the DZ BANK Group and at

DZ BANK. The instructions and rules are audited

regularly to assess whether they remain appropriate
and are amended in line with changes to internal and
external requirements.

Resources and methods

The processes set up at DZ BANK and its subsidiaries
(using suitable IT systems) permit efficient risk
management in respect of financial reporting, based
on the guidelines set by the Finance working group
and taking into account the rules in the risk manual
and the policy on risk disclosure.

The group’s financial reporting process is decentralized,
with the organizational units of the DZ BANK Group
taking responsibility for preparing and checking the
quantitative and qualitative information required for the
consolidated financial statements. The Group Finance
and Group Risk Controlling divisions at DZ BANK
implement the relevant controls and checks in respect
of data quality and compliance with the DZ BANK
Group rules. Guidelines for the management units’ risk
control departments on data quality management and
the internal control system set out the standards for
ensuring the quality of data in the process for managing
economic capital adequacy.

The organizational units post the accounting entries
for individual transactions. The consolidation
processes are carried out by DZ BANK’s Group
Finance division and by the accounting departments
of each entity in the DZ BANK Group. The purpose
of this structure is to ensure that all accounting entries
and consolidation processes are propetly documented
and checked.

Financial reporting, including consolidated financial
reporting, is chiefly the responsibility of employees

of DZ BANK and the other organizational units in
the DZ BANK Group. If required, external experts
are brought in for certain accounting-related
calculations as part of the financial reporting process,
such as determining the defined benefit obligation and
valuing collateral.

Consolidated financial reporting is based on mandatory
workflow plans agreed between DZ BANK’s Group
Finance division and the individual accounting
departments of the organizational units within the

DZ BANK Group. These plans set out the procedures
for collating and generating the quantitative and
qualitative information required for the preparation

of statutory company reports and which are necessary

7



78

Group management report
Combined opportunity and risk report

for the internal management of the operating units
within the DZ BANK Group.

Generally accepted valuation methods are used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
and group management report, and the separate
financial statements and the management repott.
These methods are regulatly reviewed to ensure they
remain appropriate.

In order to ensure the efficiency of the (consolidated)
financial reporting system, the processing of the
underlying data is extensively automated using suitable
IT systems. Comprehensive control mechanisms are
in place with the aim of ensuring the quality of
processing and are one of the elements used to limit
operational risk. (Consolidated) accounting input and
output data undergoes a number of automated and
manual checks.

Suitable business continuity plans have also been

put in place. These plans are intended to ensure the
availability of HR and technical resources required for
the (consolidated) accounting and financial reporting
processes. The business continuity plans are fine-tuned
and continuously checked using appropriate tests.

Information technology

The IT systems used for (consolidated) financial
reporting have to satisfy the applicable security
requirements in terms of confidentiality, integrity,
availability, and authenticity. IT-supported controls are
used, the purpose of which is to ensure that the
processed (consolidated) accounting data is handled
properly and securely in accordance with the relevant
requirements. The controls in I'T-supported
(consolidated) accounting processes include, in
particular, validation procedures to ensure consistent
issue of authorizations, vetification of master data
modifications, logical access controls, and change
management validation procedures in connection
with developing, implementing, or modifying IT
applications.

The IT infrastructure required for the use of IT-
supported (consolidated) accounting systems is subject
to the security controls implemented on the basis of
the general I'T security principles at DZ BANK and
the other entities in the DZ BANK Group.

The information technology used for consolidated
accounting purposes is equipped with the functionality
to enable it to handle the journal entries in individual
organizational units as well as the consolidation

transactions carried out by DZ BANK’s group
accounting department and by the accounting
departments in the subgroups.

IT-supported (consolidated) accounting processes
are audited as an integral part of the internal audit
work catried out at DZ BANK and the other entities
in the DZ BANK Group.

Ensuring and improving effectiveness

The processes used are regularly reviewed to ensure
they remain appropriate and fit for purpose; they

are adapted in line with new products, situations, or
changes in statutory requirements. To guarantee and
increase the quality of (consolidated) accounting at
DZ BANK and the other entities in the DZ BANK
Group, the employees charged with responsibility for
financial reporting receive needs-based training in the
legal requirements and the IT systems used. When
statutory changes are implemented, external advisors
and auditors are brought in at an eatly stage to provide
quality assurance for financial reporting. At regular
intervals, the internal audit department audits the
internal control system related to the process for
(consolidated) financial reporting.

3.5 Risk management tools
3.5.1 Accounting basis

Accounting basis for risk measurement

The transaction data that is used to prepare the

DZ BANK consolidated financial statements forms
the basis for the measurement of risk throughout
the group. The same applies to the separate financial
statements of DZ BANK. A wide range of other
factors are also taken into account in the calculation
of risk. These factors are explained in more detail
during the course of this opportunity and risk report.

The line items in the consolidated financial statements
significant to risk measurement are shown in Fig. 10.
The information presented is also applicable to the
measurement of risk for the separate financial
statements of DZ BANK and the measutement of

its risk, which does not include the technical risk of a
home savings and loan company or the risks incurred
by the Insurance sector.

The sections below provide a further explanation
of the link between individual types of risk and the
consolidated financial statements.
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FIG. 10 - RISK-BEARING EXPOSURES IN THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS'
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1 As liquidity risk is determined on the basis of all exposures in the consolidated financial statements, the details for liquidity risk are not provided here for reasons of clarity.

2 Disclosures for the banking business.

A further breakdown of the line items in the
consolidated financial statements used to determine
credit risk is given in section 8.6.1.

The investments used for the purposes of measuring
equity investment risk are the following items
reported in note 55 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements: shares and other shareholdings,
investments in subsidiaries, investments in associates,
and investments in joint ventures.

In the Bank sector, the measurement of financial
instruments both for the purposes of determining

market risk and for financial reporting purposes is
based on financial market data provided centrally.
Discrepancies in carrying amounts arise from the
differing treatment of impairment amounts in the
market risk calculation and in the accounting figures.
Differences also arise because the market risk
calculation measures bonds on the basis of credit
spreads using available market data whereas the
accounting treatment uses liquid bond prices. If no
liquid prices ate available for bonds, credit spreads
are also used to measure bonds for accounting
purposes. With the exception of these differences,
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the disclosures relating to market risk reflect the fair
values of the assets and liabilities concerned.

The measurement for the technical risk of a home
savings and loan company is based on the loans and
advances to banks and customers (home savings loans)
and also the home savings deposits (deposits from
banks and customers) described in notes 62 and 63 of
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Insurance liabilities, as reported in the financial
statements, are a key value for determining all types

of actuarial risk. The line item Investments held by
insurance companies is also used to determine all types
of market risk and counterparty default risk. The
line item Other assets is included in the computation
of actuarial risk and counterparty default risk.

Operational risk, business risk, and reputational
risk are measured independently of the balance sheet

items reported in the consolidated financial statements.

The calculation of liquidity risk is derived from
future cash flows, which in general terms are
determined from all of the balance sheet items in
the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting basis for risk coverage

The link between available liquidity reserves, which
are used to determine economic liquidity adequacy,
and the consolidated balance sheet is described in
section 6.2.6.

The link between available internal capital, which is
used to determine economic capital adequacy, and the
consolidated balance sheet is covered in section 7.2.2.

3.5.2 Measurement of risk and risk concentrations

Framework

Risk management in the DZ BANK Group is based
on a resource-oriented perspective of liquidity and
capital. It thus reflects the regulatory requirements
defined by the SREP regarding the Internal Liquidity
Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) and the
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
(ICAAP). A distinction is also made between economic
and regulatory liquidity adequacy and between
economic and regulatory capital adequacy. The
impact of each risk type on both economic capital
and economic liquidity is taken into consideration.
The effect and materiality of the various types of risk
may vary, depending on the resource in question.

Economic liquidity adequacy

To ascertain the DZ BANK Group’s economic
liquidity adequacy, the minimum surplus cash that
would be available if various scenarios were to
materialize within the following year is determined as
part of the measurement of liquidity risk.

Concentrations of liquidity tisk can occur primarily
due to the accumulation of outgoing payments at
particular times of the day or on particular days
(concentrations of maturities), the distribution of
funding across particular currencies, markets, products,
and liquidity providers (concentrations of funding
sources), and the distribution of liquidity reserves
across particular currencies, ratings, and issuers
(concentrations of reserves). There is no capital
requirement in connection with liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk in the Insurance sector is not material
at DZ BANK Group level. Firstly, this is because
liquidity is typically tied up in liabilities and assets over
the long term in insurance business. Secondly, R+V is
only exposed to a low level of liquidity risk because of
its wide range of products and customers and the high
quality and liquidity of its investments. Consequently,
R+V is not taken into account in the liquidity risk
management of the DZ BANK Group.

Economic capital adequacy

In the Bank sector, economic capital (risk capital
requirement) is calculated for credit risk, equity
investment risk, market risk, the technical risk of a
home savings and loan company, operational risk, and
business risk in order to ascertain economic capital
adequacy. This risk capital requirement is generally
calculated as value-at-risk with a holding period of one
year and a unilateral confidence level of 99.90 percent.

The capital requirement for the individual risk types

is aggregated into the total risk capital requirement
for the Bank sector taking into account various
diversification effects. The diversified risk capital
requirement reflects the interdependency of individual
types of risk. The risks relating to the Bank and
Insurance sectors are aggregated, disregarding
diversification effects between the sectors.

In the Insurance sector, risk measurement is based
on the method specified in Solvency 11 with the aim
of determining value-at-risk, which is the measure of
economic capital. The value-at-risk for the change in
economic own funds is determined with a confidence
level of 99.50 petrcent over a period of one year.
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The DZ BANK Group holds a capital buffer as a
component of aggregate risk to allow for a possible
lack of precision in the measurement of the risks

backed by capital.

Based on an analysis of portfolios, the management
of risk concentrations aims to identify potential
downside risks that may arise from the accumulation
of individual risks and, if necessary, to take corrective
action. A distinction is made between risk
concentrations that occur within a risk type (intra-risk
concentrations) and concentrations that arise as a
result of the interaction between different types of risk
(inter-risk concentrations). Inter-risk concentrations
are implicitly taken into account when determining
correlation matrices for the purposes of inter-risk
aggregation. They are mainly managed by using
quantitative stress test approaches and qualitative
analyses to provide a holistic view across all types

of risk. The analysis of intra-risk concentrations is
described for each type of risk in the sections below.

Risk covered by capital in the Bank sector

Expected and unexpected losses are calculated during
credit-portfolio analysis for transactions containing
credit risk that are conducted by entities in the Bank
sector. The capital requirement for credit risk is
determined as the unexpected loss equivalent to the
difference between the value-at-risk and the expected
loss. This calculation is based on one-year default
probabilities derived from historical loss data, taking
into account additional transaction-specific features
and reflecting the current rating of the borrower. The
rating reflects an assessment of the borrower’s future
economic strength. Other factors taken into account
in the calculation of exposures subject to default risk
include measurable collateral, netting agreements, and
expected recovery rates based on past experience.

In order to highlight concentrations of credit risk, the
exposure at portfolio level is categorized by, among
other things, industry sector, country group, term to
maturity, size category, and rating. In addition, risks
resulting from large exposures to individual single
borrower units are closely monitored and managed.
The key factor to be considered when determining
concentrations of credit risk is the possibility of a
simultaneous default by a number of botrowers

who share the same characteristics. This is why
determining the correlated exposure to loss as a part
of the calculation of the risk capital required for credit
risk is essential for managing risk concentrations.

Equity investment risk is determined using Monte
Carlo simulation, in which portfolio concentrations in
industries and individual exposures are examined by
simulating industry-wide and investment-specific risk
factors.

The capital requirement for market risk is calculated
as the value-at-risk over a one-year time horizon based
on simulations. The results of stress tests are included
in this calculation. In addition to calculating economic
capital, and for purposes of operational management,
a value-at-risk for a holding period of one trading day
and a unilateral confidence level of 99.00 percent is
calculated for market risk with the internal model.

Concentrations in the portfolio affected by market
risk are identified by classifying the exposure in
accordance with the risk factors associated with
interest rates, spreads, migration, equities, currencies,
and commodities. This incorporates the effects of
correlation between these different risk factors,
particularly in stress phases. Stress tests are carried
out for market liquidity risk.

A special collective simulation, which includes the
effects of a (negative) change in customer behavior
and a drop in new business, is used to measure the
technical risk of a home savings and loan
company. Concentrations of this risk are most likely
to arise from new business risks.

Business risk is determined using a risk model based
on an earnings-at-risk approach. Risk concentrations
may arise if business activities are focused on a small
number of areas. Concentrations of business risk are
limited by using qualitative criteria in strategic
management. For the Bank sector, strategic risk is
classified as non-material and examined in the context
of business risk.

Reputational risk in the Bank sector is taken into
account within business risk and is therefore implicitly
included in the measurement of risk and assessment
of capital adequacy.

The economic capital requirement for operational
risk is determined using a portfolio model. Analyses of
internal losses, risk indicators, or risk self-assessments
facilitate identification of risk concentrations. Such
concentrations can occut, for example, if I'T systems
are supplied by just a few companies or if business
processes ate outsourced to a limited number of
service providets.
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From the petspective of economic capital adequacy,
funding risk is not material.

Risks in the Insurance sector

To determine actuarial risk, negative scenarios are
examined that have been taken from Solvency 1I and,
in some cases, supplemented by the group’s own
parameterization or internal risk assessment.

Modeling and risk quantification, including on the
basis of historical claims data, is carried out for

parts of the premium and reserve risk and non-life
catastrophe risk. These are based on the group’s own
portfolio and, in the case of natural catastrophes, on
data from third-party providers.

The analysis, monitoring, and management of
concentrations of actuarial risk are carried out as an
integral part of the risk management process. Potential
risk concentrations arise when different types of risk
are combined with the concentration dimension in
question (e.g. individual exposure, sector, country
group). The same risk concentrations are analyzed

at DZ BANK level.

When measuring market risk, shock scenarios are
examined that have been taken from Solvency 11

and, in some cases, supplemented by the group’s own
parameterization.

The capital requirements for counterparty default
risk are determined on the basis of the relevant
exposure and the expected losses per counterparty.

The risk capital requirement for operational risk in
the Insurance sector is calculated as a factor of the
volume measures of premiums and provisions and,

in the case of unit-linked business, as a factor of costs.
In addition, operational risk is identified and quantified
using a scenario-based risk self-assessment. The
outcome of the factor approach is validated against
the risk self-assessment using DZ BANK’s portfolio
model. R+V uses suitable quality standards and
communications strategies to limit its reputational
risk.

The risk capital requirement for non-controlling
interests in insurance companies is included on a
pro-rata basis in accordance with Solvency II. Risk for
entities in other financial sectors is quantified in
accordance with the requirements currently specified
by the insurance regulator. This means applying the
capital requirements in Solvency I, which are

essentially calculated as a factor of the volume
measures of benefit reserves and capital at risk.

Strategic risk is classified as non-material for the
Insurance sector. R+V analyzes and forecasts national
and global developments with an influence on
business-related parameters on an ongoing basis.

The findings are evaluated, for example in terms

of customer needs, and are incorporated into the
development of new insurance products.

3.5.3 Stress tests

In addition to the risk measurements, the effects of
extreme but plausible events are also analyzed. Stress
tests of this kind are used to establish whether the
DZ BANK Group can sustain its business models,
even under extreme economic conditions. Stress tests
are carried out in respect of liquidity, economic risk-
bearing capacity, and regulatory capital ratios.

3.5.4 Limitation principles

The DZ BANK Group has implemented a system of
limits to ensure that risk-bearing capacity is maintained.
The limits used may be risk limits or volume limits,
depending on the type of transaction and type of risk.
Whereas risk limits in all types of risk restrict exposure
measured with an economic model, volume limits

are applied additionally in transactions involving
counterparties. Risk management is also supported

by limits for relevant key performance indicators.

Specific amendments to risk positions based on an
adjustment of the volume and risk structure in the
underlying transactions are intended to ensure that the
measured exposure does not exceed the approved
volume and risk limits.

Risks that are incurred are compared with the limits
allocated to them (upper loss limits) and monitored
using a traffic-light system. The limit system is used
to monitor whether economic liquidity adequacy is
assured both at DZ BANK Group level and at the

level of the management units.

3.5.5 Hedging objectives and hedging transactions
Hedging activities can be undertaken where
appropriate in order to transfer liquidity risk, credit
risk, market risk (Bank sector), market risk (Insurance
sector), actuarial risk, and operational risk to the
greatest possible extent to third parties outside the

DZ BANK Group. All hedging activities ate
conducted within the strategic rules specified in
writing and applicable throughout the group.
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Derivatives and other instruments are used to hedge
credit risk and market risk.

If the hedging of risk in connection with financial
instruments gives rise to accounting mismatches
between the hedged items and the derivatives used
for the hedge, the mismatches are either eliminated
or reduced by designating the hedging transaction as
a hedge in accordance with the hedge accounting
requirements of IAS 39, or the fair value option is
exercised. Hedge accounting in the DZ BANK Group
includes hedging interest-rate risk and currency risk
and therefore affects market risk in both the Bank
and Insurance sectors. Hedging information is
disclosed in note 82 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

DZ BANK has exercised the option provided for in
section 254 HGB and has generally not recognized
hedges on the balance sheet, although economic
hedges do exist. However, one hedge is reported in
note 39 of the notes to DZ BANK’s separate financial
statements.

3.5.6 Risk reporting and risk manual

The quarterly overall risk report includes the risks
throughout the group identified by DZ BANK.
Together with the stress test report, which is also
compiled on a quartetly basis, and the report on
recovery indicators, which is prepared on a monthly
and quartetly basis, the overall risk report is the main
channel by which risks incurred by the DZ BANK
Group and the management units are communicated
to the Supervisory Board, the Board of Managing
Directors, and the Group Risk and Finance
Committee. In addition, the Board of Managing
Directors receives portfolio and exposure-related
management information in the quarterly credit risk
report. The Board of Managing Directors also receives
monthly information on liquidity risk in the

DZ BANK Group and in the management units.

DZ BANK and the main subsidiaties have further
reporting systems for all relevant types of risk.
Depending on the degree of materiality in the risk
exposures concerned, the purpose of these systems is
to ensure that decision-makers and supervisory bodies
at all times receive transparent information on the
risk profile of the management units for which they
are responsible.

The risk manual, which is available to all employees
of the management units, sets out the general

parameters for identifying, measuring, assessing,
managing, monitoring, and communicating risks.
These general parameters are intended to ensure
that risk management is propetrly carried out in the
DZ BANK Group. The manual forms the basis for
a shared understanding of the minimum standards
for risk management throughout the group.

The main subsidiaties also have their own risk manuals
covering special aspects of risk related specifically to
these management units. R+V’s risk manual was
replaced by the Solvency II guidance with effect from
January 1, 2016.

3.5.7 Risk inventory and appropriateness test
Every year, DZ BANK draws up a risk inventory, the
objective of which is to identify the types of risk that
are relevant for the DZ BANK Group and assess the
materiality of these risk types. According to need, a
risk inventory check may also be carried out at other
times in order to identify any material changes in the
risk profile during the course of the year. A materiality
analysis is carried out for those types of risk that could
arise in connection with the operating activities of the
entities in the DZ BANK Group. The next step is to
assess the extent to which there are concentrations

of risk types classified as material in the Bank sector,
the Insurance sector, and across sectors. The risk
inventory check revealed that the main risks in 2017
were the same as in 2016. Likewise, there was no
change in significant risk concentrations compared
with the prior year.

DZ BANK also conducts an annual appropriateness
test at DZ BANK Group level. The appropriateness
test may also be carried out at other times in response
to specific events. The objective is to review the latest
groupwide specifications for the analysis of risk-
bearing capacity. In addition, the appropriateness test
includes a number of other tests to assess whether
the risk measurement methods used for all types of
risk classified as material are in fact fit for purpose.
The appropriateness test found that risk measurement
in the DZ BANK Group is generally appropriate,
although potential improvements to some aspects of
risk measurement were identified. Suitable measures
are being defined and catried out in order to make
these improvements.

The risk inventory check and appropriateness test
are coordinated in terms of content and timing. All
management units in the DZ BANK Group are
included in both processes. The findings of the risk
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inventory and the approptiateness test are incorporated
into the risk management process.

Risk inventory checks and appropriateness tests are
generally conducted in a similar way for the main
subsidiaries.

4.1 Management of opportunities

The management of opportunities in the DZ BANK
Group and at DZ BANK is integrated into the annual
strategic planning process. Strategic planning enables
the group to identify and analyze market discontinuities
based on different macroeconomic scenatios, trends,
and changes in the markets, and forms the basis for
evaluating opportunities. Identified opportunities are
taken into account in the business strategies.

Details about the strategic planning process are
presented in section 1.3.4 of the (group) management
tepott.

Reports on future business development opportunities
are based on the outcome of the business strategies.
As part of the general communication of the business
strategies, employees are kept up to date about
potential opportunities that have been identified.

4.2 Potential opportunities

4.2.1 Corporate strategy

DZ BANK’s core functions as a central institution,
corporate bank, and holding company mean that it
focuses closely on the local cooperative banks, which
are its customers and owners.

DZ BANKs focus on the cooperative banks is vital
in view of the need to manage scatce resources and to
meet new regulatory requirements. By focusing more
closely on the Volksbanken Raiffeisenbanken
cooperative financial network, DZ BANK’s aim is to
exploit the potential of its core activities more fully,
particularly with regard to retail banking and SME
business.

The principle of a ‘network-oriented central
institution/financial services group’ also means
that business activities are concentrated on the
business areas covered by the cooperative banks
and on further enhancing the satisfaction levels of
customers of the local cooperative banks. To this

end, the DZ BANK Group, in its role as financial
services provider, supplies decentralized products,
platforms, and services.

The strategic focus of the DZ BANK Group,

guided by the “Verbund First’ principle, is a significant
contributing factor in helping the cooperative banks
to strengthen their market position. The local
cooperative banks therefore not only receive
substantial financial support in the form of fees,
commissions, and profit distributions, they also

enjoy the transfer of cost benefits and the availability
of competitive products and services.

The core activities referred to above are supplemented
by complementary activities using existing products,
platforms, and services, for which DZ BANK acts as
a corporate bank vis-a-vis third parties. These activities
do not compete directly with those of the cooperative
banks and they enable further economies of scale to
be created for the entire cooperative financial network.

The Outlook in chapter V of the (group) management
report describes expected developments in the market
and business environment together with the business
strategies and their implications for the financial
performance forecast for 2018. The expected
developments in the market and business environment
are crucial factors in the strategic positioning and
the resulting opportunities for increasing earnings and
cutting costs.

4.2.2 Digitalization and new competitors
Digitalization refers to developments that tap into
the prevalence of mobile devices and internet-based
services and that are supported by the consumerization
of technologies, i.c. the availability of high-tech end
devices to consumers. These developments are
encouraging the intermediation of new competitors
at the interface between customers and banking
services.

As a consequence of advancing digitalization across all
areas of life, opportunities are opening up in relation
to day-to-day banking business, especially payments
processing. This trend is also being reinforced by
changes in customer behavior. For example, increased
use of mobile devices in payments processing means
that particularly Germany — where paying in cash has
generally continued to be more common than in other
countries — is now seeing cash transactions being
substituted with electronic payments processing. This
may also lead to a reduction in the costs incurred by
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banks in relation to the supply and disposal of coins
and notes.

The entities in the DZ BANK Group responded to
these developments a while ago by increasing the
innovative setvices that they offer. These included
trialing the use of biometric processes by the payments
processing provider equensWorldline SE, Utrecht,
collaborating with iZettle on the development of a
mobile point of sale, and implementing paydirekt

(a cross-bank e-commerce payment process), as well
as the first transatlantic payment on a blockchain
platform between ReiseBank and ATB Financial,
Calgary.

This portfolio of measures is helping the DZ BANK
Group to drive the substitution of cash payments

with mobile and other electronic payment processes
so that it can participate in the move toward electronic
payment transactions and seize opportunities for
increasing its earnings. Furthermore, the Transaction
Banking business line is working with universities

and technology companies to test technologies and
developments that may be of interest in the future —
such as blockchains in payments processing and the
securities business — and assess whether they are viable
for use.

To underpin these measures, cross-sectoral innovation
management, including an Innovation Roundtable,
has been introduced in order to coordinate the group’s
innovation activities, monitor market trends, and
launch targeted innovation projects.

4.2.3 Credit ratings

DZ BANK is awarded credit ratings by the three
largest rating agencies, Standard & Poot’s, Moody’s,
and Fitch. Individual subsidiaries of DZ BANK are
also given their own ratings. In view of the high degree
of cohesion within the cooperative financial network,
Fitch and Standard & Poot’s issue a network rating,
for the purposes of which the cooperative financial
institutions are analyzed on a consolidated basis. The
criteria used by the agencies include factors such as
strategy, risk assessment, transparency, and solidarity
within the cooperative financial network in addition
to business performance and collaboration.

The ratings are critical in determining the funding
opportunities available on money and capital markets.
They open up additional business options and
potential opportunities for the entities in the

DZ BANK Group.

During the year under review, the rating agencies
reviewed the credit ratings issued for DZ BANK.
Both Fitch and Moody’s left their ratings unchanged.
At the beginning of 2017, Standard & Poor’s divided
the credit rating for unsecured, non-subordinated
bonds into a rating for unsecured, senior bonds and a
rating for unsecured, subordinated bonds in this
category in view of Directive 2014/59/EU (Bank
Recovery and Resolution Directive, BRRD) and its
adoption into German law with effect from

January 1, 2017. The credit rating for unsecured,
subordinated bonds in

this category was lowered by one notch. This change
did not have any marked impact on the DZ BANK
Group’s funding.

In the year under review, Moody’s included the
covered bonds (DZ BANK BRIEFE) in their ratings.
The high quality of DZ BANK BRIEFE was affirmed
with a rating of Aaa. Standard & Poor’s gives

DZ BANK BRIEFE a rating of AA+.

Fig. 11 provides an overview of DZ BANK’s credit
ratings. The issuer ratings have been added to the table
for 2017; these ratings were not included in the 2016
opportunity and risk report.

As at December 31, 2017, the long-term credit rating
for the cooperative financial network issued by Fitch
and Standard & Poor’s remained unchanged at AA-.

5.1 Market and sector risk factors

The DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK are subject
to a range of risk factors that apply generally to the
German and European banking industry as a whole.
These market and sector risk factors have an impact
on liquidity adequacy and capital adequacy. For the
most part, the factors can be classified under business
risk but are addressed separately here because of their
key importance.

5.1.1 Commercial-law environment

The financial position and financial performance of
the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK are presented
in accordance with IFRS. Changes to IFRSs and the
associated interpretations may lead to a discrepancy
between the results and financial position that are
reported in the future and the current forecasts, or
changes to (consolidated) financial reporting standards
that are introduced retrospectively may lead to
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FIG. 11 - DZ BANK RATINGS

Standard & Poor's

ssuer rating Al
Covered bonds
(DZ BANK BRIEFE) AA+

Long-term rating for deposits N
Long-term counterparty risk assessment/
derivative counterparty rating N

Long-term rating for unsecured,

Moody's Fitch

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec.31, 2016 Dec.31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec.31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016

AL~ Aa3 Aa3 AA- AL~

AA+ Aaa - - -

- Aal Aal AA- AR

- Aal Aal AA- AA

‘preferred’ bonds Al - Aal Aal AA- -
Long-term rating for unsecured,

‘non-preferred’ bonds At AA- Aa3 Aa3 AA- AA-

Short-term rating A-1+ A-1+ P-1 P-1 Fl+ Fl+

differences between results shown for prior-year
periods and the results that were previously published.
Such changes may also have an impact on regulatory
capital and the financial key performance indicators.

The entities in the DZ BANK Group observe
potential changes to (consolidated) financial reporting
and examine their possible effects.

The DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK face material
risks from a changed (consolidated) accounting
standard in connection with the adoption of IFRS 9
Financial Instruments into European law.

The provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will

supersede the content of IAS 39 Financial Instruments:

Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes
requirements relating to the following areas, which
have been fundamentally revised: classification and
measurement of financial instruments, the impairment
model for financial assets, and hedge accounting. The
reformed model for allowances for losses on loans
and advances and new rules on the categorization of
financial instruments, in particular, will result in a
need to modify business processes and I'T systems.
DZ BANK has set up projects to implement IFRS 9.

5.1.2 Regulatory environment

Basel IV

In December 2017, the BCBS published its finalization
document containing a comprehensive range of new
provisions covering certain aspects of the calculation
of risk for regulatory purposes. An initial draft of a
revised CRR (referred to as CRR II) at European level
is already available. The new rules currently planned,
most of which do not have to be applied until 2 years

after the effective date, are expected to increase the
capital requirements for the DZ BANK banking group
and DZ BANK.

Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio shows the ratio of a bank’s Tier 1
capital to its total exposure. In contrast to risk-based
capital requirements for which the assumptions are
derived from models, the individual line items in the
calculation of the leverage ratio are not given their
own risk weighting but are generally included in the
total exposure without any weighting at all.

A mandatory minimum value for the leverage ratio
has not been specified at European level for now.
However, the current drafts for CRR 1I provide for
the introduction of a minimum ratio of 3 percent
from January 1, 2019. There are also plans to include
graduated markups on the minimum ratio for global
and other systemically important institutions. In
addition, the draft states that the adjustment of the
calculation method for the total exposure is planned
for a later date.

If the mandatory minimum leverage ratio turns out to
be higher than currently expected, this could lead to
an additional capital requirement for the DZ BANK
banking group and/or DZ BANK based on the
current volume of business. A negative impact on

the business model and competitive position cannot
be ruled out either.

Minimum Requirement for Own Funds and Eligible
Liabilities

The BRRD, the Single Resolution Mechanism, and
the SAG have created the legal basis at European and
national level for the new ‘minimum requirement for
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own funds and eligible liabilities” (MREL) regulatory
ratio.

The MREL is intended to ensure that banks hold a
sufficiently large volume of capital and liabilities that
can be ‘bailed-in’ to make it possible at all times to
carry out an orderly resolution. ‘Bail-in-able’ liabilities
are those that provide for creditors taking an equity
interest if a bank gets into financial difficulties,
enabling resolution to take place without recourse to
government help and without jeopardizing the stability
of the financial system.

The MREL ratio is the ratio of own funds and bail-in-
able liabilities to the bank’s total liabilities and own
funds.

Since 2016, the SRB has been requesting data with

the aim of setting institution-specific minimum MREL
ratios and obtaining an indication of the individual
institutions’ MREL liabilities and bail-in-able liabilities.
Such a ratio has not yet been set for the DZ BANK
banking group or DZ BANK.

Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process

On December 19, 2014, the EBA published its
Guidelines on Common Procedures and
Methodologies for the Supervisory Review and
Evaluation Process. The provisions contained in this
document came into force on January 1, 2016. One
of the aims being pursued by the EBA with SREP is
the EU-wide harmonization of the supervisory review
and evaluation process enshrined in Pillar 2 of Basel
II1. Harmonization is intended to create the same
competitive conditions in the jurisdictions involved.
At the end of each financial year, the supervisory
authorities can use the results of the SREP to set
individual capital and liquidity requirements for the
subsequent year that go beyond the existing
requirements.

In 2017, the DZ BANK banking group underwent
the complete supervisory review and evaluation
process on the basis of the EBA’s guidance. The
minimum capital requirements resulting from the
SREP in the previous year are described in

section 7.3.3.

Standardized definition of borrower default

In 2017, the EBA published details on harmonizing
the definition of ‘default of an obligot’ pursuant to
article 178 CRR. Implementation is mandatory for
all institutions that have received approval to use the

Standardized Approach to credit risk and the internal
ratings-based (IRB) approaches. This requites extensive
changes to data management, credit rating models,
credit procedures, and internal control processes.

The aim is to harmonize the definition of default for
the purposes of the Standardized Approach and the
IRB approaches and thus to standardize the capital
requirements for credit risk.

DZ BANK has analyzed the planned new
requirements and their impact, and is currently
preparing the notification of changes to key models
required by the ECB by June 30, 2018. Changes to
the default history and associated effects on the
credit rating systems — including the possible need
for recalibration — cannot be ruled out. This could
lead to higher regulatory capital requirements and an
increase in the credit value-at-risk.

Capital requirements for market risk

The BCBS published the finalized rules to
fundamentally revise the capital requirements for
market risk in the trading book on January 14, 2016.
Significant new features include a revision of the
boundary between the trading book and banking book,
the introduction of a new Standardized Approach, a
complete revision of the risk measurement approach
for the internal market risk model, and more stringent
criteria for the approval of internal market risk models,
even down to the level of individual trading desks
based on the regulator’s definition. The new rules

are also aimed at greater integration between the
Standardized Approach and internal models-based
approaches.

The new Standardized Approach must be applied by
all banks in the DZ BANK banking group. As the
requirements cover internal model banks, DZ BANK
must also introduce the new Standardized Approach
and is thus obliged to calculate the capital requirement
for market risk in the trading book in parallel to the
internal model. Implementation of the new rules
entails extensive and time-consuming changes to the
calculation of the capital requirement for market risk
in the trading book.

Banks are likely to have to apply the new Basel
capital requirements from 2022 once they have been
implemented in national law. Application is expected
to mean that the DZ BANK banking group and

DZ BANK will be subject to an additional capital
requirement. Moreovet, the possibility of a negative
impact on cost structures ot implications for
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organizational structures, the risk management system,
the business model, or competitive position cannot
be ruled out.

Risk data management

In January 2013, the BCBS published principles for
effective risk data aggregation and risk reporting.

The principles aim to increase aggregation capability
for all risk data used for internal risk management and
to improve the risk management and decision-making
processes (including internal risk reporting) at banks.
BaFin incorporated some of the BCBS regulations on
risk data management into the national rules with the
5th amendment of MaRisk BA, which came into force
on October 27, 2017.

Domestic systemically important banks must
implement these requirements within 3 years of being
classified as an other systemically important institution
(O-SII). BaFin classified DZ BANK as an O-SII in
the second quarter of 2016. As a consequence, the
DZ BANK Group must implement the rules on risk
data management at financial conglomerate level by
the second quarter of 2019.

The implementation of the new requirements, but also
the possibly inadequate implementation, could have

a negative effect on the competitive position of the
DZ BANK Group and/or DZ BANK, or lead to

the need for additional capital.

Instant payments

The Euro Retail Payments Board, the ECB, and the
European Commission have been pushing ahead with
SEPA Instant Payments, a new system of payments
processing, since late 2014. The scheme was launched
on November 21, 2017. In the DZ BANK Group,
instant payments particularly affect DZ BANK, which
has initiated a project with the aim of enabling the
bank to join the scheme by the end of 2018. Delayed
or inadequate implementation of the requirements
could lead to sanctions being imposed by the banking
regulator and to reputational damage.

Other regulatory risk factors

In addition to the regulatory requitements described
above, the reform of the deposit guarantee schemes
could give rise to risks for the DZ BANK Group
and DZ BANK.

The EBA is also making decisions regarding the
interpretation of the CRR, as a result of which there
could be new capital requirement rules for certain

products. This could lead to a significant fall in the
capital ratios for the DZ BANK banking group,
depending on how the supervisory authorities apply
the interpretation decisions.

5.1.3 Macroeconomic risk factors

European sovereign debt crisis

During the year under review, trends in international
financial markets were shaped by the significant
improvement in the global economy and, once again,
by central banks’ expansionary monetary policy. Since
the European sovereign debt crisis, global economic
growth and especially the situation in financial markets
have improved again markedly. Nevertheless, the
consequences of the financial and sovereign debt crisis
are still evident and are affecting national monetary
policy, in particular.

The economies of Portugal, Italy, Greece, and Spain
continue to be characterized by government debt
levels that are high in relation to gross domestic
product and are still proving difficult to bring down.
Consequently, these countries remain vulnerable to
fluctuation in investors’ risk assessments.

In Italy, the elections on March 4, 2018 did not
produce any clear parliamentary majority, but populist
Euroskeptic forces gained substantial political ground.
The process of forming a government is likely to be
extremely difficult and protracted, the outcome of
which will probably be a weak coalition. In view of the
political prospects, it is doubtful whether there will be
any progress with reforms, and it is possible that even
those structural reforms already carried out could be
repealed. This could result in heightened financial
volatility in the country, stalling the modest economic
recovery currently under way. Italy could face an
enduring loss of confidence in the international
political arena and among investors. This would
seriously prejudice the ability of the country to obtain
funding in international capital markets.

Even after agreement on the third bailout from the
European Stability Mechanism, which is due to run
until August 2018, Greece’s solvency is not assured
and there is no guarantee that it will stay in the
eurozone. ‘Grexit’ could lead to turbulence in the
international financial markets, which would
potentially have a negative impact on the countries
of the eurozone.
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The ECB’s expansionary monetaty policy and
particularly its bond-buying program are currently
largely preventing the structural problems in some
EMU member countries from being appropriately
reflected in the capital markets. However, there is a
risk this could change in the event of a shift in
monetary policy. In this case, highly indebted countries
would find it considerably more difficult to arrange
funding through capital markets.

Shipping finance and offshore finance

In the shipping finance business, an oversupply of
tonnage continues to have a detrimental impact on
asset values and customer credit quality. To add to the
problems, the low price of oil is adversely affecting
global offshore oil production, leading to significantly
lower demand for supply ships and other floating
offshore equipment. This trend is accompanied by

a rising number of laid-up offshore vessels.

Environment of low interest rates

With interest rates at a historically low level, interest
receivable on loans is low and the interest margin is
relatively narrow, restricting the opportunities for
earning income in traditional banking business.

A risk scenario involving a very long period of low
interest rates, possibly combined with a deflationary
trend, would therefore also have a considerable
negative impact on the performance of the DZ BANK
Group and DZ BANK.

If there is a long period of low interest rates, the

DZ BANK Group could face the risk of lower
earnings, including lower earnings from BSH’s
extensive building society operations. When interest
rates are very low, home savings loans lose their
appeal for customers, while high-interest home savings
deposits become more attractive. Consequently,
interest income on home savings loans would fall and
the interest cost for home savings deposits would rise.
Furthermore, available liquidity could only be invested
at low rates of return, an additional factor depressing
earnings. The risks from the low interest rates are
mitigated with action such as optimizing the home
savings portfolio and refining the home savings
product.

The entire insurance industry is affected by the
historically low interest rates in the capital markets.
This environment of persistently low interest rates
is adversely affecting personal insurance providers
in the short and medium term because they have to
recognize supplementary change-in-discount-rate

reserves on their balance sheets. However, recognizing
these additional reserves puts in place key, long-term
prerequisites for limiting risk in life insurance and
pension insurance business.

Given the long period of low interest rates, the
challenge faced by the DZ BANK Group’s extensive
asset management activities, brought together
under UMH, is to ensure that the guarantee
commitments given to customers in respect of
individual products can actually be met from the
investment instruments in those products. This
particularly affects the UniProfiRente product and the
guarantee fund product group. UniProfiRente is a
retirement pension solution certified and subsidized
by the German government (known in Germany as

a Riester pension). The amounts paid in during the
contributory phase and the contributions received
from the government are guaranteed to be available to
the investor at the pension start date. The pension is
then paid out under a payment plan with a subsequent
life annuity. Guarantee funds are products for which
UMH guarantees that a minimum percentage of capital
is preserved, depending on the precise product
specification. If UMH is unable to draw some of the
management fees so that it can meet its guarantee
commitments, this could have a substantial detrimental
impact on the financial performance of the

DZ BANK Group.

A rapid rise in interest rates on capital markets could
also involve some risks. The pricing losses on fixed-
income secutities and necessary remeasurement of
low-interest long-term lending business that could
result from such an upturn could have an adverse

impact on the earnings of the DZ BANK Group.

A long period of low interest rates also increases the
risk of incorrect valuations in financial and real
estate markets.

Latent risk factors

The possible negative impact of the United
Kingdom’s exit from the EU (known as Brexit) that
is expected following the referendum on June 23, 2016
presents a risk to future economic growth, both at EU
level and, in particulat, for the United Kingdom.
Reduced exports and a reluctance to invest on the part
of companies as a result of increased uncertainty are
also likely to subdue the German economy. After the
referendum, the United Kingdom’s credit rating from
Standard & Poot’s was downgraded from AAA to AA
with a negative outlook. Moody’s maintained the credit
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rating at Aal but changed the outlook to negative. The
credit ratings from the two rating agencies therefore
still correspond to the internal VR rating class 1A used
by the DZ BANK Group. DZ BANK is currently
examining the implications of the UK’s exit from the
EU for the DZ BANK Group in a working group
with the involvement of the subsidiaties concerned.
Relevant contracts are being reviewed and amended,
and other suitable action taken, to counter potential
contractual uncertainty arising from Brexit.

In the year under review, the volume of non-
performing loans in the Italian banking sector was
substantially reduced from €360 billion to €260 billion.
However, the economic outlook, which remains
moderate at best, means that thete is no definitive
trend reversal in sight at present. Because of European
bail-in rules, the Italian government is using the
privately funded bailout funds Atlante and Atlante 11
(now renamed Italian Recovery Fund) to recapitalize
Italian banks and help them recover. These funds have
insufficient resources however, so other options have
been used in individual cases to strengthen the capital
base, including capital increases, the conversion of
bank bonds into equity, and the disposal of assets.
Some larger banks have managed to complete a
recovery from their own resources, but parts of other
smaller banks affected by the crisis have been taken
over. To support the rescue of Banca Monte dei
Paschi, the ECB authorized the Italian government

to acquire 68 percent of the shares and sell high-risk
loans with a total value of €17.6 billion to the Italian
Recovery Fund.

In Turkey, domestic and international political risk
factors have deteriorated since the unsuccessful
military coup in July 2016. Internally, the country

has been in crisis since the coup and legal certainty is
severely limited. Internationally, Turkey is isolated in
Europe. Even the relationship with the United States
is increasingly strained. From a geopolitical perspective,
Turkey finds itself in a volatile environment because of
its proximity to Iraq and the civil war in Syria. On the
other hand, its economic position is stable, although
weaker compared with previous years. Economic
growth is positive, but manifestly bolstered by the
government’s fiscal stimulus packages. Investor
confidence is diminishing because of the adverse
domestic and international political factors. Against
this background and the significant current account
deficit caused by structural deficiencies, the country is
considerably more susceptible to external shocks than
in previous years. Key external liquidity ratios have

already deteriorated. Furthermore, the Turkish lira was
hit by another sharp fall in its value against both the
euro and the US dollar in 2017. Any worsening of
domestic and international political tensions would
probably have a very rapid negative impact on investor
confidence and the country’s options for obtaining
funding on international capital markets.

In the United States, Donald Trump emerged as the
victor in the presidential election in November 2016.
At the same time, the Republicans gained a majority
in Congress. This presents the new US president with
significant scope to pursue his political agenda. Over
the medium term, there is a risk that an increase in
trade barriers could dampen the economic outlook,
both in the US and around the world as a whole. Some
of the faith in the US Federal Reserve (Fed) could also
be lost, leading to a long-term slide in the value of the
US dollat.

The elections in the Spanish region of Catalonia
on December 21, 2017 were once again won by the
separatists, the forces for independence from Spain
having already obtained a patliamentary majority in
the preceding elections held in September 2015. The
period of political, and to some extent also economic,
uncertainty is therefore continuing. As the creation
of an independent Catalonia against the will of the
central government in Spain is to all intents and
purposes out of the question, discussions between
the Catalan regional government and the central
government in Madrid going forward are likely to
center on the issue of greater autonomy for Catalonia.
If the two sides ate now forced into a constructive
dialog, this will afford some chance of a solution, at
least in the medium term. However, if the efforts in
support of independence gain further momentum,
this could have a negative impact on the Spanish
economy overall.

Risk impact

Negative macroeconomic trends have an impact on
various risks to which the DZ BANK Group and
DZ BANK are exposed. In the Bank sector, this
affects credit risk (deterioration in the credit quality
of public-sector bonds, and in the case of shipping
finance, asset values and customer creditworthiness,
increase in the allowances for losses on loans and
advances), equity investment risk (increased
requirement for the recognition of impairment losses
on the carrying amounts of investments), market risk
(increase in credit spreads, reduced market liquidity),
business risk (contraction in the demand for financial
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services), and liquidity risk (a combination of the
effects mentioned above).

In the Insurance sector, market risk is the type of risk
most affected by macroeconomic trends. An increase
in interest rates or a widening of credit spreads on
government bonds or other market investments would
lead to a drop in fair values. Fair value losses of this
nature could have a temporary or permanent adverse
impact on capital.

5.1.4 Climate risks

Risks arising from climate change could act as a trigger
in the Bank sector, especially in respect of credit risk
and operational risk. Operational risk could materialize,
for example, if weather or environmental events cause
buildings or IT systems to become unavailable. In the
Insurance sector, actuarial risk (premium and reserve
risk, non-life catastrophe risk) is the main type of risk
that potentially could be significantly affected by
climate risk. If climate risks are relevant on the basis
of the business model, they are backed with capital
within the risk types referred to above.

5.2 Overarching bank-related risk factors

The DZ BANK Group is exposed to the bank-specific
risk factors described below. These factors have an
impact on a number of risk types relevant to liquidity
adequacy and capital adequacy and are taken into
account in the management of risk.

5.2.1 Shortcomings in the risk management
system

Regardless of the fundamental suitability of the risk
measurement procedures used in the DZ BANK
Group and at DZ BANK, it is conceivable that there
may be circumstances in which risks cannot be
identified in good time or in which a comprehensive,
appropriate response to risks is not possible. Despite
careful development of models and regular reviews,
situations may arise in which actual losses or liquidity
requirements are higher than those calculated in the
risk models and stress scenatios.

For any given confidence level, the value-at-risk used
for determining the risk capital requirement can be
significantly influenced by extreme events for which
the probability of occurrence is low. However,
estimates for such rare events are generally subject to
a great deal of uncertainty (referred to as model risk).
Moreover, there are no comprehensive historical
observations in most cases for extreme losses of this
nature, which makes it more difficult to validate any

models. Key input parameters for measurement
models are also subject to uncertainty, because they
are already estimates themselves.

The measurement of liquidity risk is subject to

similar model risk related to the design of models

and parameters and their validation. In addition,

risks arising from scenarios that extend beyond the
risk appetite for serious crises set by the Board of
Managing Directors are accepted and therefore

not taken into account for risk management purposes.

Despite continuously reviewing crisis scenarios, it is
simply not possible to set down a definitive record
of all economic conditions that could potentially have
a negative impact. Therefore, an analysis of crisis
scenarios in stress tests cannot guarantee that there
will not be other crisis situations that could lead to
greater losses or liquidity needs.

5.2.2 Rating downgrades

1f DZ BANKs credit rating or the network rating

for the cooperative financial network were to be
downgraded, this would have a negative impact on the
costs of raising equity and of borrowing. As a result,
new liabilities could arise, or liabilities dependent on
the maintenance of a specific credit rating could
become due for immediate payment.

DZ BANK’s credit rating is an important element in
any compatison with competitor banks. It also has a
significant impact on the ratings for DZ BANK’s main
subsidiaries. A downgrade or even just the possibility
of a downgrade in the rating for DZ BANK or one of
its subsidiaries could have a detrimental effect on the
relationship with customers and on the sale of
products and services.

Furthermore, if a rating downgrade were to occur,

the DZ BANK Group or DZ BANK could face a
situation in which it had to furnish additional collateral
in connection with rating-linked collateral agreements
for derivatives (regulated by the Credit Support Annex
or Collateralization Annex to the German Master
Agreement for Financial Futures) or in which it was
no longer considered a suitable counterparty for
derivative transactions at all. If the credit rating for
DZ BANK or one of its subsidiaries wete to fall

out of the range covered by the top four rating
categories (investment grade ratings, disregarding
rating subcategories), the operating business of

DZ BANK or the subsidiaty concerned, and therefore
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also the funding costs for all the other management
units in the group, could suffer an adverse impact.

5.2.3 Hedge ineffectiveness

The DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK are exposed
to the risk that a counterparty in a hedge could
become insolvent and therefore no longer be in a
position to meet its obligations. Consequently, the
hedge could prove to be ineffective and the

DZ BANK Group or DZ BANK would then be
exposed to risks that it believed it had hedged.

Unforeseen market trends could undermine the
effectiveness of action taken to hedge market risk.
One example is the risk in connection with the
financial crisis and sovereign debt crisis. In this case,
the DZ BANK Group or DZ BANK would only be
able to minimize some of this risk with great difficulty;
it may not be possible to hedge some of the risk at all.
One of the particular factors to take into account is
that some of the quantitative measurement methods
and key risk indicators in the risk management system
are based on estimates made by experts. Furthermore,
the quantitative risk management system does not
encompass all risks and makes assumptions about

the market environment that are not based on specific
events. It is conceivable there could be market
scenarios in which the measurement methods and key
risk indicators used do not forecast certain potential
losses correctly, resulting in miscalculations.

In the management of market risk, use is made of
credit derivatives, comprising credit-linked notes,
credit default swaps, and total return swaps, in order
to reduce the issuer risk attaching to bonds and
derivatives. Macro hedges are used dynamically to
mitigate spread risk and migration risk as well as risks
attaching to underlying assets. In isolated cases,
transactions are conducted on a back-to-back basis.

If these instruments and measures turn out to be
ineffective or only partially effective, it is possible that
the DZ BANK Group and/or DZ BANK could incur
losses against which the instruments or measures
ought to have provided protection. Moreover, hedging
activities give rise to costs and may result in additional
risks. Gains and losses arising from ineffective risk
hedges can increase the volatility of the earnings
generated.

6.1 Principles

The management of liquidity adequacy is an

integral component of business management in the
DZ BANK Group and at DZ BANK. Liquidity
adequacy is defined as the holding of sufficient
liquidity reserves in relation to the risks arising from
future payment obligations. It is considered from both
an economic and a regulatory perspective. Whereas the
economic perspective implements the requirements
of MaRisk BA, the regulatory perspective applies the
requirements from the CRR and the German national
requirements for the implementation of Capital
Requirements Directive IV (KWG and Solvency
Regulation, SolvV).

Economic liquidity adequacy is managed on the

basis of the internal liquidity risk model, which takes
account of the impact on liquidity of other risks when
measuring liquidity risk. The DZ BANK Group fulfills
the regulatory liquidity adequacy requirements by
managing economic liquidity adequacy.

6.2 Economic liquidity adequacy

Owing to the close ties between management of
economic liquidity adequacy at DZ BANK and that
of the DZ BANK Group, the information below on
economic liquidity adequacy also applies to

DZ BANK.

6.2.1 Risk definition

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash and cash equivalents
will not be available in sufficient amounts to ensure
that payment obligations can be met. Liquidity risk
thus has the character of insolvency risk.

The activities of DZ BANK and the management
units BSH, DG HYP, DVB, DZ PRIVATBANK,
TeamBank, VR LEASING, and WL BANK are
relevant to the level of liquidity risk in the DZ BANK
Group.

6.2.2 Risk strategy

A key component of the liquidity risk strategy is the
process of specifying and monitoring the risk appetite
for liquidity risk. The liquidity risk strategy establishes
a binding basis for implementing these requitements
at operational level.

The entities in the DZ BANK Group operate on the
principle that the assumption of liquidity risk is only
permitted if it is considered together with the
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associated opportunities and complies with the risk
appetite specified by the Board of Managing
Directors. Solvency must be ensured, even in times of
serious crisis. Risk appetite is expressed in the form of
crisis scenarios, and stress tests must demonstrate that
there is adequate cover for these scenarios. The crisis
scenarios also take into account the specific MaRisk
BA requirements for the structure of stress scenarios
at capital-market-oriented banks.

However, further extreme scenarios are not covered
by the risk appetite. The risks arising in this regard
are accepted and therefore not taken into account in
the management of risk. Examples of such scenarios
are a run on the bank, i.e. an extensive withdrawal
of customer deposits as a result of damage to the
reputation of the banking system, or a situation in
which all non-collateralized funding sources on money
markets completely dry up over the long term, also
encompassing transactions with those corporate
customers, institutional customers, and customer
banks that have close ties to the entities in the

DZ BANK Group. On the other hand, the risk of a
temporary interruption in unsecured funding from
institutional investors is not accepted and this risk is
the subject of relevant stress scenatios.

Liquidity reserves in the form of liquid securities are
held by the entities so that they can remain solvent,
even in the event of a ctisis. Potential soutces of
funding in the secured and unsecured money markets
are safeguarded by maintaining a broadly diversified
national and international customer base (for example,
corporate customers, institutional customers, and
customer banks). The broad diversification is achieved
with active market and customer support, intensively
maintained customer relationships, and DZ BANK’s
excellent reputation in the money markets. The local
cooperative banks also provide a significant and stable
source of funding.

The liquidity risk strategy is consistently aligned with
the overall business strategies and to this end is
reviewed at least once a year and adjusted as necessary.

6.2.3 Organization, responsibility, and risk
reporting

Organization and responsibility

The strategic guidelines for the management of
liquidity risk by the entities in the DZ BANK Group
are established by the Group Risk and Finance
Committee. At the level of DZ BANK, this is the

responsibility of the Asset-Liability Committee/
Treasury and Capital Committee.

Liquidity risk control in the DZ BANK Group
is coordinated by the Group Risk Management
working group and catried out in Risk Controlling
at DZ BANK independently of the units that are
responsible for liquidity risk management. The risk
data calculated by the subsidiaries on the basis of
intra-group guidelines is aggregated to provide a
group perspective.

Risk reporting

Liquidity up to 1 year and structural liquidity of 1 year
or more are reported on a daily basis to the members
of the Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK
responsible for Group Treasury and Group Risk
Controlling. The Board of Managing Directors
receives a monthly report on liquidity risk.

The DZ BANK Group Treasury division and
the units in the subsidiaries responsible for the
management of liquidity risk also receive detailed
daily information showing the contribution from
each individual position to the aggregate position.

The Group Risk and Finance Committee receives a
quarterly report on the liquidity risk of the DZ BANK

Group and the individual management units.

The entities in the DZ BANK Group have their
own corresponding reporting procedures that help to
manage and monitor liquidity risk at individual entity
level.

Group Treasury is informed on a daily basis of the
largest providers of liquidity to DZ BANK in the
unsecured money markets. This is reported to the
Asset-Liability Committee / Treasury and Capital
Committee and the Board of Managing Directors
on a monthly basis. The reports make a distinction
between customers and banks and relate to

DZ BANK in Frankfurt and to each foreign branch.
These reports ensure that any possible concentration
risk as regards sources of liquidity can be cleatly
identified at an early stage.

6.2.4 Risk management

Measurement of liquidity risk

To determine liquidity risk for a 1-year time
horizon, DZ BANK uses its own liquidity risk
measurement and control method approved by



94

Group management report
Combined opportunity and risk report

BaFin in accordance with section 10 of the German
Liquidity Regulation (IiqV) for the assessment of
adequate liquidity in accordance with section 2 LiqV
in place of the standard regulatory method.

The internal liquidity risk model is also used to
determine the liquidity risk at DZ BANK Group level.
All entities in the DZ BANK Group with a significant
impact on liquidity risk are integrated into the model,
which is used to simulate one risk scenario and four
stress scenarios a day.

A minimum liquidity surplus figure is calculated for
each scenario. This figure quantifies the minimum
surplus cash that would be available if the scenatio
were to materialize suddenly within the next 12
months. To carry out this calculation, cumulative cash
flow (forward cash exposure) is compared against
available liquidity reserves (counterbalancing capacity)
on a day-by-day basis. The minimum liquidity surplus
expresses economic liquidity adequacy. Forward cash
exposure includes both expected and unexpected
payments.

The counterbalancing capacity includes balances
on nostro accounts, liquid securities, and unsecured
funding capacity with customers, banks, and
institutional investors. By including the
counterbalancing capacity, the calculation of the
minimum liquidity surplus already takes into account
the effect on liquidity of the measures that could be
implemented to generate liquidity in each scenario.
These measures include collateralized funding of
securities in the repo market.

Stress tests are conducted for the forward cash
exposure and for the counterbalancing capacity
using the following four scenarios with defined limits:
‘downgrading’, ‘corporate crisis’, ‘market crisis’,

and ‘combination crisis’. The stress scenarios look

at sources of crises in both the market and the
institution itself. A combination of market-specific
and institution-specific soutces is also taken into
consideration. In crisis scenatios with institution-
specific causes, such as a deterioration in the
institution’s reputation, it is assumed for example
that it will be very difficult to obtain unsecured
funding from customers, banks, and institutional
investors in the 1-year forecast period. The simulated
event in each stress scenario represents a serious
deterioration in conditions.

The stress scenario with the lowest minimum liquidity
surplus is deemed to be the squeeze scenatrio.
Economic liquidity adequacy is determined as the
amount of the minimum liquidity surplus in the
squeeze scenario.

In addition to the existing stress scenatios with defined
limits, foreign currency stress tests simulate what
would happen if the currency swap market also
defaulted. The currencies in the major locations are
examined (US dollar, pound sterling, Swiss franc,
Hong Kong dollar, Singapore dollar). The currency
limits relate only to the critical first month.

Further stress scenatios in addition to the scenatios
with defined limits are analyzed, and a reverse stress
test is carried out and reported on a monthly basis.
The reverse stress test shows which stress events
(changes in risk factors) could still occur without
liquidity falling below the limit in a subsequent
liquidity risk measurement and triggering the need for
a business model adjustment.

The internal liquidity risk model is constantly revised
using an appropriateness test and adjusted in line
with changes in the market, products, and processes.
The appropriateness test is conducted for each entity
in the DZ BANK Group and aggregated at group

level.

Management of limits for liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is monitored and managed with the

aim of ensuring economic liquidity adequacy at all
times. This is based on the minimum liquidity surplus
calculated for the four stress scenarios with defined
limits. The Board of Managing Directors of

DZ BANK has set, at the level of the DZ BANK
Group, a limit (€1.0 billion) for liquidity risk and an
observation threshold (€4.0 billion) that is higher
than the limit. The observation threshold equates to
the minimum target for economic liquidity adequacy
specified in the risk appetite statement. The
observation threshold and limit were unchanged
compared with December 31, 2016. The Board of
Managing Directors of DZ BANK has also specified
a limit for each management unit. The observation
threshold and the limits are monitored by the liquidity
risk control function at DZ BANK both at group level
and also for the management units.

The limit system ensures that the DZ BANK Group
remains solvent even in serious stress scenarios.
Emergency liquidity plans are in place so that the
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group is able to respond to ctisis events rapidly and in
a coordinated manner. The emergency plans are
revised annually.

Liquidity risk mitigation

Within liquidity management activities, measures to
reduce liquidity risk are initiated by the treasuries

of the management units. Active liquidity risk
management is made possible by holding a large
number of instruments in the form of cash and liquid
securities, and by managing the maturity profile of
money market and capital market transactions.

Liquidity transfer pricing system

The DZ BANK Group aims to use liquidity — which
is both a resource and a success factor — in line with
opportunities and risks. Liquidity costs, benefits,

and risks are allocated among the entities in the

DZ BANK Group based on the liquidity transfer
pricing system using internal prices charged by the
units generating liquidity and paid by those consuming
liquidity. Care is taken to ensure that the transfer
prices are consistent with risk measurement and risk
management.

Transfer prices are set at DZ BANK for the liquidity
costs of all the main products. The transfer pricing
system takes into account the maturity period and
market liquidity of the products and has a significant

impact on risk/return management.

6.2.5 Specific risk factors

Liquidity risk arises from a mismatch in the timing and

amount of cash inflows and outflows and is affected

to a significant degree by other types of risk, such as
market risk and reputational risk. The following key
factors affect the level of liquidity risk:

— the funding structure of lending transactions;

—  the uncertainty surrounding liquidity tied up in
the funding of structured issues and investment
certificates with termination rights and obligation
acceleration;

— changes in the volume of deposits and loans,
in which the cash-pooling function in the
cooperative financial network is a significant
determining factor;

—  the funding potential in money markets and
capital markets;

— the fluctuations in fair value and marketability of
securities, and the eligibility of such securities for
use in collateralized funding arrangements, such as
bilateral repos or transactions in the tri-party
market;

— the potential exercise of liquidity options, such
as drawing rights in irrevocable loan or liquidity
commitments, and termination or currency option
rights in lending business;

— the obligation to pledge collateral in the form
of cash or securities (for example, for derivative
transactions or to guarantee payments as part of
intraday liquidity);

— changes to an entity’s own rating if contractual
requirements to provide collateral depend on
the rating;

— the absence of follow-up funding for the short-
term funding of the asset-backed commercial
paper program (ABCP program) on the money

market.

6.2.6 Quantitative variables

The available liquid securities and the unsecured short-
term and medium-term funding are the main factors
determining the minimum liquidity surplus. These
factors are presented below.

Liquid securities

Liquid securities, together with balances on nostro
accounts and non-collaterallized funding capacity,
form part of the counterbalancing capacity. Liquid
securities are largely held in the portfolios of the
treasury units at the entities in the DZ BANK Group
or in the portfolios held by DZ BANK’s Capital
Markets Trading division. Only beatrer bonds atre
eligible as liquid securities.

Liquid securities comprise highly liquid securities

that are suitable for collateralizing funding in private
markets, securities eligible as collateral for central bank
loans, and other securities that can be liquidated in the
1-year forecast period that is relevant for liquidity risk.

Securities are only eligible provided they are not
pledged as collateral, e.g. for secured funding.
Securities that have been borrowed or taken as
collateral for detrivatives business or in connection
with secured funding only become eligible when
they are freely transferable. Eligibility is recognized
on a daily basis and also takes into account factors
such as restrictions on the period in which the
securities are freely available.

Fig. 12 shows the liquidity value of the liquid
securities that would result from secured funding
or if the securities were sold.



96

DZ BANK

2017 Annual Report

Group management report

Combined opportunity and risk report

FIG. 12 - LIQUID SECURITIES

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

€ billion 2017 2016

Liquid securities eligible for GC Pooling

(ECB Basket)? 281 38.0
Securities in own portfolio 281 36.5
Securities received as collatera 106 11.8
Securities provided as collatera -10.6 -10.3

Liquid securities eligible as collateral for

central bank loans 12.2 17.7
Securities in own portfolio 12.1 16.2
Securities received as collatera 26 46
Securities provided as collatera -25 -3.1

Other liquid securities 5.6 71
Securities in own portfolio 55 6.9
Securities received as collatera 0.1 0.2
Securities provided as collatera & -0.1

Total 45.9 62.8
Securities 457 59.6
Securities received as collatera 13.3 16.6
Securities provided as collatera -13.2 -13.4

1 GC = general collateral, ECB Basket = eligible collateral for ECB funding.

As at December 31, 2017, the total liquidity value at
the level of the DZ BANK Group was €45.9 billion

Funding and liquidity maturities

The level of liquidity risk in the DZ BANK Group
and at DZ BANK is determined by the short-term and
medium-term funding structure. The main sources of
funding on the unsecured money markets are shown
in Fig. 13. The change in the composition of the main
sources of funding compared with December 31, 2016
was attributable to a change in the behavior of
customers and investors resulting from money market

policy implemented by the ECB.

Further details on funding are provided in the business
report (section IL.5 (Financial position) of the (group)
management report).

The maturity analysis of contractual cash inflows and
cash outflows is set out in note 84 of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. The cash flows in
these disclosures are not the same as the expected and
unexpected cash flows used for internal management

purposes in the DZ BANK Group.

FIG. 13 - UNSECURED SHORT-TERM AND MEDIUM-TERM FUNDING

(December 31, 2016: €62.8 billion). The total
liquidity value attributable to DZ BANK as at
December 31, 2017 was €33.2 billion

(December 31, 2016: €45.4 billion). The significant
year-on-year decline in the volume of liquid securities
as at December 31, 2017 was attributable to the sale
of securities, mainly at DZ BANK.

Consequently, liquid securities represent the largest
proportion of the counterbalancing capacity for both
the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK, and make

a major contribution to ensuring that they remain
solvent in the stress scenarios with defined limits at all
times during the relevant forecast period. In the first
month, which is a particulatly critical period in a crisis,
liquid securities are almost exclusively responsible for
maintaining solvency in the stress scenarios with
defined limits.

DZ BANK Group DZ BANK

Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec. 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016

%%

Local cooperative banks 54 A6 58 49
Other banks, central banks 12 11 11 10
Corporate customers,

institutional customers 13 12 13 11
Commercial paper

(institutional investors) 21 30 18 29

FIG. 14 - LIQUIDITY UP TO 1 YEAR IN THE STRESS SCENARIOS WITH DEFINED LIMITS: MINIMUM LIQUIDITY SURPLUSES

Forward cash exposure

£ billion Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
Downgrading -44.7 -62.0
Corporate crisis -47.2 -62.5
Market crisis -51.5 -65.4
Combination crisis -23.4 -66.6

Counterbalancing capacity Minimum liquidity surplus

Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
772 854 325 233
633 738 16.1 11.2
763 844 248 19.1

426 79.8 19.2 13.2
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6.2.7 Risk position

Fig. 14 shows the results of measuring liquidity risk

in the four stress scenarios with defined limits. The
results are based on a daily calculation and comparison
of forward cash exposure and counterbalancing
capacity. The values reported are the values that occur
on the day on which the liquidity surplus calculated
over the forecast period of 1 year is at its lowest point.

The liquidity risk value measured for the DZ BANK
Group as at December 31, 2017 for the stress
scenario with defined limits with the lowest minimum
liquidity surplus (squeeze scenario) was €16.1 billion
(December 31, 2016: €11.2 billion). During the year
under review, liquidity at the level of the DZ BANK
Group did not, in any of the stress scenarios with
defined limits, fall below the observation threshold
of €4.0 billion set by the Board of Managing Directors
as the minimum target for 2017. Furthermore, it did
not fall below the limit of €1.0 billion at any time in
the reporting period. The observation threshold and
limit remained unchanged year on year.

The corresponding liquidity risk value attributable to
DZ BANK as at December 31, 2017 was €5.7 billion
(December 31, 2016: €3.8 billion). This value is
derived from the stress scenatio with defined limits
that had the lowest minimum liquidity surplus and
relates to the forecast period defined for the limit,
which is just 1 month for DZ BANK in contrast to
the longer period used for the DZ BANK Group.
The minimum liquidity surplus did not fall below the
limit at any time in the year under review. The impact
of the stress scenarios for DZ BANK is measured and
analyzed precisely for each day and is taken beyond
the limit period of 1 month right up to 1 year.

The results demonstrate that economic liquidity
adequacy was maintained at all times in the reporting
yeat. The minimum liquidity surplus as at

December 31, 2017 was positive in the stress scenatios
with defined limits that were determined on the
basis of risk appetite. This is due to the fact that the
counterbalancing capacity was above the cumulative
cash outflows on each day of the defined forecast
period for each scenario, which indicates that the
cash outflows assumed to take place in a crisis could
be comfortably covered.

6.2.8 Possible impact from crystallized
liquidity risk

One of the main operating activities of the
management units is to make long-term liquidity

available to their customers for different maturity
periods and in different currencies, for example in
the form of loans. The units generally organize their
funding to match these transactions that tie up
liquidity. Any funding needs that are not covered
by the local cooperative banks are met by obtaining
additional funding in the money and capital markets,
with the deposit base from money market funding
reducing the need for long-term funding. When
funding matures, it is therefore possible that the
replacement funding required to fund transactions
with longer maturities has to be obtained at
unfavorable terms and conditions.

The entities in the DZ BANK Group are also exposed
to the risk that the minimum liquidity surplus will fall
below the limit. If the minimum liquidity surplus were
to fall below the limit for an extended period, the
possibility of reputational damage and a ratings
downgrade could not be ruled out.

Crystallization of liquidity risk causes an unexpected
reduction in the liquidity surplus, with potential
negative consequences for DZ BANK’s financial
position and enterprise value. If a crisis were to occur
in which the circumstances were more serious or the
combination of factors were significantly different
from those assumed in the stress scenarios, there
would be a risk of insolvency.

6.3 Regulatory liquidity adequacy

6.3.1 Regulatory framework

Internal liquidity risk management is supplemented
by the liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) specified in the
Basel 111 framework, which was transposed into law
with the CRR and Commission Delegated Regulation
(EU) 2015/61, and by the net stable funding ratio
(NSFR), which is based on the Basel I1I framework
(BCBS 295).

The liquidity coverage ratio has a short-term

focus and is intended to ensure that institutions can
withstand a liquidity stress scenario lasting 30 days.
This KPI is defined as the ratio of available liquid
assets (liquidity buffer) to total net cash outflows in
defined stress conditions over the next 30 days. From
January 1, 2017, banks had to maintain an LCR of

at least 80 percent. The minimum ratio rose to

100 percent from January 1, 2018. DZ BANK reports
its own LCR and that of the DZ BANK banking
group, calculated in accordance with the CRR in
conjunction with Commission Delegated Regulation
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(EU) 2015/61, to the supetvisory authority on a
monthly basis.

The net stable funding ratio has a long-term focus
and is intended to ensure that institutions restrict
mismatches between the maturity structures of their
assets-side and liabilities-side business. This ratio is
the amount of available stable funding (equity and
liabilities) relative to the amount of required stable
funding (assets-side business). The funding sources
are weighted according to their degree of stability

and assets are weighted according to their degree of
liquidity based on factors defined by the supervisory
authority. Unlike the liquidity coverage ratio,
compliance with the NSFR is not expected to become
mandatory before the 2020 financial year when CRR 1I
comes into force. From this point, it is planned to
manage the NSFR within the groupwide liquidity risk
management system.

6.3.2 Organization, responsibility, and reporting
The liquidity ratios reported for supervisory purposes
resulting from the CRR, the Basel III framework, and
Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 are
calculated for DZ BANK by the Group Finance
division and aggregated at the level of the DZ BANK
banking group with the corresponding values for the

management units.

Both the Asset-Liability Committee/Treasury and
Capital Committee and the Board of Managing
Directors are notified of the LCR (monthly) and the
NSFR (quartetly).

6.3.3 Liquidity coverage ratio

The LCRs for the DZ BANK banking group and
DZ BANK calculated in accordance with Commission
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2015/61 as at

December 31, 2017 are shown in Fig. 15.

In the reporting year, the regulatory minimum
requirement for the LCR of 80 percent (2016:

70 percent) was significantly exceeded on every
reporting date at the level of both the DZ BANK
banking group and DZ BANK.

6.4 Outlook

The extension of the measurement of intraday
liquidity risk, which began in 2016, is to continue in
2018. It is also planned to implement requirements
related to economic liquidity adequacy specified

FIG. 15 - LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIOS AND THEIR DETERMINING
FACTORS

DZ BANK
banking group DZ BANK

Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31,
2017 2016 2017 2016

Total liquidity buffer

(€ billion) 775 67.8 55.7 46.9
Total net liquidity outflows

(€ billion) 479 449 40.0 335
Liquidity coverage ratio

(%) 161.7 151.0 1391 139.9

by the ECB in its ILAAP guidance published under
the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM).

In addition, the new regulatory liquidity reporting
ratios will continue to be integrated into liquidity
risk management in the coming financial year, with
activities focused on the NSFR. In connection with
this, it is planned to extend the forecast horizon
specified for the limits at DZ BANK from 1 month
to 1 year.

7 Capital adequacy

7.1 Principles

The management of capital adequacy is an integral
component of business management in the DZ BANK
Group and at DZ BANK. Capital adequacy is defined
as the holding of sufficient capital to cover the risks
assumed by the business. It is consideted from both
an economic and a regulatory perspective. Whereas
the economic perspective takes into account the
requirements of MaRisk BA, the regulatory perspective
applies the requirements from the CRR and the
German national requirements for the implementation
of Capital Requirements Directive IV (KWG and

SolvV).

DZ BANK and all other management units are
included in the groupwide management of capital
adequacy. Management of economic capital adequacy
on the basis of both internal risk measurement
methods and regulatory capital adequacy requirements
aims to ensure that the assumption of risk is always
consistent with the DZ BANK Group’s capital
resources.

Regulatory solvency requirements for the DZ BANK
financial conglomerate, the DZ BANK banking group,
and the R+V Versicherung AG insurance group ate
observed in economic capital management.
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7.2 Economic capital adequacy

Owing to the close ties between the management of
economic capital adequacy at DZ BANK and that of
the DZ BANK Group, the information below also
applies to DZ BANK.

7.2.1 Strategy, organization, and responsibility
The Board of Managing Directors of DZ BANK
defines the corporate objectives and the capital
requirement in the DZ BANK Group and at

DZ BANK in terms of both risks and returns. In
managing the risk profile, the Board of Managing
Directors strives for an appropriate ratio between risk
and available internal capital. DZ BANK is responsible
for risk and capital management, and for compliance
with capital adequacy at group level.

The management of economic and regulatory capital
adequacy is based on internal target values. To avoid
any unexpected adverse impact on target values and
capital ratios and ensure that any changes in risk

are consistent with corporate strategy, groupwide
economic upper loss limits and risk-weighted assets
are planned as limits for the risk capital requirement
on an annual basis as part of the strategic planning
process. This process results in a requirements budget
for the economic and regulatory capital needed by
the group. The implementation of any corresponding
measures to raise capital is approved by the Asset-
Liability Committee/Treasury and Capital Committee
and then coordinated by Group Treasury at

DZ BANK.

The integration of economic risk capital requirements
planning into the strategic planning process aims to
ensure that the risk strategy for types of risk covered
by capital is closely linked with the business strategies.

7.2.2 Measurement methods

Economic capital management is based on internal
risk measurement methods that take into account

all types of risk that are material from a capital
adequacy perspective. The risk capital requirement

is determined by aggregating the relevant risk types
of all management units. The methods selected serve
to meet the statutory requirements for a groupwide
integrated risk capital management system.

In the risk-bearing-capacity analysis, the risk capital
requirement (including capital buffer) is compared
with the available internal capital in order to determine
the economic capital adequacy. The Board of
Managing Directors determines the upper loss limits

for a particular year on the basis of the available
internal capital. These limits then restrict the risk
capital requirement (including capital buffer).

If necessary, the upper loss limits can be adjusted
during the year, e.g. if economic conditions change.

Available internal capital comprises equity and
hidden resetves. It is reviewed on a quarterly basis.
The available internal capital is determined as follows:

—  The available internal capital from the Bank
sectot is calculated on the basis of the IFRS data
in accordance with regulatory financial reporting.
In this process, R+V is not fully consolidated but
taken into account using the equity method.

— 'The available internal capital from the Insurance
sector is based on the own funds of the R+V
Versicherung AG insurance group in accordance
with Solvency 11

The available internal capital from the two sectors

is combined to produce the available internal capital

of the DZ BANK Group. During this process, the
effects of consolidation between the Bank and
Insurance sectors are taken into account, resulting in a
reduction in the available internal capital at group level.

The purpose of the capital buffer is to cover the

lack of precision in some areas of risk measurement.
This applies to migration risk on traditional loans,

for example. The individual components of the capital
buffer are quantified using a method based on scenatios
and models with input from experts. A distinction is
made between centralized and decentralized capital
buffer requirements. Decentralized capital buffer
requirements are managed within the upper loss limits
for the individual risk types, whereas the centralized
capital buffer is managed on the basis of an upper loss
limit covering all sectors and risk types.

7.2.3 Traffic light system

Economic capital adequacy is monitored and managed
using a traffic light system based on the ratio of
available internal capital to aggregate risk (expressed
as a percentage).

The switch from green to amber in the traffic light
system (amber threshold) is set at the minimum
target for economic capital adequacy specified in the
risk appetite statement, which in 2017 was 120 percent
(2016: 130 percent). The amber threshold serves as an
eatly warning indicator. The red threshold, i.c. the
borderline between amber and red in the traffic light
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system, was set at 110 percent in the year under review
(2016: 120 percent).

The threshold values for economic capital adequacy
are reviewed annually and adjusted if necessary.

7.2.4 Risk-bearing capacity

Available internal capital

The DZ BANK Group’s available internal capital
as at December 31, 2017 was measured at

€28,049 million. The comparative figure as at
December 31, 2016 was measured at €27,623 million
before deduction of the capital buffer requirement and
€25,694 million after deduction of the capital buffer
requirement. The figure originally measured as at
December 31, 2016 and disclosed in the 2016
opportunity and risk report came to €26,408 million
before deduction of the capital buffer requirement and
€24,479 million after deduction of the capital buffer
requirement. The year-on-year increase was mainly
because the capital buffer requirement was no longer
deducted in 2017. However, the increase in available
internal capital also arose because of the positive
financial performance in the year under review.

The upper loss limit derived from the available
internal capital amounted to €23,575 million as

at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016:

€22,299 million). The rise in the upper loss limit was
largely due to the integration of the capital buffer
requirement.

As at the reporting date, aggregate risk was
calculated at €16,450 million. The comparable figure
as at December 31, 2016 excluding the capital buffer
requirement stood at €15,108 million. The risk capital
requirement excluding the capital buffer requirement
originally measured as at December 31, 2016 and
disclosed in the 2016 opportunity and risk report was
€14,975 million. The increase in risk arose mainly
because of the inclusion of the capital buffer
requirement and higher capital buffer components.

Economic capital adequacy

As at December 31, 2017, the economic capital
adequacy ratio for the DZ BANK Group was
calculated at 170.5 percent. The comparable figure as
at December 31, 2016 was 170.1 percent. The figure
originally measured as at December 31, 2016 and
disclosed in the 2016 opportunity and risk report was

163.5 percent. During the course of the reporting year,
the economic capital adequacy ratio was higher than
the minimum target of 120 percent at all times. Fig. 16
provides an overview of the DZ BANK Group’s
economic capital adequacy.

The upper loss limits and risk capital requirements
including the decentralized capital buffer requirements
for the Bank sector, broken down by risk type, are
shown in Fig. 17. Fig. 18 sets out the upper loss limits
and overall solvency requirements for the Insurance
sector, broken down by risk type, and includes
policyholder participation. The definition of the upper
loss limits and determination of overall solvency
requirements take into account the ability to offset
deferred taxes against losses (which arises where
deferred tax liabilities can be eliminated in the loss
scenario). Diversification effects between the risk types
are also taken into consideration. Owing to these
effects of correlation, the overall solvency requirement
and upper loss limits for each risk type are not
cumulative.

In addition to the figures shown in Fig. 17 and Fig. 18,
the aggregate risk includes a centralized capital
buffer requirement across all types of risk, which
was calculated at €332 million as at December 31, 2017.
The corresponding upper loss limit was €350 million.

It was necessary to recalculate the overall solvency
requirement as at December 31, 2016 owing to
scheduled changes to the parameters for the risk
measurement procedures and the updating of actuarial
assumptions carried out in the second quarter of 2017
for the Insurance sector on the basis of R+V’s 2016
consolidated financial statements. The recalculation
reflects updated measurements of insurance liabilities
based on annual actuarial analyses and updates to
parameters in the risk capital calculation. Because of
the complexity and the amount of time involved, the
parameters are not completely updated in the in-year
calculation and an appropriate projection is made.

The recalculation led to changes in the key risk
indicators at DZ BANK Group level. The figures as
at December 31, 2016 given in this opportunity and
risk report have been restated accordingly and are
not directly comparable with the figures in the 2016
opportunity and risk report.
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FIG. 16 - ECONOMIC CAPITAL ADEQUACY OF THE DZ BANK GROUP

€ million Dec. 31, 2017 Sep. 30, 2017 Jun. 30, 2017 Mar. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
Available internal capital (€ million)? 28,049 28,247 27,811 2?,843. 25,694
Upper loss limit (€ million) 23,575 23,575 23,575 23,575 22,299
Aggregate risk (€ million)2 16,450 16,367 16,940 16,746 15,108
Economic capital adequacy (%) 170.5 172.6 164.2 166.3 170.1

1 As at December 31, 2016, a capital buffer requirement of €1,929 million was deducted from the available internal capital of €27,623 million, which meant that available internal capital after
deduction of the capital buffer requirement amounted to €25,694 million.
2 As at December 31, 2016, the risk capital requirement excluded the capital buffer requirement.

FIG. 17 — UPPER LOSS LIMITS AND RISK CAPITAL REQUIREMENT INCLUDING CAPITAL BUFFER IN THE BANK SECTOR

Risk capital requirement including the

Upper loss limits decentralized capital buffer requirement?

Dec.31, 5ep.30, Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Sep.30, Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec.31,

€million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Credit risk 7628 7,624 7,474 7474 6606 5772 5737 5959 5,674 4472
Equity investment risk 1422 1422 1,422 1,422 1,468 1,000 1,067 1214 1,223 1,263
Market risk? 6,863 6882 7,043 7,043 758 4097 4134 4381 4580 4,347
Technical risk of a home savings and . . .

loan company> 558 558 558 558 600 558 558 558 558 541
Business risks 1,040 1,025 1,025 1,025 1,024 781 771 767 762 912
Operational risk 1,47 1,047 1,47 1,047 1,152 821 790 927 944 892
Total (after diversification) 17,805 17,805 17,805 17,805 17,089 11,66 11,802 12,477 12,407 11,105

1 December 31, 2016 excluding capital buffer requirement.

2 Market risk contains spread risk and migration risk.

3 Including business risk and reputational risk of BSH.

4 Apart from that of BSH, reputational risk is contained in the risk capital requirement for business risk.

FIG. 18 — UPPER LOSS LIMITS AND OVERALL SOLVENCY REQUIREMENT IN THE INSURANCE SECTOR

Upper loss limits Overall solvency requirement

Dec.31, 5ep.30, Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Sep.30, Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec.31,

€ million 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Life actuarial risk 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 1,200 697 655 623 583 574
Health actuarial risk 370 370 370 370 330 165 152 151 178 214
MNon-life actuarial risk 3,580 3,580 3,580 3,580 3,250 3,094 2,952 2,927 2,822 2,835
Market risk 3,800 3,800 3,800 3,800 3,540 2,966 2,995 2,875 2,809 2,802
Counterparty default risk 130 130 130 130 110 51 64 58 92 65
Operational risk 650 650 650 650 640 531 543 543 545 509

Risks from non-controlling interests
in insurance companies and from
entities in other financial sectors 140 140 140 140 120 115 116 116 110 110

Total (after diversification) 5,420 5,420 5,420 5,420 5,210 4,257 4,243 4,131 4,016 4,004

7.2.5 Possible impact from crystallized risk covered
by capital

If risk covered by capital actually materializes, this has
a negative impact on both financial performance and
financial position as well as on the enterprise value of
the DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK. In the income
statement in this situation, the recognized expenses
are higher and/or the recognized income is lower than
originally expected. This is accompanied by a decrease
in the net assets on the balance sheet because assets
are unexpectedly lower and/or liabilities are
unexpectedly higher. A widening of spreads on

fungible financial instruments may also lead to a
deterioration in the financial position, which is
reflected in other comprehensive income.

If there is a detetioration in financial performance,
there is the risk of long-term negative risk-adjusted
profitability where the cost of capital cannot then be
coveted, and economic value added (EVA) becomes
negative. If this situation arose, there would no longer
be any point in continuing business operations from a
business management perspective.
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Viewed in isolation and assuming thete are no other
influencing factors, this chain of events would apply
particularly in a scenario where the equity holder is
simply seeking to maximize profits. In the case of
DZ BANK, however, there is another significant
factor in that the intention of the equity holders (who
in many cases are also customers of DZ BANK and
its subsidiaries) in committing equity to DZ BANK
is not only to achieve, as far as possible, market-level
returns commensurate with the risk involved, but also
to utilize the decentralized services that DZ BANK
provides as a central institution in the cooperative
financial network. The return on capital that forms
part of any purely monetary analysis therefore needs
to be adjusted in the case of DZ BANK to add the
effects of the extra benefits. Given this background,
EVA is only of limited use for assessing the
advantages of the investment in DZ BANK. Thus,

a negative EVA is not necessarily associated with

the discontinuation of business activities undertaken

by DZ BANK or its subsidiaries.

If risk were to materialize and associated losses be
incurred, there would be a risk that the DZ BANK
Group would miss its economic capital adequacy
target. However, this situation could also occur with
an increase in risk arising from heightened market
volatility or as a consequence of changes in the
business structure. In addition, a decrease in available
internal capital, for example because its components
have expired or are no longer eligible, could mean
that the risk capital requirement exceeds the available
internal capital. Additional or more stringent
regulatory requirements could also have a negative
impact on the economic capital adequacy of the

DZ BANK Group.

In a situation in which the economic capital adequacy
of the DZ BANK Group could not be guaranteed,
there would be insufficient capital available to meet
the group’s own standards with regard to the coverage
of risk. This could lead to a deterioration in the
credit ratings for DZ BANK and its subsidiaties.

If there is also insufficient capital to meet the level

of protection demanded by the supervisory authority,
this authority could initiate action, which in extreme
cases could lead to the resolution of DZ BANK or
its subsidiaries.

7.2.6 Outlook

The DZ BANK Group has given a high priority to
implementing the principles for effective tisk data
aggregation and risk reporting published by the

BCBS. An as-is analysis was carried out in 2015 and
an action plan drawn up. Since then, the entities in the
DZ BANK Group have kept further expansion of
their risk data aggregation and reporting capacity high
on the agenda with the aim of satisfying the main
requirements by the end of 2018. The requirements
are being implemented in groupwide projects.

In 2018, it is also planned to implement the
requirements from the guidance on the ICAAP
published by the ECB as part of the SSM.

7.3 Regulatory capital adequacy

7.3.1 Principles

At DZ BANK, the Group Finance division is
responsible for monitoring regulatory capital adequacy.
Regular monitoring is designed to ensure that the
applicable minimum regulatory requirements for
solvency are met at all times. Monitoring takes place
continuously for the DZ BANK financial
conglomerate, monthly for the DZ BANK banking
group and DZ BANK, and at least quarterly for the
R+V Versicherung AG insurance group. The Board of
Managing Directors and the supervisory authority are
notified of the results within the monthly reports on
capital management.

7.3.2 DZ BANK financial conglomerate

The German Supervision of Financial Conglomerates
Act (FKAG) essentially forms the legal basis for the
supervision of the DZ BANK financial conglomerate.
The calculation methodology for the coverage ratio is
taken from Commission Delegated Regulation (EU)
342/2014 in conjunction with article 49 CRR.

The financial conglomerate coverage ratio is the ratio
between the total of eligible own funds in the financial
conglomerate and the total of solvency requirements
for the conglomerate. The resulting ratio must be at
least 100 percent.

On the basis of a provisional calculation, the

DZ BANK financial conglomerate’s eligible

own funds as at December 31, 2017 amounted to
€27,458 million (December 31, 2016: confirmed

final eligible own funds of €25,638 million). On the
other side of the ratio, the provisional solvency
requirement was €14,506 million (December 31, 2016:
confirmed final solvency requirements of

€14,624 million). This gives a provisional coverage
ratio of 189.3 percent (December 31, 2016: confirmed
final coverage ratio of 180.3 percent), which is
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significantly in excess of the regulatory minimum
requirement of 100 percent.

7.3.3 DZ BANK banking group

Regulatory framework

The DZ BANK banking group uses the following
methods to calculate the regulatory own funds
requirements in accordance with the CRR:

—  Credit risk: Primarily the foundation IRB
approach and the IRB approach for the retail
business (the regulatory credit risk measurement
methods used by DVB are based on the advanced
IRB approach)

—  Market risk: Predominantly the group’s own
internal models and, to a minor extent, the
Standardized Approaches

—  Operational risk: Standardized Approach.

Regulatory minimum capital requirements

The minimum capital requirements that the

DZ BANK banking group had to comply with in the
year under review comprised those components of
Pillar 1 laid down as mandatory by law and those
individually specified by the banking supervisor.
Institution-specific requirements under the additional
own funds requirements in Pillar 2, determined in the
outcome of the SREP conducted for the DZ BANK
banking group in 2016, also had to be satisfied.

Since the end of 2017, the ECB has used a modified
approach for determining the additional own funds
requirement under Pillar 2. In the new approach, the
supetvisor specifies a mandatory add-on (Pillar 2
requirement) that is factored into the basis of
calculation for the maximum distributable amount
(MDA). The add-on will be determined from the
findings of the SREP.

In addition to this mandatory component, there is

a recommended own funds amount under Pillar 2
(Pillar 2 guidance), which likewise is determined from
the SREP, but unlike the mandatory component
relates only to common equity Tier 1 capital. Failure
to comply with the own funds guidance under Pillar 2
does not constitute a breach of regulatory own funds
requirements. Nevertheless, this figure is relevant as
an early warning indicator for capital planning.

The mandatory minimum capital requirements and
their components applicable to 2017 and 2018 are
shown in Fig. 19.

The mandatory and the recommended minimum
capital requirements were complied with in the year
under review. This applies to both the currently
applicable solvency regime (CRR transitional guidance)
and the regime in force from 2019 (full application of
the CRR). According to current projections, the
requirements will also be satisfied in 2018.

In the year under review, BaFin issued a decision that
DZ BANK would continue to be classified as an other
systemically important institution (O-SII). In 2018, the
DZ BANK banking group will have to comply with an
O-SII capital buffer (comprising common equity Tier
1 capital) as defined in section 10g (1) KWG at a level
of 0.66 percent.

This figure will increase to 1.0 percent from 2019.

Regulatory capital ratios in accordance with CRR
transitional guidance

The regulatory own funds of the DZ BANK
banking group as at December 31, 2017 determined
in accordance with the currently applicable CRR
transitional guidance amounted to a total of

€22,728 million (December 31, 2016: €22,066 million).

FIG. 19 - REGULATORY MINIMUM CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS" 2

% 2017 2018
Minimum requirement for common equity

Tier 1 capita 450 450
Additional Pillar 2 own funds requirement 175 175
Capital conservation buffer 1.25 1.88
Countercyclical capital buffer 0.02

O-Sll capital buffer 033 066
Mandatoery minimum requirement for

commeon equity Tier 1 capital 7.85 B8.79
Minimum requirement for additiona

Tier 1 capital® 1.50 1.50
Mandatoery minimum requirement for

Tier 1 capital 9.35 10.29
Minimum requirement for Tier 2 capital* 200 200
Mandatoery minimum requirement for

total capital 11.35 12.29

1 Percentage values based on risk-weighted assets.

2 As a result of the method specified by the ECB to be used for the first time in 2017, there are
no comparative figures as at December 31, 2016.

3 The minimum requirement can also be satisfied with common equity Tier 1 capital.

4 The minimum requirement can also be satisfied with common equity Tier 1 or additional Tier
1 capital.

The value has not yet been determined because the countercyclical capital buffer
has to be recalculated for each reporting date.
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The rise in own funds was mainly attributable to a
total increase of €1,097 million in common equity
Tier 1 capital. Net profits eligible for retention and
the increase in the revaluation reserve eligible for
inclusion in accordance with the CRR were the main

factors behind the rise in common equity Tier 1 capital.

Tier 2 capital declined from €3,077 million at the end
of 2016 to €2,687 million as at December 31, 2017, a
year-on-year decrease of €390 million. This was mainly
attributable to the reduced level of eligibility under
CRR rules for own funds instruments in this capital
category in the last 5 years before their maturity date.

As at December 31, 2017, the regulatory own funds
requirements for the DZ BANK banking group were
calculated at €10,464 million (December 31, 2016:
€9,477 million). The rise in own funds requirements
resulted mainly from the discontinuation of
grandfathering arrangements at various long-term
equity investments. This is because DZ BANK, with
regard to the long-term equity investments acquired
through the merger with the former WGZ BANK, is
no longer applying the Standardized Approach to
credit risk with 100 percent risk weighting in
accordance with the CRR transitional guidance, but
instead using approaches with 190 percent and

370 percent risk weightings on the basis of internal
assessments. In particular, DZ BANK has decided to
discontinue the grandfathering arrangements in
relation to its long-term equity investment in R+V and
to apply a 370 percent risk weighting to this company.
The increase in own funds requirements can also be

FIG. 20 - REGULATORY CAPITAL RATIOS IN ACCORDANCE WITH CRR

attributed to the first-time inclusion of the interest-rate
‘smile’ in the internal market risk modeling.

The DZ BANK banking group’s common equity
Tier 1 capital ratio was 14.0 percent as at
December 31, 2017 and thus lower than the ratio of
14.5 percent as at the end of 2016. As at

December 31, 2017, the Tier 1 capital ratio was
15.3 percent, again a decrease on the ratio of

16.0 percent as at December 31, 2016. The total
capital ratio also declined from 18.6 percent as at
December 31, 2016 to 17.4 percent as at the balance
sheet date.

The common equity Tier 1 capital ratio for

DZ BANK was calculated at 17.3 percent as at
December 31, 2017, which was lower than the
equivalent figure of 18.1 percent as at December 31,
2016. The Tier 1 capital ratio was also down, from
19.1 percent as at December 31, 2016 to 18.2 percent
as at December 31, 2017. In addition, the total capital
ratio declined from 24.4 percent as at December 31,
2016 to 22.4 percent as at the reporting date.

The fall in the capital ratios was largely due to the
increased own funds requirements.

The ratios at DZ BANK banking group level and at
DZ BANK level were well above the regulatory
minimum CRR capital ratios at all times during 2017.

Fig. 20 provides an overview of the DZ BANK
banking group’s regulatory capital ratios in accordance
with the CRR.

Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31,
2017 2017 2017 2017 2016

Capital
Common equity Tier 1 capital (€ million) 18,251 17,009 17,461 17,460 17,154
Additional Tier 1 capital (€ million) 1,790 1,793 1,797 1,776 1,835
Tier 1 capital 20,041 18,802 19,258 19,236 18,989
Total Tier 2 capital (€ million) 2,687 2,804 3,032 3,122 3,077
Total capital 22,728 21,606 22,290 22,358 22,066
Capital requirements
Credit risk including long-term equity investments (€ million) 9,099 9,237 9,290 9,403 8,153
Market risk (€ million) 542 497 548 456 510
Operational risk (€ million) 823 823 823 823 814
Total 10,464 10,557 10,661 10,682 9,477
Capital ratios?
Common equity Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 14.0 12.9 131 13.1 14.5
Tier 1 capital ratio (%) 153 14.3 14.5 144 16.0
Total capital ratio (%) 17.4 16.4 16.7 16.7 18.6

1 Percentage values based on risk-weighted assets.
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Regulatory capital ratios with full application of the CRR
The capital ratios for the DZ BANK banking group

and DZ BANK based on full application of the CRR
are shown in Fig. 21.

At all times in the reporting year, the ratios were in
excess of the minimum values planned for the future
and the present ECB requirement specified in the SREP.

Leverage ratio

The leverage ratio shows the ratio of a banking group’s
or bank’s Tier 1 capital to its total exposure. In contrast
to risk-based capital requirements for which the
assumptions are derived from models, the individual
line items in the calculation of the leverage ratio are
not given their own risk weighting but are generally
included in the total exposure without any weighting
at all.

The leverage ratios for the DZ BANK banking group
and DZ BANK — in each case in accordance with the
currently applicable CRR transitional guidance and
assuming full application of the CRR — are presented
in Fig. 22.

The year-on-year rise in the DZ BANK banking
group’s leverage ratio as at December 31, 2017
calculated in accordance with the CRR transitional
guidance mainly arose because of an increase of

€1.1 billion in Tier 1 capital combined with a small
contraction of €2.8 billion in the total exposure. The
fall of the total exposure was largely due to a reduction
in securities financing transactions. In contrast, on-
balance-sheet business rose slightly.

The leverage ratio also went up at DZ BANK level,
accounted for principally by an increase of €0.6 billion
in Tier 1 capital and a fall of €6.9 billion in the total
exposure. The main reason behind the rise in Tier 1
capital was the switch in the basis for calculating
regulatory own funds from HGB to IFRS in

October 2017. The lower total exposure resulted from
a contraction in securities financing transactions,
derivatives, and off-balance-sheet exposures, although
some of this contraction was offset by a slight rise in
on-balance-sheet business.

FIG. 21 - REGULATORY CAPITAL RATIOS WITH FULL APPLICATION
OF CRR!

DZ BANK
banking group DZ BANK

Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec. 31,

% 2017 2016 2017 2016
Co-n-no-w e_qJ'tg,-‘T'e-' 1

capital ratio 13.9 145 16.5 18.1
Tier 1 capital ratio 14.4 15.1 173 19.1
Total capital ratio 17.4 18.8 213 24.4

1 Percentage values based on risk-weighted assets.

FIG. 22 - LEVERAGE RATIOS

DZ BANK
banking group DZ BANK

Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec 31,
% 2017 2016 2017 2016
Leverage ratio
according to CRR

transitional guidance 46 4.4 4.2 4.0
Leverage ratio
applying the CRR in fu 4.4 4.1 4.2 4.0

7.3.4 R+V Versicherung AG insurance group

The regulatory solvency requirements for insurance
companies and insurance groups provide a means of
evaluating the overall risk position in the R+V
Versicherung AG insurance group.

The group’s risk-bearing capacity for regulatory
purposes is defined as the eligible own funds at group
level in relation to the risks arising from operating
activities. The changes in the regulatory risk-bearing
capacity of the R+V Versicherung AG insurance
group as a whole and each of its constituent entities
are analyzed at least once a quarter.

As at December 31, 2017, the preliminary figure

for the regulatory risk-bearing capacity of the

R+V Versicherung AG insurance group was

202.4 percent (December 31, 2016: 187.5 percent).
The group had eligible own funds of €11,235 million
at its disposal on December 31, 2017

(December 31, 2016, €10,043 million) to cover

a solvency requirement of €5,549 million

(December 31, 2016: €5,356 million).

The recalculation of the overall solvency requirement
described in section 7.2.4 also affected the regulatory
risk-bearing capacity of the R+V Versicherung AG
insurance group and led to retrospective changes in
the solvency requitements as at the end of 2016.

The figures as at December 31, 2016 given in this
opportunity and risk report have been restated
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accordingly and are not directly comparable with the
figures in the 2016 opportunity and risk report.

Analysis of the capital market scenarios applied in
the internal planning shows that the regulatory risk-
bearing capacity of the R+V Versicherung AG
insurance group under Solvency II will exceed

the minimum statutory requirement as at

December 31, 2018. In view of the ongoing
challenging situation in the financial markets, forecasts
about changes in the solvency capital requirement
and own funds are subject to significant uncertainty.
However, R+V will take suitable measures to ensure
it maintains its risk-bearing capacity.

R+V carries out the stress tests specified by EIOPA
and BaFin, and uses them to review whether it is in
a position to meet its obligations to policyholders,
even in the event of a sustained crisis situation on
the capital markets.

7.4 Stress tests for types of risk covered by capital

7.4.1 Adverse stress tests

Adverse stress tests are used to examine the impact on
capital and risk from potential crisis scenarios that
are exceptional, but plausible, and particularly relevant
to the DZ BANK Group’s value and risk drivers.

The KPIs relating to economic and regulatory capital
adequacy are analyzed in this context. However, the
stress tests also reflect events that go beyond the
methods established for calculating capital adequacy.
The term ‘adverse stress tests’ encompasses those stress
scenatios that represent negative macroeconomic trends
or events from the perspective of the DZ BANK
Group. In this context, ‘adverse’ indicates that the
scenarios may be particularly disadvantageous or even
harmful.

Adverse stress test can provide information on
whether the level of capital resources — especially the
buffer held to cover crisis situations — is also sufficient
to cover various types of moderate to setious crisis
scenario. The stress test results also facilitate an
assessment of the extent to which the analyzed value

and risk drivers are material for the DZ BANK Group.

The adverse stress tests consist of a number of
multiple-risk scenarios and specific stress tests

for the individual risk types backed by capital in the
DZ BANK Group. The stress tests are generally
designed for a 1-year scenario horizon as a minimum.
They take into account both macroeconomic scenarios

and historical situations that are particularly relevant
for the DZ BANK Group’s business model and
portfolios. The risk-type-specific stress tests are
hypothetical scenarios reflecting a degree of stress
for a crisis that can occur every 10 years. The adverse
scenatios ate based on macroeconomic factors from
both the real economy and financial markets or they
consist of specific events that are particulatly relevant
for the DZ BANK Group but not of a
macroeconomic natutre; some scenarios combine both
macroeconomic and specific events.

The methods used are designed so that the specific
features of R+V’s business model and its risk and
capital management systems ate taken into account
comprehensively and in an appropriate manner when
determining the results of stress testing in the

DZ BANK Group.

For the adverse stress tests, DZ BANK has put in
place a system of threshold values as an early-
warning mechanism. The threshold values for the
scenatios across all risk types are monitored in the
ongoing reporting system. These early-warning signals
trigger various risk management processes so that
there can be an eatly response to the potential risks
highlighted by the stress tests. Control measures
potentially available for the crisis scenario in
question are also taken into account so that there

is a comprehensive, critical evaluation of the stress
test results.

The stress tests are calculated every quarter and
the results approved by the Board of Managing
Directors of DZ BANK and the Supervisory Board.

7.4.2 Reverse stress tests

Reverse stress tests complement the adverse stress
tests and are used to investigate which of the
hypothetical scenarios could conceivably be
sufficiently plausible and relevant to jeopardize the
ability of the DZ BANK Group to continue as a
going concern.

‘Reverse’ indicates that the tests are in the opposite
direction and distinguishes them from the adverse
stress tests. In adverse stress tests, scenarios ate
defined and the corresponding KPIs determined in
order to assess whether there is a sufficient level of
capital resources available to cover moderate or
serious crisis scenarios. Reverse stress tests, on the
other hand, examine which scenarios would have to
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occur to jeopardize the survival of the bank as a going
concern.

In reverse stress tests, the risk to economic and
regulatory KPIs is simulated with scenarios in which it
would no longer be feasible to continue the business
model or in which the business model would prove to
be no longer sustainable. In the case of reverse stress
tests, the priorities are therefore as follows: firstly, to
identify relevant scenario approaches that could have
the potential to jeopardize the bank’s survival as a
going concern, and secondly, to estimate the
probability and plausibility of a specific, sufficiently

serious scenario of this nature.

The scenarios analyzed in the reverse stress tests are
based on available adverse scenarios (crisis situations)
that are then extended to include further scenario
elements, such as events (reverse elements). Scenario
elements are determined taking into account key risk
drivers and events. The relevant scenarios are adjusted
such that the minimum requirements for the economic
and regulatory KPIs can no longer be achieved even
after all the measures available to maintain the
business model have been applied.

Bank sector

8.1 Definition and business background

8.1.1 Definition

Credit risk is defined as the risk of losses arising from
the default of counterparties (borrowers, issuers, other
counterparties) and from the migration of the credit
ratings of these counterparties.

Credit risk may arise in traditional lending business
and also in trading activities. Traditional lending
business is for the most part commercial lending,
including financial guarantee contracts and loan
commitments. In the context of credit risk
management, trading activities refers to capital
market products such as securities (in both the
banking book and the trading book), promissory
notes, derivatives, secuted money market business
(such as repo transactions), and unsecured money
market business.

In traditional lending business, credit risk arises in
the form of default risk. In this context, default risk
refers to the risk that a customer may be unable to
settle receivables arising from loans or advances made
to the customer (including lease receivables) or make
overdue payments, or that losses may arise from
contingent liabilities or from lines of credit committed
to third parties.

Credit risk in connection with trading activities arises
in the form of default risk, which can be subdivided
into issuer risk, replacement risk, and settlement risk,
depending on the type of transaction involved.

Issuer risk is the risk of incurring losses from

the default of issuers of tradable debt or equity
instruments (such as bonds, shares, profit-participation
certificates), losses from a default in connection with
the underlying instrument in derivatives (for example,
credit or equity derivatives), or losses from a default in
connection with fund components.

Replacement risk on derivatives is the risk of a
counterparty defaulting during the term of a trading
transaction where entities in the Bank sector can only
enter into an equivalent transaction with another
counterparty by incurring an additional expense in the
amount of the positive fair value at the time of default.

Settlement risk arises when there are two mutually
conditional payments and there is no guarantee that
when the outgoing payment is made the incoming
payment will be received. Settlement risk is the risk of
a loss if counterparties do not meet their obligations,
counter-performance already having taken place.

Country risk is also included within credit risk.
Country risk in the narrower sense of the term refers
to conversion, transfer, payment prohibition, or
moratorium risk. It is the risk that a foreign
government may impose restrictions preventing a
debtor in the country concerned from transferring
funds to a foreign creditor. In the broader sense of the
term, country risk forms part of credit risk. In this
case, it refers to the risk arising from exposure to the
government itself (sovereign risk) and the risk that the
quality of the overall exposure in a country may be
impaired as a result of country-specific events.

8.1.2 Business background

Default risk from traditional lending business arises
ptrimarily at DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, DVB, and
WL BANK. The risk results from the specific
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transactions in each management unit and therefore
has varying characteristics in terms of diversification
and size in relation to the volume of business.

Default risk relating to trading transactions arises from
issuer risk, particularly in connection with the trading
activities and investment business of DZ BANK, BSH,
DG HYP, and WL BANK. Replacement risk arises for
the most part at DZ BANK, DZ PRIVATBANK, and
DVB.

8.2 Risk strategy

The entities in the Bank sector pursue a strictly
decentralized business policy aimed at promoting
the cooperative banks and are bound by the core
strategic guiding principle of a ‘network-oriented
central institution and financial services group’. The
business and risk policy for the credit-risk-bearing
core businesses in the group is formulated on the
basis of risk-bearing capacity. The credit risk strategy
therefore forms the basis for credit risk management
and reporting across the whole group and ensures that
there is a standard approach to credit risk within the

ar oup.

Lending throughout the group is predominantly
based on the VR rating’ system, a rating procedure
developed by DZ BANK in collaboration with the BVR.

Both DZ BANK and the subsidiaries with a material
credit risk seek to maintain a good rating and risk
structure in their credit portfolios at all times. In the
tuture, the portfolios will continue to be characterized
by a high degree of diversification.

Where required, the Board of Managing Directors of

DZ BANK makes decisions during the course of the

yeat to ensure that the rules for the medium-term and
long-term credit risk strategy are adjusted in line with

changing circumstances and current developments.

The credit risk strategy specifies that the entities in the
Bank sector must treat their partners faitly and, as part
of the sustainability strategy, not enter into any lending
arrangement that could prejudice the reputation of the
DZ BANK Group. Based on these principles, a policy
on sustainable lending applicable throughout the
sector was drawn up and approved in the year under
review. The policy applies to the majority of the
management units operating lending business.

The latitude permitted by the credit risk policy for
infrastructure projects was broadened slightly in 2017.

On the other hand, DZ BANK will not provide any
more finance for coal-fired power plants going
forward because of its commitment to sustainability
in its lending business.

8.3 Organization, responsibility, and risk
reporting

Responsibilities in the lending process have been laid
down and are documented in a written set of
procedural rules. These responsibilities cover loan
applications, approvals, and processing, including
periodic credit control with regular analysis of ratings.
Decision-making authority levels are specified by the
relevant rules based on the risk content of lending
transactions.

HEstablished reporting and monitoring processes
help to provide decision-makers with information
about changes in the risk structure of credit portfolios
and form the basis for the active management of credit
risk.

The credit risk report keeps the Group Risk and
Finance Committee informed of the economic capital
required to cover credit risk. In addition to providing
management with recommendations for action,
internal reporting also includes an in-depth analysis of
the portfolio structure in regard to risk concentrations
based on key risk characteristics such as country,
industry, credit rating class, and the lending volume

to single borrowers. In addition, the reports include
details on specific exposures and specific loan loss
allowances. The credit value-at-risk in the context of
the risk mitigation provided by the upper loss limit is
also part of the credit risk report.

8.4 Risk management
8.4.1 Rating systems

Characteristics of the rating systems

The generation of internal credit ratings for the
business partners of entities in the Bank sector helps,
in particular, to provide a solid basis for lending
decisions in the management of individual transactions.
The VR rating system used as standard throughout
the cooperative financial network ensures that all the
entities in the network apply a sophisticated uniform
methodology producing ratings that are comparable.

DZ BANK primarily uses VR rating systems in its
credit risk management system to assess large and
medium-sized companies, major corporate customers,
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banks, and countries, as well as project finance, asset
finance, acquisition financing, and investment funds.
The internal assessment approach is also used to
evaluate the liquidity lines and credit enhancements
made available by DZ BANK to programs for the
issuance of ABCP. These rating systems have been
approved by BaFin for the purposes of calculating
regulatory capital using the foundation IRB
approach.

For internal management purposes, DZ BANK
uses further rating systems to assess SMEs (German
Mittelstand), agricultural businesses, public-sector
entities, not-for-profit organizations, foreign SMEs,
and insurance companies. Although these systems
satisfy the requirements for the foundation IRB
approach in the opinion of DZ BANK, they are
deemed to be of less significance and have not yet
been reviewed by the supervisory authority. In
addition, the rating systems for open-ended real estate
funds and for commercial real estate used by the
former WGZ BANK Group are used for internal
management purposes.

Most of the other entities in the Bank sector use the
DZ BANK rating systems for banks, countries, and
major corporate customers. Rating systems for specific
business segments are also used by individual
subsidiaries.

Development and expansion of rating systems

The revision of the rating system for project finance
used by DZ BANK for internal management purposes
was completed in the year under review. The same also
applies to the development of the supervisory slotting
approach for project finance, which is scheduled to
be used from 2020 onwatd to calculate the regulatory
capital requirement. The enhancement of the rating
system for banks was also completed in 2017. A
supetvisory assessment of the IRB approach followed
by approval from the banking supervisor is still
required before this rating system can be introduced.
The assessment is scheduled for the first quarter of
2018.

DZ BANK credit rating master scale

The credit rating master scale setves as a groupwide
rating benchmark with which to standardize the
different rating systems used by the entities in the
Bank sector as a result of differences in their business
priorities. It thereby provides all management units
with a uniform view of counterparties’ credit ratings.

Fig. 23 shows DZ BANK’s credit rating master scale,
in which internal credit ratings are matched to the
ratings used by Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s, and Fitch.
It should be noted that some internal ratings cannot be
matched with a particular external rating because of
the greater degree of refinement in the credit rating
master scale. The ratings for securitization exposures are
matched to various different external ratings depending
on the asset class and region. In DZ BANK’s master
scale, the default bands remain unchanged to ensure
comparability over the course of time, whereas some
fluctuation in default rates can be seen in external
ratings. Therefore, it is not possible to map the internal
ratings directly to the ratings used by the rating agencies.
Consequently, the scale can only be used as a starting
point for comparison between internal and external
credit ratings.

DZ BANK rating desk

The VR rating systems for banks and countries are
also available to DZ BANK subsidiaries and the
cooperative banks. Users can enter into a master
agreement to access the ratings via an I'T application
(Rating Desk), which is available throughout the
cooperative financial network, in return for the
payment of a fee. Any accessed ratings are first
validated by the entities in the Bank sector or the
cooperative banks before they are included in the
user’s credit procedures.

8.4.2 Pricing in the lending business

The management units in the Bank sector use the risk-
adjusted pricing of the financing as a criterion in
lending decisions. Adequate standard risk costs and
risk-adjusted capital costs are taken into account. The
methods used by the management units to manage
individual transactions reflect the patticular features of
the product or business concerned.

To ensure that lending business remains profitable,
standard risk costs are determined in the
management of individual transactions in many parts
of the Bank sector. The purpose of these costs is to
cover average expected losses from borrower defaults.
The aim is to ensure that the net allowances for losses
on loans and advances recognized in the financial
statements are covered on average over the long term
in an actuarial-type approach by the standard risk costs
included in the pricing.
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FIG. 23 - BANK SECTOR: DZ BANK'S VR CREDIT RATING MASTER SCALE AND EXTERNAL CREDIT RATINGS

External rating classes

Internal rating Average Standard & Rating
class default probability Moody's Poor's Fitch category

1A 0.01 % Aaa 1o Aa2 AAATO AA AAATO AA

1B 0.02 % Aa3 AA- AA-

1C 0.03 %

1D 0.04 % Al A+ A+ B
1E 0.05 % E"
2A 0.07 % A2 A A g
2B 0.10 % A3 A- A- E
2C 0.15 % Baal BBB+ BBB+ E
2D 0.23 % Baa2 BBB BBB

2E 035 %

3A 0.50 % Baa3 BBB- BEB-

3B 0.75 % Ba1l BB+ BB+

3C 1.10 % Ba2 BB BB ]
3D 170 % £
3E 2.60 % Ba3 BB- BB- £
A 400 % B1 B+ B+ g
4B 6.00 % B2 B B g
ac 9.00 % B3 B- B- =
4D 13.50 % 2
4E 30.00 % Caalor lower CCC+ orlower CCC+ orlower

5A Past due > 90 days

5B Specific loan loss allowance -
5C Exemption from interest/debt restructuring ..E
5D Insolvency ]
5E Compulsory winding-up/ derecognition

NR Mo rating necessary or not rated

In addition to standard risk costs, an imputed cost of
capital based on the capital requirement is integrated
into DZ BANK’s contribution margin costing. This
enables DZ BANK to obtain a return on the capital
tied up that is in line with the risk involved and that
covers any unexpected losses arising from the lending
business. Pricing also includes an appropriate amount
to cover the costs of risk concentration.

8.4.3 Sustainability review in the lending process
In the lending evaluation process, DZ BANK
systematically reviews loan applications from relevant
sustainability perspectives in order to limit any
detrimental impact from its financing activities. All
factors relevant to the financing arrangement in
question are assessed in relation to environmental and
social risks using a sustainability checklist based on the
10 principles of the UN Global Compact and the
Equator Principles, the latter forming a global
standard for project finance. Loans to cooperative

banks and to entities in the DZ BANK Group, as well

as exposures that are being restructured, are some

of the arrangements exempt from the checks.

At DZ BANK, industry-related principles are used in
addition to the sustainability checklist when reviewing
loan applications from sensitive industries (such as
forestry, commodities mining/extraction, dam
construction, maritime industries). These principles
specify the details to be reviewed with reference to
international industry-specific conventions, recognized
standards, certification, and optimum production
processes.

8.4.4 Management of exposure in traditional
lending business

Measuring exposure in traditional lending business
Individual lending exposures are managed on the basis
of an analysis of gross lending exposure. The period
taken into account in this case is equivalent to the
monitoring cycle of 1 year. Together with risk-related
credit-portfolio management, volume-oriented credit
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risk management is one of the components in the
management of risk concentrations in the lending
business.

In traditional lending business, the credit exposure or
lending volume is generally the same as the nominal
value of the total loan book and reflects the maximum
volume at risk of default. The credit exposure is a
gross value because risk-bearing financial instruments
are measured before the application of any credit risk
mitigation and before the recognition of any
allowances for losses on loans and advances.

In the leasing business, minimum lease payments are
used as a basis for measuring the gross lending volume,
while principal amounts are used for this purpose in
building society operations. In addition, loans and
advances to customers in building society operations
are reduced by the associated deposits. The maximum
credit exposure comprises the total lines of credit
committed to third parties, or in the case of limit
overruns, the higher amounts already drawn.

Limit system for managing exposures in traditional
lending business

Limits are set in the relevant entities in the Bank
sector for individual borrowers and groups of
connected clients. Counterparties are also managed
centrally at the level of the Bank sector, depending
on the limit level and credit rating.

As a prerequisite for prompt monitoring of limits,
suitable early-warning processes have been
established in the management units that are of
material significance for the Bank sector’s credit
risk. In this context, financial covenants are often
incorporated into loan agreements to act as catly-
warning indicators for changes in credit standing
and as a tool for the proactive risk management of
lending exposures.

In addition, processes have been set up in the Bank
sector to handle instances in which limits are
exceeded. Such excess exposures must be approved
by the relevant level of authority in the management
units concerned and in accordance with applicable
internal requirements, and must be reduced if necessary.

Country exposure in the traditional lending business is
managed by setting country limits for industrialized
countries and emerging markets at the Bank sector
level.

8.4.5 Management of credit exposure in trading
transactions

Measuring credit exposure in trading transactions

Issuer risk, replacement risk, and settlement risk are
exposure-based measurements of the potential loss in
trading transactions. These are determined without
taking into account the likelihood of a default. In order
to determine the credit exposure, securities in the
banking book and trading book are predominantly
measured at fair value (nominal amounts are used in
building society operations), while derivatives are
measured at fair value and, in respect of settlement
risk, at the cash-flow-based accepted value.

The fair value of a securities exposure is used to
determine the issuer risk. Risks relating to the
underlying instruments in derivative transactions are
also included in issuer risk.

Replacement risk is generally determined on the
basis of fair value, taking into account appropriate
add-ons. At DZ BANK, where replacement risk is
particulatly relevant, a portfolio simulation is used to
determine the risk from simple interest-rate swap
derivatives arranged on an OTC basis with settlement
via a central counterparty or clearing broker. The
portfolio simulation models future exposures, taking
into account specific transaction details and a large
number of risk factors. Replacement risk on other
OTC derivatives is calculated mainly on the basis of
fair value and the add-on for an individual transaction.
The add-on takes into account specific risk factors and
residual maturities.

With regard to exchange-traded derivatives, the
replacement risk vis-a-vis the customer in customer
brokerage business consists of the actual collateral
exchanged (the variation margin for the daily
settlement of profits and losses, and the initial margin
as the collateral to be provided in advance to cover the
loss risk), the fair value, and additional collateral
requirements. To calculate the replacement risk vis-a-
vis stock exchanges, additional potential for changes in
value or add-ons for individual transactions are also
taken into consideration. Where legally enforceable,
netting agreements and collateral agreements are used
at counterparty level for all derivatives in order to
reduce exposure. In the case of repos and securities
lending transactions, haircuts are applied instead of
add-ons. Unsecured money market transactions are
measured at fair value.
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As regards settlement risk, the amount at risk is
deemed to be the amount owed, i.e. the amount

actually due to be paid by the counterparty to the bank.

Settlement risk is recognized for the specified
settlement period. It takes into account the amount
and timing of outstanding cash flows for the purposes
of managing the risk associated with mutual settlement
at some point in the future. These future cash flows
are already factored into the replacement risk through
the fair value measurement and are therefore included
in the risk capital requirement. As a result, settlement
risk does not need to be covered with risk capital in
addition to that for the other types of credit risk
related to trading activities.

Limit system for managing trading exposure

DZ BANK has established an exposure-oriented limit
system to limit the default risk arising from trading
business. Replacement risk is managed via a structure
of limits broken down into maturity bands. Unsecured
money market transactions are subject to separate
limits. A daily limit is set in order to manage settlement
risk. A specific limit related to credit ratings or, in
certain circumstances, a general limit is determined for
each issuer as the basis for managing issuer risk. There
is a separate limit for covered bonds that are subject to
special public supervision in accordance with article

52 (4) of Directive 2009/65/EC. The main

subsidiaries have their own comparable limit systems.

The issuer risk in treasury’s investment book is
restricted by means of portfolio limits in addition
to the individual issuer limits.

Exposure in connection with DZ BANKs trading
business is measured and monitored using a standard
method and a central, IT-supported limit management
system to which all relevant trading systems ate
connected. Furthermore, the trading exposure in the
Bank sector is managed on a decentralized basis at
management unit level.

As in the traditional lending business, appropriate
processes have also been established for the trading
business to provide early warnings and notification
of limit overruns. The member of the Board of
Managing Directors responsible for risk monitoring is
sent a daily list of significant exceeded trading limits.
A monthly report is prepared covering the utilization
of replacement and issuer risk in connection with
trading activities.

Country exposure in the trading business is managed
in the same way as in the traditional lending business
by setting limits for countries at the Bank sector level.

8.4.6 Management of risk concentrations and
correlation risks

Risk concentrations in credit and collateral portfolios

In managing the traditional lending business and its
trading business, DZ BANK takes into account the
correlation between collateral and the borrower
pledging the collateral or between the collateral and
the counterparty whose replacement risk the collateral
is intended to mitigate. If there is a significant positive
correlation between the collateral and the borrower or
the counterparty pledging the collateral, the collateral
is disregarded or accorded a reduced value as collateral.
This situation arises, for example, where a guarantor,
garnishee, or issuer forms a group of connected clients
or a similar economic entity with the borrower or
counterparty.

Wrong-way risk

General wrong-way risk can arise as a result of

DZ BANK’s trading activities. This is defined as

the risk of a positive correlation between the default
probability of a counterparty and the replacement
value (replacement risk exposure) of a (hedging)
transaction entered into with this counterparty because
of a change in the macroeconomic market factors of
the traded underlying instrument (e.g. price changes
for exchange rates).

Specific wrong-way risk can also occur. This is

the risk of a positive correlation between the default
probability of a counterparty and the replacement
value (replacement risk exposure) of a (hedging)
transaction entered into with this counterparty because
of an increase in the default probability of the issuer

of the traded underlying instrument. This type of risk
largely arises in connection with OTC equity and credit
derivatives in which the underlying instrument is a
(reference) security or (reference) issuer.

The measures described below are used to
appropriately monitor these risks and significantly
reduce them. As a result, wrong-way risk, in particular,
is not material at DZ BANK.

Measures to prevent concentration risk and wrong-way risk
In order to prevent unwanted risks that may arise from
the concentration or correlation of collateral in the
trading business or from general wrong-way risk,
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DZ BANK has brought into force a collateral policy
and its own internal ‘minimum requirements for
bilateral reverse repo transactions and securities
lending transactions’.

These requitements are based on the Credit

Support Annex (ISDA Master Agreement) and the
Collateralization Annex (German Master Agreement
for Financial Futures) and stipulate that, in accordance
with the collateral policy, only collateral in the form of
cash (mainly in euros or US dollars), investment-grade
government bonds, and/or Pfandbriefe can be used
for mitigating risks arising from OTC derivatives.
Exceptions to this rule are permitted, mainly for local
cooperative banks, although a very good credit rating
(at least 2B on DZ BANK’s credit rating master scale)
is still required for the relevant securities collateral.
The collateral must also be eligible for use as collateral
at the ECB. High-grade collateral is also required

for repo and securities lending transactions in
compliance with DZ BANK’s own internal minimum
requirements and the generally accepted master
agreements, although the range of collateral is
somewhat broader here than in the case of OTC
derivatives.

Furthermore, the ‘minimum requirements for bilateral
reverse repos and securities lending transactions’
exclude prohibited concentrations and correlations and
specify collateral quality depending on the credit rating
of the counterparties. In addition to daily monitoring
of the relevant rules and regulations, an annual report
is prepared for the Credit Committee that presents the
remaining concentration risk and wrong-way risk.

If material specific wrong-way risk arises in connection
with a bilateral OTC trading transaction, it is taken
into account when the exposure is calculated and the
Credit Committee is notified.

Furthermore, specific wrong-way risk in connection
with credit derivatives in which the counterparty and
underlying instrument form part of the financial sector
is notified to the Credit Committee in a half-yeatly
report.

8.4.7 Mitigating credit risk

Collateral strategy and secured transactions

In accordance with the credit risk strategy, customer
credit quality forms the main basis for any lending
decision; collateral has no bearing on the borrower’s
credit rating. However, depending on the structure of

the transaction, collateral may be of material
significance in the assessment of risk in a transaction.

Collateral in line with the level of risk in medium-term
or long-term financing arrangements is generally
sought. In particulat, recoverable collateral equivalent
to 50 percent of the finance volume is required for
new business with SME customers in rating category
3D or below on the credit rating master scale.

Collateral is used as an appropriate tool for the
management of risk in export finance or structured
trade finance transactions. In the case of project
finance, the financed project itself or the assignment
of the rights in the underlying agreements typically
serve as collateral.

Secured transactions in traditional lending business
encompass commercial lending including financial
guarantee contracts and loan commitments. In order
to protect transactions against default risk, traditional
collateral is obtained, the decision being made on a
case-by-case basis.

Types of collateral

The entities in the Bank sector use all forms of
traditional loan collateral. Specifically, these include
mortgages on residential and commercial real estate,
registered ship and aircraft mortgages, guarantees
(including sureties, credit insurance, and letters of
comfort), financial security (certain fixed-income
securities, shares, and investment fund units), assigned
receivables (blanket and individual assignments of
trade receivables), and physical collateral.

Privileged mortgages, registered ship mortgages,
guarantees, and financial collateral are the main
sources of collateral recognized for regulatory
purposes under the CRR.

In accordance with DZ BANK’s collateral policy, only
cash, investment-grade government bonds, and/or
Pfandbriefe are normally accepted as collateral for
trading transactions required by the collateral
agreements used to mitigate the risk attaching to

OTC derivatives. DZ BANK also enters into netting
agreements to reduce the credit risk arising in
connection with OTC derivatives. The prompt
evaluation of collateral within the agreed margining
period also helps to limit risk.

In order to reduce the issuer risk attaching to bonds
and derivatives, use is made of credit derivatives,
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comprising credit-linked notes, credit default swaps,
and total return swaps. Macro hedges are used
dynamically to mitigate spread risk and migration risk
as well as risks attaching to underlying assets. In
isolated cases, transactions are conducted on a back-
to-back basis. For risk management purposes, the
protection provided by credit derivatives is set against
the reference entity risk, thereby mitigating it. The
main protection providers/counterparties in credit
derivatives are financial institutions, mostly
investment-grade banks in the VR rating classes 1A
to 2C.

Management of traditional loan collateral

Collateral management is the responsibility mainly
of specialist units, generally outside the front-office
divisions. The core tasks of these units include
providing, inspecting, measuring, recording, and
managing collateral and providing advice to all
divisions in related matters.

To a large extent, standardized contracts are used for
the provision of collateral and the associated
declarations. Specialist departments are consulted in
cases where customized collateral agreements are
required. Collateral is managed in separate IT systems.

Collateral is measured in accordance with internal
guidelines and is usually the responsibility of back-
office units. As a minimum, carrying amounts are
normally reviewed annually or on the agreed
submission date for documents relevant to
measurement of the collateral. Shorter monitoring
intervals may be specified for critical lending
exposures. Regardless of the specified intervals,
collateral is tested for impairment without delay if
any indications of impairment become evident.

The workout units are responsible for recovering
collateral. In the case of non-performing loans, it is
possible to depart from the general measurement
guidelines and measure collateral on the basis of its
likely recoverable value and time of recovery. Contrary
to the general collateralization criteria, collateral
involved in restructuring exposures can be measured
using market values or the estimated liquidation
proceeds.

Collateral management

In addition to netting agreements (ISDA Master
Agreement and German Master Agreement for
Financial Futures), collateral agreements (Credit
Support Annex to the ISDA Master Agreement and

Collateralization Annex to the German Master
Agreement for Financial Futures) are entered into as
instruments to reduce credit exposure in OTC
transactions. Under Regulation (EU) No. 648/2012
on OTC derivatives, central counterparties, and trade
repositories (European Market Infrastructure
Regulation, EMIR), it has been mandatory to enter
into collateral agreements for new transactions with
financial counterparties since March 1, 2017.

DZ BANK’s policy on collateral regulates the content
of collateral agreements and the responsibilities and
authorities for implementing the rights and obligations
they confer within the bank. This policy specifies
contractual parameters, such as the quality of collateral,
frequency of transfer, minimum transfer amounts,

and thresholds. DZ BANK regularly uses bilateral
collateral agreements. Exceptions apply to cover assets
and special-purpose entities, as the special legal status
of the counterparties means that only unilateral
collateral agreements can be usefully enforced, and

to supranational or government entities. Any decision
not to use a bilateral collateral agreement for
counterparties not subject to the EMIR rules must

be approved by a person with the relevant authority.

Netting and collateralization generally result in a
significant reduction in the exposure from trading
business. I'T systems are used to measure exposures
and collateral. Margining is carried out on a daily basis
for the vast majority of collateral agreements in
accordance with the collateral policy.

Collateral agreements entered into before March 1, 2017
generally include thresholds and minimum transfer
amounts that are independent of the credit rating,.
There are also some agreements with triggers based on
the credit rating. In these agreements, for example, the
unsecured part of an exposure is reduced in the event
of a ratings downgrade or the borrower is required to
make additional payments (for example, payments
known as ‘independent amounts’). Since the EMIR
collateral agreement obligation came into force, the
regulator has specified these contractual provisions as
standard.

Central counterparties

EMIR has permanently changed the environment in
which banks, insurance companies, and investment
funds conduct OTC derivative transactions. Under
this regulation, market players must report all
exchange-traded and OTC derivatives to central trade
repositoties and use predefined steps to settle certain
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standardized OTC derivatives via central counterparties
(known as clearing houses). Furthermore, risk
mitigation methods have to be used for OTC
derivatives that are not settled centrally through a
clearing house. This is intended to minimize
counterparty risk.

Any market players not exempted from this new
clearing obligation must be connected to a central
counterparty. The market player concerned may be a
direct member of a clearing house or may process its
derivative contracts using a bank that is a member of
a central counterparty.

DZ BANK is a direct member of the London Clearing
House, which is Europe’s largest clearing house for
interest-rate derivatives, and of Eurex Clearing AG.
The bank therefore has direct access to central
counterparties for derivatives for the purposes of
clearing derivative transactions. In the case of credit
derivatives, it also has indirect access to the
Intercontinental Exchange clearing house via clearing
broker Deutsche Bank.

8.4.8 Management of non-performing lending
exposures

Managing and monitoring non-performing exposures
Identified non-performing loans are transferred to

the workout units at an eatly stage. By providing
intensified loan management for critical exposures and
applying tried-and-tested solutions, these special units
lay the basis for securing and optimizing non-
performing risk positions.

In its traditional lending business, DZ BANK has a
comprehensive range of tools at its disposal for the
eatly identification, close support, and high-quality
monitoring of non-performing exposures. The
subportfolio of non-performing loans is reviewed,
updated, and reported on a quarterly basis. The
process is also carried out at shorter intervals if
required. This process is comprehensively supported
by IT systems. Meaningful, prompt internal reporting
focused on target groups is a key component of

this approach. If necessary, the intensified loan
management put in place for individual borrowers

is transferred to task forces specially set up for this
purpose. The risks in subportfolios are monitored
and analyzed by means of regular reports.

Where required, similar procedures have been
implemented in the main subsidiaries, which adapt

them to the characteristics of the risks faced in their
particular business.

Policies and procedures for the recognition of allowances
for losses on loans and advances

The following descriptions apply to DZ BANK. The
main subsidiaties in the Bank sector have implemented
comparable guidelines on the recognition of
allowances for losses on loans and advances adapted
in line with their respective business activities.

The entire transaction is deemed to be ‘past due’ if
interest payments, repayments of principal, or other
receivables are more than 1 day in arrears. A borrower
is classified as in ‘default’ if the borrower is not
expected to meet his/her payment obligations in full
without the need for action such as the recovery of
any available collateral. Regardless of this definition, a
borrower is classified as in default according to CRR
criteria if payments are past due by more than 90 days.

If there is objective evidence that the value of
repayments under loans is impaired, a review is carried
out to establish whether it is likely that the borrower
will not meet his/her contractual obligations in full
and whether a financial loss could be incurred.
Specific loan loss allowances are recognized for the
difference between the carrying amount of the loan or
advance and the net present value of the anticipated
payments (including any proceeds from the recovery
of collateral), if the carrying amount of the loan or
advance is higher than the net present value.

Provisions for loan commitments and liabilities
under financial guarantee contracts are recognized
in an amount equivalent to the difference between the
present value of the potential default amount and the
present value of expected payments, provided that it is
probable the obligation will actually be incurred.

If no specific allowances are recognized for losses on
payments due under loans or if there are no provisions
for loan commitments or liabilities under financial
guarantee contracts, then these transactions are taken
into account in the recognition of the portfolio loan
loss allowance. Portfolio loan loss allowances consist
of the loss allowances for the portfolio of loans and
advances, provisions for loan commitments, and
liabilities under financial guarantee contracts. As soon
as an impairment becomes apparent or a transaction
is identified as requiring a provision or liability, it is
derecognized from the portfolio allowance and
recognized as a specific loan loss allowance. The
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calculation of the portfolio loan loss allowance is
based on the method for the calculation of expected
losses used for regulatory purposes.

In trading units, derivatives business and parts of the
securities and money market business are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Any impairment is
therefore immediately recognized in the income
statement and on the balance sheet, precluding the
need for the recognition of any allowances for losses
on loans and advances. For securities and money
market placements that are recognized at amortized
cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, impairment losses are determined using the
same procedure as that for loans.

BSH recognizes specific loan loss allowances
evaluated on a group basis for its retail business.
These specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a
group basis are based on cash flows from credit
porttfolios with the same risk characteristics analyzed
using migration scenarios and probabilities of default.

Non-performing loans

The entities in the Bank sector classify a loan as non-
performing if it has been rated between 5A and 5E
on the VR master scale. This corresponds to the
definition of default specified by the CRR. Non-
petrforming loans are also referred to by the
abbreviation NPLs.

The following key figures are used to manage non-
petrforming loans:

— Loan loss allowance ratio (balance of allowances
for losses on loans and advances as a proportion
of total lending volume)

— Risk cover ratio (balance of allowances for losses
on loans and advances as a proportion of the
volume of non-performing loans)

— NPL ratio (volume of non-performing loans as a
proportion of total lending volume).

The balance of allowances for losses on loans and
advances is calculated as the total of specific loan loss
allowances (including specific loan loss allowances
evaluated on a group basis), portfolio loan loss
allowances, provisions for loan commitments, and
liabilities under financial guarantee contracts.

8.4.9 Credit-portfolio management
In risk-related credit-portfolio management, a
distinction is made between the expected loss and

unexpected loss arising from the credit portfolio as a
whole. The calculation of an expected loss for each
individual transaction prevents a creeping erosion of
equity. Most of the management units determine the
standard risk costs necessary for this calculation. These
costs vary according to credit rating.

Credit portfolio models are also used together with
value-at-risk methods to quantify unexpected losses
that may arise from the credit portfolios of
management units. Credit value-at-risk reduced by the
expected loss describes the risk of unexpected losses
arising should a default or migration event occur in the
credit portfolio. The measurement includes default risk
from both lending and trading businesses.

The credit portfolio in the Bank sector is managed by
limiting the credit value-at-risk to the upper loss limit
set for credit risk.

8.5 Specific risk factors

Key values used in determining the credit risk include
the lending volume, concentrations in terms of
counterparties, sectors, countries, and maturities, and
the credit quality structure of the credit portfolio.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management
in the Bank sector, the lending volume is broken down
by credit-risk-bearing instrument — traditional lending,
securities business, and derivatives and money market
business. This breakdown corresponds to the risk
classes required for the external reporting of risks
arising from financial instruments. The credit-risk-
bearing instruments are classified by sector, country
group, credit rating, and term to maturity so that
volume concentrations can be identified.

Particularly in the case of an accumulation of
exposures that have longer terms to maturity and a
non-investment-grade rating, there is a danger that
the credit risk will materialize, causing losses with a
negative impact on the financial performance and
financial position of the DZ BANK Group or

DZ BANK.

8.6 Lending volume

8.6.1 Reconciliation of lending volume to the
consolidated financial statements

Fig. 24 shows a reconciliation of the gross lending
volume on which the risk management is based to
individual balance sheet items in order to provide a
transparent illustration of the link between the
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consolidated financial statements and risk management.

There are discrepancies between the internal
management and external consolidated financial
reporting measurements for some products owing to
the focus on the risk content of the items. The other
main reasons for the discrepancies between the
internal management figures and those in the external
consolidated financial statements atre differences in the
scope of consolidation and differences in recognition
and measurement methods.

Differences in the scope of consolidation result from
the fact that, in internal credit risk management,

only the entities in the Bank sector that contribute
significantly to the overall risk of the sector are
included.

The discrepancy in the securities business is mainly
due to the variations in carrying amounts that arise
because credit derivatives are offset against the issuer
risk attaching to the underlying transaction in the
internal management accounts, whereas such
derivatives are recognized at their fair value as financial
assets or financial liabilities held for trading in the
consolidated financial statements.

Measurement differences in derivatives business and
money market business are mainly because
countervailing positions are offset for the purposes of
risk management, whereas positions must not be
netted in this way in the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, add-ons are attached to the
current fair values of detivative positions in the
internal management accounts to take account of
potential future changes in their fair value. By contrast,
the external (consolidated) financial statements focus
exclusively on the fair values determined on the
valuation date, and, unlike in the internal accounts,
collateral must not be recognized for risk mitigation
purposes.

In money market business, further discrepancies
arise between the consolidated financial statements
and internal credit risk reports due to the method in
which repo transactions are recognized. In contrast to
the consolidated financial statements, securities
provided or received as collateral are offset against the
corresponding assets or liabilities for the purposes of
the internal management accounts.

8.6.2 Change in lending volume
The total lending volume of the Bank sector
decreased by 3 percent overall in the year under

review, from €387.7 billion as at December 31, 2016
to €375.2 billion as at December 31, 2017. This was
mainly because of a decline of 15 percent in the
lending volume in the securities business, from
€95.5 billion as at December 31, 2016 to €81.1 billion
as at December 31, 2017. This decrease arose primarily
at DZ BANK. The lending volume in the derivatives
and money market business was also down year

on year, in this case by 13 percent from €16.3 billion
as at December 31, 2016 to €14.2 billion as at
December 31, 2017. Most of this change was
accounted for by DZ BANK. In contrast, there

was a slight increase in the Bank sector’s volume

of traditional lending business, which rose

from €275.8 billion as at December 31, 2016 to
€279.8 billion at the end of 2017, a gain of 1 percent.

At DZ BANK, the total lending volume went
down by 4 percent, from €205.8 billion as at
December 31, 2016 to €197.2 billion as at

December 31, 2017. This contraction was principally
attributable to the securities business (€43.0 billion
as at December 31, 2017, compared with €54.5 billion
at the end of 2016), which was notably affected by a
fall in public-sector bond exposures. Derivatives and
money market business at DZ BANK also declined
to €13.1 billion as at December 31, 2017 compared
with the December 31, 2016 figure of €15.1 billion.
On the other hand, the volume in the traditional
lending business advanced by 4 percent, from
€136.1 billion at the end of 2016 to €141.1 billion as at
December 31, 2017.

8.6.3 Collateral called in

Given the efficiency of the workout process in the
Bank sector, the role played by calling in collateral
during the course of workout procedures for non-
performing borrowers was as negligible in 2017 as it
had been in 2016. The collateral called in by the
entities in the Bank sector amounted to €13 million
as at December 31, 2017, which was unchanged year
on year.

8.6.4 Sector structure of the credit portfolio

Fig. 25 shows the breakdown of the credit portfolio by
sector, in which the lending volume is classified
according to the industry codes used by Deutsche
Bundesbank. This also applies to the other sector
breakdowns related to credit risk in this opportunity
and risk report.



118

DZ BANK

2017 Annual Report

Group management report

Combined opportunity and risk report

FIG. 24 - BANK SECTOR: RECONCILIATION OF THE LENDING VOLUME

€hillion Reconciliation
Lending volume for Carrying amount and
internal management accounts Scope of consolidation measurement
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec 31,  Dec31, Dec. 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
80.6 795
806 79.5
Traditional lending 2798 2758 19 18 102 188 2018 1708 2929 1731
business I ————
173.6 1755
-2.8 -2.4
40.5 403
64.0 712
89 93
Securities business 811 95.5 3 -17.2 -184 64.0 772
0.8 0.9
543 67.0
-1.6 -39
1.1 5
Derivatives business 127 137 3 -144 -17.5 -16 171 -39 23.6
30 -3.9
-16.8 -251
51.6 436
399 27.7
08
Money market business 15 26 - 50.1 374 51.6 436
0.2 0.2
10.3 14.2
0.4 0.4
Tota 3752 3877 20 18 288 203 4059 4098
Balance as at Dec. 31, 2017 307 82 %
Balance as at Dec. 31, 2016 221 5.7 %

Not relevant

As at December 31, 2017, a significant proportion

(35 percent) of the lending volume in the Bank sector
continued to be concentrated in the financial sector
(December 31, 2016: 33 percent). In addition to the
local cooperative banks, the borrowers in this
customer segment comprised banks from other parts
of the banking industry and other financial institutions.

As at December 31, 2017, a significant proportion
(59 percent) of DZ BANK’s lending volume was also

concentrated in the financial sector (December 31, 2016:

55 percent). The composition of this customer
segment is the same both at DZ BANK and in the
Bank sector. Loans and advances to public-sector
borrowers declined by €7.2 billion year on year, with
a particularly large decrease in Germany.

In its role as a central institution for the Volksbanken
Raiffeisenbanken cooperative financial network,

DZ BANK provides funding for the entities in the
Bank sector and for the cooperative banks. For this
reason, the cooperative banks account for one of the
largest receivables items in the DZ BANK Group’s
credit portfolio. DZ BANK also supports the
cooperative banks in the provision of larger-scale
funding to corporate customers.

The resulting syndicated business, DZ BANK,

DG HYP and DVB’s direct business with corporate
customers in Germany and abroad, the retail
real-estate business under the umbrella of BSH,
TeamBank’s consumer finance business, and

WL BANKs real estate lending and local authority
loans businesses determine the sectoral breakdown
of the remainder of the portfolio.
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Lending volume for the consolidated financial statements Note
Loans and advances to banks

of which: loans and advances to banks excluding money market placements 50
of which: allowances for losses on loans and advances to banks 52
Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers excduding money market placements 51
of which: allowances for losses on loans and advances to customers 52
Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 87
Bonds and other securities

of which: financial assets held for tradingbonds excluding money market placements 54
of which: financial assets held for trading/promissory notes, registered bonds, and loans and advances 54
of which: investments/bonds exduding money market placements 55
Derivatives

of which: derivatives used for hedging (positive fair values) 53
of which: financial assets held for trading/derivatives (positive fair values) 54
of which: derivatives used for hedging (negative fair values) 65
of which: financial liabilities held for trading/derivatives (negative fair values) 66
Money market placements

of which: loans and advances to banksimoney market placements 50
of which: loans and advances to customers/money market placements 51
of which: financial assets held for trading/money market instruments 54
of which: financial assets held for tradingmoney market placements 54
of which: investments/money market instruments 55

Total

8.6.5 Geographical structure of the credit
portfolio

Fig. 26 shows the geographical distribution of the
credit portfolio by country group. The lending volume
is assigned to the individual country groups using the
International Monetary Fund’s breakdown, which is
updated annually. This also applies to the other
country-group breakdowns related to credit risk in this
opportunity and risk report.

FIG. 25 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY SECTOR

As at December 31, 2017, 96 percent of the lending in
the Bank sector (December 31, 2016: 95 percent) and
likewise 96 percent of the total lending by DZ BANK
(unchanged on the figure as at December 31, 2016)
was concentrated in Germany and other industrialized
countries.

Traditional lending

business

Dec.31, Dec. 31,
€ billion 2017 2016
Financial sector 94.5 887
Public sector 10.4 11.1
Corporates 104.5 1104
Retail 62.9 586
Industry conglomerates 7.0 6.5
Other 0.5 0.5

Total 279.8 275.8

Derivatives and money

Securities business market business Total
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
26.1 282 109 11.5 131.6 1284
432 545 05 1.0 54.2 66.6
7.7 86 23 29 114.4 122.0
24 28 e - 65.3 61.4
16 1.4 05 09 92 88
e - e - 05 05
811 95.5 14.2 16.3 375.2 387.7
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FIG. 26 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Traditional lending

Derivatives and money

business Securities business market business Total

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ billion 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Germany 2436 2329 506 60.3 89 10.7 303.1 303.8
Other industrialized countries 252 295 272 31.3 a7 5.1 57.2 65.8
Advanced economies 29 35 0.6 05 0.1 0.1 36 4.1
Emerging markets 8.1 9.9 09 0.8 0.2 0.1 9.1 10.9
Supranational institutions 1 1.9 27 03 04 22 30
Total 279.8 275.8 81.1 95.5 14.2 16.3 375.2 387.7

8.6.6 Residual maturity structure of the credit
portfolio

Residual maturities in the overall credit portfolio

The breakdown of the credit portfolio by residual
maturity presented in Fig. 27 for the Bank sector as
at December 31, 2017 shows that the lending volume
had decreased by €3.0 billion in the short-term
maturity band compared with December 31, 2016,
which was largely attributable to the ending of
transactions at DVB and to maturities of German
public-sector bonds held by DG HYP. The decrease
in the medium-term maturity band amounted to
€11.8 billion and was mainly accounted for by

DZ BANK. By contrast, the lending volume in the
longer-term maturity band went up by a total of
€2.4 billion, primarily attributable to BSH.

Lending volume past due but not impaired
Fig. 28 and Fig. 29 show the portion of the lending
volume that is past due but not impaired. The

disclosures largely relate to traditional lending business.

No valuation allowances ate recognized for these loans
because it can generally be assumed that the amounts
past due will be repaid promptly. Recoverable
collateral is also available. Because of the conservative
risk provisioning policy of the entities in the Bank
sector, past-due loans only account for a relatively
small proportion of the overall credit portfolio.

In the Bank sector, the fall in loans in the

corporates sector that were past due but not impaired,
which went down from €1,134 million as at
December 31, 2016 to €338 million as at

December 31, 2017, was largely attributable to DVB’s
shipping and offshore businesses. Most of the loans in
this category were past due by more than 3 months

and corresponding specific loan loss allowances have
now been recognized. The past-due loans in arrears
by more than 3 months amounting to €207 million

(December 31, 2016: €812 million) were predominantly
loans secured by mortgages.

At DZ BANK, the volume of loans that were past

due but not impaired went up slightly from €61 million
as at December 31, 2016 to €86 million as at
December 31, 2017.

8.6.7 Rating structure of the credit portfolio

Rating structure of the total lending volume

Fig. 30 shows the Bank sector’s consolidated lending
volume by rating class according to the VR credit
rating master scale.

In the Bank sector, the proportion of the total
lending volume accounted for by rating classes 1A

to 3A (investment grade) as at December 31, 2017
was unchanged year on year at 78 percent. Rating
classes 3B to 4E (non-investment grade) represented
20 percent of the total lending volume as at the
reporting date, which was also unchanged compared
with the end of 2016. Defaults in rating classes 5A to
5E accounted for 2 percent of the Bank sectot’s total
lending volume as at December 31, 2017, remaining
at a low level similar to that at the end of 2016

(1 percent).

Rating classes 1A to 3A (investment grade) also
dominated lending at DZ BANK, where they
accounted for 88 percent of the total lending volume
(December 31, 2016: 89 percent). Rating classes 3B to
4E (non-investment grade) represented 10 percent of
the total lending volume as at the reporting date,
which was unchanged compared with the end of 2016.
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FIG. 27 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY RESIDUAL MATURITY

Traditional lending Derivatives and money
business Securities business market business Total
Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31,
€ billion 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
= 1year 494 499 136 15.0 9.8 11.0 728 759
> 1year to= 5 years 531 55.2 291 385 1.8 2.1 84.0 958
> 5 years 177.3 170.7 384 421 27 33 2184 216.0
Total 279.8 275.8 81.1 95.5 14.2 16.3 375.2 387.7
FIG. 28 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED, BY SECTOR
Past due Past due Past due
Past due > 5 days = 1 month = 2 months Past due
up to 5 days to 1 month to 2 months to 3 months > 3 months Total
Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Financial sector 25 13 1 1 3 . 1 . 1 - 28 14
Public sector 1 - 1 - 1 . 1 1 1
Corporates 44 18 94 301 65 127 68 67 684 338 1,134
Retail 34 37 141 123 65 63 37 38 140 128 417 388
Industry conglomerates 2 9 1 - 1 . 1 1 2 9
Other - - - - - - - - -
Total 105 76 236 425 133 190 105 42 207 812 785 1,545
FIG. 29 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME PAST DUE BUT NOT IMPAIRED, BY COUNTRY GROUP
Past due Past due Past due
Past due > 5 days = 1 month = 2 months Past due
up to 5 days to 1 month to 2 months to 3 months > 3 months Total
Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Germany oy 64 145 201 72 91 43 42 171 188 508 585
Other industrialized
countries 25 10 89 224 52 1 59 1 34 175 259 410
Advanced economies 1 3 1 . 1 29 1 1 217 1 248
Emerging markets 3 . 1 . 8 69 3 2 233 17 302
Supranational institutions 1 . 1 . 1 . 1 1 1
Total 105 76 236 425 133 190 105 42 207 812 785 1,545
Defaults (rating classes 5A to 5E) accounted for borrowers domiciled in Germany with an upper

1 percent of the total lending volume as at investment-grade rating.
December 31, 2017, which was again largely

unchanged year on year.

Investment-grade lending volume

Fig. 31 and Fig. 32 show the lending volume that is

Single borrower concentrations

neither impaired nor past due, i.e. the investment-

As at December 31, 2017, the 10 counterparties grade proportion of the total credit portfolio.
associated with the largest lending volumes accounted

for 8 percent of total lending in the Bank sector In the Bank sector, the proportion of the total
(December 31, 2016: 9 petrcent). The equivalent lending volume represented by this portfolio as at

proportion for DZ BANK was 8 percent
(December 31, 2016: 9 percent). These counterparties ~ December 31, 2016.
largely comprised financial-sector and public-sector

December 31, 2017 was 98 percent, unchanged on
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FIG. 30 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME, BY RATING CLASS

Traditional lending

Derivatives and money

business Securities business market business Total

€ billion Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec.31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
1A 6.3 6.1 301 384 1.0 14 374 459

1B 20 25 8.1 10.1 1.6 1.9 11.8 145

1C 87.7 825 86 9.2 3.6 43 99.9 96.0

% 1D 5.1 48 22 2.4 0.2 0.2 7.5 7.5
o 1E 79 7.0 19 2.2 1.8 1.9 11.5 111
E‘: 2A 123 12.7 3.2 25 0.9 0.7 16.5 16.0
*%‘ 2B 114 1.7 101 104 1.7 1.9 232 24.0
E 2C 143 145 25 48 0.6 0.9 17.4 202
2D 15.0 15.6 34 25 0.5 0.7 19.0 18.8

2E 18.7 214 5.1 7.2 0.9 1.0 248 296

3A 201 17.3 1.8 14 0.6 0.7 225 193

3B 19.9 17.5 14 0.6 0.2 0.2 215 183

o 3C 17.8 16.4 0.3 1.3 0.1 0.1 18.2 17.8
g 3D 139 139 0.5 0.8 0.1 0.1 145 14.8
E 3E 45 46 0.6 0.2 s = 5.2 49
E 44 25 2.3 0.0 0.1 s = 26 2.4
fé' 4B 53 7.2 0.0 0.2 s = 53 7.4
Z AC 35 6.2 0.1 0.1 & = 35 6.3
2 4D 0.7 0.6 ] s = 0.7 0.6
AE 3.0 3.8 0.1 0.1 s = 31 39
Default 6.0 56 0.2 0.2 s = 6.2 58
Mot rated 20 1.7 0.8 0.8 0.3 04 31 2.8
Total 279.8 275.8 81.1 95.5 14.2 16.3 375.2 387.7

FIG. 31 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME NEITHER IMPAIRED NOR
PAST DUE, BY SECTOR

FIG. 32 - BANK SECTOR: LENDING VOLUME NEITHER IMPAIRED NOR
PAST DUE, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Portfolio neither

Portfolio neither

Total portfolio impaired nor past due Total portfelio  impaired nor past due
Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ billion 2017 2016 2017 2016 € billion 2017 2016 2017 2016
Financial sector 131.6 1284 1315 1283  Germany 303.1 303.8 300.2 300.7
Public sector 54.2 66.6 54.2 66.6  Other '|_ndust|"|a|'|zed
Corporates 1144 1220 109.8 1173 countries 57.2 i 5.1 64.2
Retail 653 614 64.0 60.2 Advanced economies 36 4.1 32 37
Industry Emerging markets 9.1 10.9 8.4 10.1
conglomerates 92 88 9.2 88 _Sup_ran@tional
Other 05 05 05 05 institutions 22 3.0 22 3.0
Total ﬁ 387.7 W 381.7 Total 375.2 387.7 369.1 381.7

The situation was similar at DZ BANK where the
proportion of the total lending volume with an
investment-grade rating was unchanged year on year
at 99 percent as at December 31, 2017.

As in previous years, the large proportion of
investment-grade business is attributable to the risk-
conscious lending policy pursued by the entities in
the Bank sector.

8.6.8 Collateralized lending volume

Fig. 33 shows the breakdown of the collateralized
lending volume at overall portfolio level by type of
collateral and class of risk-bearing instrument. In the
case of traditional lending business, figures are
generally reported before the application of any
offsetting agreements, whereas the collateralized
exposure in the securities business and derivatives
and money market business is shown net.
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As at December 31, 2017, the collateralized lending
volume in the Bank sector had declined marginally

to €116.1 billion from €116.2 billion as at

December 31, 2016. The collateralization rate was

30.9 percent at the reporting date (December 31, 2016:
30.0 percent).

In the Bank sector’s traditional lending business,

most of the collateralized lending volume — 85 percent
as at December 31, 2017 — remained accounted for by
lending secured by charges over physical assets such as

land charges, mortgages, and registered ship mortgages.

These types of collateral are particularly important for
BSH, DG HYP, DVB, and WIL. BANK. In contrast,
charges over physical assets are of lesser importance

at DZ BANK because DZ BANK bases its lending

decisions primarily on borrower credit quality.

In securities transactions, there is generally no
further collateralization to supplement the hedging
activities already taken into account. Equally, in the
derivatives and money market business, collateral
received under collateral agreements is already factored
into the calculation of gross lending volume with the
result that only a comparatively low level of collateral
(personal and financial collateral) is then additionally
reported.

At €12.3 billion, DZ BANK’s collateralized lending
volume at December 31, 2017 was marginally down
yeat on year (December 31, 2016: €12.4 billion). The
collateralization rate of 6 percent at the reporting date
was the same as it had been a year earlier.

In terms of traditional collateral, securities
transactions are generally concluded on an unsecured
basis. A low level of personal collateral (guarantees and
indemnity agreements) and financial collateral is used
to mitigate risk in derivatives and money market
business.

8.6.9 Securitizations

The asset-backed securities (ABS) portfolio in the
Bank sector is predominantly held by DZ BANK and
DG HYP. This portfolio at Bank sector level had a
fair value of €2,796 million as at the reporting date
(December 31, 2016: €3,430 million). The fair value
for DZ BANK as at December 31, 2017 came to
€2,048 million (December 31, 2016: €2,013 million).

These figures included the ABS wind-down portfolio
from the period before the financial crisis with a

fair value of €1,854 million (December 31, 2016:
€2,474 million) at Bank sector level and

€1,106 million (December 31, 2016: €1,182 million) in
respect of DZ BANK. The changes in the wind-down
portfolio in 2017 were largely within expectations,
both in terms of the contraction of the portfolio as

a result of redemptions and in terms of the overall
performance of the portfolio.

In addition, DZ BANK acts as a sponsor in ABCP
programs that are funded by issuing money market-
linked ABCP or liquidity lines. The ABCP programs
are made available for DZ BANK customers who then
securitize their own assets via these companies.

As at December 31, 2017, the fair value of the
securitization exposures arising from DZ BANK’s
activities in which it acts as a sponsor amounted to
€1,022 million (December 31 2016: €996 million).
The year-on-year increase in the exposures was largely
due to fluctuations in the drawdown of liquidity lines.

8.7 Credit portfolios with increased risk content
The following disclosures relating to exposures in
subportfolios also form part of the above analyses
of the entire credit portfolio. However, these
subportfolios have been analyzed separately because
of their significance for the risk position.

8.7.1 European sovereign debt portfolio

As at December 31, 2017, loans and advances to
borrowers in the countries directly affected by the
European sovereign debt crisis attributable to

the Bank sector and to DZ BANK amounted to
€7,982 million (December 31, 2016: €8,721 million)
and €2,302 million (December 31, 2016: €2,670 million)
respectively.

Fig. 34 shows the borrower structures of the entities
in the Bank sector for the eurozone periphery
countries by credit-risk-beating instrument.
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FIG. 33 - BANK SECTOR: COLLATERALIZED LENDING VOLUME, BY TYPE OF COLLATERAL

Traditional lending Derivatives and money
business Securities business market business Total
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Guarantees, indemnities, risk
subparticipation (€ billion) 6.7 7.0 - - 0.2 0.3 6.9 7.3
Credit insurance (£ billion) 31 3.1 - - - - 31 3.1
Land charges, mortgages, ship
mortgages (€ billion) a8.7 98.0 - - - - 988 98.0
Pledged loans and advances,
assignments, other pledged assets
(€ billion) 53 58 e - e - 54 58
Financial collateral (€ billion) 1.4 1.5 - - 0.2 0.1 16 1.6
Other collateral (£ billion) 03 04 - - - - 03 04
Collateralized lending | )
volume (€ billion) . 115.6 115.7 . . 0.5 0.5 116.1 116.2
Gross lending volume (€ billion) 2798 2758 811 955 14.2 16.3 375.2 387.7
Uncollateralized lending
volume (€ billion) 164.2 160.1 811 95.5 13.7 15.8 259.1 2715
Collateralization rate (%) 41.3 41.9 - - 3.4 3.0 30.9 30.0
FIG. 34 - BANK SECTOR: LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BORROWERS IN EUROZONE PERIPHERY COUNTRIES
Traditional Derivatives and money
lending business? Securities business market business Total
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Portugal 80 117 1,035 1,017 - - 1,115 1,134
of which: public sector 1 ol 919 894 1 ol 919 894
of which: non-public sector 80 117 116 122 1 ol 196 240
of which: financial sector 1 25 1 3 1 ol 1 28
Italy 158 190 3,158 3,463 19 15 3,336 3,673
of which: public sector - - 2,809 2,920 - - 2,809 2,920
of which: non-public sector 158 190 349 548 19 15 526 753
of which: financial sector 32 33 121 144 19 14 172 192
Greece 20 13 13 - - - 33 13
of which: public sector 1 ol 1 ol 1 ol 1 -
of which: non-public sector 20 13 13 ol 1 ol 33 13
of which: financial sector 1 ol 1 ol 1 ol 1 -
Spain 232 319 3,200 3,555 67 26 3,499 3,901
of which: public sector 19 26 2,094 2,132 - - 2,113 2,158
of which: non-public sector 212 293 1,106 1,423 67 26 1,386 1,742
of which: financial sector 31 39 380 575 65 21 a77 636
Total 490 639 7,406 8,040 87 41 7,982 8,721
of which: public sector 19 26 5,821 5,947 - - 5,841 5,973
of which: non-public sector 470 613 1,584 2,093 87 41 2,141 2,748
of which: financial sector 63 98 502 722 84 36 649 855

1 Unlike the other presentations of lending volume, traditional lending business in this case includes long-term equity investments.



DZ BANK

2017 Annual Report

Group management report

Combined opportunity and risk report

125

8.7.2 Shipping finance and offshore finance
portfolio

Against the backdrop of the crisis in shipping and
offshore markets in the year under review, the
disclosures presented in this report have been
extended in comparison with the 2016 opportunity
and risk report. In addition to shipping finance,
offshore finance is now shown as a separate segment.

Business background

Within the DZ BANK Group’s Bank sector, the
shipping finance business is mainly operated by DVB.
DZ BANK also has shipping finance in its credit
portfolio, but the proportion is significantly lower than
at DVB. DVB is also involved in offshore finance
business.

At DVB, the criteria for granting shipping loans
include the credit standing of the ship owner and
operator, the quality and recoverability of the shipping
asset itself, the cash flow that the borrower can
generate with the ship concerned to repay the debt,
and the extent to which the ship involved can be
remarketed. DVB generally only enters into shipping
finance arrangements for which the financed ship can
be used as collateral.

DVB’s offshore credit portfolio consists of various
financing arrangements with broad links to the
shipping sector. The portfolio includes finance for
drilling platforms, drill ships, offshore construction
ships, and supply ships for oil platforms.

DVB initiated vatious corrective measures in response
to the crisis. For example, the lending policy for
shipping finance was considerably tightened, the
impact of which was to reduce new business activity
to a low level, well below budget. In addition, DVB
no longer takes on any new business in the offshore
segment. Existing finance is to be scaled back,

preserving as much value as possible. In view of the
tough market conditions, strategic options are being
reviewed in relation to DVB.

DZ BANK offers shipping finance as part of its joint
credit business with the local cooperative banks.
Shipping finance in the narrow sense refers to capital
investment in mobile assets involving projects that are
separately defined, both legally and in substance, in
which the borrower is typically a special-purpose entity
whose sole business purpose is the construction and
operation of ships. In such arrangements, the debt is
serviced from the cash flows generated by the ship.
The assessment of the credit risk is therefore based
not only on the recoverability of the asset, but also in
particular on the capability of the ship to generate
earnings.

To reduce risk, the finance must normally be secured
by a first mortgage on the vessel and the assignment
of insurance claims and proceeds. A distinction is
made between shipping finance in the narrow sense
and finance provided for shipyards and shipping
companies. The following disclosures for DZ BANK
relate solely to shipping finance in the narrow sense.

At DVB and DZ BANK, the lending volume
associated with shipping finance comprises loans and
advances to customers, guarantees and indemnities,
irrevocable loan commitments, secutities, and
derivatives.

Shipping finance lending volume

As at December 31, 2017, the Bank sector’s shipping
finance portfolio had a value of €10,180 million
(December 31, 2016: €12,763 million). The breakdown
of the shipping finance portfolio by country group is
set out in Fig. 35.

FIG. 35 - BANK SECTOR: SHIPPING FINANCE LENDING VOLUME, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Traditional lending

business Securities business Derivatives business Total

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Germany 1,421 1,504 e - 3 3 1,424 1,507
Other industrialized countries 6,122 7,453 - - 1 5 6,124 7,458
Advanced economies 1,336 1,907 - - - 1,336 1,907
Emerging markets 1,294 1,885 e 2 5 1,296 1,890
Tota 10,174 12,749 6 14 10,180 12,763
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As at December 31, 2017, DVB?’s shipping finance
portfolio comprised finance provided for 1,427 vessels
and 0.3 million containers (December 31, 2016: 1,328
vessels and 0.5 million containers). The average
exposure as at the reporting date was €32 million
(December 31, 2016: €40 million) and the largest
single exposure was €189 million (December 31, 2016:
€237 million).

DVB’s exposure fell significantly from €11,948 million
as at December 31, 2016 to €9,523 million as at
December 31 2017. As at the reporting date, the
shipping finance portfolio was broadly diversified in
terms of geographical region, type of vessel, borrower,
charterer, and shipping activity. The largest proportion
of the volume lent was attributable to the financing of
tankers. As at December 31, 2017, this proportion had
risen slightly by 0.8 percentage points to 48.8 percent
of DVB’s total volume of shipping finance. This
relative increase related mainly to the product tanker
segment (and to a very small extent, the gas tanker
segment) of the shipping market, whereas the
proportion of the portfolio attributable to crude oil
tankers and chemical tankers declined. The portfolio
was almost fully collateralized in compliance with

DVB strategy.

The ongoing overcapacity in some shipping sectors
continued to be the source of downward pressure on
ship asset values and charter rates. A further overall
rise in default rates was evident in the shipping
industry because liquidity reserves have been
exhausted.

DZ BANK’s shipping finance exposures amounted
to €657 million as at December 31, 2017

(December 31, 2016: €815 million). Broken down by
type of ship, the portfolio was focused mainly on

multifunctional merchant vessels and, in terms of
carrying capacity, comptised almost exclusively small-
to medium-sized vessels. As in 2016, DZ BANK’s
shipping finance portfolio in 2017 was mainly
concentrated in Germany but broadly diversified by
type of vessel, borrower, charterer, and shipping
activity.

Offshore finance lending volume

As at December 31, 2017, the Bank sector’s lending
volume in the offshore finance business attributable
exclusively to DVB amounted to €1,767 million
(December 31, 2016: €2,358 million). Fig. 36 shows
the breakdown of the offshore finance portfolio by
countty group.

8.8 Non-performing lending volume

8.8.1 Impaired lending volume

Fig. 37 and Fig. 38 show the impaired lending volume.
The collateral shown is available for securing the
lending volume after specific loan loss allowances. The
disclosures largely relate to traditional lending business.

In the Bank sector, the lending volume after loan
loss allowances rose slightly from €2,622 million as
at December 31, 2016 to €3,030 million as at
December 31, 2017.

At DZ BANK; the lending volume after specific
loan loss allowances rose from €835 million as

at December 31, 2016 to €894 million as at
December 31, 2017. This increase was almost
entirely the result of a higher volume of impaired
loans to corporates.

FIG. 36 - BANK SECTOR: OFFSHORE FINANCE LENDING VOLUME, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Traditional lending

business Securities business Derivatives business Total

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Germany 60 35 e - 3 - 60 35
Other industrialized countries 1,041 1,360 - - - 3 1,041 1,364
Advanced economies 9 91 1 . 1 - 9 91
Emerging markets 570 866 e - 3 2 570 868
Tota 1,766 2,352 5 1,767 2,358
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FIG. 37 - BANK SECTOR: IMPAIRED LENDING VOLUME AND COLLATERAL, BY SECTOR

Amount before
specificloan loss Specific loan loss Amount after specific
allowances allowances loan loss allowances Collateral

Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Financial sector 54 81 26 41 28 A0 21 31
Public sector — - — . — - — -
Corporates 4,327 3,517 1,837 1,436 2,490 2,081 1,845 1,237
Retail 923 859 411 358 512 501 496 491
Industry conglomerates — 2 — 1 — 1 — -
Other - - - - - - - -
Total 5,304 4,458 2,274 1,836 3,030 2,622 2,361 1,758
FIG. 38 - BANK SECTOR: IMPAIRED LENDING VOLUME AND COLLATERAL, BY COUNTRY GROUP

Amount before

specific loan loss Specific loan loss Amount after specific

allowances allowances loan loss allowances Collateral
Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31,

€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Germany 2,403 2,521 1,131 1,221 1,272 1,300 937 913
Other industrialized countries 1,900 1,226 656 365 1,244 861 910 459
Advanced economies 370 219 268 132 102 87 165 101
Emerging markets 630 492 219 118 411 374 350 285
Supranational institutions 1 - 1 . 1 - 1 -
Total 5,304 4,458 2,274 1,836 3,030 2,622 2,361 1,758

8.8.2 Volume of non-performing loans

The rise in the volume of non-performing loans PERFORMING LOANS

FIG. 39 - BANK SECTOR: KEY FIGURES FOR THE VOLUME OF NON-

reported for the Bank sector from €5.8 billion to

€6.2 billi K . X ith the d in th Bank sector DZ BANK
. 1 O.I'l m COfl]uflCthfl with the . (?crease in the Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31,
total lending volume from €387.7 billion to €billion 2017 2016 2017 2016
€375.2 billion caused the NPL ratio to go up year Total lending volume (€ billion) 375.2 387.7 197.2 2058
Volume of non-performing
on year to 1.7 percent at the end of 2017 loans (€ billion): - . - .
(December 31, 2016: 1.5 percent). Balance of allowances for losses
on loans and advances 31
X . (€ billion)2 i 27 1.3 1.3
At DZ BANK, there was a marginal fall in the volume | 0.0 iiowance ratio (96)2 08 07 06 06
of non—performing loans, which declined from Risk cover ratio (%)* 50.1 47.0 591 57.4
€2.3 billion as at December 31, 2016 to €2.2 billion as NPL ratio (%) 17 15 11 1.1

at the 2017 balance sheet date. As this change was
accompanied by a contraction in the overall lending
volume from €205.8 billion to €197.2 billion, the NPL
ratio remained at the prior-year level of 1.1 percent.

1 Volume of non-performing loans excluding collateral.

under financial guarantee contracts.

volume.

2 Total of specific loan loss allowances (including specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a
group basis), portfolio loan loss allowances, provisions for loan commitments, and liabilities

3 Balance of allowances for losses on loans and advances as a proportion of total lending

4 Balance of allowances for losses on loans and advances as a proportion of the volume of non-

performing loans.
Fig. 39 shows key figures relating to the volume of
non-performing loans.

5 Volume of non-performing loans as a proportion of total lending volume.
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8.9 Allowances for losses on loans and advances
The disclosures in this section relate to the level of
allowances for losses on loans and advances. Details
of allowances for losses on loans and advances in the
income statement are presented in sections 3.1 and 3.2
of the business report in this group management
repott.

8.9.1 Allowances for losses on loans and advances
in the total portfolio

Fig 40 and Fig. 41 show the change in the volume of
allowances (specific loan loss allowances, including
the specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a group
basis, and portfolio loan loss allowances), the
provisions for loan commitments, and liabilities under
financial guarantee contracts in 2017 and 2016 for

the entire credit portfolio of the Bank sector and

DZ BANK.

These items are disclosed for the Bank sector in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements
as follows:

— Loan loss allowances: note 52 (allowances for
losses on loans and advances)

— Provisions for loan commitments: note 67
(provisions)

— Liabilities under financial guarantee contracts:
note 69 (other liabilities).

Over the course of the reporting period, the volume
of specific loan loss allowances in the Bank sector
rose by €438 million. This increase was primarily
attributable to DVB’s shipping and offshore
businesses. The volume of specific loan loss
allowances at DZ BANK rose by €27 million in

the year under review to €813 million. As at
December 31, 2016, there had been a year-on-year
increase in the volume of specific loan loss allowances
of €229 million in the Bank sector and €39 million at
DZ BANK.

The volume of portfolio loan loss allowances in

the Bank sector decreased by €38 million during the
reporting year (2016: increase of €92 million) and
totaled €520 million at the end of 2017. The equivalent
figure at DZ BANK also declined, by €14 million to
€165 million (2016: increase of €60 million).

The volume of provisions for loan commitments
and liabilities under financial guarantee contracts
went down in 2017, in the Bank sector by €20 million
to €234 million (December 31, 2016: up by

€106 million) and at DZ BANK by €37 million to
€205 million (December 31, 2016: up by €104 million).

FIG 40 - BANK SECTOR: ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES IN THE TOTAL PORTFOLIO

Provisions for loan
commitments2 and

Specific Portfolio Total liabilities under financial

loan loss allowances? loan loss allowances loan loss allowances guarantee contracts
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance as at Jan. 1 1,836 1,607 558 466 2,394 2,073 254 148
Additions 1,363 908 207 218 1,570 1,126 116 117
Utilizations -354 -244 H -354 -244 H
Reversals -442 -116 -244 -139 -686 -555 -133 -71
nterest income -40 -31 H -40 -31 2 2
Other changes -89 12 -1 13 -90 25 -5 58
Balance as at Dec. 31 2,274 1,836 520 558 2,794 2,394 234 254
Directly recognized
impairment losses a7 48 H 47 48
Recoveries on loans
and advances
previously impaired -127 -116 — -127 -116

1 Including specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a group basis.
2 Excluding other provisions for loans and advances.

Not relevant
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FIG. 41 - BANK SECTOR: ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES IN DZ BANK'’S TOTAL PORTFOLIO

Provisions for loan
commitments and liabilities

Specific Portfolio Total under financial guarantee

loan loss allowances loan loss allowances loan loss allowances contracts
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Balance as at Jan. 1 786 825 179 119 9265 244 242 138
Additions 340 256 43 92 383 348 97 114
Utilizations -47 -103 — -47 -103 —
Reversals -234 -192 -57 -32 -291 -224 -134 -66
nterest income -13 -10 - -13 -10 4 3
Other changes -19 10 s -19 10 -4 53
Balance as at Dec. 31 813 786 165 179 978 965 205 242
_D'-'ec_t y recognized
mpairment losses 1 — 1
Recoveries on loans
and advances -81 -59 — -81 59

previously impaired

Not relevant

8.9.2 Allowances for losses on loans and advances
in portfolios with increased risk content

Allowances for losses on loans and advances in the
European sovereign debt portfolio

The level of specific loan loss allowances for the Bank
sectot’s exposure in the peripheral countries of the

eurozone increased marginally in the year under review.

Portfolio loan loss allowances in this subportfolio
amounted to a total of €12 million as at

December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016: €11 million).

Allowances for losses on loans and advances in the shipping
finance and offshore finance portfolio

The challenging market conditions in the international
shipping and offshore markets persisted throughout
the year under review, with a further sharp
deterioration in some parts of the market compared
with 2016. As also happened at the other banks
operating in this market segment, the shipping finance
and offshore finance portfolios in the Bank sector

of the DZ BANK Group were subjected to a detailed
examination by the banking supervisor in 2017. One
of the consequences at DVB was a significantly more
conservative approach in the parameters used for

measuring allowances for losses on loans and advances.

Compounded by the protracted crisis in shipping

markets and a deterioration in offshore markets, this
led to a significant rise in the level of allowances for
losses on loans and advances at DVB in the second

half of 2017.

The level of specific loan loss allowances for DVB’s
shipping finance portfolio had risen by €202 million
year on year to €552 million at the end of 2017,
although the level of portfolio loan loss allowances
had fallen by €12 million. The specific and portfolio
loan loss allowances for the shipping finance portfolio
at DZ BANK rose by €41 million to €201 million and
by €2 million to €20 million respectively.

The level of specific loan loss allowances in DVB’s
offshore finance portfolio as at December 31, 2017
had gone up by €331 million year on year. However,
the level of portfolio loan loss allowances for this
market segment declined by €11 million.

Changes in the individual components of the
allowances for losses on loans and advances for
portfolios with increased risk content for 2017 and
2016 are shown in Fig. 42 (Bank sector) and in Fig. 43
(DZ BANK).

129
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FIG. 42 - BANK SECTOR: ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES FOR PORTFOLIOS WITH INCREASED RISK CONTENT

Provisions for loan
commitments2 and

Specific Portfolio Total liabilities under financial
loan loss allowances? loan loss allowances loan loss allowances guarantee contracts
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Eurozone periphery
countries portfolio
Balance as at Jan. 1 10 13 10 14 20 27 s
Balance as at Dec. 31 11 10 12 10 24 20 s
Shipping finance
portfolio
Balance as at Jan. 1 510 327 46 43 556 369 s 2
Balance as at Dec. 31 753 510 36 46 789 556 s
Offshore finance
portfolio
Balance as at Jan. 1 61 20 14 75 23 s
Balance as at Dec. 31 392 61 3 14 395 75 13

1 Including specific loan loss allowances evaluated on a group basis.
2 Excluding other provisions for loans and advances.

FIG. 43 - BANK SECTOR: ALLOWANCES FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND ADVANCES FOR PORTFOLIOS WITH INCREASED RISK CONTENT,

DZ BANK
Provisions for loan
commitments and liabilities
Specific Portfolio Total under financial guarantee
loan loss allowances loan loss allowances loan loss allowances contracts
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
Eurozone
periphery countries
Balance as at Jan. 1 5 5 2 3 7 8 —
Balance as at Dec. 31 7 5 2 2 9 7 —
Shipping finance
portfolio
Balance as at Jan. 1 160 184 18 20 178 204 s 2
Balance as at Dec. 31 201 160 20 18 221 178 s

8.10 Risk position

The risk capital requirement (including capital buffer
requirement) for credit risk is based on a number of
factors, including the size of single-borrower
exposures, individual ratings, and the industry sector
of each exposure.

As at December 31, 2017, the Bank sector’s risk
capital requirement amounted to €4,245 million
(December 31, 2016: €4,472 million). The risk capital
requirement (including capital buffer requirement) at
the end of 2017 amounted to €5,772 million with an
upper loss limit of €7,628 million (December 31, 2016:
€06,606 million).

Most of the fall in the risk capital requirement is
explained by the lower lending volume and the
migration of shipping finance and offshore finance
to default ratings at DVB.

As at December 31, 2017, the risk capital requirement
for DZ BANK was calculated at €1,515 million
(December 31, 2016: €1,577 million). The risk capital
requirement (including capital buffer requirement) at
the end of 2017 amounted to €2,152 million with an
upper loss limit of €2,700 million (December 31, 2016:
€2,200 million).

The risk capital requirements (including capital buffer
requirements) for the Bank sector and for DZ BANK
were within the applicable upper loss limits at all times
during the course of 2017.

Fig. 44 shows the credit value-at-risk together with the
average probability of default and expected loss.

The risk capital required in the Bank sector and at
DZ BANK for credit portfolios exposed to increased
credit risk is shown in Fig. 45.
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FIG. 44 - BANK SECTOR: FACTORS DETERMINING THE CREDIT VALUE-AT-RISK

Average probability
of default

Bank sector DZ BANK

Credit value-at-risk?
(€ million)

DZ BANK

Expected loss
(€ million)

Bank sector DZ BANK Bank sector

Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec. 31, Dec.31, Dec.31,

2017 2016 2017 2016
Traditional lending business 0.6% 0.7% 02% 02%
Securities business 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 0.2%
Derivatives and money
market business 0.1% 0.2% 0.1% 0.1%
Total
Average 0.5% 05% 02% 02%

1 Excluding decentralized capital buffer requirement.

Not relevant

FIG. 45 - BANK SECTOR: CREDIT VALUE-AT-RISK FOR CREDIT
PORTFOLIOS WITH INCREASED RISK CONTENT

Bank sector DZ BANK

Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31, Dec.31,
€ million 2017 2016 2017 2016
Eurozone periphery
countries portfolio 1,090 946 13 16
Shipping finance
portfolio 206 361 48 58
Offshore finance
portfolio 99 176

Not relevant

The year-on-year increase of 15 percent in the risk
capital requirement for exposures held by entities in
the Bank sector to European periphery countries
was caused by changes to some of the model-based
parameters for calculating the loss given default for
countries.

The risk capital requirement in the Bank sector for
shipping finance and offshore finance stemmed
primarily from DVB. The significant year-on-year
decrease was to a large degree due to the lower lending
volume and the migration of shipping finance and
offshore finance to default ratings, which was
accompanied by higher allowances for losses on loans
and advances in relation to these exposures.

8.11 Summary and outlook

All internal rating systems approved by the banking
supervisor for solvency reporting were validated in
2017. The supetvisory review of material model
changes in IRB approaches relating to VR rating banks
is scheduled for 2018.

A portfolio-based approach (portfolio simulation)
for measuring replacement risk at DZ BANK was

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
426 503 113 112 2,282 2,566 926 974
66 70 37 38 1,636 1,571 345 325
10 12 9 10 327 335 245 278
501 585 159 161 4,245 4,472 1,515 1,577

introduced in 2017 for the bulk of the derivatives
portfolio (simple interest-rate swaps).

EMIR requires the exchange of an initial margin in
OTC detivatives transactions in addition to the
variation margin. This initial margin exchange is
expected to be mandatory for the entities in the Bank
sector from September 2019. In addition, there are
plans to initiate further measures in the coming year as
part of the continuous optimization of the internal
credit risk measurement system. In 2018, the entities in
the Bank sector will continue to apply their existing
risk-strategy approach to lending. At DZ BANK,
this will involve further stepping up business with the
cooperative financial network and selected customers.
The Bank sector also plans to further increase its
market share in SME business and strengthen its
positioning in this segment in Germany, especially in
the medium-sized company subsegment.

Given the predictions for economic growth, the Bank
sector and DZ BANK are both likely to make
additions to specific loan loss allowances in 2018,
but within the expected level of allowances for losses
on loans and advances.

DVB is aiming to significantly reduce its shipping
finance portfolio and completely eliminate its offshore
finance portfolio over the course of 2018 and
subsequent years. This will be accompanied by greater
concentration on the aviation finance and land
transport finance segments. DVB has put in place a
separate strategy and new structures to help it manage
the portfolio wind-down while at the same time
preserving value as far as possible.
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9.1 Definition and business background

Equity investment risk is defined as the risk of losses
arising from negative changes in the fair value of that
pottion of the long-term equity investments portfolio
for which the risks are not included in other types

of risk.

In the Bank sector, equity investment risk arises

primarily at DZ BANK, BSH, and DVB.

The long-term equity investments in the banking book
are held largely for strategic reasons and normally
cover markets, market segments, or parts of the

value chain in which the entities of the Bank sector
themselves or the cooperative banks are not active.
These investments therefore support the sales
activities of the cooperative banks or help reduce costs
by bundling functions. The investment strategy is
continuously aligned with the needs of cooperative
financial network policy.

9.2 Risk strategy and responsibility

Risk strategy requirements must be observed in the
management of long-term equity investments. Such
management is subject to the principle that equity
investment risk (measured as risk capital requirement)
may be taken on only if this risk is considered together
with the associated opportunities and only if the risk
remains below the existing upper loss limits.

Decisions on whether to acquire or dispose of long-
term equity investments are made by the Board of
Managing Directors of the entities in the Bank sector
in consultation with the relevant committees.

At DZ BANK, the Group Strategy and Controlling
division is responsible for supporting these
investments, whereas at BSH the task falls within the
scope of the International Markets division and the
Controlling and Investment Management division.

At DVB, the investments are the responsibility of the
Accounting and Legal Affairs departments.

The monitoring and measurement of equity
investment risk is the responsibility of the relevant
planning and control units, which must then submit
quarterly reports on the results of their activities to the
Supervisory Boatd, the Board of Managing Directors,
and the division responsible for supporting the
investments.

9.3 Risk management

The carrying amounts of the long-term equity
investments are regularly tested for possible
impairment in the last quarter of the financial year.
If there are any indications during the course of
the year of possible impairment, more frequent
impairment tests are also carried out. In the
impairment tests, the cartying amounts of the long-
term equity investments are compared against the
amount that could be realized on the market on
the same date.

Since the first quarter of 2017, the risk capital
requirement for the vast majority of the long-term
equity investments in the Bank sector including

DZ BANK has been determined using a Monte Catlo
simulation. In this method, portfolio concentrations
in sectors and individual counterparties are taken into
account by simulating industry-wide and individual
investment-related risk factors.

The risk capital requirement is influenced, in particular,
by the market values of the long-term equity
investments, the volatility of the market values, and

the correlations between the market values, with
market price fluctuations mainly derived from
reference prices listed on an exchange.

At DVB, the risk capital requirement for long-term
equity investments in the transport sector has been

determined using an earnings-at-risk approach since
the second quarter of 2017.

The measurement of equity investment risk takes into
account both the equity-accounted investments and
fully consolidated investees. As part of acquisition
accounting and during the course of preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the investment
carrying amounts for consolidated subsidiaries are
offset against the relevant share of net assets.
Consequently, the investment carrying amounts
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements are considerably lower than the carrying
amounts used for determining risk.

9.4 Specific risk factors

If a future impairment test determines that the carrying
amount of long-term equity investments reported on
the balance sheet is significantly impaired, this could
have an adverse impact on the financial performance
and financial position of the DZ BANK Group and
DZ BANK.
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In the case of non-controlling interests, there is a risk
that key information may not be available or cannot
be obtained promptly by virtue of the fact that the
investment is a minority stake; this would lead to an
increase in the impairment risk.

9.5 Risk position

The carrying amounts of long-term equity
investments in the Bank sector relevant for the
measurement of equity investment risk amounted
to €2,714 million as at December 31, 2017
(December 31, 2016: €2,786 million). As at
December 31, 2017, the carrying amounts of the
long-term equity investments of DZ BANK totaled
€1,588 million (December 31, 2016: €1,709 million).
This contraction was primarily attributable to the sale
of one long-term equity investment.

As at the reporting date, the economic capital
requirement for equity investment risk in the Bank
sector was measured at €1,093 million, which was
lower than the corresponding figure at the end of 2016
of €1,263 million. This decrease was mainly accounted
for by the sale of one long-term equity investment at
DZ BANK and by changes in the risk modeling.

The upper loss limit was €1,422 million

(December 31, 2016: €1,468 million). The upper loss
limit was not exceeded at any time in 2017.

As at December 31, 2017, the economic capital
requirement for equity investment risk at DZ BANK
amounted to €618 million (December 31, 2016:

€722 million). The upper loss limit at

December 31, 2017 was €650 million

(December 31, 2016: €760 million). The upper loss
limit was not exceeded at any point during 2017.

10.1 Definition and business background

Market risk in the Bank sector including DZ BANK
comprises market risk in the narrow sense of the term,
and market liquidity risk.

Market risk in the narrow sense of the term —
referred to below as market risk — is the risk of losses
on financial instruments or other assets arising from
changes in market prices or in the parameters that
influence prices. Depending on the undetlying
influences, market tisk can be broken down for the
most part into interest-rate risk, spread risk and
migration risk, equity risk, fund price risk, currency

risk, and asset-management risk. Commodity risk is
not material for the entities in the Bank sector. This
type of market risk is therefore not covered below.

Market risks arise in particular from DZ BANK’s
customer-account trading activities, DZ BANK’s cash-
pooling function for the cooperative financial network,
and from the lending business, real-estate finance
business, building society operations, funds business,
capital markets business, investments, and issuing
activities of the various management units. Spread risk,
including migration risk, is the most significant type of
market risk for the Bank sector. Market risk also arises
from the assets and liabilities in connection with direct
pension commitments.

Market liquidity risk is the risk of loss arising from
adverse changes in market liquidity, for example as a
result of a reduction in market depth or of market
disruption. The consequences are that assets can only
be liquidated in markets if they are discounted and that
it is only possible to carry out active risk management
on a limited basis. Market liquidity risk arises primarily
in connection with secutities alteady held in the
portfolio as well as funding and money market
business.

10.2 Risk strategy

10.2.1 General market risk strategy in the Bank
sector

The following principles for managing market risk
apply to DZ BANK and its subsidiaries in the Bank
sector:

—  Market risk is only taken on to the extent that it is
necessaty to facilitate attainment of business policy
objectives.

—  The assumption of market risk is only permitted
within the existing limits and only provided that it
is considered together with the associated
opportunities.

— Statutory restrictions, provisions in the Articles of
Association, or other limitations enshrined in the
risk strategy that prohibit the assumption of
certain types of market risk for individual
management units are observed.

—  Market liquidity risk is consciously assumed
following an analysis that takes into account the
prevailing market liquidity.
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10.2.2 Market risk strategy at DZ BANK

For regulatory purposes, DZ BANK is classed as a
trading book institution. It conducts trading activities
as part of its role as a central institution in the
cooperative financial network and — on this basis —

as a corporate bank for customers outside the
cooperative financial network. As part of a range of
services for the cooperative financial network,

DZ BANK provides investment and risk management
products, platforms, research, and expertise, and acts
as an intermediary transforming small deposits into
larger-scale lending. DZ BANK also provides facilities
ensuring risk transfer from the cooperative financial
network and cash pooling within the cooperative
financial network. DZ BANK’s trading strategy is
aimed at generating profits primarily from customer
margins and structuring margins.

Unmatched market-risk positions from primary
business activities arise principally in connection
with customer business and from holding securities
porttfolios for trading on behalf of customers. The
risks predominantly comprise spread risk and
migration risk. To support its liquidity management
function as a central institution and corporate bank,
and on behalf of the DZ BANK Group, DZ BANK
also maintains liquidity portfolios in which it holds —
within the relevant limits — bonds eligible for central
bank borrowing. It also holds portfolios of bonds
and credit derivatives for the purposes of managing
credit risk.

DZ BANK manages market risk arising from its
lending business, own issues, and from holding issues
from the cooperative banks and subsidiaries.

The risks arising in connection with the assets and
liabilities associated with direct pension
commitments form part of the daily risk management
process and are also regulatly assessed by a DZ BANK
investment committee. Corrective action to eliminate
risk is taken where necessary. Changes in legislation,
decisions by the courts, or accounting standards may
make it necessary to adjust existing provisions for
pensions and other post-employment benefits.

10.2.3 Market risk strategy at BSH

For regulatory purposes, BSH is classed as an
institution with a banking book and is exposed to
market risk primarily in the form of interest-rate risk,
spread risk, and migration risk.

Interest-rate risk arises mainly from its customer
business (in particular building society operations).
Interest-rate risk comprises traditional interest-rate risk,
for example as a result of interest rates in building
society operations for which BSH has given a firm
commitment, and the risk from customer rights
enshrined in home savings contracts, the exercise of
which may partly depend on interest rates. Traditional
interest-rate risk is managed mainly through the
maturities in the investment portfolio. The risk from
customer rights is controlled through the design of
home savings rates. The objective is to manage the
interest-rate risk within the existing limits, which will
rise slightly over the medium term as a result of the
small increase in new business.

Spread risk and migration risk arise at BSH from
investing surplus home savings deposits in securities.
These risks are consciously assumed within the
framework of a conservative investment policy and
it is planned to keep them at a similar level, even
following further diversification in the range of
investments.

10.2.4 Market risk strategy at DG HYP

For regulatory purposes, DG HYP is also classed as
an institution with a banking book. DG HYP’s
business model means that the main risks relevant to
its management of market risk are spread risk and
migration risk.

DG HYP consciously takes on spread risk and
migration risk. As DG HYP is classed as a banking
book institution, it does not engage in own-account
trading in the sense of exploiting short-term
fluctuations in interest rates and prices.

10.2.5 Market risk strategy at UMH
The main market risks faced by UMH are fund price
risk and asset-management risk.

Fund price risk arises if UMH or its subsidiaries
acquite their own investment funds for investment
purposes. UMH and its subsidiaries also acquite units
in their own newly launched funds in order to provide
initial funding for the funds, but not with the intention
of generating short-term trading profits. In addition,
pledged employee investments atre invested in Union
Investment funds in order to cover pension
entitlements. Fund price risk is not broken down into
other subtypes of market risk for management
purposes.
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Asset-management risk occurs if UMH enters into
obligations to pay additional capital in connection with
products offering long-term guarantees. Any shortfall
in a contractually agreed minimum capital value on a
maturity date triggers a payment obligation on the part
of the fund provider, giving rise to these obligations to
pay additional capital.

10.2.6 Market risk strategy at WL BANK

For regulatory purposes, WL BANK is classed as
an institution with a banking book. Because of

WL BANK's strategic focus, it is exposed to market
risks, primarily in the form of spread risk and
migration risk.

Spread risk and migration risk at WL BANK mainly
result from holding securities as Pfandbrief cover
assets. These risks are consciously assumed for the
purposes of managing liquidity. WL BANK is aiming
to further reduce spread risk and migration risk,
primarily by scaling back its holdings of government
bonds. New business is also limited to issuers with a
minimum rating A- in order to keep the impact from a
deterioration in credit ratings as low as possible.

10.3 Organization, responsibility, and risk
reporting

10.3.1 Organization and responsibility

As a trading book institution, DZ BANK generally
manages market risk on a decentralized, portfolio basis.
The traders responsible for managing a portfolio bear
responsibility for its risk and performance.

Market risk arising at BSH is managed at overall bank
level and exclusively in the banking book. Market risk
arising at DG HYP and UMH is managed centrally
by specialist committees at each institution. The
committees provide guidance for treasury activities
based on market risk reporting. Committee decisions
are implemented operationally by the portfolio
managers and treasury departments at each entity.
WL BANK’s market risk is largely managed by the
treasury for Pfandbriefe within the limits decided by
the Board of Managing Directors of WL BANK.

10.3.2 Risk reporting

Market risk reporting

Key figures for market risk are submitted at sector
level to the Group Risk and Finance Committee
within the overall risk report for the DZ BANK
Group. DZ BANK is informed of any limit overruns

at management unit level by means of an ad-hoc
reporting system.

At DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, and WL BANK,
Risk Controlling uses the internal reporting system
to provide the portfolio managers and the senior
managers responsible for risk management and risk
control with daily, weekly, or monthly market risk
updates. Twice a month, UMH calculates the risk
attaching to its own-account investing activities and
reports this risk to its Board of Managing Directors
and the committee responsible for managing own-
account investing. The other key figures relating to
market risk are reported in UMH’s quarterly risk
report.

Market liquidity risk reporting

The economic stress test report for the DZ BANK
Group is used to inform the Board of Managing
Ditrectors of DZ BANK of the results of the market
liquidity risk stress test carried out for the Bank
sector and DZ BANK.

At DG HYP, the daily market risk report sent to the
members of the Board of Managing Directors and
portfolio managers also includes reports on market
liquidity risk. The results of the market liquidity risk
stress test for WL BANK are included in the

economic stress test report for the DZ BANK Group.
This reportt is also received by the Board of Managing
Ditectors and selected heads of division at WL BANK.

10.4 Management of market risk

10.4.1 Measurement of market risk

DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, UMH, and WL BANK
determine market risk from the short-term (operating)
perspective using the value-at-risk method.

Value-at-risk is a key performance indicator that
describes the maximum expected loss for a given
probability (confidence level) and within a specified
holding period for the positions under normal market
conditions. The model does not reflect the maximum
potential loss that could be incurred in extreme market
situations, but is based on obsetrved historical market
scenarios over periods of 250 trading days (DZ BANK,
DG HYP, WL BANK), 1,500 trading days (BSH), and
1 year (own-account investments of UMH).

DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, and WL BANK
generate market scenatios using a historical simulation.

Holding periods of 1 day and 10 days are used.
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UMH uses Monte Carlo simulation to determine
the market risk arising from its own-account investing.
This measurement method provides a ook through’
to the individual securities in the funds and it is also
used when quantifying the asset-management risk for
most product types. The measurement of risk in each
case is based on a unilateral confidence level of

99.90 percent and a holding period of 1 year.

For DZ BANK, BSH, DG HYP, and WL BANK,
calculations are cartied out to determine an overall
value-at-risk and — where relevant — separate values-at-
risk for interest-rate risk, spread risk, equity risk, and
currency risk, broken down into trading portfolios and
non-trading portfolios. The risk in the banking book

is included in the value-at-risk for the non-trading
porttfolios. Migration risk does not represent a separate
type of risk in the short-term perspective. The risk
arising from changes in credit ratings is covered by
spread risk in this case. An overall value-at-risk is
calculated for the own-account investing activities
carried out by UMH. To determine risk values at the
level of the Bank sector, DZ BANK also uses a central,
sector-wide risk model, which quantifies market risk
for the Bank sector taking into account the effects of
concentration and diversification.

To quantify market risk from a longer-term (strategic)
petspective, the credit institutions in the Bank sector
regulatly calculate the capital requirement for
market risk and compare it with the associated upper
loss limit.

The risk measurements from both the operating and
strategic perspectives for the credit institutions in the
Bank sector are linked to each other by a consistent
system of limits, whereas the market risk incurred by
UMH is managed directly at the level of its risk capital
requirement. Consequently, it does not require a limit
system for linking the operating and strategic
perspectives.

10.4.2 Backtesting and stress tests

The methods used by the entities in the Bank sector

to quantify market risk on a continuous basis are
subjected to backtesting, the purpose of which is to
check the predictive quality of these methods. Changes
in the value of portfolios on each trading day are
usually compared against the value-at-risk calculated
using risk modeling.

Risks arising from extreme market situations are
primarily recorded using stress tests. The crisis

scenatios underlying the stress tests include the
simulation of significant fluctuations in risk factors
and serve to highlight potential losses not generally
recognized in the value-at-risk approach. Stress tests
are based on extreme market fluctuations that have
actually occurred in the past together with crisis
scenarios that — regardless of market data history —
are considered to be economically relevant. The crisis
scenarios used in this case are regularly reviewed to
ensure they are appropriate. The following are deemed
to be risk factors: interest-rate risk, spread risk,
migration risk, equity risk, and currency risk.

10.4.3 Management of limits for market risk
Market risk is managed at DZ BANK, BSH,

DG HYP, and WL BANK using a limit system
appropriate to the portfolio structure. This system
limits the risks assumed in parts of the group as well
as any losses arising during the course of the year.

Within the trading divisions of DZ BANK and the
treasury at DG HYP, the management of risk based
on value-at-risk is supported by a limit system
structured around sensitivities and scenarios, and by
stress test limits. At DG HYP, the treasury’s system
of limits is based on value-at-risk and sensitivities.

The limit system used at UMH is based on the value-
at-risk or risk capital required at the highest portfolio
level.

WL BANK manages interest-rate risk, together with
spread risk and migration risk, at overall bank level
within the sector-related limits specified by DZ BANK.

10.4.4 Mitigating market risk

Market risk hedging

As part of the decentralized management of portfolios,
market risk at DZ BANK is hedged by portfolio
managers. At DG HYP, it is hedged by treasury. At
WL BANIK, this responsibility lies with Pfandbrief
treasury. In the case of the latter, market risk is hedged
mainly by using OTC transactions with suitable
counterparties.

Risks are hedged at DZ BANK cither through internal
transactions with the front-office trading unit
responsible for the relevant product or through
external exchange-based and OTC transactions.

DG HYP exclusively uses external exchange-based
and OTC transactions to hedge against market risk,



Group management report
Combined opportunity and risk report

although the OTC transactions used for hedging are
primarily with counterparties within the Bank sector.

At BSH, the asset-liability committee decides whether
to hedge market risk via OTC transactions.

As soon as action is required to reduce the market risk
arising from own-account investing at UMH, changes
are made to the composition of the fund positions in
its own-account investments. For this reason, UMH is
only exposed to fund price risk.

Hedge effectiveness

The measurement of market risk at DZ BANK is
based on the inclusion of the individual positions
subject to market risk. There is therefore no need to
monitor the economic effectiveness of hedges.

At DG HYP, the effectiveness of any hedging is
reviewed and reported daily in terms of both risk and
performance. The report covers the entire DG HYP
book. Derivatives in various forms are used to mitigate
market risk. These are predominantly plain vanilla
products.

Market risk is measured at WL BANK in the Finance
division, which reports the value-at-risk in the overall
interest-rate book daily. Interest-rate derivatives are
the main instrument used to hedge this risk.

10.4.5 Managing the different types of market
risk

Management of interest-rate risk

At DZ BANK, interest-rate risk arises from trading in
interest-rate-sensitive products on behalf of customers,
from structuring its own issues for trading on behalf
of customers, and from exposures in connection with
liquidity management. The risks arising from trading
on behalf of customers are dynamically hedged within
the set limits and the risks from liquidity management
are generally minimized. At DZ BANK, interest-rate
risk also arises from the assets and liabilities in
connection with direct pension commitments.

BSH is subject to particular interest-rate risks arising
from its collective home savings business since it gives
customers a binding interest-rate guarantee both for
savings and for the loan element that may be drawn
down in the future. BSH uses a simulation model
based on the behavior of building society customers to
measure interest-rate risk. The model forecasts the
volume of collective assets held, taking into

consideration planned new business and different
customer options.

Management of spread risk and migration risk

Spread risk and migration risk on all financial
instruments subject to credit spread risk are
incorporated into risk capital management. An upper
loss limit and operational limits together with a
process for monitoring them were introduced in order
to ensure that the risk capital for these two forms of
market risk is managed effectively.

At DZ BANK, spread risk and migration risk arise
from holding securities portfolios for trading on behalf
of customers, from trading in its own issues on behalf
of customers, and from the liquidity management
function that the bank carries out for the Bank sector.
The risk incurred in connection with trading on behalf
of customers is actively managed. In liquidity
management, the risk tends to be limited to that which
is absolutely necessary to allow DZ BANK to carry
out its responsibilities as a central institution and in
connection with the liquidity management function.

Spread risk and migration risk arise at BSH from
investing surplus home savings deposits in secutities.
The resulting risk is managed in accordance with a
conservative investment policy.

Spread risk and migration risk at DG HYP largely
result from holding securities as Pfandbrief cover
assets. The risks are included in an active internal
reporting system and are monitored on a daily basis.
Migration risk is not covered by this daily monitoring.
Since the switch in DG HYP’s business model, the
entity has only taken on new spread risk or migration
risk if it is necessary as part of the management of
cover assets.

Spread risk and migration risk at WL BANK result
from holding securities as Pfandbrief cover assets and
for liquidity purposes. The risk associated with these
exposures is monitored as part of regular risk
monitoring.

Management of equity risk

Equity risk is only of minor significance at DZ BANK.
It essentially arises from transactions on behalf of
customers involving equities, equity and equity-index
derivatives, investment funds and alternative
investments, warrants, and investment certificates. It is
managed by using equities, exchange-traded futures
and options, and OTC derivatives.
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Management of fund price risk

Fund price risk largely arises at DZ BANK in
connection with business conducted on behalf of
customers. Funds ate also used to cover defined
benefit obligations, but these funds are broken down
into their constituent parts for the purposes of
calculating risk and therefore no longer treated as fund
exposures. The risk determined for the constituent
parts is actively managed within existing limits.

Fund price risk arises at BSH from investing surplus
home savings deposits in special funds. Funds are
also used to cover defined benefit obligations. In
both cases, the funds are broken down into their
constituent parts for risk management purposes and
not treated as fund exposures. The determined risk is
managed within existing limits in the same way as
other types of risk.

UMH is exposed to fund price risk because it invests
its own resources in funds and also invests pledged
employee investments in order to cover pension
entitlements. While market risk arising from the funds
it holds is measured by ‘looking through’ to individual-
security level, the risk incurred by own-account
investing is measured at fund level. For this reason,
UMH is only exposed to fund price risk. The
management of fund price risk focuses on the liquidity
requirements of UMH’s subsidiaries and the need to
acquire fund units when providing initial funding for
investment funds. The requirements for a conservative
investment policy are also observed.

Management of asset-management risk
Asset-management risk arises from minimum payment
commitments given by UMH and/or its subsidiaties
for guarantee products. The risks arising from these
guarantee products are managed conservatively.

The launch of new guarantee products is governed by
the guidelines for medium-term planning that apply to
UMH and takes into account the risk capital required
and the available internal capital. Before new products
are launched, the risks associated with them are
analyzed and assessed. Management mechanisms
embedded in the products aim to prevent the value of
an individual product from falling below its guaranteed
level during its lifetime.

Asset-management risk is reported using a separate
internal system and is monitored regularly at individual
product level by UMH.

10.5 Management of market liquidity risk

At Bank sector level, excluding DZ BANK, market
liquidity effects are taken into account centrally when
determining the risk capital requirement for spread risk
and migration risk. A market liquidity risk stress test is
also cartied out for the Bank sector using special stress
scenarios as part of the calculation of the risk capital
requirement for market risk. The economic capital
requirement calculated in the stress scenarios is
compared against the available cover assets in order to
obtain an indication of capital adequacy during periods
of adverse trends in market liquidity.

At DZ BANK, the market liquidity risk associated
with interest-rate risk, spread risk, equity risk, and
currency risk is measured as part of the planning of
upper loss limits. Market risk including market liquidity
risk is limited at strategic level by the upper loss limit
for market risk. At operational level, the limits are
determined in a2 manner that is consistent with the
assumptions made in the planning of the upper loss
limit.

BSH takes market liquidity risk into account in its day-
to-day calculation of liquidity by means of changes in
interest rates and credit spreads. At DG HYP, market
liquidity risk is factored into the calculation of the risk
capital requirement and limited via the risk model
used at the level of the Bank sector in the DZ BANK
Group. It is managed operationally as part of the
management of market risk and liquidity. UMH could
be exposed to market liquidity risk in rare extreme
situations as a result of its own-account investing in
funds. Market liquidity risk is measured at individual
fund level and by carrying out additional stress tests.
Market liquidity risk at WL BANK is reflected in
credit spreads and volatility, and is taken into account
centrally by DZ BANK when determining the risk
capital requirement for spread risk and migration risk.

10.6 Specific risk factors

Interest-rate risk, spread risk, migration risk, equity risk,
fund price risk, currency risk, and asset-management
risk are caused by changes in the yield curve, credit
spreads, exchange rates, and share prices. Credit
spreads and market liquidity squeezes are the critical
risk factors for the overall market risk in the Bank
sector, including DZ BANK.

Some credit risk premiums for bank bonds and
corporate bonds continued to decline significantly
over the course of 2017. In the case of European
government bonds, especially those issued by France,
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some narrowing of credit spreads was also evident.
This trend was accompanied by a corresponding
increase in the fair values of bonds. If credit spreads
on bank and corporate bonds or other investments,
particularly government bonds, were to widen again,
this would lead to a drop in fair values. Present value
losses of this nature could have a temporary or
permanent adverse impact on the profits generated
by the entities in the Bank sector.

A market-wide liquidity squeeze could be detrimental
to the business activities of the entities in the Bank
sector and therefore also to the financial position and
financial performance of the DZ BANK Group and
DZ BANK. Tighter market liquidity arises
particularly in stressed market conditions, as it did,
for example, during the financial crisis.

10.7 Risk position

10.7.1 Risk capital requirement

As at December 31, 2017, the risk capital requirement
(including capital buffer requirement) for market

risk used to determine the risk-bearing capacity of
the Bank sector amounted to €4,097 million
(December 31, 2016: €4,347 million) with an upper
loss limit of €6,863 million (December 31, 2016:
€7,582 million). The decrease in the risk was largely
due to capital market and merger effects.

The Bank sector’s risk capital requirement (including
capital buffer requirement) encompasses the asset-
management risk of UMH. The asset-management
risk for guarantee funds was measured at €36 million
as at December 31, 2017 (December 31, 2016:

€50 million). The asset-management risk for
UniProfiRente as at the reporting date amounted to
€34 million (December 31, 2016: €28 million).

As at December 31, 2017, DZ BANK’s risk capital
requirement (including capital buffer requirement)
for market risk amounted to €1,059 million
(December 31, 2016: €1,200 million) with an upper
loss limit of €2,270 million (December 31, 2016:
€2,400 million). DZ BANK is not exposed to any

asset-management risk.

Throughout the year under review, the risk capital
requirement remained below the upper loss limit at the
levels of both the Bank sector and DZ BANK.

10.7.2 Value-at-risk

Fig. 46 shows the change in the value-at-risk in the
trading and non-trading portfolios and the change in
the aggregate risk for the Bank sector in the year under
review.

In addition, Fig. 47 shows the daily changes in risk and
the results of daily backtesting of trading portfolios.

As the Bank sector’s trading portfolios consist
exclusively of the trading portfolios of DZ BANK, the
associated figures for the Bank sector are the same as

those for DZ BANK.

As at December 31, 2017, the aggregate risk in

the Bank sector was measured at €51 million
(December 31, 2016: €119 million). The aggregate
risk for DZ BANK as at December 31, 2017 was
calculated at €14 million (December 31, 2016:

€33 million). The main reason for the significant drop
in risk was the fall in the volatility of credit spreads
over time. There were no fundamental changes in the
portfolio structure.

The value-at-risk for the trading portfolios in the
Bank sector as at December 29, 2017 was €2 million
(December 31, 2016: €4 million) and therefore
remained at the low prior-year level.

In the year under review, the hypothetical changes in
fair value exceeded the forecast risk value on 6 trading
days. Of this total, 4 overruns arose from market
movements, which was within the tolerance for
model-related overruns, and 2 were attributable to
valuation adjustments.

As at December 31, 2017, the value-at-risk for the
Bank sector’s non-trading portfolios was calculated
at €49 million (December 31, 2016: €119 million).
Once again, the fall in the volatility of credit spreads
was the principal reason behind the decrease in risk.

10.8 Summary and outlook

DZ BANK fine-tuned the central, sector-wide market-
risk model in the year under review as planned and
then put it into operation in February 2018. From the
beginning of 2019, the model is expected to become
relevant for the management of market risk in the
Bank sector in relation to economic capital adequacy.

As in previous years, the focus of DZ BANKs trading
business will be on customer business in 2018.
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11 Technical risk of a home savings and loan
company

11.1 Definition and business background
Technical risk of a home savings and loan company is
subdivided into two components: new business risk
and collective risk.

New business risk is the risk of a negative impact
from possible variances compared with the planned
new business volume.

Collective risk refers to the risk of a negative impact
that could arise from variances between the actual and
forecast performance of the collective building society
operations caused by significant long-term changes in

customer behavior unrelated to changes in interest rates.

FIG. 46 - BANK SECTOR: VALUE-AT-RISK FOR MARKET RISK IN THE TRADING AND NON-TRADING PORTFOLIOS' 2

Interest- Spread risk and Diversification
€ million rate risk migration risk Equity risk? Currency risk effects Total
Bank DZ Bank DZ Bank DZ Bank DZ Bank DZ Bank DZ
sector BANK sector BANK sector BANK sector BANK sector BANK sector BANK
Aggregate risks
Dec. 31, 2017 22 6 43 13 5 2 4 3 -23 -11 51 14
Dec. 31, 2016 18 17 108 20 7 3 2 4 -15 -12 119 33
Trading portfolios
Dec. 31, 2017 2 2 1 1 1 1 - - -2 -2 2 2
Average 2 2 2 2 1 1 1 1 -3 -3 2 2
Maximum 2 2 3 3 1 1 1 1 -2 -2 3 3
Minimum 1 1 1 1 - - - . -3 -3 2 2
Dec. 31, 2016 2 2 4 4 1 1 1 1 -4 -4 4 4
Non-trading portfolios
Dec. 31, 2017 22 5 42 12 5 1 4 3 -23 -9 49 13
Average 22 12 68 15 5 2 3 4 -26 -15 72 18
Maximum 33 17 75 16 6 2 5 5 -15 -9 80 22
Minimum 9 5 42 12 4 1 1 3 -36 -19 49 13
Dec. 31, 2016 19 17 104 17 7 3 2 4 -13 -9 119 32

1 Value-at-risk with 99.00% confidence level, 1-day holding period, 1-year observation period, based on a central market risk model for the Bank sector. Concentrations and effects of diversification

were taken fully into account when calculating the risks.

2 The minimum and maximum amounts for the different subcategories of market risk may stem from different points in time during the reporting period. Consequently, they cannot be

aggregated to produce the minimum or maximum aggregate risk due to the diversification effect.

3 Including funds, if not broken down into constituent parts.

4 Total effects of diversification between the types of market risk for all consolidated management units.
5 Owing to the effects of diversification between trading portfolios and non-trading portfolios, the mathematical total of the risks for these two parts of the overall portfolio are different from the

figure for aggregate risk.

FIG. 47 - BANK SECTOR: VALUE-AT-RISK FOR MARKET RISK AND HYPOTHETICAL CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE IN THE TRADING PORTFOLIOS

€million, value-at-risk with 99.00% confidence level, 1-day holding period, 1-year observation period
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It can be distinguished from interest-rate risk by
incorporating a change in customer behavior unrelated
to interest rates in the collective simulation. Conversely,
only changes in customer behavior induced by changes
in interest rates are relevant to interest-rate risk.

Technical risk of a home savings and loan company
arises in the Bank sector in connection with the
business activities of BSH. This risk represents the
entity-specific business risk of BSH. A home savings
arrangement is a system in which the customer
accumulates savings earmarked for a specific purpose.
The customer enters into a home savings contract with
fixed credit balance and loan interest rates so that at a
later point — following a savings phase (around 6 to 10
years in a standard savings arrangement) — he/she can
be granted a low-interest home savings loan (with a
maturity of 6 to 14 years) when payout is approved. A
home savings agreement is therefore a combined
asset/liability product with a very long maturity.

11.2 Risk strategy and responsibility

Technical risk of a home savings and loan company is
closely linked with the BSH business model and
cannot therefore be avoided. Against this backdrop,
the risk strategy aims to prevent an uncontrolled
increase in risk. The risk is managed in particular
through a forward-looking policy for products and
scales of rates and charges, and through appropriate
marketing activities and sales management.

BSH is responsible for managing the technical risk of
a home savings and loan company within the Bank
sector. This includes measuring the risk and
communicating risk information to the risk
management committees at BSH and to the Board of
Managing Directors and Supervisory Board of BSH.
Technical risk of a home savings and loan company
forms an integral part of the DZ BANK Group’s
internal risk reporting system.

11.3 Risk management

A special collective simulation, which includes the
effects of a (negative) change in customer behavior
and a drop in new business, is used to measure the
technical risk of a home savings and loan
company. The results from the collective simulation
for the technical risk of a home savings and loan
company are fed into a long-term forecast of earnings.
The variance between the actual earnings in the risk
scenario and the earnings in a base forecast with the
same reference date is used as a risk measure. The
variance is discounted to produce a present value.

The total present value of the variances represents the
technical risk of a home savings and loan company
and therefore the risk capital requirement for this type
of risk.

In order to determine the technical risk of 2 home
savings and loan company in a stress scenario, the
stress parameters, particulatly the assumptions about
customer behavior, are severely impaired. An
appropriate collective simulation is then generated on
this basis and is analyzed using the same methodology
used for the measurement of current risk. Stress tests
are carried out quarterly.

For the present value perspective in the liquidation
approach within BSH’s overall bank limit system,
the technical risk of a home savings and loan company

is backed by risk capital.

11.4 Specific risk factors

A variance between the actual and planned new
business volume (new business risk) could lead to
lower deposits from banks and customers over the
short to medium term. Over the medium to long
term, the lower level of new business could also lead
to a decrease in loans and advances to banks and
customers.

Variances between the actual and forecast
performance of the collective building society business
caused by significant long-term changes in customer
behavior unrelated to changes in interest rates
(collective risk) could also lead to lower deposits
from banks and customers.

Over the medium to long term, there is a risk that a
lower level of new business and change in customer
behavior could cause net interest income to taper off
with an adverse impact on the financial position and
financial performance of the DZ BANK Group.
There is also a risk that the financial position could
deteriorate, in patticular as a consequence of the drop
in deposits from banks and customers.

11.5 Risk position

As at December 31, 2017, the capital requirement for
the technical risk of a home savings and loan company
amounted to €558 million (December 31, 2016:

€541 million) with an upper loss limit of the same
amount (December 31, 2016: €600 million). A capital
buffer requirement was not calculated for the technical
risk of a home savings and loan company as at the
reporting date.
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The risk capital requirement for the financial year is
calculated on November 30 of the previous year and,
due to the nature of building society operations,
remains constant throughout the financial year. This is
why the upper loss limit is deliberately set so close to
the risk capital requirement. Its utilization does not
fluctuate during the year. Full utilization of the upper
loss limit is acceptable.

12.1 Definition and business background

Business risk denotes the risk of losses arising from
earnings volatility for a given business strategy and not
covered by other types of risk. In particular, this
comprises the risk that, as a result of changes in
material circumstances (for example, the regulatory
environment, economic conditions, product
environment, customer behavior, market competitors)
corrective action cannot be taken at an operational
level to prevent the losses.

DZ BANK’s core functions as a central institution,
corporate bank, and holding company mean that it
focuses closely on the local cooperative banks, which
are its customers and owners. In this context, business
risk can arise from corporate banking, retail banking,
capital markets business, and transaction banking.

The key entities incurring business risk in the Bank
sector in addition to DZ BANK are the management
units DVB and DZ PRIVATBANK.

12.2 Organization and risk management

The management of business risk is a primary
responsibility of the Board of Managing Directors
of DZ BANK and is catried out in consultation with
the senior management of the main subsidiaties and
the heads of the DZ BANK divisions involved. Group
management is integrated into a committee structure,
headed by the Group Coordination Committee. The
Group Strategy and Controlling division supports the
Board of Managing Directors as part of its role in
supervising the activities of the subsidiaries.

The Financial Services Advisory Council increased
the involvement of the cooperative banks in the joint
development and marketing of the DZ BANK
Group’s products and services and it worked closely
with the BVR and its Special Committees. The
Financial Services Advisory Council therefore acted as
a recommendation committee on product and sales

issues arising from the partnership between the
cooperative banks and the DZ BANK Group. This
approach endeavored to engender a high degree of
mutual commitment while at the same time fully
maintaining the decentralized structure to the benefit
of the cooperative banks. The Financial Services
Advisory Council formed the nucleus of the Central
Advisory Council introduced in 2018.

The purpose of the Central Advisory Council is to
facilitate in-depth discussion of key strategic issues in
the DZ BANK Group. These issues include the
fundamental ongoing development of the entities

in the DZ BANK Group, strategic planning
considerations, and current business performance.
The Central Advisory Council also addresses core
questions relating to the design of new products and
services, and their marketing to cooperative banks and
their customers. The Central Advisory Council
commenced its activities with a constituent meeting in
March 2018, at which point the work of the Financial
Services Advisory Council came to an end.

The management of business risk is closely linked with
the management of opportunities and the tools used
in the strategic planning process. It is based on setting
targets for the subsidiaries involved in active
management and for the divisions of DZ BANK.
Risk is quantified using a risk model based on an
earnings-at-risk approach.

To identify strategic regulatory initiatives with an
impact on the DZ BANK Group and the individual
management units, a centralized regulation
management office has been set up at DZ BANK.
This office establishes direct contact with the relevant
units at DZ BANK and in the other management
units, organizes regular bank-wide and groupwide
dialog on identified and new strategic regulatory
initiatives, and uses a ‘regulatory map’ to report to
the responsible steering committees, the Board of
Managing Directors, and the Supervisory Board of
DZ BANK.

12.3 Specific risk factors

Costs of regulation

Over the next few years, the DZ BANK Group is
likely to face increased costs, and thus reduced
profits, in connection with implementing the
requirements resulting from the commercial-law
and regulatory initiatives currently being planned by
legislators (see sections 5.1.1 and 5.1.2).



Group management report
Combined opportunity and risk report

Competition based on pricing and terms

One of the features of the German banking sector is
the fierce competition, frequently centered on pricing
and terms. This can lead to margins that are not
attractive from an economic perspective or are
inadequate given the risk involved. The earnings
situation is under particular pressure in the retail
banking business. Since competitors are giving
greater focus to retail banking — increasingly with new,
digital business models — than to their core businesses,
this situation could become even tougher in the future.

Corporate banking is also subject to competition that
is becoming increasingly international in nature. A
number of foreign providers have already expanded
their presence in the German market. The intensity of
the competition could therefore continue to increase
in the future, with the result that it could be difficult to
generate attractive margins, fees and commissions in
individual segments or subsegments of the market.

In the event of a renewed economic downturn, this
trend could become even worse. For example, a
contraction in capital spending by businesses, and an
associated drop in demand for bank finance, would
add to the competitive pressure. Again, this could give
rise to margins that are economically unattractive or
that do not adequately cover the risk arising from the
corresponding transactions.

Greater competition in capital markets business

DZ BANK’s capital markets business is faced with the
ongoing challenges presented by low interest rates,
accompanied by a fall in market liquidity and
historically low risk premiums.

Morteover, the reorganization of the customer business
in line with the MiFID II provisions will tighten the
squeeze on margins because of the greater
transparency requirements.

In DZ BANK’s own-account investing activities
with the local cooperative banks, it is exposed to
rising price sensitivity caused by a contraction in
operating profits and increases in the size of the banks
resulting from mergers.

In addition, DZ BANK increasingly offers its
customers the option of conducting transactions in
selected financial instruments using electronic
trading platforms. Depending also on product
demand from market players, European regulation
relating to the trading and settlement of financial

instruments is expected to lead to a transfer of the
trading volume in certain products to electronic
trading platforms. It is predicted that this will bring
about a change in competitor structure, with
competition becoming fiercer in the trading of certain
financial instruments for customer account, resulting
in the risk of a reduction in margins and revenue going
forward.

The trends referred to above could have an adverse
impact on future financial performance at both

DZ BANK Group and DZ BANK levels.

Digitalization and new competitors in transaction banking
The prevalence of mobile devices and internet-based
services (digitalization) is encouraging the
intermediation of new competitors at the interface
between customers and banking services. No more so
than in transaction banking, where banks are
frequently finding themselves up against new
unregulated competitors, often from outside the
banking sector and offering innovative solutions to
meet the changes in customer needs. The situation will
become even tougher with the implementation of the
requirements under Directive (EU) 2015/23606, the
revised Payment Services Directive (PSD2), as a result
of which third-party providers will have to be granted
access to account data. These developments are
increasingly changing the role played by banks as
product providers and are likely to reduce fee and
commission income from transaction banking, thereby
diminishing the income prospects for entities in the
Bank sector.

The opportunities presented by digitalization are
described in section 4.2.2.

12.4 Risk position

As at December 31, 2017, the Bank sector’s risk
capital requirement (including capital buffer
requirement) for business risk (including reputational
risk) amounted to €781 million (December 31, 2016:
€912 million). The decrease is primarily attributable to
the adjustment of cost time series at DZ BANK to
remove non-recurring items. The upper loss limit

as at the reporting date was €1,040 million
(December 31, 2016: €1,024 million). The upper loss
limit was not exceeded at any point during 2017.

As at December 31, 2017, the economic capital
requirement for DZ BANK was calculated at
€579 million (December 31, 2016: €717 million).
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The upper loss limit as at December 31, 2017 was
€790 million (December 31 2016: €750 million).

13 Reputational risk

13.1 Definition and business background
Reputational risk refers to the risk of losses from
events that damage confidence, mainly among
customers (including the local cooperative banks),
shareholders, employees, the labor market, the general
public, and the supervisory authority, in the entities in
the Bank sector or in the products and services that
they offer.

Reputational risk can arise from any operating process
or business activity in the entities within the Bank
sector. Reputational risk can arise as an independent
risk (primary reputational risk) or as an indirect or
direct consequence of other types of risk, such as
business risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk
(secondary reputational risk).

13.2 Risk strategy and responsibility

Reputational risk is incorporated into the risk strategy

by pursuing the following objectives:

— Avoiding loss resulting from reputation-damaging
incidents by taking preventive action

— Mitigating reputational risk by taking preventive
and responsive action

— Raising awareness of reputational risk within the
Bank sector, e.g. by defining the people
responsible for risk and establishing a sector-wide
reporting system and set of rules for reputational
risk.

These objectives are applicable both at the Bank sector
level and in the management units. The management
units are responsible for complying with the rules and
for deciding what suitable preventive and responsive
action to take.

The reputational risk strategy is based on the business
strategies in each management unit and to this end is
reviewed at least once a year and adjusted as necessary.

Each management unit is responsible for managing

its reputational risk and must comply with the
requirements laid down in the set of rules for
reputational risk. The principle of decentralized
responsibility applies equally within all the
management units, including DZ BANK. Based on
this approach, responsibility for managing reputational

risk lies with each division with the involvement of
other functions such as communications, marketing,
business continuity management, and compliance.

13.3 Risk management

Reputational risk is generally taken into account within
business risk and is therefore implicitly included in the
measurement of risk and risk capital adequacy in the
Bank sector. At BSH, reputational risk mainly is
measured and the capital requirement determined as
part of the technical risk of a home savings and loan
company. In addition, the risk that obtaining funding
may become more difficult as a consequence of
reputational damage is specifically taken into account
in liquidity risk management.

Crisis communications aimed at mitigating
reputational risk are designed to prevent greater
damage to the entities in the Bank sector if a critical
event occurs. The management units therefore follow
a stakeholder-based approach in which reputational
risk is identified and evaluated from a qualitative
perspective depending on the stakeholder concerned.

13.4 Specific risk factors

If the Bank sector as a whole or the individual
management units acquire a negative reputation, there
is a risk that existing or potential customers will be
unsettled with the result that existing business
relationships might be terminated or it might not
be possible to carry out planned transactions. There
is also a risk that it will no longer be possible to
guarantee the backing of stakeholders, such as
shareholders and employees, necessary to conduct
business operations.

14 Operational risk

14.1 Definition and business background

DZ BANK defines operational risk as the risk of
loss from human behavior, technological failure,
weaknesses in process or project management, or
external events. This closely resembles the regulatory
definition. Legal risk is included in this definition.

It follows then that operational risk could arise in
any division of the entities in the Bank sector. The
activities of DZ BANK and those of BSH, DG HYP,
DVB, DZ PRIVATBANK, and UMH have a
particularly significant impact on operational risk for
the Bank sector.
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14.2 Risk strategy

The Bank sector entities aim to manage operational

risk efficiently. They apply the following principles:

— Reinforce risk awareness

— Handle operational risk openly and largely without
penalties

— Avoid, reduce, transfer, or accept risk as optional
courses of action

— Ensure that the impact of decisions on operational
risk is taken into account

— Manage operational risk on a decentralized basis
but within the limits set out in the framework for
operational risk.

14.3 Organization, responsibility, and risk
reporting

Each management unit is responsible for managing
its operational risk. The principle of decentralized
responsibility applies equally within all the
management units, including DZ BANK.

One of the purposes of the framework for
operational risk is to harmonize organizational
structures throughout the sector. The sector-wide
coordinated approach to operational risk is also
managed by a committee assigned to the Group Risk
Management working group and comprising
representatives from DZ BANK and its main
subsidiaries.

A DZ BANK unit responsible for controlling
operational risk located within the Group Risk
Controlling division develops the management and
control methods based on regulatory requirements
and business needs applicable to the Bank sector.
The unit ensures that operational risk is monitored
independently and it is responsible for central
reporting.

Corresponding organizational units are also in place at
the other main entities in the Bank sector.

In most of the management units in the Bank sector,
including DZ BANK, specialist divisions with central
risk management functions manage some operational
risk tasks. As part of their overarching responsibility,
these specialist divisions in each entity also perform an
advisory and guiding function for the matters within
their remit, such as IT risk.

Because operational risk can affect all divisions, local
operational risk coordinators are located in each
division of the main management units and they act

as interfaces with Central Risk Controlling. This also
applies to DZ BANK.

Regular reports on loss data, risk self-assessments, risk
indicators, and risk capital are submitted to the Board
of Managing Directors, the Group Risk and Finance
Committee, the Risk Committee, and operational
management, facilitating effective management of
operational risk on a timely basis.

14.4 Central risk management

14.4.1 Measurement of operational risk

The calculation of the risk capital requirement for
operational risk in the Bank sector is based on an
economic portfolio model, in which losses are
monitored on the basis of the expected loss calculated
by the model. The results from the model, combined
with the tools used to identify risk, enable the efficient,
centralized management of operational risk.

14.4.2 Identifying operational risk

Loss database

The groupwide collation of loss data in a central
database allows the Bank sector to identify, analyze,
and evaluate loss events, highlighting patterns, trends,
and concentrations of operational risk. This data-
gathering covers a number of areas but focuses
particulatly on loss data related to risks that have been
incurred, for example in connection with the risk
factors specified in section 14.5. The assembled data
history also forms the basis for the calculation of

economic capital using a portfolio model. Losses are
recorded if they are above a threshold value of €1,000.

Risk self-assessment

Senior managers from all management units assess
operational risk using a scenario-supported risk self-
assessment process in order to identify and evaluate all
material operational risks and ensure maximum
possible transparency regarding the risk position. The
main potential risks for all first-level risk categories as
defined by the CRR are calculated and described using
risk scenarios. The findings are fed into the internal
portfolio model for operational risk that is used to
calculate any capital buffer requirement. The scenarios
also enable risk concentrations to be identified.

Risk indicators

In addition to the loss database and risk self-
assessment, risk indicators help the Bank sector to
identify risk trends and concentrations at an eatly stage
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and detect weaknesses in business processes. A system
of warning lights is used to indicate risk situations
based on specified threshold values. Risk indicators
within the Bank sector are collected systematically and
regularly on a wide scale.

14.4.3 Limiting operational risk

The upper loss limit for operational risk is used as
the basis for central monitoring of the risk capital
requirement at the Bank sector level. The risk capital
requirement for the Bank sector is broken down into
risk contributions for each management unit using

a risk-sensitive allocation procedure so that the
management units in the Bank sector can be
monitored centrally. These risk contributions are then
monitored centrally using upper loss limits for each
management unit.

14.4.4 Mitigating and avoiding operational risk
Continuous improvement of business processes is one
of the methods used with the aim of mitigating
operational risk. The transfer of risk by means of
insurance or outsourcing as permitted by liability
regulations provides further protection.

Operational risk is avoided, for example, by rejecting
products that can be identified during the new product
process as entailing too much risk.

In all relevant management units, a comprehensive
contingency and crisis management system (with
business continuity plans covering critical processes)
has been established to ensure the continuation of
business in the event of process disruption or system
breakdown. These business continuity plans are
regulatly reviewed and simulated to ensure they are
fully functional. The contingency and crisis
management system at DZ BANK has been certified
in accordance with ISO 22301, which applies
worldwide.

14.5 Management of special risks

Risks that affect specific matters or atreas are called
special risks. Special risks primarily impact operational
risk but also affect business risk and reputational risk.
This patticulatly applies to aspects of HR risk, IT risk,
outsourcing risk, and tax risk. The scope and level of
detail for the risk management system described below
varies between the management units because of their
different business and risk profiles.

Special risks are mostly, but not always, managed and
monitored by the generally eponymous specialist

divisions. This applies to the majority of the
management units in the Bank sector, including

DZ BANK.
14.5.1 HR risk

Risk management

The entities in the Bank sector have developed a
mechanism known as a Human Resources KPI
cockpit with standardized key performance indicators
(KPIs). The Human Resources KPI cockpit is
intended to integrate HR strategies between the
management units, increase transparency, and ensure
comparability between the HR management systems in
the Bank sector as well as help the management units
to manage their HR activities. To this end, the cockpit
specifies 21 key performance indicators (KPIs) across
the following four categoties: value added/finance,
employer appeal, organization/efficiency, and
innovation/learning.

The entities in the Bank sector pursue the objective of
preventing or minimizing HR risk by identifying
negative trends and abnormalities, and then initiating
suitable corrective action. HR risk is monitored using
the following four risk factors: exit risk, availability risk,
skills and qualifications risk, motivational risk.

Compliance functions and a comprehensive internal
control system are used to counter fraud. Examples
include internal rules on the minimum absence for
employees with responsibility for trading positions.

Risk Controlling at DZ BANK has specified relevant
KPIs for HR management as risk indicators. The key
figures atre collated on a monthly basis as part of the
risk indicator process and include training days per
employee, employee workload, resignation rate, total
staff turnover rate, and the percentage of vacant
positions.

The HR division of DZ BANK is involved in
designing the standard scenarios relating to HR risk
and validates the scenario assessment of the other
entities in the Bank sector, particularly with regard to
basis of calculation, frequency of occurrence, and loss
level.

Specific risk factors

The majority of employees at the German offices

of the entities in the Bank sector fall within the scope
of collective pay agreements or other collective
arrangements, such as company agreements. The
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entities in the Bank sector could be hit by strikes called
by labor unions.

Other HR measures, such as job cuts in response to a
permanent fall in demand or to increase efficiency,
could lead to industrial disputes between the
workforce (or the employee representatives/labor
unions) and the entities in the Bank sector.

In accordance with their contingency and crisis
management systems, the entities in the Bank sector
have initiated a range of measures to maintain business
continuity in the event of strikes and other business
interruptions. However, the possibility cannot be
ruled out that simultaneous industtial action at all sites
over several days could cause lasting disruption to
processes and workflows. Moreover, sensitive internal
and external interfaces could be jeopardized by long-
term business interruptions.

The future success of the entities in the Bank sector is
dependent upon capable managers and employees
with the necessary skills and qualifications. Given
the current challenges presented by the regulatory
environment, this particularly applies in the areas of
regulatory reporting, external (consolidated) financial
reporting, and risk control. In the labor market, there
is fierce competition for managers and employees in
these areas of activity driven by high demand and
insufficient numbers of suitable individuals.

Unless the necessary number of suitable managers and
employees can be attracted to the entities in the Bank
sector within the required timeframe, and/or existing
managers and employees can be retained by the
entities in the sector, there will be a heightened risk
that the sector will be unable or insufficiently able to
satisfy the statutory requirements regarding regulatory
reporting, external (consolidated) financial reporting,
and risk control as a result of inadequate expertise in
terms of either quality or quantity.

This could lead to sanctions from the banking
supetvisor and a qualified audit opinion in the
consolidated and separate financial statements and
group management reports and management tepotts
prepared by the entities in the Bank sector, which
would impact negatively on the reputation of the
DZ BANK Group overall and of individual entities
in the Bank sector.

14.5.2 IT risk

Risk management

The entities in the Bank sector use computers and
data processing systems to catry out their operating
activities. Practically all business transactions and
activities are processed electronically using appropriate
IT systems. These systems are networked with each
other and are operationally interdependent.

Processes in the I'T units of the entities in the Bank
sector are designed with risk issues in mind and are
monitored using a variety of control activities in order
to ensure that IT risk is appropriately managed.

The starting point is to determine which risks are
unavoidable in certain aspects of I'T. Detailed
requirements can then be specified. These
requirements determine the extent to which checks
need to be carried out and are intended to ensure that
all activities are conducted in compliance with the
previously defined risk appetite.

IT units apply comprehensive physical and logical
precautionary measures to guarantee the security of
data and applications and to ensure that day-to-day
operations are maintained. A particular risk would

be a partial or total breakdown in data processing
systems. The Bank sector counters this risk by using
segregated data processing centers in which the data
and systems are mirrored, special access security, fire
control systems, and an uninterruptible power supply
supported by emergency power generators. Regular
exercises are carried out to test defined restart
procedures to be used in emergency or crisis situations
with the aim of checking the efficacy of these
procedures. Data is backed up and held within highly
secutre environments in different buildings.

The central risk assessment method used by the IT
division at DZ BANK is the assessment of risk events
in the IT risk profile report. Risk events are deemed to
be specific scenarios for which the level of loss and the
probability of occurrence are assessed. The assessment
catried out by I'T division managers takes into account
the results of the self-assessment report on the internal
control system, the report on control points, and the
report on findings and incidents.

The results of the assessment of IT risk events
conducted at DZ BANK are used to prepare the
risk self-assessment scenarios for the I'T division.
The IT risk groups, comprising I'T operating risk,
IT outsourcing risk, I'T security risk, and I'T project
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risk, are each allocated one or more scenarios in the
risk self-assessment. When the risk self-assessment is
completed, the results of the decentralized risk
assessment are compared with internal I'T estimates
and then analyzed. The results of the risk self-
assessment process are also used as parameters for
assessing IT risk events in the following year.

Specific risk factors

Malfunctions or breakdowns in data processing
systems or in the programs used on these systems,
including attacks from external sources — such as
hackers or malware —, could have an adverse impact
on the ability of the entities in the Bank sector to
efficiently maintain the processes necessary to carry
out operating activities, protect saved data, ensure
sufficient control, or continue to develop products
and services. Furthermore, such malfunctions or
breakdowns could lead to temporary or permanent
loss of data, or cause additional costs because the
original capability would need to be restored and/or
preventive measures introduced to provide protection
against similar events in the future.

Events outside the control of the entities of the Bank
sector could also disrupt operational procedures.

For example, when executing forward, currency, or
commodities trades a risk arises that a system
breakdown at a clearing agent, exchange, clearing
house, or other financial intermediary could prevent
the transactions in question from being settled at the
agreed time and thus could also prevent the entities of
the Bank sector from meeting their obligations. This
could result in the withdrawal of counterparties from
agreements entered into with entities in the Bank
sector or lead to claims for damages against those
entities.

14.5.3 Outsourcing risk

Risk management

The entities in the Bank sector have outsourced
activities and processes to third-party service providers
to a considerable extent.

The process of assessing the risk and determining

the degree to which an outsourcing arrangement is
material is mostly catried out as part of the risk
analysis for the outsourcing arrangement by the
division responsible for the outsourcing with the
involvement of a number of corporate and functional
units, including internal audit, legal affairs, business
continuity management, and compliance, and in

consultation with the local coordinators for
operational risk.

The Central Outsourcing Management (COM) unit
has been set up at DZ BANK to coordinate
outsourcing activities. COM acts as a central point

of contact for outsourcing matters at DZ BANK and
lays down standards for handling outsourcing activities
and their operational management. The RSA Archer
outsourcing management tool is used within COM

as the central application for recording outsourcing
projects at DZ BANK and for managing outsourcing
partners.

At DZ BANK, outsourcing partners are managed by
the department responsible for the outsourcing in
accordance with the currently applicable guidelines
for insourcing and outsourcing. Service meetings are
regularly held with service providers to facilitate
communication and coordinate the I'T services and
other services to be provided by the third parties
concerned. Compliance with contractually specified
service level agreements is monitored by means of
status reports and uptime statistics. The outsourcing
partners submit annual audit reports in which they
evaluate and confirm the effectiveness of the general
controls and procedures.

Specific risk factors

The risk arising in connection with the outsourcing
of business activities is limited to the extent required
by the supervisory authority. Nevertheless, there is a
risk that a service provider could fail or cease to be
available as a result of insurmountable technical or
financial difficulties. There is also a risk that the
services performed by the service provider might

not meet the contractually agreed requirements.

The consequences could be that only some of the
outsourced processes or services can be provided, or
even that the outsourced processes or services cannot
be provided at all. This could lead to a loss of business
and to claims for damages from customers. There are
contingency plans, explicit liability provisions in
contracts, and exit strategies for this eventuality,
including action to reduce this risk.

14.5.4 Risks in connection with the (consolidated)
financial reporting process

Risk management

In order to limit operational risk in this area of
activity, DZ BANK and the other entities in the Bank
sector have set up internal control systems for the
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(consolidated) financial reporting process as an integral
component of the control systems put in place for the

general risk management process. The functionality of
these control systems is described in section 3.4.7.

Specific risk factors

An internal control system relating to the
(consolidated) financial reporting process needs to
provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from misstatements. The main
risks in the (consolidated) financial reporting process
are that, as a result of unintended misstatements or
deliberate action, the consolidated financial statements
and group management report of the DZ BANK
Group as well as the consolidated financial statements,
group management reports, separate financial
statements, and management reports of DZ BANK
and the other entities in the Bank sector might not
provide a true and fair view of financial position and
financial performance and/or that publication might
be delayed. These risks could then have an adverse
impact on investors’ confidence in the DZ BANK
Group and the individual entities in the Bank sector or
on their reputation. Furthermore, sanctions could be
imposed, for example by the banking supervisor.

The (consolidated) financial statements do not provide
a true and fair view of financial position and financial
performance if the disclosures in the statements are
materially different from what they should be.
Differences are classified as material if, individually or
as a whole, they could influence economic decisions
made by the users of the financial statements on the
basis of the financial statements. The internal control
system related to the (consolidated) financial reporting
process aims to reduce these risks.

14.5.5 Legal risk

Risk management
Tax risk with legal risk implications is not included in
this section; it is described in section 14.5.6 below.

In the entities of the Bank sector, responsibility for
managing legal disputes normally lies with their
organizational units responsible for dealing with legal
issues.

The entities in the Bank sector pursue a strategy of
avoiding legal risk. The organizational units
responsible for assessing legal issues therefore
continuously monitor proposed legislation and
regulatory requirements that are legally relevant,

as well as developments in decisions by the courts.
On this basis, these units identify legal risk and are
involved in informing the departments concerned

as soon as possible and implementing any necessary
changes. The legal affairs units are responsible for
reviewing and assessing circumstances from a legal
perspective and also for coordinating any legal
proceedings. The latter consists of both defending
claims pursued against the entities in the Bank sector
and enforcing claims by the management units against
third parties.

If any legal risk is identified, the management unit
concerned assesses the risk parameters in terms of
their probability of occurrence and possible impact.

In addition, the amounts in dispute in the divisions

are calculated quarterly as part of the assessment of
risk indicators and, if they exceed certain thresholds,
the affected divisions must prepare a report. As part of
the annual risk self-assessment in the management and
control of operational risk, the legal affairs divisions
of the management units help to assess the standard
scenatios for legal risk. The results are taken into
account when determining the economic capital.

Identified risks are limited and mitigated by
organizational measures, either legal or procedural, or
are taken into account by recognizing provisions or
similar allowances for losses on loans and advances.

The legal affairs divisions in the Bank sector entities
also submit reports on risk-related issues to the
membet(s) of the Board of Managing Directors with
relevant responsibility, independently of the
established regular reports on cases pending before
the courts.

Provisions recognized on the balance sheet

The entities in the Bank sector report potential losses
arising from legal risk in accordance with the relevant
(consolidated) financial reporting standards, which
includes recognizing any provisions that may be
required. This also encompasses potential risk in
connection with cases pending before the courts.

Any concentrations of risk owing to similarities
between individual cases are taken into consideration.
Comparable cases are aggregated to form a group.

The entities in the Bank sector have recognized
provisions for legal risk arising in connection with
capital market and credit products.
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Specific risk factors

Legal risk could arise, in particular, from changes
in the legal environment, changes in official
interpretations of relevant regulations, government
interventions, court or arbitration proceedings, and
changes in the business environment.

14.5.6 Tax risk

Risk management

The entities in the Bank sector have decentralized
systems for managing tax risk. Within the management
units, responsibility for managing tax risk normally lies
with the organizational units responsible for dealing
with tax issues.

The entities in the Bank sector pursue a strategy of
avoiding tax risk. The starting point for managing tax
risk is the ongoing process of identifying, recording,
and monitoring risk. If any tax risk is identified, the
risk parameters are assessed in terms of their
probability of occurrence and possible impact in
quantitative and qualitative terms. Identified risks are
limited and mitigated by means of tax organizational
measures.

The tax department at DZ BANK reports the
groupwide data relevant to risk to the head of the
Group Finance division and to the member of the
Board of Managing Directors with relevant
responsibility. Separately, and depending on materiality
thresholds, ad hoc risk reports are also submitted to
the above individuals.

Specific risk factors

Tax risk can arise, in particular, from adverse changes
in tax circumstances (tax legislation, decisions by the
courts), adverse changes in the interpretation by tax
authorities of existing tax legislation, and changes in
non-tax regulations.

As a result of tax audits, an alternative assessment of
the tax risk ot, in some cases, other information could
give rise to retrospective tax liabilities for periods
that have already been assessed. As there ate still
outstanding audits by the tax authorities relating to

a number of financial years, there is a risk that
retrospective tax payments could be required and these
payments would be subject to interest charges.

Business transactions are assessed for tax purposes on
the basis of current tax legislation, taking into account
the latest decisions by the courts and interpretations by

the authorities. The outcome is factored into the
measurement of the allowances for losses on loans
and advances. Further risks could arise as a result of
changes in tax law or in decisions by the courts,
which could also have retroactive implications.

14.5.7 Compliance risk

Risk management

In the context of their operating activities, the entities
in the Bank sector must comply with various legal
requirements in a large number of countries. These
include prohibitions on accepting or granting benefits
in connection with efforts to attract business, and
prohibitions on other unfair business practices.

The management of risk arising from non-compliance
with applicable laws, regulatory requirements, and
internal rules and regulations is described in

section 3.4.4.

Specific risk factors

The compliance and risk management systems in the
Bank sector are generally appropriate. Nevertheless,
there is a risk that these systems could be inadequate
for completely preventing or uncovering violations

of legal provisions, for identifying and assessing all
relevant risks for the entities in the Bank sector, ot for
initiating appropriate corrective measures.

The entities in the Bank sector cannot rule out the
possibility of the existing compliance system proving
to be inadequate, or of their employees violating
domestic or foreign legal provisions regardless of the
existing legal requirements, internal compliance
guidelines and organizational requirements, and
despite appropriate training and reviews, or of such
activities remaining undiscovered.

A violation of legal provisions may have legal
implications for the entity concerned, for the members
of its decision-making bodies, or for its employees.

It may give rise, for example, to fines, penalties,
retrospective tax payments, or claims for damages by
third parties. The reputation of the DZ BANK Group
as a whole and of the individual entities in the Bank
sector may also suffer as a result.

14.6 Loss events

Losses from operational risk do not follow a
consistent pattern. Instead, the overall risk profile can
be seen from the total losses incurred over the long
term and is shaped by a small number of large losses.
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Consequently, comparisons between net losses in a
reporting period and those in a prior-year period are
not meaningful. Prior-year figures are therefore not
disclosed.

Fig. 48 shows the losses for the Bank sector reported
in 2017, classified by loss event category. Over the
course of time, there ate regular fluctuations in the
pattern of losses as the frequency of relatively large
losses in each individual case is very low. The losses
are selected on the date on which the expense results
in a cash outflow, thus ensuring consistency with the
internal reporting.

FIG. 48 - BANK SECTOR: NET LOSSES BY EVENT CATEGORY IN 2017’

™\

1 In accordance with the CRR, losses caused by operational risks that are associated with risks
such as credit risk are also shown.

In the Bank sector, the ‘Clients, products, and
business practices’ event category accounted for the
majority (77 percent) of net losses. The net loss in the
event category was attributable to 7 loss events. Of the
total, 3 loss events resulted from changes arising from
court decisions and legal interpretation. A further 3
loss events related to potential legal disputes and 1
event was in connection with tax matters.

Accounting for 81 percent of total net losses, the
largest loss event category at DZ BANK was also
‘Clients, products, and business practices’. The loss
amount was attributable to some of the loss events
referred to above.

Losses did not reach a critical level relative to the
expected loss from operational risk at any point during
2017 either in the Bank sector or at DZ BANK.

14.7 Risk position
Using the internal portfolio model, the Bank sector’s
risk capital requirement (including capital buffer

requirement) for operational risk as at

December 31, 2017 was calculated at €821 million
(December 31, 2016: €892 million) with an upper
loss limit of €1,147 million (December 31, 2016:
€1,152 million).

As at December 31, 2017, the corresponding
requirement at DZ BANK was €390 million
(December 31, 2016: €439 million). The upper loss
limit as at December 31, 2017 was €565 million
(December 31, 2016: €479 million). The risk capital
requirements (including capital buffer requirement)
both for the Bank sector and for DZ BANK wete
within the applicable upper loss limit and alert
threshold at all times during the course of 2017.

14.8 Summary and outlook

The methodology for managing operational risk
remained fundamentally unchanged in 2017. The
results from the portfolio model used to calculate the
economic capital requirement for operational risk and
the materiality thresholds specified for the loss
database, scenario-based risk self-assessment, and risk
indicators ensure that operational risk is efficiently
managed.

In 2018, it is planned to carry out more analysis using
the portfolio model. Efforts will also focus on

improving the qualitative management of operational
risk and the management of risk-mitigating measures.

Insurance sector

15 Basic principles of risk management in the
Insurance sector

15.1 Risk strategy

The principles of risk management in the Insurance
sector are based on the risk strategy of the DZ BANK
Group for the Insurance sector. The risk strategy is
derived from the business strategies, taking into
account the strategic 4-year plan approved by the
Board of Managing Directors at its spring meeting.

Life actuarial risk is managed with the objectives of
holding a broadly diversified product portfolio and of
developing existing products while structuring new,
innovative products. In order to diversify the life
insurance and pension provision portfolios, pension,
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endowment and risk insurance, working life and semi-
retirement products, and index-linked products are
underwritten in a way that achieves a balance within
the product portfolio. The actuarial assumptions are
designed so as to build in adequate safety margins
and address changes in the latest findings in order to
withstand both the current risk situation as well as
potential changes in this situation. Whete products
have policyholder participation, this represents the
main instrument for mitigating risk. Policyholder
participation is set appropriately. Underwriting
guidelines and risk audits are used to prevent anti-
selection. The risk exposure in the case of large
individual risks may be limited by taking out
appropriate reinsurance.

The objectives of managing health actuarial risk

are a risk-conscious underwriting policy, rigorous
cost/benefit management, the development of existing
products, and the structuring of new, innovative
products. In this case too, the actuarial assumptions
are designed so as to build in adequate safety margins
and address changes in the latest findings in order to
withstand both the current risk situation as well as
potential changes in this situation. The risk exposure in
the case of large individual risks may be limited by
taking out appropriate reinsurance.

The management of non-life actuarial risk in direct
business aims to optimize portfolios in terms of risk
and reward. R+V focuses on business in Germany,
offering a full range of non-life insurance products.
The assumption of risk in connection with expanding
its market share is accepted subject to the proviso that
the business is profitable. Underwriting guidelines

and size restrictions ensure targeted risk selection.
Depending on its risk-bearing capacity, R+V reviews
whether to purchase reinsurance cover to reduce
earnings volatility, insure against major and cumulative
claims, and protect and boost existing financial
strength and earnings power.

In inward non-life business, R+V also aims to
optimize the portfolio from a risk/reward perspective.
Risk selection is based on binding underwriting
guidelines and the exclusions of liability defined in
those guidelines. The assumption of reinsurance risk
is managed by using individual liability and aggregate
limits in the sales and underwriting policy.

R+V’s investments particularly give rise to interest-rate
risk, spread risk, and equity risk. R+V’s market risk
strategy is determined by the regulatory investment

principles specified in section 124 VAG and by

internal rules.

Insurance companies must invest all assets so as to
ensure the security, quality, liquidity, and profitability
of the portfolio as a whole; the location of the assets
must also ensure that they are available. In addition,
well-established collaboration arrangements between
R+V’s underwriting and investment departments as
part of the management of assets and liabilities ensure
that insurance contract benefit obligations on the
balance sheet are matched with investment
opportunities.

The market risk assumed by R+V reflects the
investment portfolio structure developed as part of
strategic asset allocation taking into account the
individual risk-bearing capacity and long-term income
requirements of R+V subsidiaries. The risk is managed
in compliance with the upper loss limits specified at
DZ BANK Group level.

The management of market risk is connected with

the following fundamental objectives of risk policy:
ensuring competitive returns on investments taking
into account individual risk-bearing capacities,
achieving defined minimum investment returns in
stress scenarios, and securing a hidden asset level
sufficient to ensure consistent earnings. The aim is also
to guarantee that there is a sufficient proportion of
fungible investments. The methods used to limit life
insurance risk include policyholder participation, the
setting of an appropriate discount rate, and recognition
of supplementary change-in-discount-rate reserves.

In line with the risk strategy for counterparty default
risk, R+V aims to maintain a high average credit
rating for its portfolios, avoid concentrations of issuers
at portfolio level, and comply with the limits that have
been set for counterparties and debtors of insurance
and reinsurance companies.

The risk strategy for operational risk aims to further
raise awareness of operational risk.

15.2 Organization, responsibility, and risk
reporting

The risk management process, which is implemented
across all entities in the R+V subgroup, defines rules
for the way in which risks are identified, analyzed,
assessed, managed and monitored, and the way in
which they are reported and communicated. These
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rules form the basis for a central early-warning
system.

Participations are also included in the R+V subgroup’s
risk management system. In addition, the risk
management system incorporates a business continuity
management (BCM) system. Risk-bearing capacity is
reviewed and measured at least once a quarter and the
process includes a review of binding key performance
indicators and threshold values. Corrective action must
be initiated if a specified index value is exceeded. Risk-
bearing capacity and all material risks are subsequently
evaluated each quarter by the Risk Committee.

The central reporting of risk at R+V is intended to
provide transparent reporting. Reports are submitted
to the Board of Managing Directors of R+V in

the event of material changes in risk. Company
information that has a bearing on risk exposure is
passed to the relevant supervisory bodies, both
regularly and on an ad hoc basis.

16.1 Definition and business background

16.1.1 Definition

Actuarial risk is the risk that the actual cost of claims
and benefits deviates from the expected cost as a result
of chance, error or change. It is broken down into the
following categories defined by Solvency II:

—  Life actuarial risk
—  Health actuarial risk
— Non-life actuarial risk

Life actuarial risk

Life actuarial risk refers to the risk arising from the
assumption of life insurance obligations, in relation
to the risks covered and the processes used in the
conduct of this business. Life actuarial risk is
calculated as the combination of capital requirements
for, as a minimum, the following sub-modules:

— Mortality risk describes the risk of loss or an
adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities,
resulting from changes in the level, trend, or
volatility of mortality rates, where an increase in
the mortality rate leads to an increase in the value
of insurance liabilities.

— Longevity risk describes the risk of loss or an
adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities,
resulting from changes in the level, trend, or
volatility of mortality rates, where a decrease in the
mortality rate leads to an increase in the value of
insurance liabilities.

— Disability-morbidity risk describes the risk of
loss or an adverse change in the value of insurance
liabilities, resulting from changes in the level, trend,
or volatility of disability, sickness, or morbidity
rates.

— Life catastrophe risk describes the risk of loss or
adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities,
resulting from the significant uncertainty of
pricing and assumptions when recognizing
provisions related to extreme or unusual events.

— Lapse risk describes the risk of loss or an adverse
change in the value of insurance liabilities,
resulting from changes in the level or volatility of
the rates of policy lapses, cancellations, renewals,
and surrenders.

— Life expense risk describes the risk of loss or an
adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities,
resulting from changes in the level, trend, or
volatility of the expenses incurred in servicing
insurance or reinsurance contracts.

Health actuarial risk

Health actuarial risk refers to the risk arising from
the assumption of health and casualty insurance
obligations, in relation to the risks covered and the
processes used in the conduct of this business.

Non-life actuarial risk

Non-life actuarial risk refers to the risk arising from
the assumption of non-life insurance obligations, in
relation to the risks covered and the processes used in
the conduct of this business. It is calculated as the
combination of capital requirements for the following
submodules:

— Premium and resetrve risk describes the risk of
loss or an adverse change in the value of insurance
liabilities, resulting from fluctuations in the timing,
frequency, and severity of insured events, and in
the timing and amount of claim settlements.

— Non-life catastrophe risk describes the risk of
loss or an adverse change in the value of insurance
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liabilities, resulting from the significant uncertainty
of pricing and assumptions when recognizing
provisions related to extreme or unusual events.

— Lapse risk describes uncertainty about the
continuation of the direct insurance and
reinsurance contracts. It results from the fact that
the lapse of contracts that are profitable for the
insurance company will lead to a reduction in
own funds.

16.1.2 Business background

In the DZ BANK Group, actuarial risk arises from the
business activities of the insurance subsidiary R+V and
its subsidiaties. The risk arises from the direct life
insurance and health insurance business, the direct
non-life insurance business, and the inward
reinsurance business.

Actuarial risk arises in the form of variances from the
expected level of losses resulting from the random
nature of the timing, frequency, and amount of claims.
The risk may also arise from unpredictable changes in
insured risks, claim distributions, expected values and
mean variations due, for example, to changes in
climatic and geological conditions or technological,
economic or social changes. Incomplete information
about the true degree of regularity in the distribution
of claims due to incorrect statistical analysis, or
incomplete information about the future validity of
the degree of regularity in the distribution of claims
in the past could be other causes.

The actuarial risk situation in life insurance companies
is also characterized to a large extent by fixed
premiums and the long-term nature of the guaranteed
benefits in the event of a claim.

The actuarial risk situation of a health insurance
company is characterized to a large extent by a rise in
the cost of claims, caused both by the performance of
its portfolio and by the behavior of policyholders and
service providers.

16.2 Management of life actuarial risk
16.2.1 Risk measurement
The risk for insurance contracts subject to mortality

risk is modeled as a 15 percent increase in mortality.

The risk for insurance contracts subject to longevity
risk is modeled as a 20 percent increase in longevity.

The overall solvency requirement for disability-
morbidity risk is analyzed on the basis of a
permanent 35 percent rise in the disability rates
expected for the next 12 months, a permanent

25 percent rise in the disability rates expected for the
period after those 12 months, and a permanent

20 percent decrease in all expected likely cases of
policyholders being able to return to work.

The risk for insurance contracts affected by life
catastrophe risk is modeled as an immediate increase
of 0.15 percentage points in mortality rates in the next
12 months.

The risk for insurance contracts subject to lapse risk
is modeled for the following scenarios: for an increase
in lapses, a 50 percent rise in the lapse rate; for a
decrease in lapses, a 50 percent reduction in the lapse
rate; for a mass lapse event, lapse of 40 percent of the
contracts.

The overall solvency requirement for life expense
risk is based on the following stress scenarios: a
permanent 10 percent rise in the costs reflected in the
measurement of the insurance liabilities; an increase of
1 percentage point in the cost inflation rate.

16.2.2 Risk management in direct life insurance
business

Actuarial risk is minimized by carrying out a careful,
prudent cost calculation while products are still in
development. This applies to the development of
existing products as well as the design of innovative
new types of insurance and is carried out by
incorporating adequate safety margins into actuarial
assumptions in compliance with legislation. The
assumptions are structured in such a way that they not
only withstand the cutrent risk situation, but also
accommodate potential changes in the risk position.
Actuarial control systems are used on a regular basis to
decide whether the cost calculation for future new
business needs to be changed. The calculation is also
adjusted on an ongoing basis in line with the latest
actuarial findings. The appointed actuary catries out
reviews as patt of product development and during the
course of the term of contracts to verify that the
actuarial assumptions used are appropriate.

A number of measures are taken to prevent a
concentration of risks in the portfolio. Before

contracts are signed, extensive risk reviews are carried
out to limit mortality and disability-morbidity risks.
In general, risk is only assumed in compliance with
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fixed underwriting guidelines. High levels of individual
or cumulative risk are limited by an appropriate degree
of reinsurance.

In principle, the broad diversification of insured risks
within R+V has the effect of mitigating risk. For
example, an increase in mortality has an adverse
impact on endowment life and risk insurance policies,
but at the same time has a positive impact on the
longevity risk associated with pension insurance.

Life expense risk is mitigated by cutting costs as far
as possible and operating sustainably.

Lapse risk is mitigated by structuring life insurance
contracts to provide maximum flexibility should
policyholders’ circumstances change. A range of
different options enables customers to maintain their
contract instead of canceling it. Designing policyholder
participation with an attractive final bonus also
counteracts lapse risk.

Advance notice of policyholder participation in the
form of declarations of future bonuses is also an
important instrument with which to reduce actuarial
risk relating to life insurance.

16.3 Management of health actuarial risk

16.3.1 Risk measurement

Health actuarial risk is calculated by combining the
capital requirements for the subcategories ‘similar to
life techniques, health actuarial risk’ (risk on health
insurance pursued on a similar technical basis to that
of life insurance), ‘non-similar to life techniques, health
actuarial risk’ (risk on health insurance pursued on a
similar technical basis to that of non-life insurance),
and ‘health catastrophe risk’.

The methods described in the sections on life actuarial
risk and non-life actuarial risk are used to measure risk
in the subcategories.

Health actuarial risk also includes significant parts of
the group’s casualty insurance business as well as its
health and occupational disability insurance business.

16.3.2 Risk management in health and casualty
insurance

Risk management in health insurance business

In the health insurance business, actuarial risk is
managed by means of a risk-conscious underwriting
policy, the features of which are binding underwriting

guidelines, careful selection of risk, and targeted
management of benefits and costs. In many of the
health insurance rate scales, deductibles are one of
the specific mechanisms used to control the extent
of claims. Provisions are recognized to ensure that
all benefit obligations under insurance contracts can
be met. The appointed actuary supervises the
appropriateness of the actuarial assumptions used in
the calculations.

In accordance with VAG provisions, R+V carries out
an annual comparison of its calculations with the
insurance benefits it is required to pay. If this
comparison of claims for an observation unit within a
particular scale of insurance rates reveals a variance
that is other than temporary, the relevant premiums
are adjusted. An independent trustee is consulted to
ensure that the actuarial assumptions are sufficiently
sound. A safety margin factored into premiums also
ensures that obligations can be met if claims are higher
than the level provided for in cost calculations.

In the health insurance business, the decrement
tables include assumptions regarding mortality and
the probability of other relevant withdrawal factors.
Under the requirements set out in the German Health
Insurance Supervision Regulation (KVAYV), these
assumptions must be specified and regularly reviewed
from the perspective of prudent risk assessment.

It is for this reason that a new mortality table is
developed annually by the Verband der privaten
Krankenversicherung e.V. (PKV) [Association of
German private healthcare insurers] in consultation
with BaFin. In accordance with statutory provisions,
R+V carries out an annual comparison of its
calculations with the most recently published mortality
tables.

When determining lapse probabilities for the
purposes of its calculations, R+V uses both its own
observations and the latest figures published by BaFin.

Where premiums were adjusted on January 1, 2017,
R+V used the new PKV mortality table valid for 2017
to determine both new business premiums and those
premium adjustments in existing business.

Unisex insurance rate scales are offered in R+V’s new
business. The cost calculation for these rates is not
only based on the existing gender breakdown, but also
takes into account the expected pattern of switching
by existing policyholders to the new rates. The
appropriateness of the composition of the portfolio
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resulting from the calculations is reviewed by actuaries
using comparable calculations.

Risk management in casualty insurance business

The risk situation in the casualty insurance division is
characterized by the fact that it is fixed-sum insurance
and not indemnity insurance. Consequently, the
maximum benefit per insured person is restricted to
the sum insured.

A risk-conscious underwriting policy is adopted for
casualty insurance. Premiums are reviewed on an
ongoing basis to ensure that they remain appropriate.
Claims are assessed on a case-by-case basis. Experts
and assessors are selected very carefully in order to
obtain assessments that are realistic and appropriate.

16.4 Management of non-life actuarial risk

16.4.1 Risk measurement

The capital requirements for premium and reserve
risk are calculated on the basis of risk factors and
volume measures for all branches of insurance in
which business is conducted. The volume measures
take account of geographical diversification. The risk
factors (e.g. the standard deviation as a percentage of
the volume measure) describe the degree of threat
posed by the risk. The volume measure for the
premium risk is essentially the net premium income
earned in the financial year and in the first and second
years after that. The net claims provisions in the form
of a best-estimate valuation constitute the volume
measure for the reserve risk.

The capital requirement for catastrophe risk is
calculated as an aggregation of four risk modules.
These are natural catastrophe risk (broken down into
the following natural hazards: hail, storm, flood,
earthquake, and subsidence), the catastrophe risk of
non-proporttional reinsurance in non-life insurance,
risk of man-made catastrophe, and other catastrophe
risk in non-life insurance. Catastrophe risk is calculated
using the volume measures of sums insured and
premiums. Risk mitigation through reinsurance is
taken into consideration.

To determine the overall solvency requirement as part
of internal risk assessment, empirical distributions are
generated for the relevant parameters for patts of the
direct insurance portfolio, such as the claim amount
and the number of claims per sector and claim type
(e.g. basic claims, major claims, catastrophe claims).
The value-at-risk can then be determined with the

required confidence level directly from the underwriting
result modeled in this way, recorded as a loss function.
The parameterization of the distributions taken into
account uses historical portfolio data and their
planning data and reflects the entity’s actual risk
position.

The risk modeling for calculating basic claims relating
to the natural hazard earthquake and basic claims and
minor cumulative events relating to the natural hazards
hail, storm, and flood is based on mathematical/
statistical methods. The minimum and maximum claim
amounts for minor cumulative events are derived from
the group’s own claims history. Modeling is based on
the group’s own claims data.

The risk modeling for major cumulative events
relating to the natural hazards hail, storm, flood, and
earthquake uses probability-based natural hazard
models. To this end, catastrophe claims are used that
have been modeled by external providers for each
natural hazard and take account of the specific risk
profile.

In its inward reinsurance business, R+V deploys

a simulation tool for stochastic risk modeling of
catastrophe risk. To model the natural catastrophe risk
on an individual contract basis, event catalogs from
external providers containing predefined scenarios
based on historical observations atre used. The event
catalogs cover the main countries and natural hazards
related to the underwritten risk in the inward
reinsurance concerned. In the case of countries and
natural hazards for which there is no event catalog,
modeling is based on R+V’s own claims history. This
involves generating scenarios for the current portfolio
on the basis of historical major claims.

For inward reinsurance purposes, modeling based on
the group’s own claims history is also used to
determine the overall solvency requirement for the risk
of man-made catastrophe. This involves generating
scenarios for the current portfolio on the basis of the
historical major claims.

The overall solvency requirement for lapse risk is
determined on the basis of a stress scenario involving
the lapse of 40 percent of those insurance contracts
whose lapse would lead to an increase in the best-
estimate valuation for the premium provision.
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16.4.2 Risk management in direct non-life
insurance business

Premium and reserve risk is managed through
targeted risk selection, risk-oriented premiums and
products, and profit-oriented underwriting guidelines.
In order to maintain a balanced risk profile, R+V
ensures it has adequate reinsurance cover for major
individual risks. Managers use planning and control
tools to ensure they are in a position at an eatly stage to
identify unexpected or adverse portfolio or claim trends
and to initiate appropriate corrective action in response
to the changes in the risk situation. To make these risks
manageable, pricing is based on a precise calculation
with the help of mathematical/statistical modeling.

Market monitoring and ongoing checks on the action
taken provide further options for managing the
business at an eatly stage, taking into account the
prevailing risk appetite.

The measurement of the overall solvency requirement
for natural catastrophe risk is supplemented by
regular analysis of the policy portfolio. This analysis
carried out with the aid of tools such as the ZURS
Geo information system (zoning system for flooding,
backwater flooding, and heavy rainfall) investigates risk
concentrations and changes in these concentrations
over time. The use of geographical diversification and
the deployment of underwriting guidelines form the
basis for managing risks arising from natural disasters.

To reduce actuarial risk, R+V purchases facultative
and obligatory reinsurance cover, formulates risk
exclusions, and designs risk-appropriate deductible
models. Risk-bearing capacity is regularly reviewed as
part of the reinsurance decision-making process. This
is used as the basis for reinsurance structures and

liability layers.

In order to prevent or limit losses, R+V provides a
network of different subsidiaries that offer specialist
services to help customers and sales partners with
contract, risk prevention, or restructuring issues.

Estimating obligations arising from loss events that
have occurred is subject to uncertainty. In compliance
with Solvency II requitements, mathematical/statistical
methods are used to calculate future payment
obligations for the purpose of measuring insurance
liabilities. Insurance liabilities are measured separately
for premium and claims provisions. R+V’s own
experience, actuarial statistics, and additional sources
of information are used for the calculations. The

methods deployed are based on generally accepted
principles of actuatial practice.

16.4.3 Risk management in inward non-life
business

R+V counters premium and reserve risk by
continuously monitoring the market as well as the
economic and political situation, by managing risk in
accordance with its corporate strategy, and by setting
insurance rates appropriate to the risk involved. Risk
management is conducted via a clearly structured and
earnings-driven underwriting policy. The assumption
of risk is circumscribed by mandatory underwriting
guidelines and limits that restrict potential liability
arising from both individual and cumulative claims.
R+V takes account of economic capital costs when
underwriting risk. Compliance with these requirements
is regularly monitored.

The material actuarial risks in the inward reinsurance
portfolio are catastrophe risk, long tail risk, reserve
risk and also far-reaching changes in the trends
underlying the main markets. The actual and potential
losses arising from the level and frequency of claims
under natural disaster insurance atre recorded and
assessed using industry-standard software and R+V’s
own additional verification systems. The portfolio is
continuously monitored for possible concentrations of
natural disaster risk.

The objective in managing natural disaster risk is to
ensure that there is a broad balance of risk across all
categories and that the risk is diversified geographically
around the globe.

Limits are set to support central management and
limitation of cumulative risks arising from individual
natural hazards. One of the key mechanisms for
managing risk is a systematic check on the cumulative
authorized limits for natural disaster risks. The
monitoring and management of limits may include the
reallocation or adjustment of capacities. The modeled
exposures remained within the authorized limits.

Action that can be taken to mitigate the risk includes
management of deductibles and retrocession taking
into account risk-bearing capacity and the effective
costs of retrocession. Minimum requirements apply
in relation to the credit rating of retrocessionaires.
To minimize peak risk in connection with European
natural events, R+V entered into a retrocession
agreement on July 1, 2017 as part of its inward
reinsurance business.
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R+V monitors the claims rate trend promptly and
continuously, allowing it to initiate preventive
measures so that it always has a sufficient level of
reserves. The reserves position is monitored in a
number of ways, including by means of an expert
repott, which is prepared once a year.

16.5 Specific risk factors

In the case of products with long-term guarantees,
which constitute the bulk of the direct life insurance
business, there is a risk of negative variances over

the term of the contracts compared with calculation
assumptions because of the length of time covered by
the contracts. The relevant risk factors include changes
in life expectancy, increasing rates of disability-
morbidity, and disproportionately sharp cost increases.

In health insurance, which accounts for a substantial
proportion of health actuarial risk, there is a risk of
higher claims caused by the behavior of the
policyholders and service providers.

R+V’s direct non-life insurance and inward non-
life reinsurance business involves the provision

of cover for a range of disasters. This includes both
natural disasters, such as earthquakes, storms, and
floods, and man-made disastets. These events cannot
be predicted. Generally speaking, there is both the risk
of particularly significant individual loss events and
also the risk of a large number of loss events that are
each not necessarily significant in themselves. In any
one year, the actual impact from the size and
frequency of losses could therefore substantially
exceed the forecast impact.

16.6 Claims rate trend in non-life insurance

In the reporting period, the claims rate trend in the
direct non-life insurance business was within
expectations. The only items worth highlighting were
the summer hail storm Paul, which caused losses of
€25 million, and an individual fire loss amounting to
€11 million. As a result, the claims rate for major and
cumulative claims was below that in previous financial
years. By contrast, the underlying cost of claims
(excluding major and cumulative claims) exceeded the
5-year average in 2017. Overall, this resulted in an
annual claims rate that was slightly lower than the
average rate for previous years.

In the inward reinsurance business R+V, together
with other reinsurers, was hit by a number of major
loss events in the year under review, notably Hurricane
Harvey, Hurricane Irma, Hurricane Maria, and the
earthquake in Mexico. The claims from these
exceptional events were expected to amount to around
€200 million. As a consequence, the claims incurred in
the inward reinsurance business were higher than
forecast in the year under review. This also included
the impact of the lowering of the discount rate used
for personal injury claims in motor insurance in the
United Kingdom (known as the Ogden rate).

Changes in claims rates and settlements (net of
reinsurance) in direct non-life insurance and inward
non-life reinsurance business are shown in Fig. 49.

16.7 Risk position

As at December 31, 2017, the overall solvency
requirement for life actuarial risk amounted to
€697 million (December 31, 2016: €574 million). The
increase was predominantly attributable to the change
in interest rates and new business. The upper loss
limit was set at €1,200 million as at the balance sheet
date (December 31, 2016: €1,200 million). The upper

loss limit was not exceeded at any time during 2017.

As at December 31, 2017, the overall solvency
requirement for health actuarial risk was measured
at €165 million (December 31, 2016: €214 million)
with an upper loss limit of €370 million

(December 31, 2016: €330 million). Again, the risk
capital requirement was below the upper loss limit at
all times during the course of 2017.

As at December 31, 2017, the overall solvency
requirement for non-life actuarial risk amounted to
€3,094 million (December 31, 2016: €2,835 million).
The increase was primarily the result of the growth in
the volume of business. The upper loss limit was set
at €3,580 million as at the balance sheet date
(December 31, 2016: €3,250 million). It was not
exceeded at any time in the year under review.

The overall solvency requirement for the various types
of non-life actuarial risk is shown in Fig. 50.
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FIG. 49 — INSURANCE SECTOR: CLAIMS RATE AND SETTLEMENTS (NET OF REINSURANCE)'

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Claims rate (net)
as percentage of premiums earned
Including major/natural disaster claims 76.6 76.1 76.2 75.5 782 756 777 773 73.0 726
Excluding major/natural disaster claims 728 723 74.0 738 69.1 727 714 75.0 73.0 706
Settlements (net) as percentage of provision for
incoming claims
MNon-life 3.1 3.6 1.6 2.1 0.5 0.3 1.9 48 48 84

1 Direct non-life insurance business and inward non-life reinsurance

FIG. 50 - INSURANCE SECTOR: OVERALL SOLVENCY REQUIREMENT
FOR NON-LIFE ACTUARIAL RISK

€ million Dec. 31, 2017 Dec. 31, 2016
Premium and reserve risk 1,891 1,671
MNon-life catastrophe risk 2,020 1,909
Lapse risk 69 57
Total (after diversification) 3,094 2,835

16.8 Summary and outlook

R+V possesses a number of tools for effectively
controlling actuarial risks that have been identified and
for identifying new risks at an early stage. The capital
it holds, its well-diversified product portfolio, strong
distribution channels, and cost-conscious business
operations generally enable R+V to manage these risks
and benefit from opportunities that arise.

The changes in actuarial risk in direct non-life
insurance in 2018 will continue to be shaped by the
strategy of achieving long-term profitable growth in
all segments of R+V.

In its inward reinsurance business, R+V intends to
expand its portfolio, which is well diversified in terms
of geography and sector, by continuing the earnings-
driven underwriting policy it has pursued in previous
yeats.

R+V is currently examining the implications of the
UKs exit from the EU (Brexit) in a working group
and in consultation with consultants in the UK. As
things stand at the moment, any necessary action will
not have an impact on the continuation of the inward
reinsurance business in its current form.

17 Market risk

17.1 Definition and business background

Market risk describes the risk arising from fluctuation
in the level or volatility of market prices of assets,
liabilities, and financial instruments that have an
impact on the value of the assets and liabilities of the
entity. It suitably reflects the structural mismatch
between assets and liabilities, in particular with respect
to their maturities.

Market risk is broken down into the following
subcategories:

Interest-rate risk describes the sensitivity of the
values of assets, liabilities, and financial
instruments to changes in the term structure of
interest rates or to the volatility of interest rates.

Spread risk describes the sensitivity of the values
of assets, liabilities, and financial instruments to
changes in the level or volatility of credit spreads
above the risk-free interest rate term structure.
Default risk and migration risk are also included
in this subcategory. The credit spread is the
difference in interest rates between a high-risk and
a risk-free fixed-income investment. Changes in
the credit risk premiums lead to changes in the
market value of the corresponding securities.

Equity risk describes the sensitivity of the values
of assets, liabilities, and financial instruments to
changes in the level or volatility of the market
prices of equities. Equity investment risk is also a
part of equity risk. Equity risk arises from existing
equity exposures as a result of market volatility.

Currency risk describes the sensitivity of the
values of assets, liabilities, and financial
instruments to changes in the level or volatility of
exchange rates. Currency risk arises as a result of
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exchange rate volatility either from investments
held in a foreign currency or the existence of a
currency imbalance between insurance liabilities
and investments.

— Real-estate risk describes the sensitivity of the
values of assets, liabilities, and financial
instruments to changes in the level or volatility of
the market prices of real estate. Real-estate risk
can arise as a result of negative changes in the fair
value of real estate held directly or indirectly. This
may be the result of a deterioration in the specific
characteristics of the real estate or a general
change in market prices (for example in
connection with a real-estate crash).

— Concentration risk represents the additional risk
for an insurance or reinsurance company
stemming either from lack of diversification in the
asset portfolio or from a large exposure to the risk
of default by a single issuer of securities or a group
of related issuers.

According to the Solvency II definition, the bulk of
credit risk within market risk is assigned to spread risk.
The other parts of credit risk are measured within
counterparty default risk and other risk types.

17.2 Risk management

17.2.1 Market risk measurement

The measurement of market risk involves analyzing
shock scenarios specified in Solvency II requirements,
in some cases supplemented by the group’s own
parameterization.

The capital requirements for interest-rate risk are
determined on the basis of shock scenatios calculated
for an increase in interest rates and a decrease in
interest rates. R+V uses the shock factors in the
standard formula to calculate the overall solvency
requirement for interest-rate risk.

The capital requirements for spread risk are
calculated using a factor approach based on the
relevant lending volume. The level of the shock factor
is determined by the security’s rating and the modified
duration of the investment. With loan securitizations,
a distinction is made between single, double, and
multiple securitization structures. Depending on which
is applicable, different rating-dependent shock factors
are used. R+V uses its own shock factors, based on a
porttfolio model and with particular regard to

concentration risk, to calculate the overall solvency
requirement.

The capital requirements for equity risk are determined
on the basis of stress scenatios calculated for a
decrease in market value. The stress amounts depend
on the equity type, e.g. whether it is listed on a
regulated market in a member state of the European
Economic Area or OECD. The capital requirement
for equity risk is based on the relevant equity exposure.
It is determined using modeling and risk quantification
based on observable data. The parameters are
increased in order to take account of default risk and
concentration risk. Default risk describes the risk of
loss resulting from issuer insolvency. Currency risk is
calculated using a scenario approach that reflects the
impact of a decrease or increase in the exchange rate
for a foreign currency. The shock factor for
determining the overall solvency requirement is based
on the individual currency portfolio of R+V. Lower
factors are applied for currencies that are pegged to
the euro than for those that are not pegged to the euro.

The calculation of real-estate risk looks at both
property held directly (e.g. land and buildings) and
real-estate funds. The shock factor for determining
the overall solvency requirement for real-estate risk
is a stress scenario adapted from the standard formula
and reflects the fact that direct holdings consist
overwhelmingly of investments in German real estate
and fund holdings consist primarily of European real
estate.

The overall solvency requirement for concentration
risk is not calculated separately because this risk is
taken into account in the calculations for equity risk,
spread risk, and counterparty default risk.

17.2.2 Principles of market risk management

The management of market risk is a significant

element in the management of overall risk at R+V.
Market risk at R+V is limited in part by the upper loss
limits that are set at the level of the DZ BANK Group.

The risk attaching to investments is managed in
accordance with the guidelines specified by EIOPA,
the stipulations in the VAG, the information provided
in regulatory circulars, and internal investment
guidelines (for details, see ‘Market risk strategy’ in
section 15.1). Compliance with the internal provisions
in the risk management guidelines for investment risk
and with other regulatory investment principles and
regulations at R+V is ensured by means of highly
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skilled investment management, appropriate internal
control procedures, a forward-looking investment
policy, and other organizational measures. The
management of risk encompasses both economic and
accounting aspects.

R+V continuously expands and refines the range of
instruments used to identify, assess, and analyze the
risk attaching to new investments and to monitor risk
in the investment portfolio, in order to be able to
respond to any changes in the capital markets and to
detect, limit, or avoid risk at an eatly stage.

R+V counters investment risk by observing the
principle of achieving the greatest possible security and
profitability while ensuring liquidity at all times. By
maintaining an appropriate mix and diversification of
investments, the investment policy of R+V takes
particular account of the objective of risk reduction.

R+V monitors changes in all types of market risk
through constant measurement and a process of
reporting to the relevant bodies. Risk in all
subcategories is quantified through specific economic
calculations. Stress tests represent an important early-
warning system. In addition to natural diversification
via maturity dates, issuers, countries, counterparties
and asset classes, limits are also applied in order to
mitigate risk.

Regular asset/liability management investigations are
carried out at R+V. The necessary capital requirement
to maintain solvency is reviewed on an ongoing basis
with the support of stress tests and scenario analyses.
Specifically, a systematic review is carried out to assess
the effects of a long period of low interest rates and
volatile capital markets. R+V uses derivatives to
manage market risk.

17.2.3 Management of individual market risk
categories

In the management of interest-rate risk, R+V
adheres to the principle of a broad mixture and
diversification of investments, combined with
balanced risk-taking in selected asset classes and
duration management that takes account of the
structure of obligations. Furthermore, the use of pre-
emptive purchases helps to provide a constant return
from investments and to manage changes in interest
rates and duration. A portion of the fixed-income
investment portfolio has also been protected against
a fall in prices.

In the management of spread risk, R+V pays
particular attention to high credit ratings for
investments, with the overwhelming majority of its
fixed-income portfolio being held in investment-grade
paper (see also Fig 56 in section 17.6). A significant
proportion of the portfolio is also backed by further
collateral. The use of third-party credit risk evaluations
and internal expert assessments, which are often more
rigorous than the credit ratings available in the market,
serves to further minimize risk.

Mortgage lending is also subject to strict internal rules
that help to limit default risk. Analysis has shown that
accounting considerations do not require any loan loss
allowances to be recognized at portfolio level.

The management of equity risk is based on a core-
satellite approach in which the core comprises shares
in large, stable companies in indices that can be
hedged to which satellite equities are added to improve
the risk/return profile. Asymmetric strategies ate also
used to reduce or increase equity exposure under a
rules-based approach. At R+V, equities are used as
part of a long-term investment strategy to guarantee
that obligations to policyholders can be satisfied;
generating profits by exploiting short-term fluctuations
to sell shares is not its objective. The risk of having to
sell equities at an inopportune moment is mitigated by
its broadly diversified portfolio of investments.

Currency risk is controlled by systematic foreign-
exchange management. Virtually all reinsurance assets
and liabilities are denominated in the same currency.

Real-estate risk is mitigated by diversifying holdings
across different locations and types of use. The
prudent investment strategy means that these risks are
of secondary importance for R+V.

Concentration risk is of minor relevance to R+V and
is reduced by maintaining an appropriate mixture and
diversification of investments. This is particularly
apparent from the granular structure of the issuers in

the portfolio.

17.2.4 Distinctive features of managing market
risk in personal insurance business

Due to the persistently low level of interest rates, there
is a heightened risk that the guaranteed minimum
return agreed for certain products when contracts are
signed cannot be generated on the capital markets over
the long term. This patticulatly applies to life insurance
contracts and casualty insurance contracts with
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premium refund clauses that guarantee minimum
returns. In the case of products with long-term
guarantees, there is a risk of negative variances over
the term of the contracts compared with calculation
assumptions because of the length of time covered by
the contracts. The main reasons for variances are the
change in the capital market environment and maturity
mismatches between investments and insurance
contracts. A protracted period of low interest rates
increases the market risk arising from investments.

Market risk can be countered by underwriting new
business that takes into account the current capital
market situation and by taking the following action to
boost the portfolio’s risk-bearing capacity. It is crucial
to ensure that there is enough free capital that can be
made available even in adverse capital market
scenarios. The necessary capital requirement to
maintain solvency is reviewed on an ongoing basis
with the aid of stress tests and scenario analyses as
integral components of asset/liability management.

Risk is essentially mitigated by recognizing a
supplementary change-in-discount-rate reserve as
specified in the Regulation on the Principles
Underlying the Calculation of the Premium Reserve
(DeckRYV) and adding to the discount rate reserves for
existing contracts, thereby reducing the average
interest liabilities. In 2017, R+V added a total of

€827 million to these supplementary reserves in its life
insurance business, bringing the overall amount to
€2,967 million. The addition to these reserves for
casualty insurance with premium refund was €9 million,
bringing the total to €32 million. R+V expects to make
further additions in 2018 and these additions have
been included in the budget accounts.

Policyholder patticipation in the form of future
declarations of bonuses is also an important
instrument with which to reduce market risk attaching
to life insurance.

The breakdown of benefit reserves by discount rate
for the main life and casualty insurance portfolios is
shown in Fig. 51.

A summary of the actuarial assumptions for calculating
the benefit reserves for the main life and casualty
insurance portfolios is presented in note 11 of the

FIG. 51 - INSURANCE SECTOR: BENEFIT RESERVES BY DISCOUNT
RATE FOR THE MAIN INSURANCE PORTFOLIOS'

Proportion of total Proportion of total

Discountrate  benefit reserve in 20172 benefit reserve in 20162

(€ million) (%) (€ million) (%)
0.00 % 5,213 89 4,532 8.2
0.25 % 729 1.2 607 1.1
0.50 % 17 0.0
0.75 % 58 0.1 66 0.1
0.90 % 1,088 1.9
1.00 % 12 8 18
1.25 % 2,119 36 1,892 34
1.50 % 41 0.1 55 0.1
1.75 % 5,067 8.6 4,798 8.7
1.80 % 15 8
2.00 % 352 0.6 258 0.5
2.25 % 9,837 16.8 9,319 16.9
2.50 % 88 0.1 91 0.2
275 % 7,510 12.8 6,888 12.5
3.00 % 3,213 55 3,690 6.7
3.25 % 6,940 11.8 6,716 12.2
3.50 % 4,122 7.0 4,325 7.8
375 % 293 0.5 305 0.6
4.00 % 7,476 12.7 7,373 134

1 The table covers the following insurance products that include a guaranteed rate of return:
— Casualty insurance policies with premium refund
— Casualty insurance policies with premium